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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 001-33389

VIVUS, INC.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its anart
Delaware 94-3136179
(State or other jurisdiction of (IRS employer
incorporation or organizatiot identification number

351 E. Evelyn Avenue
Mountain View, California 94041
(Address of principal executive offic (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area o@d€) 934-5200

Securities registered pursuant to Sectib) of the Act:

Name of Each Exchange on Whicl

Title of Each Class Registered
Common Stock, $.001 Par Value The NASDAQ Global Select
(Title of class) Market

Preferred Share Purchase Rights
(Title of class)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(theRct:



None
Indicate by check mark if the registran well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Baeof the Securities Act. Yelsl No O
Indicate by check mark if the registresnot required to file reports pursuant to Secfi@ror Section 15(d) of the Act. Ydd No

Indicate by check mark whether the Regigt (1) has filed all reports required to bediley Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofah$or such shorter period that the Registrarg vegjuired to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementsHe past 90 days. Y& No O

Indicate by check mark whether the regigthas submitted electronically and posted oodtporate Web site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsto Rule 405 of Regulation5(8232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@gribnths
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). Yd@s  No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure efidquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulat®K (§229.405) is not contained herein, and
will not be contained, to the best of Registraktiswledge, in definitive proxy or information statents incorporated by reference in Part Il of
this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10BK.

Indicate by check mark whether the regidtis a large accelerated filer, an accelerated & nonaccelerated filer, or a smaller report
company. See the definitions of "large acceleréited” "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporticgmpany"” in Rule 1212-of the Exchange Ac
(Check one):

Large accelerated fildd Accelerated filefx] Non-accelerated file Smaller reporting compariy
(Do not check if a smaller
reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the Reagistis a shell company (as defined in Rule 12lhth@Act). YesO No

The aggregate market value of the comenpity held by non-affiliates of the RegistranibAgune 30, 2014, totaled approximately
$480,182,711 based on the closing stock pricepeted by the NASDAQ Global Market.

As of February 17, 2015, there were 183,839 shares of the Registrant's common stocR0E(Mar value per share, outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Document Description 1C-K part
Portions of the Registrant's notice of annual nmegetf stockholders and prc I, ITEMS
statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14hiwi 120 days after Registrar 10, 11, 12,
fiscal year end of December 31, 2014, are incotpdray reference into Part lll 13, 14
this report.
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PART |
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains "forwartboking" statements that involve risks and uncetias. These statements typically may be identify
the use of forward-looking words or phrases suctnaay," "believe," "expect,” "forecast," "intenddnticipate," "predict,"” "should,"
"planned," "likely," "opportunity," "estimated," @n'potential," the negative use of these wordstbeosimilar words. All forward-looking
statements included in this document are basediogurrent expectations, and we assume no obligatiaupdate any such forward-looking
statements. The Private Securities Litigation Raféwct of 1995 provides a "safe harbor"” for suchwiard-looking statements. In order to
comply with the terms of the safe harbor, we nlod¢ & variety of factors could cause actual resatisl experiences to differ materially from
the anticipated results or other expectations egped in such forward-looking statements. The @sisuncertainties that may affect the
operations, performance, development, and restilb&ipobusiness include but are not limited to: Ly limited commercial experience with
Qsymia® in the United States, or U.S.; (2) thentignof initiation and completion of the post-apprbetinical studies required as part of the
approval of Qsymia by the U.S. Food and Drug Adstiiation, or FDA; (3) the response from the FDAhe data that we will submit relating
to post-approval clinical studies; (4) the impactioe indicated uses and contraindications contdiimethe Qsymia label and the Risk
Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy requirements} ¢bir ability to continue to certify and add to t@symia retail pharmacy network and ¢
Qsymia through this network; (6) whether the Qsyratail pharmacy network will simplify and redudetprescribing burden for physicians,
improve access and reduce waiting times for padisatking to initiate therapy with Qsymia; (7) tthet may be required to provide further
analysis of previously submitted clinical trial da(8) our ongoing dialog with the European Med&snAgency, or EMA, relating to our
cardiovascular outcomes trial, or CVOT, and theutasission of an application for the grant of a netikg authorization to the EMA, the
timing of such resubmission, if any, the resultthefCVOT, assessment by the EMA of the applicddiomarketing authorization, and their
agreement with the data from the CVOT; (9) ouriibtb successfully seek approval for Qsymia ireoterritories outside the U.S. and
European Union, or EU; (10) whether healthcare pdavs, payors and public policy makers will recagnthe significance of the Americ
Medical Association officially recognizing obesity a disease, or the new American Associationiafdal Endocrinologists guideline:

(11) our ability to successfully commercialize Qeymcluding risks and uncertainties related to amrpion to retail distribution, the
broadening of payor reimbursement, the expansid@syimia's primary care presence, and the outcorhesradiscussions with
pharmaceutical companies and our strategic anddhase-specific pathways for Qsymia; (12) our abilityfewus our promotional efforts on
health-care providers and on patient education tladdng with increased access to Qsymia and ongmipgovements in reimbursement, will
result in the accelerated adoption of Qsymia; (@8) ability to eliminate expenses that are not riaéto expanding the use of Qsymia and
fully realize the anticipated benefits from a c@stuction plan, including the timing thereof; (1 impact of lower annual net cost savil
than currently expected; (15) the impact of a ¢eduction plan on our business and unanticipatearghs not currently contemplated that r
occur as a result of a cost reduction plan; (16} ahility to ensure that the entire supply chain @symia efficiently and consistently delivers
Qsymia to our customers; (17) risks and uncertamtelated to the timing, strategy, tactics andcegs of the launches and commercialization
of STENDRA® (avanafil) or SPEDRA™ (avanafil) by sublicensees in the United States, Canada, theArbtralia, New Zealand, Africa,
the Middle East, Turkey, and the Commonwealth @épendent States, including Russia; (18) our ghititsuccessfully complete on accept
terms, and on a timely basis, avanafil partnerimgcdssions for other territories under our licervsigh Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporati
in which we do not have a commercial collaborati¢tf) the timing of the qualification and subseduspproval by regulatory authorities of
Sanofi Chimie and Sanofi Winthrop Industrie as alified supplier of STENDRA/SPEDRA, Sanofi Chinabifity to undertake worldwide
manufacturing of the avanafil active pharmaceuticgredient and Sanofi Winthrop Industrie's abilibyundertake worldwide manufacturing
of the tablets for avanafil; (20) the ability ofropartners to maintain regulatory approvals to méaxture and adequately
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supply our products to meet demand; (21) our apbttitaccurately forecast Qsymia demand; (22) oulitgkio increase Qsymia sales in 2015
through growth in certified retail pharmacies, exig#on of reimbursement coverage and the use ofra fooused selling message; (23) the
number of Qsymia prescriptions dispensed througmthil order system and through certified retaiaphacies; (24) the impact of
promotional programs for Qsymia on our net prodwstenue and net income (loss) in future periodS) @ur history of losses and variak
quarterly results; (26) substantial competition7§2isks related to the failure to protect our iliéetual property and litigation in which we are
involved or may become involved; (28) uncertaintiegovernment or third-party payor reimbursem&@) our reliance on sole-source
suppliers; (30) our reliance on third parties andraollaborative partners; (31) our failure to contie to develop innovative investigational
drug candidates and drugs; (32) risks related te thilure to obtain FDA or foreign authority clearees or approvals and noncompliance witt
FDA or foreign authority regulations; (33) our aibyl to demonstrate through clinical testing the hityasafety, and efficacy of ol
investigational drug candidates; (34) the timingrifiation and completion of clinical trials andibmissions to foreign authorities; (35) the
results of post-marketing studies that are not falate; (36) compliance with post-marketing regulgtstandards, post-marketing obligations
or pharmacovigilance rules is not maintained; (87@ volatility and liquidity of the financial martes (38) our liquidity and capital resources;
(39) our expected future revenues, operations apeémditures; (40) potential change in our busingsategy to enhance lortgrm stockholde
value; (41) the impact, if any, of changes to ooafl of Directors, the recent appointment of a righief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, the resignation of our formerdéident, the decision of our former Chief Finan€¥dicer to exercise his right to termine

his employment for Good Reason (as defined inimeniled and Restated Change of Control and Sevefagreement with the Company,
effective as of July 1, 2013) and the assumptigheofChief Commercial Officer's duties and resphifises by our Chief Executive Officer; a
(42) other factors that are described from timeimoe in our periodic filings with the SecuritiescaBxchange Commission, or the SEC, or the
Commission, including those set forth in this §les "ltem 1A. Risk Factors."

When we refer to "we," "our," "us," the "Company™¥IVUS" in this document, we mean the currentadelre corporation, or
VIVUS, Inc., and its California predecessor, aslwaslall of our consolidated subsidiaries.

ltem 1. Business
Overview

VIVUS is a biopharmaceutical company witlottherapies approved by the FDA: Qsymia® for cizeveight management and
STENDRA® for erectile dysfunction, or ED. STENDR#also approved by the European Commission, ouBE@gr the trade name,
SPEDRA, for the treatment of ED in the EU.

Qsymia (phentermine and topiramate extemdkxzhse) was approved by the FDA in July 2012raadjunct to a reduced-calorie diet and
increased physical activity for chronic weight mg@@ent in adult patients with an initial body maskex (BMI) of 30 or greater (obese), or
or greater (overweight) in the presence of at leastweight-related comorbidity, such as hypertamdiype 2 diabetes mellitus or high
cholesterol (dyslipidemia). Qsymia incorporates@ppetary formulation combining low doses of aetimgredients from two previously
approved drugs, phentermine and topiramate. Althdhg exact mechanism of action is unknown, Qsysizelieved to suppress appetite and
increase satiety, or the feeling of being full, tve main mechanisms that impact eating behavingdptember 2012, Qsymia became avai
in the U.S. market through a limited number of iied home delivery networks. In July 2013, Qsyrb&came available in retail pharmacies
through approximately 8,000 Walgreens, Costco anane Reade pharmacies nationwide. As of the datésofeport, Qsymia is available in
over 42,000 certified retail pharmacies nationwideluding all of the major pharmacy chains in toeintry. We intend to continue to certify
and add new pharmacies to the
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Qsymia retail pharmacy network, including natioaadl regional chains as well as independent phaasaci

We commercialize Qsymia in the U.S. pridyatirough a dedicated contract sales force, supddyy an internal commercial team
consisting of sales management, marketing and nealneaye professionals. Our efforts to expand tipecgpiate use of Qsymia include
scientific publications, participation and pres¢iotas at medical conferences and development apteimentation of patient-directed support
programs.

After re-examination of our appeal appiigat in February 2013, the Committee for MediciRabducts for Human Use, or CHMP,
adopted a final opinion that reaffirmed the Comegts earlier negative opinion to refuse the mangeduthorization in the EU for the medici
product QsivdM (the approved trade name for Qsymia in the EUM&y 2013, the EC issued a decision refusing thatgrmarketing
authorization for Qsiva in the EU. In September204e submitted a request to the EMA for Scien#ftbvice, a procedure similar to the U.S.
FDA Special Protocol Assessment process, regakgiegf a pre-specified interim analysis from thalgtto assess the long-term treatment
effect of Qsymia on the incidence of major adve@liovascular events in overweight and obese stajéth confirmed cardiovascular
disease, or AQCLAIM, to support the resubmissioamfpplication for a marketing authorization fa@iv@ for treatment of obesity in
accordance with the EU centralized marketing aightion procedure. We received feedback in 201¢h fEuropean Union regulatory officials
regarding the AQCLAIM CVOT protocol, and we haveently received feedback from the FDA regardingatreended protocol. As a part of
addressing the FDA comments, we are working torenthat the planned interim analysis will not jeaze the overall integrity of the study
and will support other objectives in both the ElWd &hS. We also intend to seek approval for Qsymiather territories outside the United
States and EU. We intend to commercialize Qsymtariitories where we obtain approval through comuia¢ collaboration agreements with
third parties.

STENDRA, or avanafil, is an oral phosphsthease type 5, or PDES, inhibitor that we havenged from Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma
Corporation, or MTPC. STENDRA was approved by tBARn April 2012, for the treatment of ED in the Ited States. In June 2013, the EC
adopted the implementing decision granting markeginthorization for SPEDRA (the approved trade n&omavanafil in the EU) for the
treatment of ED in the EU. In July 2013, we entardd an agreement with the Menarini Group, throitglsubsidiary Berlin-Chemie AG, or
Menarini, under which Menarini received an excledieense to commercialize and promote SPEDRAHertteatment of ED in over
40 European countries, including the EU, plus Aaligtrand New Zealand. Menarini commenced its comiakzation launch of the product in
the EU in early 2014, and as of the date of thisdgj SPEDRA is commercially available in 23 couggrwithin the Menarini territory.

In October 2013, we entered into an agre¢éméh Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Auxiliynander which Auxilium received an
exclusive license to commercialize and promote SDRN in the United States and Canada. On the satee wa also entered into a supply
agreement with Auxilium, whereby VIVUS will suppAuxilium with STENDRA drug product for commerciadiion. Auxilium began
commercializing STENDRA in the U.S. market in Det®mn2013. In January 2015, Auxilium was purchaseftfido International, plc., or
Endo.

In December 2013, we entered into an ageeémith Sanofi under which Sanofi received an esitle license to commercialize and
promote avanafil for therapeutic use in humansfiica, the Middle East, Turkey, and the Commonweaftindependent States, or CIS,
including Russia. Sanofi will be responsible fotahing regulatory approval in its territories. $énntends to market avanafil under the trade
name SPEDRA or STENDRA. Effective December 2013alge entered into a supply agreement, or the $8upply Agreement, with Sant
Winthrop Industrie, a wholly owned subsidiary oh84.
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Under the license agreements with Menafinkilium and Sanofi, avanafil is expected to benooercialized in over 100 countries
worldwide. In addition, we are currently in disciass with potential collaboration partners to marked sell STENDRA for our other
territories in which we do not have a commercidlatmration.

In September 2014, the FDA approved a supphtal new drug application, or sSNDA, for STENDFSA.ENDRA is now the only FDA-
approved ED medication indicated to be taken dy aarapproximately 15 minutes before sexual agtidn January 23, 2015, the EC adoy
the commission implementing decision amending thekating authorization for SPEDRA (avanafil). SPEDR now the first and only ED
medication approved in the EU that is indicatetbédaken as needed approximately 15 to 30 mingfsdosexual activity.

Foreign regulatory approvals, including B@ marketing authorization to market Qsiva in ¢ may not be obtained on a timely basis,
or at all, and the failure to receive regulatorptayals in a foreign country would prevent us frorarketing our products in that market, which
could have a material adverse effect on our busjriegmncial condition and results of operations.

VIVUS was incorporated in California in 198nd reincorporated in Delaware in 1996. Our catgoheadquarters is located at 351 E.
Evelyn Avenue, Mountain View, California and oulefghone number is (650) 934-5200.
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Products and Development Programs

Our approved drugs and investigational draigdidates are summarized as follows:

Drug Indication Status Commercial rights
Qsymia (phentermine

and topiramate

extende-release Obesity United State! Worldwide

New Drug Application, or NDA
approved July 2012; First
commercial sale September 20

Expansion to retail pharmacies
July 2013

EU

Marketing Authorization
Application, or MAA, denied in

2014.

Qsymia (phentermine

and topiramate Obstructive

extende-release Sleep Apnei  Phase 2 study complete Worldwide
Qsymia (phentermine

and topiramate

extende-release Diabetes Phase 2 study complete Worldwide

Worldwide license from
Erectile MTPC (excluding

STENDRA (avanafill  dysfunction United State! certain Asian market:

NDA approved April 201:
sNDA: Label expansion for

15 minute onset claim approved
Sep 2014

EU

Marketing Authorization, or MA,
granted in June 201

Label expansion for 15 minute
onset claim approved Jan 20

Commercial collaboration

agreements with Menarini,
Auxilium, and Sanofi

Qsymia for the treatment of Obesity

Many factors contribute to excess weighhgéhese include environmental factors, genetieslth conditions, certain medications,
emotional factors and other behaviors. All thistcbutes to
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more than 110 million Americans being obese or wegyht with at least one weight-related comorbidiycess weight increases the risk of
cardiometabolic and other conditions including tgpdiabetes, high cholesterol, high blood preswart disease, sleep apnea, stroke and
osteoarthritis. According to the National Instisutgf Health, or NIH, losing just 10% of body weighéy help obese patients reduce the risk of
developing other weight-related medical conditiomile making a meaningful difference in health avell-being.

Qsymia for the treatment of obesity wasrappd as an adjunct to a reduced-calorie diet aogtased physical activity for chronic weight
management in adult patients with an initial BMI3®f or greater (obese), or 27 or greater (overvigighhe presence of at least one weight-
related comorbidity, such as hypertension, typ@aBates mellitus or high cholesterol (dyslipidemi@¥ymia incorporates low doses of active
ingredients from two previously approved drugs,mibamine and topiramate. Although the exact meamamif action is unknown, Qsymia is
believed to target appetite and satiety, or thérfgef being full, the two main mechanisms thapamt eating behavior.

Qsymia was approved with a Risk Evaluatind Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, with a goal dfoirming prescribers and patients of
reproductive potential regarding an increasedafsirofacial clefts in infants exposed to Qsymiaing the first trimester of pregnancy, the
importance of pregnancy prevention for femalespfoductive potential receiving Qsymia and the nteaetiscontinue Qsymia immediately if
pregnancy occurs. The Qsymia REMS program incladegdication guide, patient brochure, voluntaryitheare provider training,
distribution through certified home delivery anthiepharmacies, an implementation system and e-table for assessments.

As part of the approval of Qsymia, we aguired to conduct post-marketing studies. We gaiiduct a study, known as AQCLAIM, to
assess the long-term treatment effect of Qsymidi@erncidence of major adverse cardiovascular eviendbverweight and obese subjects with
confirmed cardiovascular disease, studies to assesafety and efficacy of Qsymia for weight masragnt in obese pediatric and adolescent
subjects, studies to assess drug utilization aegrancy exposure, a study to assess renal funesomell as animal and vitro studies. We
began certain studies in 2014. We are finalizirgdlsigns and protocols for the remaining studiéiseacurrent time and expect to begin
certain of these studies during 2015.

Qsymia in development for Obstructive Sleep Apnea

Obstructive sleep apnea, or OSA, is a dhrand potentially serious sleep disorder in whichathing is abnormally shallow, or hypopnea
or stops altogether, or apnea, for at least 10mbcd hese repetitive events are associated widpse of the upper airway during sleep, and
may occur five to thirty or more times per hourthdlugh many cases are unrecognized, symptoms rolgleésnoring, fatigue or sleepiness
during the day.

OSA afflicts approximately 3% to 7% of tHeS. population. Data from the Wisconsin Cohortd$tindicate that the prevalence of OS/
people 30-60 years of age is 9-24% for men and 4eB%omen. OSA is associated with an increasddaisypertension, cardiovascular
disease, myocardial infarction, stroke and increasertality.

The current standard of care treatmen©BA is continuous positive airway pressure, or CRARvhich the upper airway is kept open by
increased air pressure, but CPAP provides berwfliswhen used consistently. Many patients find ®Ré be inconvenient or uncomfortable,
and compliance with CPAP treatment limits its efifeeness.

We believe a safe and effective pharmadolwgatment for OSA could be useful and more atad#p to some patients than CPAP, but nc
drug is currently approved to treat OSA.

In January 2010, we announced positiveltefiom a Phase 2 study evaluating the safetyediichcy of Qsymia for the treatment of
moderate to severe OSA. This Phase 2 study (OB:284)a
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single-center, randomized, double-blind, placebotmdled parallel group trial including 45 obesenrand women (BMI 30 to 40 kg/m2
inclusive), 30 to 65 years of age with OSA (apngpepnea index, or AHI, greater than or equal t@tlBbaseline) who had not been treated
with, or who were not compliant with CPAP, withiirée months of screening. Patients were randontizpthcebo or top dose Qsymia. We
currently contemplating the timing of a Phase 8lgtu

Qsymia in development for Diabetes

Diabetes is a disease in which the body e produce or properly use insulin. Insulin loamone that is needed to convert sugar and
starches into energy needed for daily life. Typhabetes is characterized by inadequate resporissuiin and/or inadequate secretion of
insulin as blood glucose levels rise. Currentlyrappd therapies for type 2 diabetes are directedrt correcting the body's inadequate
response with oral or injectable medications, ceatly modifying insulin levels through injectiofi insulin or insulin analogs. The cause of
diabetes continues to be a mystery, although betletics and environmental factors such as obesdyeack of exercise appear to play roles.

In 2012, there were an estimated 29.1 aniléhildren and adults in the U.S., or 9.3% ofgbpulation, who have diabetes. While an
estimated 21.0 million Americans have been diagthegth diabetes, unfortunately, another 8.1 milllmericans (or over one quarter) are
unaware that they have the disease. It is estimhttdhere are nearly 350 million diabetics wotildisv

According to the American Diabetes Assaorgtor ADA, an estimated 86 million people havedgabetes and 1.7 million will develop
type 2 diabetes each year. Millions more are kntwmave metabolic syndrome, a cluster of symptdrasitcludes high blood pressure, large
waist size, high levels of fats in the blood, anel body's inability to handle glucose, which cdilely increase a person's chances of
developing cardiovascular disease. Qsymia is nwently indicated for the treatment of hypertensigpe 2 diabetes mellitus, prediabetes,
stroke or heart disease.

In May 2013, the American Association oin@lal Endocrinologists introduced a new algoritfonthe comprehensive management of
weight in persons with prediabetes or type 2 diebat order to provide clinicians with a practigalde that considers the whole patient, the
spectrum of risks and complications for the patiant evidence-based approaches to treatmentditicexdto advocating for glycemic control,
the treatment algorithm focuses on obesity andigbetes as the underlying risk factors for diabatesassociated complications, and
specifically includes pharmacotherapy as part efrfdttommended treatment paradigm for managing weigh

The currently approved oral medicationstyge 2 diabetes include insulin releasers sudydmiride, insulin sensitizers such as Actos®
and Avandia®, inhibitors of glucose production hg tiver such as metformin, DPP-IV inhibitors lik@nuvia®, as well as Precose® and
Glyset, which slow the uptake of glucose from thtestine. Approved injectable medications for tgpdiabetes treatment include glucadibe-
peptide-1, or GLP-1, analogs such as liraglutiderketed under the brand name Victoza®, developaddwp Nordisk and exenatide,
marketed under the brand name Byetta®, and a lotigegversion of exenatide marketed under the brearmde Bydureon®, developed by
Amylin Pharmaceuticals and Eli Lilly and Companjudes to date suggest GLP-1s improve control obdlglucose by increasing insulin
secretion, delaying gastric emptying, and suppngssiandial glucagon secretion. Clinical studiegeh@ported that patients treated with GLP-
1s experienced weight loss of approximately sigight pounds. Newer agents recently approved fue 8/diabetes include Invokana®
(canaglifozin) from Johnson & Johnson's Janssemnfd@euticals, a sodium glucosetcansporter 2, or SGLT2, inhibitor that has dematst
modest, single-digit weight loss in clinical stuglie

It is estimated that a significant portmfitype 2 diabetics fail oral medications and regimjected insulin therapy. Current oral
medications for type 2 diabetes have a number wincon
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drug-related side effects, including hypoglycemiaight gain and edema. Numerous pharmaceuticabamelchnology companies are seeking
to develop insulin sensitizers, novel insulin fotations and other therapeutics to improve the tneat of diabetes. Previous clinical studies of
topiramate, a component of Qsymia, in type 2 diabetsulted in a clinically meaningful reductioihhemoglobin Alc, or HbAlc, a measure
used to determine treatment efficacy of anti-digbagents.

In December 2008, we announced the restitsr DM-230 diabetes study. The DM-230 Phasauiélysenrolled 130 patients, who had
completed our Phase 2 study for the treatment e$ibp(OB-202), at 10 study sites in the U.S.,dottue in a blinded fashion as previously
randomized for an additional 28 weeks. The resfltae DM-230 study included assessments from tidm of the OB-202 study through the
end of the DM-230 study in this population, foiotat treatment period of 56 weeks.

Patients treated with Qsymia had a redandtidHbAlc of 1.6%, from 8.8% to 7.2%, as compared.1% from 8.5% to 7.4% in the
placebo-treated standard of care group (Intentéaflpopulation Using the Last Observation Carfiedvard Method, or ITT LOCF,
p=0.0381) at 56 weeks. All patients in the studyenactively managed according to the ADA standafdasare with respect to diabetes
medications and lifestyle modification. For patetreated with placebo, increases in the numbedagds of concurrent anti-diabetic
medications were required to bring about the olexkreduction in HbAlc. By contrast, concurrent-albetic medications were reduced ovel
the course of the trial in patients treated witlyiQis (p<0.05).

Over 56 weeks, patients treated with Qsyaisa lost 9.4% of their baseline body weight, @52pounds, as compared to 2.7%, or 6.1
pounds, for the placebo group (p<0.0001). Stitg-percent of the Qsymia patients lost at le&std their body weight, as compared to 249
the placebo group (p<0.001), and 37% of the Qsyrateents lost at least 10% of their body weightc@®pared to 9% of patients in the
placebo group (p<0.001). Patients treated with Qayrad reductions in blood pressure, triglyceriaied waist circumference. Both treatment
groups had a study completion rate of greater #04a.

The most common drug-related side effemported were tingling, constipation and nausedeR®aton antidepressants such as selective
serotonin reuptake inhibitors, or SSRIs, or seriot@and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors, or SNRisre allowed to participate in the stud
Patients were monitored for depression and suitjdasing the Patient Health Questionnaire-9, ofPH a validated mental health assessmel
tool agreed to by the FDA for use in our studiedidnts treated with Qsymia demonstrated greatpramements in PHQ-9 scores from
baseline to the end of the study than patientsemptacebo group.

Despite a mean baseline HbA1c level of 8.8%86 of the patients treated with Qsymia were #abkechieve the ADA recommended goal
of 7% or lower, versus 40% of the patients in tlee@bo arm (p<0.05). The incidence of hypoglyceimigne treatment and placebo arms was
similar (12% and 9%, respectively). Patients in@symia arm experienced no treatment-related seaduerse events.

We also studied the effect of Qsymia onlwwehtrolled diabetics as part of our Phase 3 dpasidy, CONQUER, (OB-303). The results
were consistent and supportive of the Phase 2tgesul

Data from the EQUATE trial (OB-301) Phasée3nonstrated that weight loss with Qsymia stopsptiogression of type 2 diabetes in
obese, non-diabetic patients. The results of DM-@®onstrated that weight loss with Qsymia canifsagmtly lower blood sugar in type 2
diabetics. Results from both of these studies \wegsented at the ADA's annual scientific sessiaiuime 2009.
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In October 2013, we announced new dataighdd online irDiabetes Careglemonstrating the effects of Qsymia on the projpase
type 2 diabetes. In the study, higbk overweight or obese patients with prediabateor metabolic syndrome who were taking Qsymir @
two-year period experienced reductions of up td%8in the annualized incidence rate of type 2 diyen addition to losing weight. The
American Association of Clinical Endocrinologisexognizes obesity and prediabetes as significglkfaictors for progression to diabetes and
associated complications.

The publication analyzed 475 high-risk eveight or obese patients with prediabetes and/dalbatic syndrome at baseline from the two-
year SEQUEL study, for their progression to tymtiabetes and their changes in cardiometabolic petensn After 108 weeks, it was obsen
that patients receiving Qsymia, in conjunction witbstyle modifications, experienced significanéight loss along with markedly reduced
progression to type 2 diabetes and improvementsuitiple cardiometabolic disease risk factors.

Subjects in the Qsymia recommended dosen46mg) and top dose (15mg/92mg) treatment grexpsrienced reductions of 70.5%
and 78.7% in the annualized incidence rate of /deabetes, respectively, versus placebo, whichrelated to degree of weight lost (10.9%
and 12.1%, respectively, versus 2.5% with placébb;MI; P < 0.0001). Qsymia therapy was well tokech by this subgroup over two years.

Among patients in the study taking Qsymi@nmon adverse events included paraesthesia (tinglithe fingers or feet), sinusitis, dry
mouth, constipation, headache, and dysgeusia (ehiangerception of taste). The types and sevefigdwerse events seen in this subgroup
analysis were similar to those seen in the ov&BRIDUEL patient population and in other clinicahlsi

We are currently contemplating the timiigad®hase 3 study.
Qsymia in development for Other Indications

We believe Qsymia may be helpful in tregither obesity-related diseases, including noialbo steatohepatitis, or NASH, or its
precursor, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, or NUBE-also known as fatty liver disease. We beliewsyiQia may also be helpful in treating
hyperlipidemia, or an elevation of lipids (fats)tire bloodstream. These lipids include cholestetub)esterol esters (compounds),
phospholipids and triglycerides. In addition, wéidaee Qsymia may be helpful in patients with hypesion who do not respond well to
antihypertensive medication. We are currently compiating whether to pursue these other indications.

STENDRA for the treatment of Erectile Dysfunctic

ED affects an estimated 52% of men betwkerages of 40 and 70. Prevalence increases wétlmd can be caused by a variety of
factors, including medications (anti-hypertensivgstamine receptor antagonists); lifestyle (tolma@dcohol use); diseases (diabetes,
cardiovascular conditions, prostate cancer); afmbspord injuries. Left untreated, ED can negdjivmpact relationships and self-esteem,
causing feelings of embarrassment and guilt. Abaiftof men being treated with currently availapl®sphodiesterase 5, or PDES, inhibitors
are dissatisfied with treatment. The market oppotyufor ED medical treatments continues to growthworldwide sales of PDES5 inhibitors
exceeding $5 billion in 2012.

Our drug STENDRA (avanafil) is an oral PDiEBibitor we have licensed from MTPC. STENDRA vegproved in the U.S. by the FDA
on April 27, 2012, for the treatment of ED. As pafrithe approval of STENDRA, we are committed todact two post-approval clinical
studies. The first is a randomized, double-blifdcebo-controlled, parallel group multicenter aaditrial on the effect of STENDRA on
spermatogenesis in healthy adult males and matbsmiid ED. The other study is a double-blind, ramized, placebo-controlled, single-dose
clinical trial to assess the effects of
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STENDRA on multiple parameters of vision, includitgit not limited to, visual acuity, intraoculaegsure, pupillometry, and color vision
discrimination in healthy male subjects. Theseiswidre completed.

On June 19, 2013, we announced clinicalystasults showing avanafil is effective for sexaetivity within 15 minutes in men with ED.
In the 440-patient study conducted at 30 sitehénd.S., STENDRA patients achieved statisticaliyngicant improvement versus placebo in
the mean proportion of attempts that resulted éetdwns sufficient for successful intercourse atyess 10 minutes for the 200-mg dose and 1:
minutes for the 100-mg dose following administration September 18, 2014, the FDA approved an sMiIDSTENDRA®. STENDRA is
now the only FDA-approved ED medication indicated¢ taken as early as approximately 15 minutesréefexual activity. On January 23,
2015, the EC adopted the commission implementirgsibe amending the marketing authorization for BRA (avanafil). SPEDRA is now
the first and only ED medication approved in the tBht is indicated to be taken as needed approzlynab to 30 minutes before sexual
activity.

We have granted an exclusive license todavianto commercialize and promote SPEDRA for tteatment of ED in over 40 European
countries, including the EU, plus Australia and Nésaland. In addition, we have granted an exclulstesise to Auxilium to market
STENDRA in the United States and Canada. Auxiliuas\wurchased by Endo in January 2015. We haveyedsted an exclusive license to
Sanofi to commercialize avanafil in Africa, the Mld East, Turkey, and the CIS, including Russia.aMecurrently in discussions with
potential partners to commercialize STENDRA in ottegritories under our license with MTPC in whigle do not currently have a commer
collaboration.

Other Programs

We have licensed and intend to continudecémse from third parties the rights to other istigational drug candidates to treat various
diseases and medical conditions. We also sponslgrstage clinical trials at various research itugibns and intend to conduct early-stage
proof of concept studies on our own. We expecbittioue to use our expertise in designing and cotiraiy clinical trials, formulation and
investigational drug candidate development to corsialize pharmaceuticals for unmet medical needsiodisease states that are underse
by currently approved drugs. We intend to develaulpcts with a proprietary position or that compégrnour other products currently under
development, although there can be no assurantarthaf these investigational product candidatiéishe successfully developed and
approved by regulatory authorities.

Government Regulations
FDA Regulatior

Prescription pharmaceutical products abgesii to extensive pre- and post-marketing regutatiy the FDA. The Federal Food, Drug, anc
Cosmetic Act, and its implementing regulations gayamong other things, requirements for the tgstievelopment, manufacturing, quality
control, safety, efficacy, approval, labeling, sige, recordkeeping, reporting, distribution, impexport, advertising and promotion of drug
products.

The activities required before a pharmdcalagent may be marketed in the U.S. begin wigagbinical testing. Pre-clinical tests
generally include laboratory evaluation of potdntimducts and animal studies to assess the palteiafiety and efficacy of the product and its
formulations. The results of these studies andratfiermation must be submitted to the FDA as pdn Investigational New Drug, or IND,
application, which must be reviewed and approvethbyFDA before proposed clinical testing in hurmatunteers can begin. Clinical trials
involve the administration of the investigationalwndrug to healthy volunteers or to patients untdersupervision of a qualified principal
investigator. Clinical trials must be conductedatordance with Good Clinical Practices, or
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GCP, which establish standards for conducting,rBog data from, and reporting results of, clinitré@ls, and are intended to assure that the
data and reported results are credible, accunatethat the rights, safety and well-being of stpdyticipants are protected. Clinical trials must
be under protocols that detail the objectives efdtudy, the parameters to be used to monitorysafet the efficacy criteria to be evaluated.
Each protocol must be submitted to the FDA as gfatte IND application. Further, each clinical sfudust be conducted under the auspices
an independent institutional review board. Theitasbnal review board will consider, among othleings, regulations and guidelines for
obtaining informed consent from study subjectayval as other ethical factors and the safety of &nrpatients. The sponsoring company, the
FDA, or the Institutional Review Board, or IRB, msyspend or terminate a clinical trial at any timnevarious grounds, including a finding t
the subjects or patients are being exposed to acceptable health risk.

Typically, human clinical trials are condledt in three phases that may overlap. In Phasénigat trials are conducted with a small num
of patients to determine the early safety profild aharmacology of the new therapy. In Phase gicdli trials are conducted with groups of
patients afflicted with a specific disease or mabaondition in order to determine preliminary efity, optimal dosages and expanded evid
of safety. In Phase 3, large-scale, multicentericdi trials are conducted with patients afflicteith a target disease or medical condition in
order to provide substantial evidence of efficacg aafety required by the FDA and others.

The results of the pre-clinical and clinitssting, together with chemistry and manufaciiimformation, are submitted to the FDA in the
form of a New Drug Application, or NDA, for a phaaceutical product in order to obtain approval tomotence commercial sales. In
responding to an NDA, the FDA may grant marketipgravals, may request additional information otHar research or studies, or may deny
the application if it determines that the appliocatdoes not satisfy its regulatory approval créteFDA approval for a pharmaceutical product
may not be granted on a timely basis, if at alldenthe goals and policies agreed to by the FDAeutite Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or
PDUFA, the FDA has twelve months in which to conpliés initial review of a standard NDA and respdadhe applicant, and eight months
for a priority NDA. The FDA does not always mestRDUFA goal dates and in certain circumstancestehiew process and the PDUFA goa
date may be extended. A subsequent applicatioagiroval of an additional indication must also &gewed by the FDA under the same
criteria as apply to original applications, and maydenied as well. In addition, even if FDA appidg granted, it may not cover all the clin
indications for which approval is sought or may tedm significant limitations in the form of warniagprecautions or contraindications with
respect to conditions of use. In addition, the DAy require the establishment of REMS that mayirfstance, restrict distribution and imp
burdensome implementation requirements. Our apprpveduct Qsymia is subject to a REMS program.

Satisfaction of FDA premarket approval iegments for new drugs typically takes several geand the actual time required may vary
substantially based upon the type, complexity amdehy of the product or targeted disease. Goventmegulation may delay or prevent
marketing of potential products for a considergi@dod of time and may impose costly proceduresiupeo activities. Success in early-stage
clinical trials or with prior versions of produalses not assure success in later stage cliniedd.tata obtained from clinical activities are not
always conclusive and may be susceptible to varyitegpretations that could delay, limit or prevesgulatory approval.

Once approved, products are subject tomaing regulation by the FDA. The FDA may withdréve product approval if compliance w
post-marketing regulatory standards is not maiethior if problems occur after the product reacheswarketplace. In addition, the FDA may
require post-marketing studies or trials, refeticeds PMR studies, to monitor the effect of an aped product, and may limit further
marketing of the product based on the results @alpost-market studies. The FDA has required psrform PMR studies for both of our
approved products, Qsymia and STENDRA. The FDAlmaad post-market regulatory and enforcement pquireekiding the
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ability to levy fines and civil penalties, suspedielay issuance of approvals, seize or recatlymts, or withdraw approvals. Additionally, the
Food and Drug Amendment Act of 2007 requires allichl trials we conduct for our investigationalidrcandidates, both before and after
approval, and the results of those trials whenlalks, to be included in a clinical trials registigitabase that is available and accessible to the
public via the Internet. Our failure to properlyripeipate in the clinical trial database registrgyrsubject us to significant civil penalties.

Facilities used to manufacture drugs abgesti to periodic inspection by the FDA, and othethorities where applicable, and must cor
with the FDA's current Good Manufacturing PractimecGMP regulations. Compliance with cGMP includédbering to requirements relating
to organization of personnel, buildings and fae$it equipment, control of components and drugywrbdontainers and closures, production
and process controls, packaging and labeling clsntnolding and distribution, laboratory contrasd records and reports. Failure to comply
with the statutory and regulatory requirements ectisj the manufacturer to possible legal or regofadotion, such as suspension of
manufacturing, seizure of product or voluntary Heaba product.

The FDA imposes a number of complex regaaton entities that advertise and promote phagntéazals, which include, among other
things, standards and regulations relating to ti@consumer advertising, off-label promotion, uistty-sponsored scientific and educational
activities, and promotional activities involvingetinternet. A product cannot be commercially pragddiefore it is approved. After approval,
product promotion can include only those claimatirf to safety and effectiveness that are congistéh the labeling approved by the FDA.
The FDA has very broad enforcement authority. Faito abide by these regulations can result in i@g@vpeublicity, and/or enforcement actio
including the issuance of a warning letter diregtine entity to correct deviations from FDA star$arand state and federal civil and criminal
investigations and prosecutions. This could sulgemimpany to a range of penalties that could hasignificant commercial impact, including
civil and criminal fines and agreements that mathrrestrict the manner in which a company promatedistributes drug products.

Companies that manufacture or distributgygroducts or that hold approved NDAs must comygth other regulatory requirements,
including submitting annual reports, reporting imh@ation about adverse drug experiences, and maingacertain records. In addition, we are
subject to various laws and regulations regardieguse and disposal of hazardous or potentiallgrdazis substances in connection with our
manufacture and research. In each of these areasted above, the government has broad regulatahenforcement powers, including the
ability to levy fines and civil penalties, suspesdielay issuance of approvals, seize or recatlymts, and withdraw approvals, any one or
more of which could have a material adverse efigcn us.

Other Government Regulations

In addition to laws and regulations enfdrbg the FDA, we are also subject to regulationeuiidiational Institutes of Health guidelines as
well as under the Controlled Substances Act, theuPational Safety and Health Act, the EnvironmeRtaitection Act, the Toxic Substances
Control Act, the Resource Conservation and Recosetyand other present and potential future fedetate or local laws and regulations, as
our research and development may involve the cliedrase of hazardous materials, chemicals, virasesvarious radioactive compounds.

In addition to regulations in the U.S., are subject to a variety of foreign regulationseoing clinical trials, commercial sales, and
distribution of our investigational drug candidatéfe must obtain separate approvals by the comjgaregulatory authorities of foreign
countries before we can commence marketing of tbdygt in those countries. For example, in the t8d,conduct of clinical trials is govern
by Directive 2001/20/EC which imposes obligationsl @arocedures that are similar to those providesbplicable US laws. The European
Union Good Clinical Practice rules, or GCP, and
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EU Good Laboratory Practice, or GLP, obligationsstralso be respected during conduct of the tri@isical trials must be approved by the
competent authorities and the competent Ethics Gttews in the EU Member States in which the clihidals take place. A clinical trial
application, or CTA, must be submitted to each Eehiber State's national health authority. Moreoaerapplication for a positive opinion
must be submitted to the competent Ethics Commjitee to commencement of clinical trials of a medal product. The competent
authorities of the EU Member States in which theic4l trial is conducted must authorize the condifche trial and the competent Ethics
Committees must grant their positive opinion ptiocommencement of a clinical trial in an EU MemBeaite. The approval process varies
from country to country, and the time may be longreshorter than that required for FDA approvale Tequirements governing the conduct of
clinical trials, product licensing, pricing andm&ursement vary greatly from country to country.

To obtain marketing approval of a medicipduct in the EU, we would be required to submatrketing authorization applications basec
on the ICH Common Technical Document to the conrgetathorities, and must demonstrate the qualitfigtg and efficacy of our medicinal
products. This would require us to conduct humariazl trials to generate the necessary clinicéhdsloreover, we would be required to
demonstrate in our application that studies haes lmenducted with the medicinal product in the gt population as provided by a Pedia
Investigation Plan, or PIP, approved by the Pedi@ommittee of the EMA. Alternatively, confirmatidhat we have been granted a waiver ol
deferral from the conduct of these studies mugirbeided.

Medicinal products are authorized in theiEBldne of two ways, either by the competent autiesrof the EU Member States through the
decentralized procedure or mutual recognition piaoe, or through the centralized procedure by thean Commission following a posit
opinion by the EMA. The authorization process seadially the same irrespective of which routesedu

The centralized procedure provides forgtant of a single marketing authorization thataid/for all EU Member States. The centralized
procedure is compulsory for medicinal products posdl by certain biotechnological processes, prediresignated as orphan medicinal
products, and products with a new active substartieated for the treatment of certain diseasés.dptional for those products that are hic
innovative or for which a centralized process ithia interest of patients. Under the centralizextedure in the EU, the maximum timeframe
for the evaluation of a marketing authorizationlagaion is 210 days (excluding clock stops, whddigonal written or oral information is to
be provided by the applicant in response to questasked by the CHMP). Accelerated evaluation neagrlnted by the CHMP in exceptional
cases. These are defined as circumstances in whigddicinal product is expected to be of a "maijdilic health interest." Three cumulative
criteria must be fulfilled in such circumstancd® seriousness of the disease, such as heavyidgsablife-threatening diseases, to be treated
the absence or insufficiency of an appropriateradtive therapeutic approach; and anticipationigi hherapeutic benefit. In these
circumstances, the EMA ensures that the opinich@CHMP is given within 150 days.

The decentralized procedure provides f@reyal by one or more other ("concerned") EU MenfBiates of an assessment of an
application for marketing authorization conductgdobe EU Member State, known as the reference Ebibhée State. In accordance with this
procedure, an applicant submits an applicatiomfarketing authorization to the reference EU Menfitate and the concerned EU Member
States. This application is identical to the aggilan that would be submitted to the EMA for authation through the centralized procedure.
The reference EU Member State prepares a drafssesmt and drafts of the related materials witi® days after receipt of a valid
application. The resulting assessment report is#itdd to the concerned EU Member States who, wi#ldi days of receipt must decide
whether to approve the assessment report anddetetterials. If a concerned EU Member State caapptove the assessment report and
related materials due to concerns relating to arial serious risk to public health, disputed edais may be
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referred to the European Commission, whose decisibmding on all EU Member States. In accordanite the mutual recognition procedt
the sponsor applies for national marketing auttaion in one EU Member State. Upon receipt of éhithorization the sponsor can then seek
the recognition of this authorization by other Eléber States. Authorization in accordance witheeitif these procedures will result in
authorization of the medicinal product only in tleéerence EU Member State and in the other conddeieMember States.

Innovative medicinal products authorizedhie EU on the basis of a full marketing author@agpplication (as opposed to an application
for marketing authorization that relies on datailatée in the marketing authorization dossier foother, previously approved, medicinal
product) are entitled to eight years' data excltysilDuring this period, applicants for authorizatiof generics or biosimilars of these innova
products cannot rely on data contained in the nteagg@uthorization dossier submitted for the inrtoxeamedicinal product. Innovative
medicinal products are also entitled to ten yeaeket exclusivity. During this ten year periodgeneric or biosimilar of this medicinal
product can be placed on the EU market. The tengye@od of market exclusivity can be extended maximum of 11 years if, during the first
eight years of those ten years, the Marketing Atzaton Holder for the innovative product obtaars authorization for one or more new
therapeutic indications which, during the scientdialuation prior to their authorization, are heldring a significant clinical benefit in
comparison with existing therapies.

Similarly to the U.S., marketing authoripatholders and manufacturers of medicinal prodaptssubject to comprehensive regulatory
oversight by the EMA and/or the competent authesitif the EU Member States. This oversight applahk before and after grant of
manufacturing and marketing authorizations. Itudels control of compliance with EU GMP rules andrpiacovigilance rules. We cannot
guarantee that we would be able to comply withpthgt-marketing obligations imposed as part of tlaeketing authorization for SPEDRA.
Failure to comply with these requirements may leaithe suspension, variation or withdrawal of therketing authorization for SPEDRA in
the EU.

In the EU, the advertising and promotiomof products will also be subject to EU Membeté&tdaws concerning promotion of
medicinal products, interactions with physicianssleading and comparative advertising and unfammercial practices, as well as other EU
Member State legislation that may apply to the dibiag and promotion of medicinal products. Thisses require that promotional materials
and advertising in relation to medicinal produaisply with the product's Summary of Product Chamastics, or SmPC, as approved by the
competent authorities. The SmPC is the documehptiozides information to physicians concerning shée and effective use of the medicinal
product. It forms an intrinsic and integral parttoé marketing authorization granted for the megitproduct. Promotion of a medicinal
product that does not comply with the SmPC is aereid to constitute off-label promotion. The offidhpromotion of medicinal products is
prohibited in the EU. The applicable laws at the Bkl and in the individual EU Member States agsahibit the direct-to-consumer
advertising of prescription-only medicinal produdf$olations of the rules governing the promotidmmeedicinal products in the EU could be
penalized by administrative measures, fines andigmpment. These laws may further limit or restdoinmunications concerning the
advertising and promotion of our products to theagal public and may also impose limitations onmnamotional activities with healthcare
professionals.

Failure to comply with the EU Member Staws implementing the Community Code on medicinmabpcts, and EU rules governing the
promotion of medicinal products, interactions wpthysicians, misleading and comparative advertiaimg) unfair commercial practices, with
EU Member State laws that apply to the promotiometlicinal products, statutory health insuranciddoy and anti-corruption or with other
applicable regulatory requirements can result foreement action by the EU Member State authoritidgéch may include any of the
following: fines, imprisonment, orders forfeitinggalucts or prohibiting or suspending their supplyhte market, or requiring the manufacturer
to issue public warnings, or to conduct a prodacah.
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Interactions between pharmaceutical conggaand physicians are also governed by strict legsilations, industry self-regulation codes
of conduct and physicians' codes of professionatiaot in the individual EU Member States. The psmn of benefits or advantages to
physicians to induce or encourage the prescriptetommendation, endorsement, purchase, supplgr orduse of medicinal products is
prohibited in the EU. The provision of benefitsamlvantages to physicians is also governed by ttienah anti-bribery laws of the EU Member
States. One example is the UK Bribery Act 2010sTit applies to any company incorporated in ortgag on business" in the UK,
irrespective of where in the world the alleged bribactivity occurs. This Act could have implicatfor our interactions with physicians in
and outside the UK. Violation of these laws cowddult in substantial fines and imprisonment.

Payments made to physicians in certain Etnlider States must be publically disclosed. More@agreements with physicians must often
be the subject of prior notification and approwalthe physician's employer, his/her competent gsifmal organization, and/or the competent
authorities of the individual EU Member States. §dhesquirements are provided in the national lavasstry codes, or professional codes of
conduct, applicable in the EU Member States. Faitarcomply with these requirements could resuteputational risk, public reprimands,
administrative penalties, fines or imprisonment.

United States Healthcare Reform

In March 2010, the Patient Protection affidrable Care Act, as amended by the Health CadeEmlucation Reconciliation Act of 2010,
collectively referred to in this report as the Affable Care Act was adopted in the United Statks [Aw substantially changes the way
healthcare is financed by both governmental andateiinsurers, and significantly impacts the phaeutical industry. The Affordable Care
Act contains a number of provisions that are exgubtd impact our business and operations. Chahgésiay affect our business include those
governing enrollment in federal healthcare programisnbursement changes, rules regarding presmniphiug benefits under the health
insurance exchanges, expansion of the 340B prograthfraud and abuse and enforcement. These chafiljgspact existing government
healthcare programs and will result in the develepnof new programs, including Medicare paymenipenformance initiatives and
improvements to the physician quality reportingtsgsand feedback program.

The Affordable Care Act made significanaobes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate program. Effedtharch 23, 2010, rebate liability
expanded from fee-for-service Medicaid utilizatiorinclude the utilization of Medicaid managed carganizations as well. With regard to the
amount of the rebates owed, the Affordable Careidmeased the minimum Medicaid rebate from 15.6%3.1% of the average manufactt
price for most innovator products and from 11% 3&clfor non-innovator products; changed the calauiadf the rebate for certain innovator
products that qualify as line extensions of exggtinugs; and capped the total rebate amount faviior drugs at 100% of the average
manufacturer price. In addition, the Affordable €&t and subsequent legislation changed the defindf average manufacturer price. In
2012, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Sesyioe CMS, the federal agency that administers bediand the Medicaid Drug Rebate
program, issued proposed regulations to implententhanges to the Medicaid Drug Rebate programruhdeAffordable Care Act but has |
yet issued final regulations. CMS is currently extpd to release the final regulations in 2015.dditon, the Affordable Care Act requir
pharmaceutical manufacturers of branded prescniiiogs to pay a branded prescription drug febeddéderal government beginning in 2011
Each individual pharmaceutical manufacturer pagsosated share of the branded prescription dru@fé&.0 billion in 2015, based on the
dollar value of its branded prescription drug sétesertain federal programs identified in the law.

Additional provisions of the Affordable @a#ct, some of which became effective in 2011, megatively affect our revenues in the
future. For example, as part of the Affordable Cacés
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provisions closing a coverage gap that currentigtexn the Medicare Part D prescription drug paogy or the donut hole, manufacturers are
required to provide a 50% discount on branded pitgmn drugs dispensed to beneficiaries withirs tthonut hole. We currently do not
anticipate coverage under Medicare Part D for ougsl, but this could change in the future.

The Affordable Care Act also expanded thblie Health Service's 340B drug pricing discourdgram. The 340B pricing program
requires participating manufacturers to agree togd statutorily defined covered entities no mbemntthe 340B "ceiling price" for the
manufacturer's covered outpatient drugs. The A#iblel Care Act expanded the 340B program to incadtbtional types of covered entities:
certain free-standing cancer hospitals, criticakeas hospitals, rural referral centers and solenuamity hospitals, each as defined by the
Affordable Care Act. The Affordable Care Act alduligates the Secretary of the Department of Healith Human Services to create
regulations and processes to improve the integfithe 340B program and to ensure the agreementrthaufacturers must sign to participate
in the 340B program obligates a manufacturer terdfie 340B price to covered entities if the maotufieer makes the drug available to any
other purchaser at any price and to report to tveigment the ceiling prices for its drugs. The I[HeResources and Services Administration,
the agency that administers the 340B program,peebed to issue proposed regulations and guidan2@1i5 that will address many aspects of
the 340B program. When such regulations and guelane finalized, they could affect our obligatiamsler the 340B program in ways we
cannot anticipate. In addition, legislation mayitteoduced that, if passed, would further expared340B program to additional covered
entities or would require participating manufactar® agree to provide 340B discounted pricing mrgs used in the inpatient setting.

Some states have elected not to expandNteglicaid programs by raising the income limitl®83% of the federal poverty level as
permitted under the Affordable Care Act. For edeltesthat does not choose to expand its Medicaidram, there may be fewer insured
patients overall, which could impact our salesjmess and financial condition.

Pharmaceutical Pricing and Reimbursement

In both U.S. and foreign markets, our &piido commercialize our products successfully, tmdttract commercialization partners for our
products, depend in significant part on the avditglof adequate financial coverage and reimbursenirom third-party payors, including, in
the United States, governmental payors such adléiicare and Medicaid programs, managed care arg@oims, and private health insurers.
Third-party payors decide which drugs they will gayand establish reimbursement and co-pay leVdlsd-party payors are increasingly
challenging the prices charged for medicines arsanéing their cost-effectiveness, in addition teittsafety and efficacy. We may need to
conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies in ¢odemonstrate the cost-effectiveness of our prsdiEven with studies, our products
may be considered less safe, less effective orclestseffective than existing products, and thiedty payors may not provide coverage and
reimbursement for our product candidates, in wioole part.

Political, economic and regulatory influes@re subjecting the healthcare industry in thigedrStates to fundamental changes. There
been, and we expect there will continue to beslagve and regulatory proposals to change thethsade system in ways that could impact ou
ability to sell our products profitably. We antiaie that the United States Congress, state lagiekatnd the private sector will continue to
consider and may adopt healthcare policies intetaledrb rising healthcare costs. These cost-comtant measures include: controls on
government funded reimbursement for drugs; newareiased requirements to pay prescription drugeshia government healthcare
programs; controls on healthcare providers; chg#srio the pricing of drugs or limits or prohibitgon reimbursement for specific products
through other means; requirements to try less esipemroducts or generics before a more expensaadied product; changes in drug
importation laws; expansion of use of managed sgséems in which healthcare providers contract to
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provide comprehensive healthcare for a fixed cestgerson; and public funding for cost-effectivenesssearch, which may be used by
government and private third-party payors to makeecage and payment decisions. Further, federajdtady concerns could result in the
implementation of significant federal spending cuisluding cuts in Medicare and other health edagpending in the near-term. For example
recent legislative enactments have resulted in béedipayments being subject to a two percent resiyceferred to as sequestration, until
2024.

Payors also are increasingly considering metrics as the basis for reimbursement rate$, as@verage sales price, average
manufacturer price and Actual Acquisition Cost. Biésting data for reimbursement based on thesdasés relatively limited, although
certain states have begun to survey acquisitiondaia for the purpose of setting Medicaid reimborent rates. CMS has made draft National
Average Drug Acquisition Cost, or NADAC, data, winieflect retail community pharmacy invoice costsd draft National Average Retail
Price, or NARP, data, which reflect retail commymharmacy prices to plans and consumers, puldichjlable on at least a monthly basis. In
July 2013, CMS suspended the publication of dr#RR data, pending funding decisions. In Novembdr32@MS moved to publishing final,
rather than draft, NADAC data and has since madiatga NADAC data publicly available on a weeklyibasherefore, it may be difficult to
project the impact of these evolving reimbursenmathanics on the willingness of payors to covergsaducts.

We participate in the Medicaid Drug Rebatiegram, established by the Omnibus Budget Redatioih Act of 1990 and amended by the
Veterans Health Care Act of 1992 as well as sulm®dagislation. Under the Medicaid Drug Rebategpam, we are required to pay a rebate
to each state Medicaid program for our coveredatigpt drugs that are dispensed to Medicaid beaei#s and paid for by a state Medicaid
program as a condition of having federal funds ferade available to the states for our drugs ultelicaid and Medicare Part B. Those
rebates are based on pricing data reported by asnoonthly and quarterly basis to CMS. These datiadle the average manufacturer price
and, in the case of innovator products, the bese for each drug.

Federal law requires that any company phaticipates in the Medicaid Drug Rebate prograso ahrticipate in the Public Health Servic
340B drug pricing discount program in order fordeal funds to be available for the manufacturetgsl under Medicaid and Medicare Part B.
The 340B pricing program requires participating ofanturers to agree to charge statutorily definegeoed entities no more than the 340B
"ceiling price" for the manufacturer's covered atigpnt drugs. These 340B covered entities includariety of community health clinics and
other entities that receive health services griratae the Public Health Service, as well as hospithht serve a disproportionate share of low-
income patients. The 340B ceiling price is caladatsing a statutory formula, which is based oratr@age manufacturer price and rebate
amount for the covered outpatient drug as calcdlateler the Medicaid Drug Rebate program. Charg#ssetdefinition of average
manufacturer price and the Medicaid Drug Rebatelsnrnonder the Affordable Care Act and CMS's isseafdinal regulations implementing
those changes also could affect our 340B ceilimcepralculations and negatively impact our resofitsperations.

In order to be eligible to have our prodyaaid for with federal funds under the Medicaid &hedicare Part B programs and purchased b
certain federal agencies and certain federal geantee participate in the Department of Veterarfaifs, or VA, Federal Supply Schedule, or
FSS, pricing program, established by Section 6aB@eterans Health Care Act of 1992. Under thiggmam, we are obligated to make our
product available for procurement on an FSS cohtmad charge a price to four federal agencies—Vép@tment of Defense, Public Health
Service, and Coast Guard—that is no higher thastdtetory Federal Ceiling Price, or FCP. The FE€Pased on the non-federal average
manufacturer price, or Non-FAMP, which we calculatel report to the VA on a quarterly and annuaisb&$e also participate in the Tricare
Retail Pharmacy program, established by Sectionof @3 National Defense Authorization Act for F¥0B, and related regulations, under
which we pay
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quarterly rebates on utilization of innovator protiuthat are dispensed to Tricare beneficiaries.r€bates are calculated as the difference
between Annual Non-FAMP and FCP.

We expect to experience pricing pressurdéla United States in connection with the saleuwsfproducts due to the trend toward manage
healthcare, the increasing influence of health teaisnce organizations and additional legislativpsals. In various EU countries, we expec
to be subject to continuous cagttting measures, such as lower maximum pricesiawlack of reimbursement coverage and incentvese
cheaper, usually generic, products as an altemativ

We are unable to predict what additiongidkation, regulations or policies, if any, relaito the healthcare industry or third-party
coverage and reimbursement may be enacted in tinefar what effect such legislation, regulationpalicies would have on our business.
Any cost-containment measures, including thosedisibove, or other healthcare system reforms teatdopted, could have a material advers
effect on our ability to operate profitably.

Once an applicant receives marketing aightion in an EU Member State, through any apghcatoute, the applicant is then required to
engage in pricing discussions and negotiations avgkparate pricing authority in that country. Tggslators, policymakers and healthcare
insurance funds in the EU Member States continygdpose and implement cost-containing measurksdp healthcare costs down, due in
part to the attention being paid to healthcare-coastainment and other austerity measures in thed8&uain of these changes could impose
limitations on the prices pharmaceutical compaaresable to charge for their products. The amoofitsimbursement available from
governmental agencies or third-party payors fos¢hgroducts may increase the tax obligations ompdgeutical companies such as ours, or
may facilitate the introduction of generic competitwith respect to our products. Furthermore,remgasing number of EU Member States
other foreign countries use prices for medicinaldpicts established in other countries as "referprices" to help determine the price of the
product in their own territory. Consequently, a dwvard trend in prices of medicinal products in samentries could contribute to similar
downward trends elsewhere. In addition, the ongbindgetary difficulties faced by a number of EU MenStates, including Greece and
Spain, have led and may continue to lead to sutistaielays in payment and payment partially widtvgrnment bonds rather than cash for
medicinal products, which could negatively impagt tevenues and profitability. Moreover, in ordeiobtain reimbursement of our medicinal
products in some countries, including some EU Mangtates, we may be required to conduct Health Ai@clgy Assessments, or HTAs, that
compare the cost-effectiveness of our productsheravailable therapies. There can be no assuthateur medicinal products will obtain
favorable reimbursement status in any country.

In the EU, the sole legal instrument atEtelevel governing the pricing and reimburseméntedicinal products is Council Directive
89/105/EEC, or the Price Transparency Directivee @im of this Directive is to ensure that pricimglaeimbursement mechanisms establishe
in the EU Member States are transparent and obgeatd not hinder the free movement and trade aficiraal products in the EU and do not
hinder, prevent or distort competition on the markée Price Transparency Directive does not p@widy guidance concerning the specific
criteria on the basis of which pricing and reimieument decisions are to be made in individual EU lenstates. Neither does it have any
direct consequence for pricing nor reimbursemeargltein individual EU Member States. The EU Mem8tates are free to restrict the rang
medicinal products for which their national heattburance systems provide reimbursement and tealdhe prices and/or reimbursement
levels of medicinal products for human use. An EEnber State may approve a specific price or lezetimbursement for the medicinal
product, or alternatively adopt a system of digdndirect controls on the profitability of theropany responsible for placing the medicinal
product on the market, including volume-based aeaments and reference pricing mechanisms.
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Health Technology Assessment, or HTA, ofliti@al products is becoming an increasingly commart of the pricing and reimbursem
procedures in some EU Member States. These EU Megtates include the United Kingdom, France, Gegnaard Sweden. The HTA
process in the EEA Member States is governed bpakienal laws of these countries. HTA is the pdure according to which the assessmen
of the public health impact, therapeutic impact Hreleconomic and societal impact of use of a gimedicinal product in the national
healthcare systems of the individual country isduarted. HTA generally focuses on the clinical eftig and effectiveness, safety, cost, and
cost-effectiveness of individual medicinal produasswell as their potential implications for thealtlecare system. Those elements of medicin:
products are compared with other treatment optmaslable on the market.

The outcome of HTA regarding specific matht products will often influence the pricing areimbursement status granted to these
medicinal products by the competent authoritiemdividual EU Member States. The extent to whiciecipg and reimbursement decisions are
influenced by the HTA of the specific medicinal guat vary between EU Member States.

In 2011, Directive 2011/24/EU was adopteBW@ level. This Directive concerns the applicatadpatients' rights in cross-border
healthcare. The Directive is intended to establigés for facilitating access to safe and high-ijyakoss-border healthcare in the EU. It also
provides for the establishment of a voluntary neknaf national authorities or bodies responsibleH@ A in the individual EU Member States.
The purpose of the network is to facilitate andparpthe exchange of scientific information con@egrHTAs. This could lead to
harmonization between EU Member States of ther@itaken into account in the conduct of HTA aneiitimpact on pricing and
reimbursement decisions.

Fraud and Abuse Laws

The healthcare industry, and thus our lassinis subject to extensive federal, state, lcdlforeign regulation. Some of the pertinent |
have not been definitively interpreted by the ragndy authorities or the courts, and their provisiare open to a variety of interpretations. In
addition, these laws and their interpretationssaigect to change. Both federal and state govertahagencies continue to subject the
healthcare industry to intense regulatory scrutimgiuding heightened civil and criminal enforcerefforts.

The restrictions under applicable federal state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and temgdahat may affect our ability to operate
include, but are not limited to:

. the federal Anti-Kickback Law, which prohibitsmong other things, knowingly or willingly offeringaying, soliciting or
receiving remuneration, directly or indirectly,dgash or in kind, to induce or reward the purchadasing, ordering or
arranging for or recommending the purchase, leaseder of any healthcare items or service for Wipayment may be made
whole or in part, by federal healthcare progranthsas Medicare and Medicaid. This statute has beerpreted to apply to
arrangements between pharmaceutical companieseohand and prescribers, purchasers and formulamageas on the other.
Further, the Affordable Care Act, among other teindarified that liability may be established unttee federal Anti-Kickback
Law without proving actual knowledge of the fedekati-Kickback statute or specific intent to vicdat. In addition, the
Affordable Care Act amended the Social Security tAgirovide that the government may assert théiendncluding items or
services resulting from a violation of the fedeXati-Kickback Law constitutes a false or fraudulefgim for purposes of the
federal civil False Claims Act. Although there araumber of statutory exemptions and regulatorg bafbors to the federal
Anti-Kickback Law protecting certain common businesaragements and activities from prosecution or régnfasanctions, th
exemptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowlypsaactices that do not fit squarely within an
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exemption or safe harbor may be subject to scrutviy seek to comply with the exemptions and safbdra whenever possib
but our practices may not in all cases meet dhefcriteria for safe harbor protection from aritidback liability;

. the federal civil False Claims Act, which prohibigenong other things, individuals or entities franowingly presenting, or
causing to be presented, a false or fraudulenihdari payment of government funds or knowingly nmakiusing or causing to
be made or used, a false record or statement miai@an obligation to pay money to the governnmerknowingly concealing «
knowingly and improperly avoiding, decreasing, oncealing an obligation to pay money to the fedgoalernment. Many
pharmaceutical and other healthcare companiestheame investigated and have reached substantialcimlasettlements with tt
federal government under the civil False Claimsfacta variety of alleged improper marketing adtes, including providing
free product to customers with the expectation tth@tcustomers would bill federal programs for gpheduct; providing
consulting fees, grants, free travel, and otheebento physicians to induce them to prescribecthpany's products; and
inflating prices reported to private price publioatservices, which are used to set drug payméees inder government
healthcare programs. In addition, in recent ydagsggbvernment has pursued civil False Claims As¢sagainst a number of
pharmaceutical companies for causing false clainbetsubmitted as a result of the marketing of tesiducts for unapproved,
and thus nomeimbursable, uses. Pharmaceutical and other lvaa¢tttompanies also are subject to other feddsa &aim laws
including, among others, federal criminal healtedaaud and false statement statutes that extendrtayovernment health
benefit programs;

. numerous federal and state laws, including steteirity breach notification laws, state healfbrimation privacy laws and
federal and state consumer protection laws, gothercollection, use and disclosure of personakrimédion. Other countries al
have, or are developing, laws governing the catlactuse and transmission of personal informatinraddition, most healthcare
providers who prescribe our product and from whoenolitain patient health information are subjegirteacy and security
requirements under the Health Insurance Portalaifity Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA. We aretra HIPAA-covered
entity and we do not operate as a business assaciaty covered entities. Therefore, these priad/security requirements
not apply to us. However, we could be subject imicral penalties if we knowingly obtain individuglidentifiable health
information from a covered entity in a manner tlsatot authorized or permitted by HIPAA or for aigiand abetting the
violation of HIPAA. We are unable to predict whatlogir actions could be subject to prosecution édhent of an
impermissible disclosure of health information & The legislative and regulatory landscape forgmy and data protection
continues to evolve, and there has been an inagasnount of focus on privacy and data protectisnés with the potential to
affect our business, including recently enactedslama majority of states requiring security breaotification. These laws cot
create liability for us or increase our cost ofrdpbusiness;

. analogous state laws and regulations, suchases attikickback and false claims laws, may apply to itemservices reimburse
under Medicaid and other state programs or, inrsggtates, apply regardless of the payor. Sonte ktas also require
pharmaceutical companies to report expenses rgladithe marketing and promotion of pharmaceuficaflucts and to report
gifts and payments to certain health care providetse states. Other states prohibit providing Isé&aprescribers or other
marketing-related activities. In addition, Calif@nConnecticut, Nevada, and Massachusetts reghaemaceutical companies
to implement compliance programs or marketing cade®nduct. Foreign governments often have simégulations, which w
also will be subject to in those countries wheremagket and sell products;

. the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, beimdémented as the Open Payments Program, reqeirisncpharmaceutical
manufacturers to engage in extensive tracking pireats and
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other transfers of value to physicians and teachogpitals, and to submit such data to CMS, whitghtlen make all of this
data publicly available on the CMS website. Phaeméical manufacturers with products for which pawtrie available under
Medicare, Medicaid or the State Children's Heaitfutance Program are required to have startednigaoéportable payments
on August 1, 2013, and must submit a report to @ ®r before the 90th day of each calendar yeatadimg reportable
payments made in the previous calendar year. eaitucomply with the reporting obligations may flegucivil monetary
penalties; and

. the federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 19i@@ ather similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisions generally prohibit
companies and their intermediaries from providiraney or anything of value to officials of foreigoygernments, foreign
political parties, or international organizationghithe intent to obtain or retain business or seékisiness advantage. Recently,
there has been a substantial increase in antitigriber enforcement activity by U.S. regulators,twitore frequent and
aggressive investigations and enforcement procgedin both the Department of Justice and the Le8uies and Exchange
Commission. A determination that our operationadiivities are not, or were not, in compliance withited States or foreign
laws or regulations could result in the impositafrsubstantial fines, interruptions of businessslof supplier, vendor or other
third-party relationships, termination of necesdamgnses and permits, and other legal or equitsdahetions. Other internal or
government investigations or legal or regulatorycgedings, including lawsuits brought by privatigdints, may also follow as
consequence.

If our operations are found to be in vimatof any of the laws described above or any ogfoeernmental regulations that apply to us, we
may be subject to significant civil, criminal andnainistrative penalties, damages, fines, exclufiom government-funded healthcare
programs, like Medicare and Medicaid, and the damtnt or restructuring of our operations. Any piiea, damages, fines, curtailment or
restructuring of our operations could adverselgafbur ability to operate our business and owrfaial results. Although compliance progri
can mitigate the risk of investigation and prosecufor violations of these laws, the risks canbp@tentirely eliminated. Any action against us
for violation of these laws or regulations, evewé successfully defend against it, could caude urscur significant legal expenses and divert
our management's attention from the operation obaginess. Moreover, achieving and sustaining diamge with applicable federal and state
privacy, security and fraud laws may prove costly.

Collaboration Agreements
Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporatic

In January 2001, we entered into an exetudevelopment, license and clinical trial and carsial supply agreement with Tanabe
Seiyaku Co., Ltd., now Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharmap@mation, or MTPC, for the development and comnadiation of avanafil, a PDES
inhibitor compound for the oral and local treatmehinale and female sexual dysfunction. Under énms$ of the agreement, MTPC agreed to
grant an exclusive license to us for products dnirtg avanafil outside of Japan, North Korea, SdGtinea, China, Taiwan, Singapore,
Indonesia, Malaysia, Thailand, Vietnam and theipithes. We agreed to grant MTPC an exclusive, ltpyfeee license within those countries
for oral products that we develop containing aviunlaf addition, we agreed to grant MTPC an exclasiption to obtain an exclusive, royalty-
bearing license within those countries for non-pralducts that we develop containing avanafil. MT&fteed to manufacture and supply us
with avanafil for use in clinical trials, which wepur primary responsibility. The MTPC agreememitams a number of milestone payments tc
be made by us based on various triggering events.
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The term of the MTPC agreement is based country-by-country and on a product-by-produaisarhe term shall continue until the
later of (i) 10 years after the date of the filgesfor a particular product, or (ii) the expiratiof the last-to-expire patents within the MTPC
patents covering such product in such countryhéndvent that our product is deemed to be (i) fisently effective or insufficiently safe
relative to other PDES5 inhibitor compounds basegualnlished information, or (ii) not economicallyaféble to develop due to unforeseen
regulatory hurdles or costs as measured by stasdardmon in the pharmaceutical industry for thigetef product, we have the right to
terminate the agreement with MTPC with respecutthgroduct.

In August 2012, we entered into an amendnteaur agreement with MTPC that permits us to nfiacture the active pharmaceutical
ingredient, or API, and tablets for STENDRA oursswor through third parties. According to the anmeeut, the transition of manufacturing
from MTPC must occur on or before June 30, 2015.

On February 21, 2013, we entered into hivel amendment to our agreement with MTPC whichgrgnother things, expands our rights,
or those of our sublicensees, to enforce the pateensed under the MTPC agreement against alliegéogement, and clarifies the rights and
duties of the parties and our sublicensees upamnation of the MTPC agreement. In addition, weavebligated to use our best commercial
efforts to market STENDRA in the U.S. by Decembgr 2013, which was achieved by our commercializagiartner, Auxilium.

On July 23, 2013, we entered into the fo@rnendment to our agreement with MTPC which, anaghgr things, changes the definitior
net sales used to calculate royalties owed by MTBC.

Menarini Group

On July 5, 2013, we entered into a licegnrsg commercialization agreement, or the Menarioéhse Agreement, and a supply agreemen
or the Menarini Supply Agreement, with the Menaf@moup through its subsidiary Berlin-Chemie AGMenarini.

Under the terms of the Menarini License éggnent, Menarini received an exclusive licensetoroercialize and promote our drug
SPEDRA™ (avanafil) for the treatment of ED in o¥érEuropean countries, including the EU, plus Aalstrand New Zealand. Additionally,
we agreed to transfer to Menarini ownership ofrtfaeketing authorization for SPEDRA in the EU foe theatment of ED, which was granted
by the EC in June 2013. Each party agreed notuieldp, commercialize, or in-license any other paidbat operates as phosphodiesterase
type-5 inhibitor for the treatment of ED for a lied time period, subject to certain exceptions.

Under the Menarini License Agreement, weeh@ceived payments of $52.1 million relatingitehse and milestone payments and
royalty prepayments. Additionally, we are entittech €10.0 million milestone payment related totaruary 2015 adoption by the EC of the
commission implementing decision amending the nmargeuthorization, and are entitled to receiveeptil milestone payments based on
certain net sales targets, plus royalties on SPEB&és. Menarini will also reimburse us for payrsantade to cover various obligations to
MTPC during the term of the Menarini License Agresin The Menarini License Agreement will terminatea country-by-country basis in
the relevant territories upon the latest to ocduhe following: (i) the expiration of the last-txpire valid VIVUS patent covering SPEDRA;
(ii) the expiration of data protection covering SFEA; or (iii) ten (10) years after the SPEDRA protilaunch. In addition, Menarini may
terminate the Menarini License Agreement if certaiiditional regulatory obligations are imposed ®EBRA, and we may terminate the
Menarini License Agreement if Menarini challenges patents covering SPEDRA or if Menarini commistain legal violations. Either party
may terminate the Menarini License Agreement ferdther party's uncured material breach or ban&yupt
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Under the terms of the Menarini Supply Agrent, we will supply Menarini with STENDRA drugagiuct until December 31, 2018, at
latest. Menarini also has the right to manufac&F&ENDRA independently, provided that it continuesatisfy certain minimum purchase
obligations to us. Following the expiration of tdenarini Supply Agreement, Menarini will be respites for its own supply of STENDRA.
Either party may terminate the Menarini Supply Agrent for the other party's uncured material bresdiankruptcy, or upon the termination
of the Menarini License Agreement.

Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Ini

On October 10, 2013, we entered into aaBeeand commercialization agreement, or the Auxiliicense Agreement, and a commercial
supply agreement, or the Auxilium Supply Agreemarith Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Auxiliur®n January 29, 2015, Auxilium was
purchased by Endo International, plc.

Under the terms of the Auxilium License agment, Auxilium received an exclusive licensedmmercialize and promote our drug
STENDRA for the treatment of ED in the United Sg¢aédd Canada and their respective territoriey@Auxilium Territory. Additionally,
following the completion of certain events, we hageeed to transfer to Auxilium ownership of thequct marketing authorization for
STENDRA for the treatment of ED, which was granbgdhe FDA in April 2012. Each party agreed notlévelop, commercialize, or in-
license any other product that operates as a PDA#aitor for the treatment of ED in the Auxiliumefritory for a limited time period, subject
to certain exceptions. A PDE-5 inhibitor means product that operates as a phosphodiesterase tiyjébEor.

We received an upfront license fee of $30illon in October 2013, and are eligible to reeevarious milestone payments, plus royalty
payments on STENDRA sales. We also received aaggylmilestone payment of $15.0 million in 2014nm@pproval by the FDA of a
specific time of onset claim for STENDRA in the Alixm Territory. In addition, we are eligible toaeive up to an aggregate of $255.0 mill
in potential milestone payments based on certdisales targets by Auxilium. Further, we will regeroyalty payments based on tiered
percentages of the aggregate annual net salesEfIBRA in the Auxilium Territory on a quarterly basiThe percentage of Auxilium's
aggregate annual net sales to be paid to VIVUSas#s in accordance with the achievement of spékiftsholds of aggregate annual net ¢
of STENDRA in the Auxilium Territory. If Auxilium'siet sales of STENDRA in a country are reducedédstacn amounts following the entry
of a generic product to the market, royalty payreevitl be reduced by certain percentages basedcmnreductions. Auxilium will also
reimburse VIVUS for payments made to cover varighbiggations to MTPC during the term of the Auxilidntense Agreement.

Auxilium will receive an exclusive licensgith a right to sublicense, subject to certainitétions, under certain of our trademarks,
including STENDRA, to market, sell and distribufEEINDRA for the treatment of ED in the Auxilium Téary. In addition, Auxilium will
receive an exclusive license, with a right to stdslise, subject to certain limitations, under cartdiour patents and know-how (i) to use,
distribute, import, promote, market, sell, offer fmle and otherwise commercialize STENDRA fortteatment of erectile dysfunction in the
Auxilium Territory; (ii) to make and have made STBRA anywhere in the world, with certain exceptiowhere STENDRA is solely for use
or sale for the treatment of erectile dysfunctiothie Auxilium Territory; and (iii) to conduct caih development activities on STENDRA for
the treatment of erectile dysfunction in supporbbfaining regulatory approval in the Auxilium Tigory.

Auxilium will obtain STENDRA exclusively &ém us for a mutually agreed term pursuant to theilAum Supply Agreement, as further
described below. Auxilium may elect to transfer tloatrol of the supply chain for STENDRA for the lium Territory to itself or its designi
by assigning to

25




Table of Contents
Auxilium our agreements with the contract manufeatuwhich is referred to below as the Supply CHaensfer.

At our sole cost and expense, we were resple for preparing and filing with the FDA thepappriate documents to obtain a label
expansion for STENDRA referencing a specific tiraeshset claim. Further, we were responsible fordoeting any post-regulatory studies of
STENDRA that were required by the FDA in the Auxili Territory. Such costs were split equally betwtenparties. These studies have bee
completed.

The Auxilium License Agreement will termiaaon a country-by-country basis upon the laterdeur of the following: (a) ten (10) years
after the STENDRA product launch in such countryl) the expiration of the last-to-expire patentthin our patents covering STENDRA in
such country. In addition, Auxilium may terminaketAuxilium License Agreement (i) for any reasoldwing the one (1) year anniversary of
the STENDRA launch in the U.S upon one hundredtgi(ftB0) days written notice, and (ii) upon thergmtf a generic avanafil product into
the market upon thirty (30) days written notice. Wiay terminate the Auxilium License Agreementifinediately upon written notice to
Auxilium if Auxilium is excluded from participatiom the U.S. federal healthcare programs and faitsire such exclusion within one hundred
twenty (120) days, and (i) if Auxilium challengte VIVUS patents covering STENDRA upon writtenioetto Auxilium. Either party may
terminate the Auxilium License Agreement for thhestparty's uncured material breach or bankruptcy.

Under the terms of the Auxilium Supply Agneent, we will supply Auxilium with STENDRA druggutuct until December 31, 2018, at
the latest. For 2015, and each subsequent yeargdilné term of the Auxilium Supply Agreement, if lium fails to purchase an agreed
minimum purchase amount of STENDRA from us, it wélimburse us for the shortfall as it relates toaut-of-pocket costs to acquire certain
raw materials needed to manufacture STENDRA. Ejlagty may terminate the Auxilium Supply Agreemfamtthe other party's uncured
material breach or bankruptcy, or upon the ternomadf the License Agreement. The Auxilium Supplgréement will automatically termine
upon completion of the Supply Chain Transfer, excdbed above.

Sanofi

On December 11, 2013, we entered intoem$ie and commercialization agreement, or the Saimafhse Agreement, with Sanofi.
Effective as of December 11, 2013, we enteredardapply agreement, or the Sanofi Supply Agreenvétit, Sanofi Winthrop Industrie, a
wholly owned subsidiary of Sanofi.

Under the terms of the Sanofi License Agreet, Sanofi received an exclusive license to coroialize and promote VIVUS's drug
avanafil for therapeutic use in humans in Afrideg Middle East—Turkey and Eurasia, or the Sanadfiiitey. During the term of the License
Agreement, each party agreed not to develop, coxiatize, or in-license any other product that opesas a phosphodiesterase type-5
inhibitor for therapeutic use in humans in the Sanerritory for a limited time period, subject tertain exceptions. Sanofi will reimburse us
for a portion of any sales milestone paid by uslIiPC based on the share of Sanofi's net saleitotal worldwide net sales amount
triggering the payment of such sales milestone.

In December 2013, we received an upframrse fee of $5.0 million and a $1.5 million mawtifising milestone payment, and in Febrt
2014, we received an additional $3.5 million in mf@cturing milestone payments. We are also elidibleceive up to $6.0 million in
regulatory milestone payments, and up to $45.0oniih sales milestone payments, plus royaltieavanafil sales based on tiered percentage
of the aggregate annual net sales in the Sanafitdisr. Sanofi will also reimburse us for a portiohany sales milestone paid by us to MTPC
based on the share of
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Sanofi's net sales in the total worldwide net salasunt triggering the payment of such sales noifest

Royalty payment obligations under the Sehicense Agreement will be payable for avanafieech country in the Sanofi Territory until
the later to occur of (i) the expiration of thetlas-expire valid claim within the VIVUS patentsatth absent the licenses granted to Sanofi unde
the Sanofi License Agreement, would be infringedh®ysale of avanafil in such country, and (ii) Beber 11, 2029, or the Sanofi Royalty
Payment Term. The Sanofi License Agreement withteate as follows: (i) as to avanafil in each couin the Sanofi Territory, upon the
expiration of the Sanofi Royalty Payment Term wibpect to avanafil in such country, provided hasvethat Sanofi's obligation to reimburse
us for Sanofi's pro-rata share of any sales mitespmid by us to MTPC will survive if such saledastione has not yet come due; and (ii) in its
entirety, upon the expiration of all royalty payrmebligations arising under the Sanofi License Agnent in all countries in the Sanofi
Territory.

In addition, we may terminate the Sanofidrise Agreement immediately upon written noticBdaofi on a country-by-country basis if
Sanofi becomes subject to certain regulatory astmriegal restrictions. We may also terminateSheofi License Agreement in its entirety
upon written notice to Sanofi if Sanofi or any béfie commences any action or proceeding that ehgds the validity, enforceability or scope
of any VIVUS patent in the Sanofi Territory or atguntry outside of the Sanofi Territory, or if andiar action is instituted by a sublicensee
and Sanofi does not terminate the sublicense laiag aware of such action for a specified pertadgther, Sanofi may terminate the Sanofi
License Agreement in whole or on a countrydmuntry basis for convenience at any time upon ackwaotice to us. Either party may termir
the Sanofi License Agreement for the other parttgsured material breach, or bankruptcy or relatgias or proceedings. In the event of an
uncured material breach by us, Sanofi may, indieterminating the Sanofi License Agreement ireitsirety, elect to continue the Sanofi
License Agreement in full force and effect exceptve will have no further rights to receive centaommercialization reports, and (ii) Sanofi
may set off any payments or amounts due by Sanibfadt yet paid to us against all direct and unglisgd damages suffered by Sanofi as a
result of the breach.

Under the terms of the Sanofi Supply Agreetmwe will supply Sanofi Winthrop Industrie witivanafil tablets until June 30, 2015, or in
the event the obligations of MTPC to supply avdriafilets to us are amended to extend beyond Jun2035, then until the expiration of the
MTPC supply obligations as amended. Either party teeminate the Sanofi Supply Agreement for (i) tileer party's uncured material breach
or (ii) bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or cair receivership proceedings, or certain proceediogreorganization under bankruptcy or
comparable laws. In addition, the Sanofi Supplyde&gnent will automatically terminate upon the teraiion of the Sanofi License Agreement.

On July 31, 2013, we entered into a Comimak8upply Agreement with Sanofi Chimie to manudaetand supply the API for our drug
avanafil on an exclusive basis in the United Statesother territories and on a sesmelusive basis in Europe, including the EU, La#merice
and other territories. On November 18, 2013, weretinto a Manufacturing and Supply Agreement Biimofi Winthrop Industrie to
manufacture and supply the avanafil tablets onxatusive basis in the United States and othertteieis and on a semi-exclusive basis in
Europe, including the EU, Latin America and otharitories. We intend to submit an amendment toN\bBé\ for avanafil to the FDA, and an
application for a variation of the marketing authation for avanafil to the EMA, to include San@finimie as a qualified supplier of the
avanafil APl and Sanofi Winthrop Industrie as alidieal supplier of the avanafil tablets. We havenmium annual purchase commitments
under these agreements for at least the initiatfi@ar terms.
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Other

In October 2001, we entered into an assegitragreement, or the Assignment Agreement, wittnTds Najarian, M.D., for a combination
of pharmaceutical agents for the treatment of apesid other disorders, or the Combination Therémt has since been the focus of our
investigational drug candidate development progi@n®@symia for the treatment of obesity, obstruetsleep apnea and diabetes. The
Combination Therapy and all related patent appbtoat or the Patents, were transferred to us wiaHdwide rights to develop and
commercialize the Combination Therapy and explatPatents. In addition, the Assignment Agreemepiiires us to pay royalties on
worldwide net sales of a product for the treatnwdribesity that is based upon the Combination Theead Patents until the last-to-expire of
the assigned Patents. To the extent that we deoid® commercially exploit the Patents, the Assignt Agreement will terminate and the
Combination Therapy and Patents will be assigne#t tmDr. Najarian. In 2006, Dr. Najarian joine@t@ompany as a part-time employee anc
served as a Principal Scientist. In November 2@t3Najarian's employment with the Company endéubalgh he continues to be available as
a consultant.

Patents, Proprietary Technology and Data Exclusivit

We own or are the exclusive licensee oferitban 30 patents and numerous published patelitapms in the U.S. and Canada. We
intend to develop, maintain and secure intellegwaperty rights and to aggressively defend angdyeinew patents to expand upon our currel
patent base. Our
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portfolio of patents as it primarily relates to @sg, our FDA-approved drug for the treatment ofstye and STENDRA, our FDA-approved

drug for the treatment of ED, is summarized aofod:

QSYMIA
U.S. Patent No. 7,056,8¢
. Patent No. 7,553,8:
. Patent No. 7,659,2!
. Patent No. 7,674,7
. Patent No. 8,802,6:
. Patent No. 8,580,2¢
. Patent No. 8,895,0!
. Patent Publication No. 2014/0308346
. Patent Publication No. 2015/0025134
. Patent No. 8,580,2¢
.S. Patent No. 8,895,0!
U.S. Patent No. 6,071,5:
Canadian Patent No. 2,377,2
Canadian Patent Publication No. 2,691,991
Canadian Patent Publication No. 2,727,313
Canadian Patent Publication No. 2,727,31¢
STENDRA
U.S. Patent No. 6,656,9:
U.S. Patent No. 7,501,4(
Canadian Patent No. 2,383,4
ERECTILE DYSFUNCTION
U.S. Patent No. 5,820,5¢
U.S. Patent No. 5,849,8(
. Patent No. 5,922,3:
. Patent No. 5,925,6:
. Patent No. 6,037,3:
. Patent No. 6,093, 1¢
. Patent No. 6,127,3t
. Patent No. 6,156,7!
.S. Patent No. 6,403,5¢
U.S. Patent No. 6,495,1!
U.S. Patent No. 6,548,4¢
U.S. Patent No. 6,946,1:
Canadian Patent No. 2,305,2

c
n

ccccccccc
nunumunumunmnmnmnmom

ccccccc
nunmunununmunmmom

* These expiration dates are based on the numbetysfaf patent term adjustment, or PTA, calculatgethie U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO. An indepandalculation of PTA suggested that the patentg nea

Expiring 06/14/202
Expiring 06/14/202
Expiring 06/14/202
Expiring 06/14/202
Expiring 06/14/202
Expiring 06/14/202*
Expiring 06/09/202
Pendinq
Pendin
Expiring 05/15/202*
Expiring 06/09/202
Expiring 06/23/201
Expiring 06/14/202
Pendinq
Pendinq
Pendinq

Expiring 09/13/202
Expiring 05/05/202
Expiring 09/13/202

Expiring 03/14/201
Expiring 12/15/201
Expiring 10/28/201
Expiring 10/28/201
Expiring 10/28/201
Expiring 07/25/201
Expiring 10/28/201
Expiring 10/28/201
Expiring 10/28/201
Expiring 11/21/202
Expiring 10/28/201
Expiring 11/21/202
Expiring 10/28/201

entitled to fewer days of PTA than determined by tt{sPTO
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The EU has adopted a harmonized approadattoand marketing exclusivity under Regulatio@)Eo. 726/2004 and Directive
2001/83/EC. The exclusivity scheme applies to petalthat have been authorized in the EU by eiteBuropean Commission, through the
centralized procedure, or the competent authoritiegke Member States of the European Economic AreBEA, under the Decentralized or
Mutual Recognition procedures. The approach (knasithe 8+2+1 formula) permits eight years of datdusivity and 10 years of marketing
exclusivity. Within the first eight years of the $8ars, a generic applicant is not permitted tssrefer to the preclinical and clinical trial data
relating to the reference product. Even if the giergroduct is authorized after expiry of the eigbtrs of data exclusivity, it cannot be placed
on the market until the full 10-year market exclitgi has expired. This 10-year market exclusivitgynbe extended cumulatively to a
maximum period of 11 years if during the first dighars of those 10 years, the marketing authdoizdiolder obtains an authorization for a
new (second) therapeutic indication which, durimg $cientific evaluation prior to its authorizatigsmheld to bring a significant clinical benefit
in comparison with existing therapies.

In addition to the Canadian patents andiegdons identified in the table, we also holddign counterparts, patents and patent
applications in major foreign jurisdictions relatedour U.S. patents. We have developed and aahjekelusive rights to patented technolog
support of our development and commercializationwfapproved drugs and investigational drug caatdi&] and we rely on trade secrets and
proprietary technologies in developing potentialgdr. We continue to place significant emphasisemuiigng global intellectual property rights
and are aggressively pursuing new patents to exppod our strong foundation for commercializingastigational drug candidates in
development.

Manufacturing

Our commercial products, Qsymia and STEND®gether with their respective active pharmacaliingredients, or APIs, and finished
products, as well as our clinical supplies, are uf@ctured on a contract basis. In addition, pacigfpr the commercial distribution of the
Qsymia product capsules and the STENDRA produdetsiis performed by contract packaging compamés expect to continue to contract
with other thirdparty providers for manufacturing services, inchgdAPIs, finished products, and packaging operatasineeded. Although'
believe that our current agreements and purchaowith third-party manufacturers provide forfmignt operating capacity to support the
anticipated commercial demand for Qsymia and STENRRd our clinical supplies, we have only one apptbcontract manufacturer for ei
aspect of the manufacturing and packaging procesgs are unable to obtain a sufficient supply@symia or STENDRA for our commerc
sales, or the clinical supplies to support ourictihtrials, or if we should encounter delays dficlilties in our relationships with our
manufacturers or packagers, we may lose potemties shave difficulty entering into collaboratiogreements for the commercialization of
STENDRA for territories in which we do not haveamercial collaboration or our clinical trials mag delayed.

The API and the tablets for STENDRA (avdhafe currently manufactured by MTPC. MTPC hasiagements for the three main
starting materials necessary for the manufactuwfrayanafil API. In August 2012, we entered intoaanendment to our agreement with MT
that permits us to manufacture the API and talitetavanafil ourselves or through third-party su@d at any time. The transition away from
MTPC supply will need to occur on or before Jun&x0

As indicated above, on July 31, 2013, wersd into a Commercial Supply Agreement with Se@bimie, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Sanofi, pursuant to which Sanofi Chimie will maraifae and supply the active pharmaceutical ingredi our drug avanafil. Further, as
indicated above, on November 18, 2013, we entereda Manufacturing and Supply Agreement with SevGhthrop Industrie, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Sanofi, pursuant to which Savhthrop Industrie will manufacture and supply ttablets for our drug avanafil.
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We currently do not have any manufactufawlities and intend to continue to rely on thparties for the supply of the starting materials,
API and finished dosage forms (tablets and capsutEsvever, we cannot be certain that we will becassful in entering into additional
supplier agreements or that we will be able toiolitse necessary regulatory approvals for any segpin a timely manner or at all.

Catalent manufactured the supply for ouadet3b/4 program for Qsymia, and Catalent currenéijufactures our clinical and commer:
supplies for Qsymia. Catalent has been successfidlidating the commercial manufacturing proces<JFsymia at a scale that has been at
support the launch of Qsymia in the U.S. marketil®MBatalent has significant experience in comna®iale manufacturing, there is no
assurance that Catalent will be successful wittctmmercial scale manufacturing of Qsymia.

We attempt to prevent disruption of supgptierough supply agreements, purchase orders, @i forecasting, maintaining stock levels
and other strategies. In the event we are unabtetwifacture our products, either directly or iadily through others or on commercially
acceptable terms, if at all, we may not be ableotomercialize our products as planned. Althougltareetaking these actions to avoid a
disruption in supply, we cannot provide assurahaé\we may not experience a disruption in the futur

Marketing and Sales

We rely on PDI, Inc., or PDI, a third padgntract sales organization, to assist with thiediof sales representatives and the promotion
Qsymia to physicians. Our internal sales managearehimarketing personnel manage and supervisectivitias of this sales force.

We depend on the success of PDI in perfogrits services, and we cannot be certain PDlagifiperate with us to perform its obligations
under the agreement. Although they are contragtadlligated, we cannot control the amount of resesithat will be devoted by PDI to the
promotion of Qsymia. Any failure of PDI to perfoiita obligations or delay in allocating resourceghis promotion of Qsymia could adversely
affect the commercialization of Qsymia and matgriahrm our business, financial condition and ressaf operations.

Qsymia Distribution and REMS

We rely on Cardinal Health 105, Inc., ordiaal Health, a third-party distribution and supphain management company, to warehouse
Qsymia and distribute it to the certified home daly pharmacies and wholesalers that then disgiQeymia directly to patients and certified
retail pharmacies. Cardinal Health provides billingllection and returns services. Cardinal Heialthur exclusive supplier of distribution
logistics services, and accordingly we depend anli@al Health to satisfactorily perform its obligats under our agreement with them.

Pursuant to the REMS program applicabl®dgmia, our distribution network is through a breadetwork of certified retail pharmacies
and through a small number of certified home dejiyharmacies and wholesalers. We have contrabtedgh a third-party vendor to certify
the retail pharmacies and collect required datufport the Qsymia REMS program. In addition tovjelimg services to support the
distribution and use of Qsymia, each of the cexdifpharmacies has agreed to comply with the REM§ram requirements and, through our
third-party data collection vendor, will provide with the necessary patient and prescribing healthprovider, or HCP, data. In addition, we
have contracted with third-party data warehousestdie this patient and HCP data and report istde rely on this thirgharty data in order
recognize revenue and comply with the REMS requér@mfor Qsymia, such as data analysis. This Higidn and data collection network
requires significant coordination with our saled amarketing, finance, regulatory and medical a$fééams, in light of the REMS requirements
applicable to Qsymia.
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Competition

Competition in the pharmaceutical and maldicoducts industries is intense and is charatdrby costly and extensive research efforts
and rapid technological progress. We are awarewdral pharmaceutical companies also actively esdjagthe development of therapies for
the treatment of obesity, diabetes and sexualtheall medical device companies engaged in the @@wvent of therapies for the treatment of
sleep apnea. Many of these companies have suladiiagtieater research and development capabibiesell as substantially greater
marketing, financial and human resources than VIVO& competitors may develop technologies andymrtsdthat are more effective than
those we are currently marketing or researchingdaweloping. Some of the drugs that may compete @g&ymia may not have a REMS
requirement and the accompanying complexities sugguirement presents. Such developments coulttrépsymia and STENDRA less
competitive or possibly obsolete. We are also cdimgevith respect to marketing capabilities and ofanturing efficiency, areas in which we
have limited experience.

Qsymia for the treatment of chronic weigt#nagement competes with several approved antitplagags including, Belvig®
(lorcaserin), Arena Pharmaceutical's anti-obesitpgound being marketed by Eisai Inc., Eisai Cd,'&tU.S. subsidiary; Contrave®
(naltrexone/bupropion), Orexigen Therapeutics-ahtsity product being marketed by Takeda Pharnti@e¢Company Limited; Xenical®
(orlistat), marketed by Roche; alli®, the over-ttminter version of orlistat, marketed by GlaxoSKiihe; and Suprenza™ (phentermine
hydrochloride), marketed by Akrimax Pharmaceutichl<C. Also, Novo Nordisk A/S has announced thenlgtuin 2015 of Saxenda®
(liraglutide) 3.0 mg. which was approved by the FidAobesity.

Agents approved for type 2 diabetes thaelemonstrated weight loss in clinical studies miap compete with Qsymia. These agents
include Victoza® (liraglutide; approved for diabet 1.2mg and 1.8mg dosage strengths) from NovdisloA/S, a GLP-1 receptor agonist
approved January 25, 2010, Invokana® (canaglifdzorp Johnson & Johnson's Janssen Pharmaceutice®GLT2 inhibitor, approved
March 29, 2013; Farxiga™ (dapagliflozin) from Agtemeca and Bristol-Myers Squibb, an SGLT2 inhihiggpproved January 8, 2014;
Jardiance® (empagliflozin) from Boehringer Ingethean SGLT2 inhibitor, approved August 1, 2014; &tgxambi®
(empagliflozin/linagliptin) from Boehringer Ingelime and Eli Lilly, an SGLT2 inhibitor and DPP-4 irtifor combination product, approved
January 30, 2015. Also, on January 14, 2015, th& &bproved the Maestro Rechargeable System foaioevbese adults, the first weight loss
treatment device that targets the nerve pathwaydsat the brain and the stomach that controls fgelad hunger and fullness. The Maestro
Rechargeable System is approved to treat patigets B and older who have not been able to losghtveiith a weight loss program, and who
have a body mass index of 35 to 45 with at leastaiher obesity-related condition, such as typ@aBedes.

In addition, there are several other ingasional drug candidates in Phase 2 clinicaldrizafgen's beloranib, currently in Phase 2 for
severe obesity, is a methionine aminopeptidase&AM?2) inhibitor, which is believed to work by retablishing balance to the ways the body
packages and metabolizes fat. In January 2013 hRhifharmaceuticals, or Rhythm, announced the fioitiaof a Phase 2 clinical trial with
RM-493, a small-peptide melanocortin 4 receptoM@4R, agonist, for the treatment of obesity. Rhyiinnounced in September 2013, that
RM-493 is being studied in Phase 1B for the treatmé obesity in individuals with a genetic defieay in the MC4R pathway. There are a
number of generic pharmaceutical drugs that arecpieed for obesity, predominantly phentermine,clihis sold at much lower prices than we
charge for Qsymia and is also widely availablegiail pharmacies. The availability of branded priggion drugs, generic drugs and over-the-
counter drugs could limit the demand and the prieaare able to charge for Qsymia.

We may also face competition from the afdl use of the generic components in our druggaiticular, it is possible that patients will
seek to acquire phentermine and topiramate, therigen
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components of Qsymia. Neither of these generic amapts has a REMS program. Although these prodhasts not been approved by the
FDA for use in the treatment of chronic obesitg tff-label use of the generic components in tHe. dr the importation of the generic
components from foreign markets could adverselgcaffhe commercial potential for our drugs and esbklg affect our overall business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Qsymia and STENDRA may also face challeraggscompetition from newly developed generic patsiuUnder the U.S. Drug Price
Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 18®&wn as the Hatch-Waxman Act, newly approvedjsliand indications may benefit
from a statutory period of non-patent marketinglesigity. The Hatch-Waxman Act stimulates competitby providing incentives to generic
pharmaceutical manufacturers to introduce nonsgfrig forms of patented pharmaceutical productstardhallenge patents on branded
pharmaceutical products. If we are unsuccessfoh@ilenging an Abbreviated New Drug Application AMDA, filed pursuant to the Hatch-
Waxman Act, a generic version of Qsymia or STENDR&y be launched, which would harm our business.

There are also surgical approaches to $eadre obesity that are becoming increasinglymede Two of the most well-established
surgical procedures are gastric bypass surgenadjudtable gastric banding, or lap bands. In Fepr2@ll, the FDA approved the use of a lay
band in patients with a BMI of 30 (reduced from 88th comorbidities. The lowering of the BMI regeiment will make more obese patients
eligible for lap band surgery. In addition, othetgntial approaches that utilize various implargatgvices or surgical tools are in developnr
Some of these approaches are in late-stage deveta@and may be approved for marketing.

We anticipate that STENDRA (avanafil) foettreatment of ED will compete with PDES inhibgadn the form of oral medications
including Viagra® (sildenafil citrate), marketed Bfizer, Inc.; Cialis® (tadalafil), marketed by Elily and Company; Levitra® (vardenafil),
co-marketed by GlaxoSmithKline plc and Scheringuglo Corporation in the U.S.; and STAXYN® (vardehafian oral disintegrating tablet,
or ODT), co-promoted by GlaxoSmithKline plc and Mg Co., Inc.

We anticipate that generic PDES5 inhibitait enter the market in the U.S. in late 2017. &gt PDES inhibitors would likely be sold at
lower prices and may reduce the demand for STENE@R#ecially at the prices we would be required trgh for STENDRA to cover our
manufacturing and other costs. In addition, PDHE#hitors are in various stages of development Igotompanies. Warner-Chilcott plc,
which was acquired by Actavis, Inc. and is now knas Actavis plc, has licensed the U.S. rightsdenafil, a PDES inhibitor from Dong-A
Pharmaceutical, now known as Mezzion Pharma Co.Wtner-Chilcott continues Phase 3 developmetttiefcompound. Other treatments
for ED exist, such as needle injection therapiasuum constriction devices and penile implants,thednanufacturers of these products will
most likely continue to develop or improve theseréipies.

New developments, including the developnuémtther drug technologies and methods of prewmgritie incidence of disease, occur in the
pharmaceutical and medical technology industriesrapid pace. These developments may render ags @nd future investigational drug
candidates obsolete or noncompetitive. Compared tsnany of our potential competitors have substingreater:

. research and development resources, including peesand technology;
. regulatory experience;

. investigational drug candidate development andagirtrial experience;

. experience and expertise in exploitation of inttlial property rights; and
. access to strategic partners and capital resources.
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As a result of these factors, our competitnay obtain regulatory approval of their produntse rapidly than we or may obtain patent
protection or other intellectual property rightatttimit our ability to develop or commercializeranvestigational drug candidates. Our
competitors may also develop drugs or surgical @agires that are more effective, more useful arsddestly than ours and may also be more
successful in manufacturing and marketing theidpots. In addition, our competitors may be morectife in commercializing their products.
We currently outsource our manufacturing and ttoeeefely on third parties for that competitive estjge. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to develop or contract for these célfisds on acceptable economic terms, or at all.

Avanafil qualifies as an innovative medaliproduct in the EU. Innovative medicinal produatghorized in the EU on the basis of a full
marketing authorization application (as opposeant@pplication for marketing authorization thate®lon data in the marketing authorization
dossier for another, previously approved medigimatiuct) are entitled to eight years' data excltsiuring this period, applicants for
approval of generics of these innovative produatsot rely on data contained in the marketing aightion dossier submitted for the
innovative medicinal product. Innovative medicipabducts are also entitled to 10 years' marketusigty. During this 10-year period no
generic medicinal product can be placed on the Eltkat. The 10-year period of market exclusivity barextended to a maximum of 11 years
if, during the first eight years of those 10 yed#ing, Marketing Authorization Holder for the innoivat product obtains an authorization for one
or more new therapeutic indications which, during $cientific evaluation prior to their authorizetj are held to bring a significant clinical
benefit in comparison with existing therapies. # do not obtain extended patent protection andadatiusivity for our product candidates, our
business may be materially harmed.

Research and Development

We incurred $13.8 million in 2014, $29.7lion in 2013 and $32.1 million in 2012 in reseasid development expenses, primarily to
support the approval efforts, post-marketing regients, and clinical programs for Qsymia and STERDR

Employees

As of February 6, 2015, we had 94 employeested at our corporate headquarters in Mountaw, California, and in the field. This
excludes approximately 115 contracted sales reptathees through PDI. None of our current employaesrepresented by a labor union or
the subject of a collective bargaining agreemerd.B#lieve that our relations with our employeesgared, and we have never experienced a
work stoppage at any of our facilities.

Insurance

We maintain product liability insurance farr clinical trials and commercial sales and gahiability and directors' and officers' liability
insurance for our operations. Insurance coveragedsming increasingly expensive and no assuraantée given that we will be able to
maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable castoificient amounts to protect us against loskesto liability. Although we have obtained
product liability insurance coverage for Qsymia, way be unable to maintain this product liabilipyerage for Qsymia or any other of our
approved drugs in amounts or scope sufficient dwigde us with adequate coverage against all patierigks.
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Geographic Area Financial Information

For financial information concerning theogeaphic areas in which we operate, see Note Eyjr@nt Information and Concentration of
Customers and Suppliers—Geographic InformatiorduoConsolidated Financial Statements includediadisee in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, QuarterlpRrts on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-tkamendments to reports filed
pursuant to Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Seegrxchange Act of 1934, as amended, are avaiabdeir website atww.vivus.comwhen
such reports are available on the SEC website.gSagfiour Annual Report will be made availableefod charge, upon written request.

The public may read and copy any matefild by VIVUS with the SEC at the SEC's Public B&ihce Room at 100 F Street, NE,
Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain infatioraon the operation of the Public Reference Rbagmnealling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that domit@ports, proxy and information statements ahdranformation regarding issuers that
electronically with the SEC &ttp://www.sec.govl he contents of these websites are not incorporatedhis filing. Further, VIVUS's
references to the URLSs for these websites aredetdio be inactive textual references only.

In addition, information regarding our caafeethics and the charters of our Audit, Compdosaand Nominating and Governance
Committees are available free of charge on our iebsted above, or in print upon written request.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Set forth below and elsewhere in this AnfReport on Form 10-K and in other documents weilth the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC, are risks and uncertaithiscould cause actual results to differ matigriabm the results contemplated by the
forward-looking statements contained in this AnrRaport on Form 10-K. These are not the only réaks uncertainties facing VIVUS.
Additional risks and uncertainties not presentlpwn to us or that we currently deem immaterial ralsp impair our business operations.

Risks Relating to our Business

Changes to our management and strategic business phay cause uncertainty regarding the future ofobusiness, and may adversely
impact employee hiring and retention, our stock e, and our revenue, operating results, and finaalotondition.

In July 2013, we announced changes to aard@and management. In September and November 20dJanuary 2014, we announced
further changes to our management team. In Nove(iE3, we announced a reduction in force of appnakely 17%, the decision of our
Chief Financial Officer to exercise his right tortgnate his employment for Good Reason (as defindis Amended and Restated Change of
Control and Severance Agreement with the Compdisgtere as of July 1, 2013), and the appointmédrdw Corporate Controller as the
Company's interim Chief Financial Officer. In Janua014, we announced that our Chief Executived@ffivas assuming the duties and
responsibilities of the Company's Chief Commer€ieflcer. In January 2015, we announced the remof/giie “interim" from the title of the
Company's Chief Financial Officer. Also, in JanuaBi5, we announced the resignation of Samuel kn,(d.D. from the Company's Board
of Directors. The implementation of these changesuding the recent appointment of a new Chiefdmtive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, the changes to our Board, the resignatioour former President, the decision of our fori@éref Financial Officer to exercise his ri
to terminate his employment for

35




Table of Contents

Good Reason, the assumption of the Chief Comme@dfader's duties and responsibilities by our Chiscutive Officer, and the potential for
additional changes to our management, organizdtsinecture and strategic business plan, may cspseulation and uncertainty regarding
future business strategy and direction. These awan@y cause or result in:

. disruption of our business or distraction of enrployees and management;
. difficulty in recruiting, hiring, motivating ancktaining talented and skilled personnel;
. stock price volatility; and

difficulty in negotiating, maintaining or consumating business or strategic relationships or &etfisns.
If we are unable to mitigate these or oftential risks, our revenue, operating resultsfarancial condition may be adversely impacted
Our success will depend on our ability to effeclivand profitably commercialize Qsymia®.

Our success will depend on our ability fleetively and profitably commercialize Qsymia, whiwill include our ability to:

. expand the use of Qsymia through targeted padieeh physician education;
. find the right partner for expanded Qsymia comnangiomotion to a broader primary care physiciadience;
. obtain marketing authorization by the European Cassion, or EC for Qsiva™ in the EU through the calited marketing

authorization procedure;

. manage our alliances with Auxilium, Menarini, MTREd Sanofi, to help ensure the commercial sucdemsamafil;

. manage costs;

. continue to certify and add to the Qsymia rgtairmacy network nationwide and sell Qsymia thiotigs network;

. improve third-party payor coverage, lower oupoicket costs to patients with discount programd,abtain coverage for obes

under Medicare Part D;

. create market demand for Qsymia through patienfpduydician education, marketing and sales actsjitie

. achieve market acceptance and generate produst sale

. comply with the post-marketing requirements essiigld by the FDA, including Qsymia's Risk Evaluatimal Mitigation
Strategy, or REMS, any future changes to the REA#,any other requirements established by the FixAa future;

. conduct the post-marketing studies required byFiDA;

. comply with other healthcare regulatory requiesis;

. maintain and defend our patents, if challenged;

. ensure that the active pharmaceutical ingregjattAPls, for Qsymia and avanafil and the fingpeoducts are manufactured in

sufficient quantities and in compliance with regairents of the FDA and similar foreign regulatorgragies and with an
acceptable quality and pricing level in order tcetremmercial demand; and
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. ensure that the entire supply chain for Qsymiaamhafil, from APIs to finished products, efficignand consistently delivers
Qsymia and avanafil to customers.

Prior to the commercialization of Qsymia tave not had any commercial products since thestiiure of MUSE® in November 2010.
While our management and key personnel have sigmifiexperience developing, launching and comnieicig drugs at VIVUS and at other
companies, we are in the initial stage of comméreition of Qsymia and we cannot be certain thatwilebe successful. If we are unable to
successfully commercialize Qsymia, our ability angrate product sales will be severely limited,olhill have a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition, and resultspdrations. In addition, we rely on a third-partyigact sales organization, PDI, to assist with
the hiring of sales representatives and the pramaif Qsymia to physicians. We depend on the ssazeBDI in performing its services, and
we cannot be certain PDI will cooperate with upéoform its obligations under the agreement. Altitothey are contractually obligated, we
cannot control the amount of resources that willleeoted by PDI to the promotion of Qsymia. Anyifeg of PDI to perform its obligations,
delay in allocating resources to the promotion syQia, could adversely affect the commercializabb@symia and materially harm our
business, financial condition and results of openat

We may not fully realize the anticipated benefitsiin a cost reduction plan we announced in NovemBen 3.

In November 2013, we announced a cost tamuplan to eliminate expenses that are not esdeatexpanding the use of Qsymia. The
plan reduced our workforce by approximately 20 exyppés, not including our sales force. We substilnttampleted this cost reduction plan
by December 31, 2013, and incurred pre-tax nonrreucharges of $8.0 million in the fourth quartér2013, including approximately
$5.7 million in employee termination costs, $1.3liom in non-cash share-based compensation expeteted to the automatic acceleration of
vesting of unvested stock options held by the teateid employees, and $1.0 million in facilities atider lease exit costs. For the year ended
December 31, 2014, we incurred an additional $1llfomin non+ecurring charges relating to our cost reducti@npWe may not fully realiz
the anticipated benefits from this cost reductiamp

We depend on our collaboration partner Menarini toarket and sell SPEDRA™ (avanafil) in over 40 Euregan countries, including the
EU, plus Australia and New Zealand, our collaborati partner Auxilium to market and sell STENDR® (avanafil) in the United States ar
Canada, and our collaboration partner Sanofi to gaapproval, market, and sell avanafil in Africa, &éMiddle East, Turkey, and the
Commonwealth of Independent States, or CIS, inclogiRussia.

In July 2013, we entered into a License @othmercialization Agreement with Menarini underiethMenarini received an exclusive
license to commercialize and promote SPEDRA fortithatment of ED in over 40 European countrieduitiog the EU, plus Australia and
New Zealand. In October 2013, we entered into arse and Commercialization Agreement with Auxiliunder which Auxilium received ¢
exclusive license to commercialize and promote SDRK for the treatment of erectile dysfunction, dd,BEn the United States and Canada. Ir
January 2015, Auxilium was purchased by Endo. lodb&ber 2013, we entered into a License and Comalization Agreement with Sanofi
under which Sanofi received an exclusive licenseotomercialize and promote avanafil for therapeusie in humans in Africa, the Middle
East, Turkey, and CIS, including Russia. Sanofi bél responsible for obtaining regulatory apprawats territories. Sanofi intends to market
avanafil under the trade name SPEDRA or STENDRA.

We are relying on our collaboration pargnéuxilium, Menarini, and Sanofi, to successfudgmmercialize STENDRA or SPEDRA in
their respective territories, inclusive of obtaimiany necessary approvals. There can be no asegrtrat these collaboration partners will be
successful in doing so. In general, we cannot obitttie amount and timing of resources that ouratatation
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partners devote to the commercialization of ougdruf any of our collaboration partners fails tweessfully commercialize our drug products
our business may be negatively affected. For exanipbanofi, Auxilium or Menarini do not succedsficommercialize STENDRA or
SPEDRA, we may receive limited or no revenues uodergreements with them. Additionally, becausdagk the resources and experience
to commercialize STENDRA or SPEDRA ourselves irstheerritories, we would need to seek replaceniegmnsees to undertake these
commercialization efforts. We may be unable to fitider licensees in a timely manner, which coulder impair our ability to
commercialize STENDRA or SPEDRA in these territsrie

Under our license agreement with MTPC, veeabligated to ensure that Sanofi, Auxilium andnisliéni, as sublicensees, comply with its
terms and conditions. MTPC has the right to terteimaur license rights to avanafil in the eventmf ancured material breach of the license
agreement. Consequently, failure by Sanofi, Auriliar Menarini to comply with these terms and cdodi could result in termination of our
license rights to avanafil on a worldwide basisjclitcould delay, impair, or preclude our abilitydommercialize avanafil.

If we are unable to enter into agreements with @ibrators for the territories that are not coverdg our existing commercializatio
agreements, our ability to commercialize STENDRAthese territories may be impaired.

We intend to enter into collaborative agaments or a strategic alliance with one or moggphceutical partners or others to
commercialize STENDRA in our other territories tha¢ not covered by our current commercial collabon agreements. We may be unab
enter into agreements with third parties for STEMDBr these territories on favorable terms or twhich could delay, impair, or preclude
our ability to commercialize STENDRA in these ttaries.

We depend on collaborative arrangements or strategjliances for the commercialization of STENDRA &PEDRA.

Our dependence on collaborative arrangesrarstrategic alliances for the commercializatdSTENDRA or SPEDRA, including our
license agreements with Sanofi, Auxilium and Memiarvill subject us to a number of risks, includitg following:

. we may not be able to control the commercializatbour drug products in the relevant territoriegs/uding amount, timing an
quality of resources that our collaborators mayodevo our drug products;

. our collaborators may experience financial, requiabr operational difficulties, which may impaliretir ability to commercializ
our drug products;

. our collaborators may be required under the lanth®felevant territory to disclose our confidehitidormation or may fail to
protect our confidential information;

. as a requirement of the collaborative arrangenvesm may be required to relinquish important righith respect to our drug
products, such as marketing and distribution rights

. business combinations or significant changes iollalmorator's business strategy may adversely tdfeollaborator's
willingness or ability to satisfactorily complets commercialization or other obligations under aojaborative arrangement;

. legal disputes or disagreements may occur withoomaore of our collaborators;

. a collaborator could independently move forwarchveitcompeting investigational drug candidate depeticeither independen
or in collaboration with others, including with ookour competitors; and
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. a collaborator could terminate the collaborativaagement, which could negatively impact the cargthcommercialization of
our drug products.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in foreign jusdictions will prevent us from marketing our pradts abroad.

In order to market products in many forejigmisdictions, we must obtain separate regulagpyrovals. Approval by the FDA in the U.S.
does not ensure approval by regulatory authoritiegher countries, and approval by one foreigrutatpry authority does not ensure approval
by regulatory authorities in other foreign courgrieor example, while our drug STENDRA was appraweabth the U.S. and the European
Union, or EU, our drug Qsymia was approved in th8.Wut Qsiva (the approved trade name for Qsymihd EU) has not yet been granted a
marketing authorization by the European Commisdis®to concerns over the potential cardiovascuidrcagntral nervous system effects
associated with long-term use, teratogenic poteatid use by patients for whom Qsiva would not haeen indicated. We intend to seek
approval, either directly or through our collabaatpartners, for Qsymia and STENDRA in other teriés outside the United States and EU.
However, we have had limited interactions with fgneregulatory authorities, and the approval proced vary among countries and can
involve additional testing. Foreign regulatory apals may not be obtained, by us or our collaboragiartners responsible for obtaining
approval, on a timely basis, or at all, for anyaf products. The failure to receive regulatoryrappls in a foreign country would prevent us
from marketing and commercializing our productghiat country, which could have a material advefeeon our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We, together with Sanofi, Auxilium and Menarini igertain territories, intend to market STENDRA or &DRA outside the U.S., which wi
subject us to risks related to conducting busingg®rnationally.

We, through Sanofi, Auxilium and Menarinidertain territories, intend to manufacture, maraad distribute STENDRA or SPEDRA
outside the U.S. We expect that we will be subjeetdditional risks related to conducting businessrnationally, including:

. different regulatory requirements for drug apais in foreign countries;

. differing U.S. and foreign drug import and expares;

. reduced protection for intellectual propertyhtigin some foreign countries;

. unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriedsragulatory requirements;

. different reimbursement systems;

. economic weakness, including inflation, or politizestability in particular foreign economies andrkets;

. compliance with tax, employment, immigration anbldalaws for employees living or traveling abroad;

. foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll &s

. foreign currency fluctuations, which could resulificreased operating expenses and reduced reyemaesther obligations

incidental to doing business in another country;

. workforce uncertainty in countries where laborast is more common than in the U.S.;
. production shortages resulting from events difigaaw material supply or manufacturing capaieditabroad;
. potential liability resulting from developmenbrk conducted by these distributors; and
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. business interruptions resulting from geopolitimetions, including war and terrorism, or naturakgiers.
We rely in part on a third-party contract sales @agization for certain sales and marketing supposrsices for Qsymia.

We rely on PDI, Inc., or PDI, a third-paggntract sales organization, to assist with thiadpiof sales representatives and the promotion
Qsymia to physicians. Our internal sales and marggtersonnel manage and supervise the activifidiosales force. Nevertheless, we face
risks in our partial reliance on the third-partyntract sales organization, including the following:

. PDI may not apply the expected financial researr required expertise to successfully promotens

. PDI may not invest in the continued developmerd séles force and the related infrastructure &idethat ensure that sales of
Qsymia reach their full potential,

. PDI, or its sales representatives, may not comiitly applicable legal or regulatory requirementsjuding the requirement to
promote drugs only for uses for which they haventegeproved,;

. disputes may arise between us and PDI, inclubdetgeen the contract sales representatives, vehB@F employees, and sales
management, who are VIVUS employees, that may adieaffect Qsymia sales or profitability; and

. PDI may enter into agreements with other partias lave products that could compete with Qsymia.

We depend on the success of PDI in perfogrits services, and we cannot be certain PDlasiiperate with us to perform its obligations
under the agreement. Although they are contragtadlligated, we cannot control the amount of resesithat will be devoted by PDI to the
promotion of Qsymia. Any failure of PDI to perfoiite obligations or to continue to allocate resoartethe promotion of Qsymia could
adversely affect the commercialization of Qsymid araterially harm our business, financial conditom results of operations.

We have significant inventories on hand and, forelyears ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, we redartventory impairment and
commitment fees totaling $2.2 million and $10.2 tiwh, respectively, primarily to write off excessvientory related to Qsymia.

We maintain significant inventories andleate these inventories on a periodic basis foemtidl excess and obsolescence. During the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, we re@abtttal charges of $2.2 million and $10.2 millioespectively, for Qsymia inventori
on hand in excess of demand, plus a purchase comemitfee. The inventory impairment charges weredas our analysis of current Qsymia
inventory on hand and remaining shelf life, in tigla to our projected demand for the product. Tineent FDA-approved commercial product
shelf life for Qsymia is 36 months. STENDRA is apyed in the U.S. and SPEDRA in the EU for 48 anan®@®iths commercial product shelf
life, respectively.

Our write-down for excess and obsolete megy is subjective and requires accurate foreegsif the future market demand for our
products. Forecasting demand for Qsymia, a drih@robesity market in which there had been no new-Bpproved medications in over a
decade prior to 2012, and for which reimbursemennfthird-party payors had previously been nonieris has been difficult. Forecasting
demand for STENDRA or SPEDRA, a drug that is new twowded and competitive market and has no s&esry, is difficult. We will
continue to evaluate our inventories on a peribdisis. The value of our inventories could be imgaidft actual sales differ significantly from
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our estimates of future demand or if any signiftaamanticipated changes in future product demandarket conditions occur. Any of these
events, or a combination thereof, could resultddigonal inventory write-downs in future periodghich could be material.

Our failure to manage and maintain our distributionetwork for Qsymia or compliance with certain regements of the Qsymia REMS
program could compromise the commercialization bfst product.

We rely on Cardinal Health 105, Inc., ordiaal Health, a third-party distribution and supphain management company, to warehouse
Qsymia and distribute it to the certified home daly pharmacies and wholesalers that then disgiQgeymia directly to patients and certified
retail pharmacies. Cardinal Health provides billingllection and returns services. Cardinal Heialthur exclusive supplier of distribution
logistics services, and accordingly we depend amli@al Health to satisfactorily perform its obligats under our agreement with them.

Pursuant to the REMS program applicabl@dgmia, our distribution network is through a srmalinber of certified home delivery
pharmacies and wholesalers and through a broatleorieof certified retail pharmacies. We have canted through a third-party vendor to
certify the retail pharmacies and collect requidath to support the Qsymia REMS program. In additoproviding services to support the
distribution and use of Qsymia, each of the cedifpharmacies has agreed to comply with the REM§rpm requirements and, through our
third-party data collection vendor, will provide with the necessary patient and prescribing heaféhprovider, or HCP, data. In addition, we
have contracted with third-party data warehousesdre this patient and HCP data and report istd/Me rely on this thirgharty data in order
recognize revenue and comply with the REMS requeér@mfor Qsymia, such as data analysis. This Higidn and data collection network
requires significant coordination with our saled amarketing, finance, regulatory and medical affééams, in light of the REMS requirements
applicable to Qsymia.

We rely on the certified pharmacies to iempént a number of safety procedures and repodinenformation to our third-party REMS
data collection vendor. Failure to maintain ourtcacts with Cardinal Health, our third-party REM&al collection vendor, or with the third-
party data warehouses, or the inability or failof@ny of them to adequately perform under our @mts with them, could negatively impact
the distribution of Qsymia, or adversely affect ability to comply with the REMS applicable to QsigmFailure to comply with a requirement
of an approved REMS can result in, among othegtinivil penalties, imposition of additional burdeme REMS requirements, suspensic
revocation of regulatory approval and criminal gmgion. Failure to coordinate financial systemsld@¢@lso negatively impact our ability to
accurately report and forecast product revenugelfire unable to effectively manage the distriltutiod data collection process, sales of
Qsymia could be severely compromised and our bssjrimancial condition and results of operatiomaila be harmed.

If we are unable to enter into agreements with slipps or our suppliers fail to supply us with theRs for our products or finished product
or if we rely on sole-source suppliers, we may engrece delays in commercializing our products.

We currently do not have supply agreemémtextended-release topiramate or phenterminechwéiie APIs used in Qsymia. We cannot
guarantee that we will be successful in enterig supply agreements on reasonable terms or at #ibt we will be able to obtain or maintain
the necessary regulatory approvals for these serggh a timely manner or at all.

We anticipate that we will continue to rely single source suppliers for phentermine andnel¢d-release topiramate for the foreseeable
future. Any production shortfall on the part of @uppliers that impairs the supply of phenterminexdended-release topiramate could have ¢
material adverse effect on our business, finardatition and results of operations. If we are Uméb obtain
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a sufficient quantity of these compounds, therddtbe a substantial delay in successfully develppirsecond source supplier. An inability to
continue to source product from any of these sepgliwhich could be due to regulatory actions quiements affecting the supplier, adverse
financial or other strategic developments expegeray a supplier, labor disputes or shortages, peetrd demands or quality issues, could
adversely affect our ability to satisfy demand @symia, which could adversely affect our produt¢sand operating results materially, which
could significantly harm our business.

The API and the tablets for STENDRA arerently manufactured by MTPC. MTPC has arrangemfentthe three main starting materi
necessary for the manufacturing of avanafil APMTFPC is unable to receive approval from foreiggulators and maintain ongoing FDA or
foreign regulatory compliance, or manufacture STEM3 API or tablets in sufficient quantities to meeojected demand, the U.S.
commercial launch, and future sales of STENDRAmW.S. and abroad will be adversely affected, twiicdurn could have a detrimental
impact on our financial results and could impaat ahility to enter into a collaboration agreemeartthe commercialization of STENDRA in
our other territories not covered by our agreemetitts Sanofi, Auxilium and Menarini.

In August 2012, we entered into an amendnteaur license agreement with MTPC that permitscumanufacture the API and tablets for
STENDRA ourselves or through third-party suppligrsny time, and we are required under the amentméransition away from MTPC as a
supplier on or before June 30, 2015. We currendlyat have any manufacturing facilities and intemdontinue to rely on third parties for the
supply of such API and tablets, as well as fordieply of starting materials. However, we cannotégain that we will be able to obtain the
necessary regulatory approvals for these suppfieagimely manner or at all.

In July 2013, we entered into a Commer8igbply Agreement with Sanofi Chimie to manufactame supply the API for avanafil on an
exclusive basis in the United States and otheitaeies and on a semi-exclusive basis in Europguding the EU, Latin America and other
territories. In November 2013, we entered into aaifacturing and Supply Agreement with Sanofi Winghindustrie to manufacture and
supply the avanafil tablets on an exclusive bastbé United States and other territories and senai-exclusive basis in Europe, including the
EU, Latin America and other territories. We intdndsubmit an amendment to the New Drug Applicat@mr\DA, for avanafil to the FDA, ar
a variation to the Marketing Authorization, or M#dyy avanafil to the European Medicines Agency, M4 to include Sanofi Chimie as a
qualified supplier of the avanafil APl and Sanofinttirop Industrie as a qualified supplier of thaaafil tablets. We cannot be certain we will
receive approval by regulatory authorities, or tlatwill be able to obtain such approval in a tiynelanner. The failure to receive such
approval in a timely manner or at all could preyeieiay or preclude our ability to establish aaiele supply chain, which could compromise
our ability to commercialize avanafil through oefationships with Sanofi, Auxilium and Menarini, @herwise. In addition, we have entered
into supply agreements with Menarini and Auxiliunder which we are obligated to supply them withrefé tablets. If we are unable to
establish a reliable supply of avanafil API or &blfrom Sanofi Chimie and/or Sanofi Winthrop Iniies we may be unable to satisfy our
obligations under these supply agreements in dytimanner or at all, and we may, as a result, beéach of one or both of these agreements

We have in-licensed all or a portion of the rightis Qsymia and STENDRA from third parties. If we defit on any of our material
obligations under those licenses, we could loséhtigto these drugs.

We have in-licensed and otherwise contthftierights to Qsymia and STENDRA, and we may emt® similar licenses in the future.
Under the relevant agreements, we are subjectrtonacialization, development, supply, sublicensiogalty, insurance and other obligatic
If we fail to comply with any of these requiremenis otherwise breach these license agreementicémsor may have the right to terminate
the license in whole or to terminate the exclusiature of the license. Loss of any of these licemsehe exclusive rights provided therein
could harm our financial condition and operatingutes.
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In particular, we license the rights tomafil from MTPC, and we have certain obligationgt®PC in connection with that license. We
license the rights to Qsymia from Dr. Najarian. Wétieve we are in compliance with the material ®ohour license agreements with MTPC
and Dr. Najarian. However, there can be no assartrat this compliance will continue or that theehsors will not have a differing
interpretation of the material terms of the agrestmdf the license agreements were terminated eaif the terms of the licenses were
contested for any reason, it would have a matadaérse impact on our ability to commercialize picid subject to these agreements, our
ability to raise funds to finance our operations; stock price and our overall financial conditidine monetary and disruption costs of any
disputes involving our agreements could be sigaifiaespite rulings in our favor.

Our ability to gain market acceptance and generatenues will be subject to a variety of risks, nyasf which are out of our control.

Qsymia and STENDRA may not gain market ptaoece among physicians, patients, healthcare paydhe medical community. We
believe that the degree of market acceptance andhbility to generate revenues from such drugs agfppend on a number of factors, including:

. our ability to expand the use of Qsymia throtayigeted patient and physician education;

. our ability to find the right partner for expaaQsymia commercial promotion to a broader printang physician audience;
. our ability to obtain marketing authorization the EC for Qsiva in the EU through the centralipeacedure;
. our ability to successfully expand the certifrethil pharmacy distribution channel in the Unifdtes;

. contraindications for Qsymia and STENDRA,

. competition and timing of market introduction ofhepetitive drugs;

. quality, safety and efficacy in the approved segttin

. prevalence and severity of any side effects, innlyithose of the generic components of our drugs;

. emergence of previously unknown side effects, iiclg those of the generic components of our drugs;

. results of any post-approval studies;

. potential or perceived advantages or disadvantagesalternative treatments, including generics;

. the relative convenience and ease of administraimhdosing schedule;

. the convenience and ease of purchasing the dsugerceived by potential patients;

. strength of sales, marketing and distributioppsart;

. price, both in absolute terms and relative terahtive treatments;

. the effectiveness of our or any future collatarsi sales and marketing strategies;

. the effect of current and future healthcare laws

. availability of coverage and reimbursement fromeyovwnent and other third-party payors;
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. the level of mandatory discounts required undeerfeldand state healthcare programs and the voldisedes subject to those
discounts;

. recommendations for prescribing physicians to ceteptertain educational programs for prescribingsly

. the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pockethe absence of government or third-party cayerand

. product labeling, product insert, or new REM§uieements of the FDA or other regulatory authesiti

Our drugs may fail to achieve market acaepe or generate significant revenue to achieweistain profitability. In addition, our efforts
to educate the medical community and third-partyopson the safety and benefits of our drugs mayire significant resources and may not
be successful.

We are required to complete post-approval studiemdated by the FDA for Qsymia, and such studies axpected to be costly and time
consuming. If the results of these studies reveabaceptable safety risks, Qsymia may be requiredgavithdrawn from the market.

As part of the approval of Qsymia, we aguired to conduct several post-marketing studietiding a study to assess the long-term
treatment effect of Qsymia on the incidence of mafiverse cardiovascular events in overweight ded® subjects with confirmed
cardiovascular disease, or AQCLAIM, studies to sss$he safety and efficacy of Qsymia for weight aggament in obese pediatric and
adolescent subjects, studies to assess drug titiizand pregnancy exposure and a study to asseakfunction. We estimate the AQCLAIM
study will cost between $180 million and $220 moifliand the study could take as long as five tysars to complete. On September 20, 201
we submitted to the EMA a request for Scientificvie@ regarding use of a pre-specified interim asialfrom the AQCLAIM cardiovascular
outcomes trial to support the resubmission of tteekdting Authorization Application, or MAA, for Qs for the treatment of obesity in
accordance with the centralized marketing authtdmgprocedure. Based on feedback from the EMA CHE&Pwell as various EU Member
State competent authorities associated with reoeiethe AQCLAIM trial application, the protocol hagen revised and resubmitted to the F
There can be no assurance that the FDA or EMAnwillrequest or require us to provide additionabinfation or undertake additional
preclinical studies and clinical studies or retexgfve observational studies.

In addition to these studies, the FDA mizp aequire us to perform other lengthy post-apalstudies, for which we would have to
expend significant additional resources, which ddwdve an adverse effect on our operating redintscial condition and stock price. Failure
to comply with the applicable regulatory requiretseran result in, among other things, civil peealtisuspensions of regulatory approvals,
operating restrictions and criminal prosecutione Téstriction, suspension or revocation of reguasapprovals or any other failure to comply
with regulatory requirements could have a matexiblerse effect on our business, financial conditiesults of operations and stock price.

We depend upon consultants and outside contracextensively in important roles within our company.

We outsource many key functions of our bess and therefore rely on a substantial numbeomgultants, and we will need to be able to
effectively manage these consultants to ensurehbgtsuccessfully carry out their contractual gdions and meet expected deadlines.
However, if we are unable to effectively manage mutsourced activities or if the quality or accyra€ the services provided by consultants is
compromised for any reason, our clinical trialotirer development activities may be extended, @éelay terminated, and we may not be able
to complete our post-approval clinical trials fosy@nia and STENDRA, obtain regulatory approval for future
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investigational drug candidates, successfully consrakze our approved drugs or otherwise advancebasiness. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to manage our existing corasutt or find other competent outside contractodsamsultants on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all.

Qsymia is a combination of two active ingredienudrproducts approved individually by the FDA thateacommercially available and
marketed by other companies, although the spedifisse strengths differ. As a result, Qsymia may bbjsct to substitution by prescribing
physicians, or by pharmacists, with individual dragontained in the Qsymia formulation, which woudtlversely affect our busines

Although Qsymia is a once-a-day, proprig@tended-release formulation, both of the appiod@ls (phentermine and topiramate
extended-release) that are combined to produce @sam commercially available as drug productsiaep that together are lower than the
price at which we sell Qsymia. In addition, thetidimition and sale of these drug products is noitéd under a REMS program, as is the case
with Qsymia. Further, the individual drugs contairie the Qsymia formulation are available in repdibrmacies and neither has a Pregnancy
Category X, which is used to indicate that thegigkolved in the use of the drug in pregnant wortlearly outweigh potential benefits, as is
the case with Qsymia. We cannot be sure that playsiavill view Qsymia as sufficiently superior taraatment regimen of Qsymia's individ
APIs to justify the significantly higher cost forsgmia, and they may prescribe the individual genériigs already approved and marketed by
other companies instead of our combination druth@lgh our U.S. and European patents contain catigpggproduct formulation and
method-of-use claims that we believe protect Qsythiase patents may be ineffective or impracticgrevent physicians from prescribing, or
pharmacists from dispensing, the individual geneoigstituents marketed by other companies instéadracombination drug. Phentermine
topiramate are currently available in generic foafthough the doses used in Qsymia are currenthavailable. In the third quarter of 2013,
Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. launched TrokendMXRd in the second quarter of 2014, Upsher-Snattokatories, Inc. launched
Qudexy™. Both products provide an extended-reléaseulation of the generic drug topiramate thahidicated for certain types of seizures
and migraines. Topiramate is not approved for dpdésatment, and phentermine is only approvedifmrt-term treatment of obesity.
However, because the price of Qsymia is signifigamgher than the prices of the individual competseas marketed by other companies,
physicians may have a greater incentive to wrigsgniptions for the individual components outsifléheir approved indication, instead of for
our combination drug, and this may limit how wecpror market Qsymia. Similar concerns could alsit lihe reimbursement amounts private
health insurers or government agencies in the &feSprepared to pay for Qsymia, which could alsitlimarket and patient acceptance of our
drug and could negatively impact our revenues.

In many regions and countries where we plag to market Qsymia, the pricing of reimburseelspription drugs is controlled by the
government or regulatory agencies. The governmerggulatory agencies in these countries couldroete that the pricing for Qsymia sho
be based on prices for its APIs when sold separateher than allowing us to market Qsymia atenpum as a new drug, which could limit
our pricing of Qsymia and negatively impact ourenewes.

Once an applicant receives authorizatiomaoket a medicinal product in an EU Member Stieugh any application route, the applic
is required to engage in pricing discussions amgbtigtions with a separate pricing authority inttbauntry. The legislators, policymakers and
healthcare insurance funds in the EU Member Statenue to propose and implement cost-containiegsures to keep healthcare costs
down, due in part to the attention being paid taltheare cost containment and other austerity neasn the EU. Certain of these changes
could impose limitations on the prices pharmacalitompanies are able to charge for their prodddts.amounts of reimbursement available
from governmental agencies or thjpdsty payors for these products may increase thelikgations on pharmaceutical companies suchues
or may facilitate the introduction of generic corifgen with respect to our products. Furthermorrejracreasing
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number of EU Member States and other foreign camtrse prices for medicinal products establisheather countries as "reference prices
help determine the price of the product in theinderritory. Consequently, a downward trend ingthee of medicinal products in some
countries could contribute to similar downward tterelsewhere. In addition, the ongoing budgetdficdities faced by a number of EU
Member States, including Greece and Spain, havariddnay continue to lead to substantial delaysiyment and payment partially with
government bonds rather than cash for medicinalymts, which could negatively impact our revenuss grofitability. Moreover, in order to
obtain reimbursement of our medicinal productsoms countries, including some EU Member Statesyaw be required to conduct clinical
trials that compare the cost-effectiveness of eadpcts to other available therapies. There camob&ssurance that our medicinal products wil
obtain favorable reimbursement status in any cquntr

If we become subject to product liability claimseuwnay be required to pay damages that exceed osuriance coverage

Qsymia and STENDRA, like all pharmaceutjmaiducts, are subject to heightened risk for peotiability claims due to inherent potent
side effects. For example, because topiramatemgaenent of Qsymia, may increase the risk of cortgemalformation in infants exposed to
topiramate during the first trimester of pregnaaog also may increase the risk of suicidal thoughtsbehavior, such risks may be associate
with Qsymia as well. Other potential risks involgi@symia may include, but are not limited to, acréase in resting heart rate, acute angle
closure glaucoma, cognitive and psychiatric adversnts, metabolic acidosis, an increase in sereatinine, hypoglycemia in patients with
type 2 diabetes, kidney stone formation, decreaseting and hypokalemia, or lower-than-normal amof potassium in the blood.

Although we have obtained product liabilitgurance coverage for Qsymia, we may be unabieaiatain this product liability coverage
for Qsymia or any other of our approved drugs iants or scope sufficient to provide us with adeégeaverage against all potential risks. A
product liability claim in excess of, or excludedr, our insurance coverage would have to be patidiocash reserves and could have a
material adverse effect upon our business, finhooiadition and results of operations. ProductilibBbinsurance is expensive even with large
self-insured retentions or deductibles, difficaltnhaintain, and current or increased coverage roapeavailable on acceptable terms, if at all.

In addition, we develop, test, and manufecthrough third parties, approved drugs and @&utovestigational drug candidates that are 1
by humans. We face an inherent risk of producilltgtexposure related to the testing of our apgabdrugs and investigational drug candid
in clinical trials. An individual may bring a lidity claim against us if one of our approved drogg$uture investigational drug candidates
causes, or merely appears to have caused, an.injury

If we cannot successfully defend oursebgainst a product liability claim, whether involgi@symia, STENDRA or a future
investigational drug candidate, we may incur sulihliabilities. Regardless of merit or eventoatcome, liability claims may result in:

. injury to our reputation;

. withdrawal of clinical trial patients;

. costs of defending the claim and/or relatedadition;

. cost of any potential adverse verdict;

. substantial monetary awards to patients or atte@mants; and
. the inability to commercialize our drugs.
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Damages awarded in a product liability@titould be substantial and could have a negatipaét on our financial condition. Whether or
not we were ultimately successful in product liggpilitigation, such litigation would consume sudnstial amounts of our financial and
managerial resources, and might result in advexbéqity, all of which would impair our business &ddition, product liability claims could
result in an FDA investigation of the safety or@dty of our product, our third-party manufacturppmgcesses and facilities, or our marketing
programs. An FDA investigation could also potemiédad to a recall of our products or more seriem®rcement actions, limitations on the
indications for which they may be used, or susmaner withdrawal of approval.

The markets in which we operate are highly compgttand we may be unable to compete successfullire new entrants or established
companies.

Competition in the pharmaceutical and maldicoducts industries is intense and is charatdrby costly and extensive research efforts
and rapid technological progress. We are awarewdral pharmaceutical companies also actively eedjagthe development of therapies for
the treatment of obesity and erectile dysfunctddany of these companies have substantially greassrarch and development capabilities as
well as substantially greater marketing, finaneiadl human resources than we do. Some of the dnagsay compete with Qsymia may not
have a REMS requirement and the accompanying coitipiesuch a requirement presents. Our competitang develop technologies and
products that are more effective than those weamently marketing or researching and developSg:h developments could render Qsymia
and STENDRA less competitive or possibly obsoléfe.are also competing with respect to marketingbdéipies and manufacturing
efficiency, areas in which we have limited expecien

Qsymia for the treatment of chronic weigt#nagement competes with several approved antitplagags including, Belvig®
(lorcaserin), Arena Pharmaceutical's approved @ity compound marketed by Eisai Inc., Eisai Cl,'s U.S. subsidiary; Xenical®
(orlistat), marketed by Roche; alli®, the over-ttminter version of orlistat, marketed by GlaxoSkKiite; Suprenza™, an orally disintegrati
tablet (phentermine hydrochloride), marketed byidlax Pharmaceuticals, LCL; and Contrave® (naltreXbapropion), Orexigen
Therapeutics, Inc.'s anti-obesity compound markbje@iakeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited. Saxentlesfylutide), a recently approved
anti-obesity compound expected to be launched 15 2y Novo Nordisk A/S will also compete with QsymAgents that have been approved
for type 2 diabetes that have demonstrated weggistih clinical studies may also compete with Qsymhese include Farxiga™
(dapagliflozin) from AstraZeneca and Bristol-My&guibb, an SGLT2 inhibitor, approved January 8 20&ardiance® (empagliflozin) from
Boehringer Ingelheim, an SGLT2 inhibitor, approvadyust 1, 2014; Victoza® (liraglutide) from Novo Miisk A/S, a GLP-1 receptor agonist
approved January 25, 2010; Invokana® (canaglifozoth Johnson & Johnson's Janssen Pharmaceutice®GL T2 inhibitor, approved
March 29, 2013 and Glyxambi® (empagliflozin/linggln) from Boehringer Ingelheim and Eli Lilly, arG& T2 inhibitor and DPP-4 inhibitor
combination product, approved January 30, 201%,Ala January 14, 2015, FDA approved the Maestah&geable System for certain obest
adults, the first weight loss treatment device thegets the nerve pathway between the brain andttmach that controls feelings of hunger
and fullness. The Maestro Rechargeable Systenpi®eagd to treat patients aged 18 and older who havéeen able to lose weight with a
weight loss program, and who have a body mass intl8% to 45 with at least one other obesity-relatendition, such as type 2 diabetes.

There are also several other investigatidney candidates in Phase 2 clinical trials fa tteatment of obesity. There are also a number
generic pharmaceutical drugs that are prescribeddesity, predominantly phentermine. Phentermsrsold at much lower prices than we
charge for Qsymia. The availability of branded priggion drugs, generic drugs and over-the-coudtegs could limit the demand for, and the
price we are able to charge for, Qsymia.
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We also may face competition from the afidl use of the generic components in our druggaiticular, it is possible that patients will
seek to acquire phentermine and topiramate, thergecomponents of Qsymia. Neither of these germmoponents has a REMS program anc
both are available at retail pharmacies. Althoughdose strength of these generic components hé®eao approved by the FDA for use in the
treatment of obesity, the off-label use of the geneomponents in the U.S. or the importation & ¢eneric components from foreign markets
could adversely affect the commercial potentialdor drugs and adversely affect our overall businéisancial condition and results of
operations.

There are also surgical approaches to $eadre obesity that are becoming increasinglymede Two of the most well established
surgical procedures are gastric bypass surgenadjudtable gastric banding, or lap bands. In Fer2@ll, the FDA approved the use of a laj
band in patients with a BMI of 30 (reduced from 88th comorbidities. The lowering of the BMI reqgaiment will make more obese patients
eligible for lap band surgery. In addition, othetgntial approaches that utilize various implargatgvices or surgical tools are in developnr
Some of these approaches are in late-stage deveta@and may be approved for marketing.

We anticipate that STENDRA (avanafil) foettreatment of erectile dysfunction will competiehvPDES inhibitors in the form of oral
medications including Viagra® (sildenafil citrate)arketed by Pfizer, Inc.; Cialis® (tadalafil), rkated by Eli Lilly and Company; Levitra®
(vardenafil), co-marketed by GlaxoSmithKline plaa®chering-Plough Corporation in the U.S.; and SYA® (vardenafil in an oral
disintegrating tablet, or ODT), co-marketed by @&rithKline plc and Merck & Co., Inc.

We anticipate that generic PDES5 inhibita enter the market in the U.S. in late 2017. &én PDES5 inhibitors would likely be sold at
lower prices and may reduce the demand for STENE@R#ecially at the prices we would be required trgh for STENDRA to cover our
manufacturing and other costs. In addition, PDHE#Bhitors are in various stages of development Igotompanies. Warner-Chilcott plc,
which was acquired by Actavis, Inc. and is now knasg Actavis plc, has licensed the U.S. rightsdenafil, a PDES5 inhibitor, from Dong-A
Pharmaceutical, now known as Mezzion Pharma Co.Qtder treatments for ED exist, such as needéiign therapies, vacuum constriction
devices and penile implants, and the manufactufetsese products will most likely continue to dieyeor improve these therapies.

Qsymia and STENDRA may also face challeraggscompetition from newly developed generic potsiuUnder the U.S. Drug Price
Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 18®®wn as the Hatch-Waxman Act, newly approvedjsliand indications may benefit
from a statutory period of non-patent marketinglesigity. The Hatch-Waxman Act stimulates competitby providing incentives to generic
pharmaceutical manufacturers to introduce nonsgfrig forms of patented pharmaceutical productstaratallenge patents on branded
pharmaceutical products. If we are unsuccessifthallenging an Abbreviated New Drug Application AMDA, filed pursuant to the Hatch-
Waxman Act, a generic version of Qsymia or STENDR&y be launched, which would harm our business.

The FDCA provides that an ANDA and an inatov drug with a REMS with Elements to Assure Sesfe, like Qsymia, must use a single
shared REMS system to assure safe use unless Fi¥Asathis requirement and permits the ANDA holdeiniplement a separate but
comparable REMS. We cannot predict the outcomenpactt on our business of any future action thaiag take with regard sharing our
REMS program or if the FDA grants a waiver allowihg generic competitor to market a generic druf) wiseparate but compatible REMS.

New developments, including the developnuémtther drug technologies and methods of prewmgritie incidence of disease, occur in the
pharmaceutical and medical technology industriesrapid pace. These developments may render ags @nd future investigational drug
candidates
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obsolete or noncompetitive. Compared to us, marguofpotential competitors have substantially geat

. research and development resources, including peesand technology;
. regulatory experience;

. investigational drug candidate development andagirtrial experience;

. experience and expertise in exploitation of inttlial property rights; and
. access to strategic partners and capital resources.

As a result of these factors, our competitnay obtain regulatory approval of their produntse rapidly than we or may obtain patent
protection or other intellectual property rightatkimit our ability to develop or commercializerduture investigational drug candidates. Our
competitors may also develop drugs or surgical @agires that are more effective, more useful arsddestly than ours and may also be more
successful in manufacturing and marketing theidpots. In addition, our competitors may be moreaf¥e in commercializing their products.
We currently outsource our manufacturing and tloeeefely on third parties for that competitive estige. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to develop or contract for these calfiads on acceptable economic terms, or at all.

We may participate in new partnerships and otheras¢gic transactions that could impact our liquigitincrease our expenses and present
significant distractions to our managemer

From time to time, we consider strategim$actions, such as out-licensing or in-licensingpepounds or technologies, acquisitions of
companies and asset purchases. Additional potardgizdactions we may consider include a varietyiftérent business arrangements, inclu
strategic partnerships, joint ventures, spin-afstructurings, divestitures, business combinat&rgsinvestments. In addition, another entity
may pursue us as an acquisition target. Any swiséctions may require us to incur non-recurringtiber charges, may increase our near- an
long-term expenditures and may pose significamgration challenges, require additional expertisgisrupt our management or business, an
of which could harm our operations and financialtes.

As part of an effort to enter into signéitt transactions, we conduct business, legal aath¢ial due diligence with the goal of identifying
and evaluating material risks involved in the taot®n. Despite our efforts, we ultimately may Imswuccessful in ascertaining or evaluating al
such risks and, as a result, might not realizeetpected benefits of the transaction. If we faildalize the expected benefits from any
transaction we may consummate, whether as a r@suttidentified risks, integration difficulties,gelatory setbacks or other events, our
business, results of operations and financial damrdcould be adversely affected.

Our failure to successfully acquire, develop and rkat additional investigational drug candidates approved drugs would impair our
ability to grow.

As part of our growth strategy, we may aigjuin-license, develop and/or market additiorraldaicts and investigational drug candidates.
We have not in-licensed any new product candidatesveral years. Because our internal researcibdéjes are limited, we may be
dependent upon pharmaceutical and biotechnologyaaias, academic scientists and other researaheedl or license products or technoli
to us. The success of this strategy depends partip our ability to identify, select and acquiremising pharmaceutical investigational drug
candidates and products.

The process of proposing, negotiating amglémenting a license or acquisition of an invedtanal drug candidate or approved produs
lengthy and complex. Other companies, includingesarith substantially greater financial, marketimgl #ales resources, may compete with u
for the
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license or acquisition of investigational drug cigaties and approved products. We have limited ressuo identify and execute the
acquisition or in-licensing of third-party produciaisinesses and technologies and integrate thenoum current infrastructure. Moreover, we
may devote resources to potential acquisitiong-ticensing opportunities that are never completedye may fail to realize the anticipated
benefits of such efforts. We may not be able taaecghe rights to additional investigational dieandidates on terms that we find acceptable,
or at all.

In addition, future acquisitions may entaimerous operational and financial risks, inclgdin

. exposure to unknown liabilities;

. disruption of our business and diversion of our agment's time and attention to develop acquiredymts or technologies;
. incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuanalesecurities to pay for acquisitions;

. higher than expected acquisition, integration amathtenance costs;

. increased amortization expenses;

. difficulty and cost in combining the operations gretsonnel of any acquired businesses with ouradipes and personnel;

. impairment of relationships with key suppliers astomers of any acquired businesses due to chamgesnagement and

ownership; and

. inability to retain key employees of any acqdilrisinesses.

Further, any investigational drug candidht we acquire may require additional developneéfiarts prior to commercial sale, including
extensive clinical testing and obtaining approwatte FDA and applicable foreign regulatory auttiesi All investigational drug candidates
are prone to certain failures that are relativelsnmon in the field of drug development, includihg possibility that an investigational drug
candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safel effective for approval by regulatory authestiln addition, we cannot be certain that an
drugs that we develop or approved products thanag acquire will be commercialized profitably ohas/e market acceptance.

If we fail to retain our key personnel and hire,am and retain qualified employees, we may not lidesto compete effectively, which cot
result in reduced revenues or delays in the devetept of our investigational drug candidates or coreraialization of our approved drugs.

Our success is highly dependent upon this sk a limited number of key management persénhe reach our business objectives, we
will need to retain and hire qualified personneltia areas of manufacturing, commercial operatigrsearch and development, regulatory anc
legal affairs, business development, clinical td@sign, execution and analysis, and pre-clinesting. There can be no assurance that we wil
be able to retain or hire such personnel, as we ommspete with other companies, academic instibgtigovernment entities and other
agencies. The loss of any of our key personndi@fdilure to attract or retain necessary new eygas could have an adverse effect on our
research programs, investigational drug candidateldpment, approved drug commercialization effartd business operations.

We rely on third parties and collaborative partneie manufacture sufficient quantities of compoundsthin product specifications as
required by regulatory agencies for use in our peénical and clinical trials and commercial operatins and an interruption to this service
may harm our business.

We do not have the ability to manufactine materials we use in our pre-clinical and clihidals and commercial operations. Rather, we
rely on various third parties to manufacture thmsgerials and there may be long lead times to oltaiterials. There can be no assurance the
we will

50




Table of Contents

be able to identify, contract with, qualify and aiot prior regulatory approval for additional soww@é clinical materials. If interruptions in this
supply occur for any reason, including a decisipnhe third parties to discontinue manufacturimghtical difficulties, labor disputes, natural
or other disasters, or a failure of the third gertio follow regulations, we may not be able taobtegulatory approvals for our investigational
drug candidates and may not be able to successfthmercialize these investigational drug cand&lateour approved drugs.

Our third-party manufacturers and collativeapartners may encounter delays and problemsaimufacturing our approved drugs or
investigational drug candidates for a variety @fs@ns, including accidents during operation, failofrequipment, delays in receiving materials
natural or other disasters, political or governrakahanges, or other factors inherent in operatomgplex manufacturing facilities. Supply-
chain management is difficult. Commercially avaiéabtarting materials, reagents, excipients, ahdrahaterials may become scarce, more
expensive to procure, or not meet quality standandd we may not be able to obtain favorable téemagreements with subcontractors. Our
third-party manufacturers may not be able to opemanufacturing facilities in a cost-effective manar in a time frame that is consistent with
our expected future manufacturing needs. If oudtparty manufacturers, cease or interrupt prodaatir if our third-party manufacturers and
other service providers fail to supply material®ducts or services to us for any reason, suchriggon could delay progress on our
programs, or interrupt the commercial supply, wth potential for additional costs and lost revenlfethis were to occur, we may also nee
seek alternative means to fulfill our manufactunivegeds.

For example, Catalent Pharma Solutions, LarCCatalent, supplied the product for the Phagm8ram for Qsymia and is our sole source
of clinical and commercial supplies for Qsymia. &ant has been successful in validating the comisleranufacturing process for Qsymia at
an initial scale, which has been able to suppertabinch of Qsymia in the U.S. market. While Cathleas significant experience in commel
scale manufacturing, there is no assurance thale€@atwill be successful in increasing the scalthefinitial Qsymia manufacturing process,
should the market demand for Qsymia expand beylomdkbtzel supportable by the current validated mactufing process. Such a failure by
Catalent to further scale up the commercial manufag process for Qsymia could have a materiabegtyimpact on our ability to realize
commercial success with Qsymia in the U.S. madmd, have a material adverse impact on our plarkeharice of our common stock and
financial condition.

In the case of avanafil, we currently relyMTPC to supply the API (avanafil) and the avdnablets for STENDRA and SPEDRA.
MTPC is responsible for all aspects of manufactineguding obtaining the starting materials for freduction of API. If MTPC is unable to
manufacture the avanafil API or tablets in suffidiquantities to meet projected demand, futuressadelld be adversely affected, which in turn
could have a detrimental impact on our financialites, our license, commercialization, and supgheaments with our collaboration partners,
and our ability to enter into a collaboration agneat for the commercialization in other territories

In August 2012, we entered into an amendnteaur agreement with MTPC that permits us to afiacture the API and tablets for
STENDRA ourselves or through third parties. Accogdio the amendment, the transition of manufacfuiiom MTPC must occur on or beft
June 30, 2015. We currently do not have any matwiag facilities and intend to continue to rely thrird parties for the supply of the starting
materials, API and tablets. The transfer of techgplto and qualification of a new supplier is exgiea, time consuming and logistically
complicated. The technology transfer needed farttiainsition is highly dependent on the cooperatio TPC and its current suppliers. If
MTPC, or its current suppliers, are unable to éffety transfer the technology or supply on commahg reasonable terms, partnerability and
commercial success of STENDRA could be adversepatted. Additionally, we cannot be certain thatwilktbe successful in entering into
appropriate agreements with other suppliers ontleavill be able to obtain the necessary regulaampyrovals for these suppliers in a timely
manner or at all.
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In July 2013, we entered into a Commer8igbply Agreement with Sanofi Chimie to manufactame supply the API for avanafil on an
exclusive basis in the United States and otheitaeigs and on a semi-exclusive basis in Europguding the EU, Latin America and other
territories. On November 18, 2013, we entered &nkdanufacturing and Supply Agreement with Sanofnihiop Industrie to manufacture and
supply the avanafil tablets on an exclusive bastbé United States and other territories and senai-exclusive basis in Europe, including the
EU, Latin America and other territories. We intendsubmit an amendment to the NDA for avanafie EDA, and a variation to the MA for
avanafil to the EMA, to include Sanofi Chimie agualified supplier of the avanafil APl and Sanofintfirop Industrie as a qualified supplier
of the avanafil tablets. We cannot be certain wiereteive approval by regulatory authorities, éimel failure to receive such approval could
prevent, delay, or preclude our ability to estdblsreliable supply chain, which could compromige ability to commercialize avanafil throu
our relationships with Sanofi, Auxilium, Menariair, otherwise.

Any future manufacturing sites, includitmgpse of Sanofi Chimie and Sanofi Winthrop Industniieuld need to be inspected by the U.S.
and EU Member State competent authorities, andalwe of such manufacturing sites to receive apal from FDA or foreign authorities,
obtain and maintain ongoing FDA or foreign regutgtoompliance, or manufacture avanafil API or tébla expected quantities could have a
detrimental impact on our ability to commercialBEENDRA under our agreements with Sanofi, Auxiliand Menarini and our ability to
enter into a collaboration agreement for the conerabzation of STENDRA in our other territories nvered by our agreements with Sanofi,
Auxilium and Menarini.

We rely on third parties to maintain appropriatevels of confidentiality of the data compiled durirgdinical, pre-clinical and retrospective
observational studies and trials.

We seek to maintain the confidential natfreur confidential information through contradtpeovisions in our agreements with third
parties, including our agreements with clinicake@gh organizations, or CROs, that manage ourcelistudies for our investigational drug
candidates. These CROs may fail to comply withrtbbligations of confidentiality or may be requirasl a matter of law to disclose our
confidential information. As the success of ouniclal studies depends in large part on our confideimformation remaining confidential prior
to, during and after a clinical study, any disclesoould have a material adverse effect on theooutcof a clinical study, our business, finar
condition and results of operations.

The collection and use of personal headtia ¢h the EU is governed by the provisions ofDla¢a Protection Directive. This Directive
imposes a number of requirements relating to tmseot of the individuals to whom the personal delates, the information provided to the
individuals, notification of data processing obtigas to the competent national data protectioh@rities and the security and confidentiality
of the personal data. The Data Protection Direciige imposes strict rules on the transfer of peabkdata out of the EU to the United States.
Failure to comply with the requirements of the DRtatection Directive and the related national geitaection laws of the EU Member States
may result in fines and other administrative peesltThe draft EU Data Protection Regulation cutyegoing through the adoption process is
expected to introduce new data protection requirgsni@ the EU and substantial fines for breachdheflata protection rules. If the draft Data
Protection Regulation is adopted in its currentrfoit may increase our responsibility and liabilityrelation to personal data that we process
and we may be required to put in place additionatimanisms ensuring compliance with the new EU platiection rules. This may be onerous
and increase our cost of doing business.
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If we fail to comply with applicable healthcare retations, we could face substantial penalties angr dusiness, operations and financii
condition could be adversely affected.

Our arrangements with third-party payord emstomers expose us to broadly applicable fedadistate healthcare laws and regulations
pertaining to fraud and abuse. The restrictionseuagplicable federal and state healthcare lawsegadations that may affect our ability to
operate include, but are not limited to:

. the federal Anti-Kickback Law, which prohibitsnong other things, knowingly or willingly offeringaying, soliciting or
receiving remuneration, directly or indirectly,dash or in kind, to induce or reward the purchadi@sing, ordering or
arranging for or recommending the purchase, leaseder of any healthcare items or service for Wwhpayment may be made
whole or in part, by federal healthcare progranthsas Medicare and Medicaid. This statute has lsgerpreted to apply to
arrangements between pharmaceutical companiesehand and prescribers, purchasers and formulamagess on the other.
Further, the Affordable Care Act, among other tkingarified that liability may be established unttee federal Anti-Kickback
Law without proving actual knowledge of the fedekati-Kickback statute or specific intent to vicdat. In addition, the
Affordable Care Act amended the Social Security tAgirovide that the government may assert théiendncluding items or
services resulting from a violation of the fedekati-Kickback Law constitutes a false or fraudulefaim for purposes of the
federal civil False Claims Act. Although there araumber of statutory exemptions and regulatorg kafbors to the federal
Anti-Kickback Law protecting certain common businesarsggements and activities from prosecution or régatasanctions, th
exemptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowlypeaactices that do not fit squarely within an exéiompor safe harbor may |
subject to scrutiny. We seek to comply with theregBons and safe harbors whenever possible, bupraatices may not in all
cases meet all of the criteria for safe harborgmtidn from anti-kickback liability;

. the federal civil False Claims Act, which prohibigenong other things, individuals or entities franowingly presenting, or
causing to be presented, a false or fraudulennhdai payment of government funds or knowingly nmakiusing, or causing to
be made or used, a false record or statement mlai@ian obligation to pay money to the governnerknowingly concealing,
or knowingly and improperly avoiding, decreasinggconcealing an obligation to pay money to the fadlgovernment. Many
pharmaceutical and other healthcare companiestheame investigated and have reached substantialcimlasettlements with tt
federal government under the civil False Claimsfacta variety of alleged improper marketing adtes, including providing
free product to customers with the expectation tth@tcustomers would bill federal programs for gpheduct; providing
consulting fees, grants, free travel, and otheebinto physicians to induce them to prescribecthmpany's products; and
inflating prices reported to private price publicatservices, which are used to set drug payméees inder government
healthcare programs. In addition, in recent ydagsggbvernment has pursued civil False Claims As¢sagainst a number of
pharmaceutical companies for causing false clainbetsubmitted as a result of the marketing of tesiducts for unapproved,
and thus nomeimbursable, uses. Pharmaceutical and other lsaadtitompanies also are subject to other feddsad €&aim laws
including, among others, federal criminal healtedaaud and false statement statutes that extendrtayovernment health
benefit programs;

. numerous federal and state laws, including statergg breach notification laws, state health imfation privacy laws and
federal and state consumer protection laws, gothercollection, use and disclosure of personarimédion. Other countries al
have, or are developing, laws governing the catlactuse and transmission of personal informatioraddition, most healthcare
providers who prescribe our product and from whoenolvtain patient health information are subjegirteacy and security
requirements under the Health Insurance
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Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAWe are not a HIPAA-covered entity and we do oymrate as a business
associate to any covered entities. Therefore, thegacy and security requirements do not applysoHowever, we could be
subject to criminal penalties if we knowingly olstandividually identifiable health information fromncovered entity in a mani
that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA or &ding and abetting the violation of HIPAA. We amgable to predict wheth
our actions could be subject to prosecution inethent of an impermissible disclosure of healthiimfation to us. The legislative
and regulatory landscape for privacy and data ptiote continues to evolve, and there has been@easing amount of focus
privacy and data protection issues with the poéétdi affect our business, including recently eeddaws in a majority of states
requiring security breach notification. These lawsild create liability for us or increase our aoistioing business;

. analogous state laws and regulations, suchags atikickback and false claims laws, may apply to itemnservices reimburse
under Medicaid and other state programs or, inrsggtates, apply regardless of the payor. Sonte ktas also require
pharmaceutical companies to report expenses rglatithe marketing and promotion of pharmaceufcatiucts and to report
gifts and payments to certain health care providetkse states. Other states prohibit providing Im&aprescribers or other
marketing-related activities. In addition, Calif@nConnecticut, Nevada, and Massachusetts reghaemaceutical companies
to implement compliance programs or marketing cade®nduct. Foreignh governments often have simégulations, which w
also will be subject to in those countries wheremeket and sell products;

. the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, bemglamented as the Open Payments Program, reqeir@sncpharmaceutical
manufacturers to engage in extensive tracking pfeats and other transfers of value to physiciamktaaching hospitals, and
to submit such data to CMS, which will then maKeo&this data publicly available on the CMS webs®harmaceutical
manufacturers with products for which payment igilable under Medicare, Medicaid or the State Ghils Health Insurance
Program are required to have started tracking tapler payments on August 1, 2013, and must subrepart to CMS on or
before the 90th day of each calendar year disdasiportable payments made in the previous caleyetar Failure to comply
with the reporting obligations may result in cimbnetary penalties; and

. the federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 181rd other similar anti-bribery laws in other gdlictions generally prohibit
companies and their intermediaries from providiraney or anything of value to officials of foreigoygernments, foreign
political parties, or international organizationghithe intent to obtain or retain business or seékisiness advantage. Recently,
there has been a substantial increase in antitlgriaer enforcement activity by U.S. regulators,witore frequent and
aggressive investigations and enforcement procgedip both the Department of Justice and the UeBui®ies and Exchange
Commission. A determination that our operationadiivities are not, or were not, in compliance withited States or foreign
laws or regulations could result in the impositafrsubstantial fines, interruptions of businessslof supplier, vendor or other
third-party relationships, termination of necesdamgnses and permits, and other legal or equitsdaetions. Other internal or
government investigations or legal or regulatomycgedings, including lawsuits brought by privatigdints, may also follow as
consequence.

If our operations are found to be in vimatof any of the laws described above or any ogfoeernmental regulations that apply to us, we
may be subject to significant civil, criminal andnainistrative penalties, damages, fines, exclufiom government-funded healthcare
programs, like Medicare and Medicaid, and the damtnt or restructuring of our operations. Any piiea, damages, fines, curtailment or
restructuring of our operations could adverselgafbur ability to operate our business and owrfaial results. Although compliance progri
can mitigate the risk of investigation and prosecufor violations of these laws, the risks canbpetentirely eliminated. Any
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action against us for violation of these laws gulations, even if we successfully defend agatnsbiuld cause us to incur significant legal
expenses and divert our management's attentiontfreraperation of our business. Moreover, achiegimg) sustaining compliance with
applicable federal and state privacy, security faaad laws may prove costly.

In the EU, the advertising and promotiorof products will also be subject to EU Membet&tdaws concerning promotion of
medicinal products, interactions with physicianssleading and comparative advertising and unfammercial practices, as well as other EU
Member State legislation governing statutory healsurance, bribery and anti-corruption. Failuredmply with these rules can result in
enforcement action by the EU Member State autlegritivhich may include any of the following: finegaprisonment, orders forfeiting produ
or prohibiting or suspending their supply to therkes, or requiring the manufacturer to issue putMarnings, or to conduct a product recall.

Marketing activities for our approved drugs are gelbt to continued governmental regulatio

The FDA, and third country authorities,liring the competent authorities of the EU Memb@ates, have the authority to impose
significant restrictions, including REMS requirenteron approved products through regulations orwiding, promotional and distribution
activities. After approval, if products are marlete contradiction with FDA laws and regulatiortse DA may issue warning letters that
require specific remedial measures to be takewedlsas an immediate cessation of the impermissibleduct, resulting in adverse publicity.
The FDA may also require that all future promotiomaterials receive prior agency review and apprbefore use. Certain states have also
adopted regulations and reporting requirement®anding the promotion of pharmaceuticals. QsymiANENDRA are subject to these
regulations. Failure to comply with state requiretsanay affect our ability to promote or sell phagmutical drugs in certain states. This, in
turn, could have a material adverse impact on imantial results and financial condition and cosilidhject us to significant liability, including
civil and administrative remedies as well as criahsanctions.

We are subject to ongoing regulatory obligationsdarestrictions, which may result in significant eepse and limit our ability to
commercialize our drugs.

We are required to comply with extensivgulations for drug manufacturing, labeling, packagiadverse event reporting, storage,
distribution, advertising, promotion and record eg in connection with the marketing of Qsymia &TENDRA. Regulatory approvals may
also be subject to significant limitations on thdicated uses or marketing of the investigatiomagjc&andidates or to whom and how we may
distribute our products. Even after FDA approvailisained, the FDA may still impose significanttriesions on a drug's indicated uses or
marketing or impose ongoing requirements for REMBatentially costly posapproval studies. For example, the labeling appidoe Qsymi:
includes restrictions on use, including recommendatfor pregnancy testing, level of obesity andation of treatment. We are subject to
ongoing regulatory obligations and restrictiond thay result in significant expense and limit obility to commercialize Qsymia. The FDA
has also required the distribution of a Medicat@uride to Qsymia patients outlining the increasek af teratogenicity with fetal exposure and
the possibility of suicidal thinking or behavion addition, the FDA has required a REMS that may@tmit access to the drug, reduce our
revenues and/or increase our costs. The FDA mayfynib@ Qsymia REMS in the future to be more oslesstrictive.

Even if we maintain FDA approval, or re@a& marketing authorization from the EC, and othgulatory approvals, if we or others
identify adverse side effects after any of our piaid are on the market, or if manufacturing prols@mwcur, regulatory approval or EU
marketing authorization may be varied, suspendetdtbdrawn and reformulation of our products, aidial clinical trials, changes in labeling
and additional marketing applications may be regljimny of which could harm our business and causstock price to decline.
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We and our contract manufacturers are subject tgsificant regulation with respect to manufacturingf our products.

All of those involved in the preparationatherapeutic drug for clinical trials or commatdale, including our existing supply contract
manufacturers, and clinical trial investigatorg aubject to extensive regulation. Componentsfisfished drug product approved for
commercial sale or used in late-stage clinicalgnaust be manufactured in accordance with cui@aad Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP.
These regulations govern quality control of the afacturing processes and documentation policiepamcedures, and the implementation
operation of quality systems to control and assueequality of investigational products and produapproved for sale. Our facilities and
quality systems and the facilities and quality eyst of our third-party contractors must be inspkobdeitinely for compliance. If any such
inspection or audit identifies a failure to complith applicable regulations or if a violation ofrquroduct specifications or applicable
regulation occurs independent of such an inspeatiiaudit, we or the FDA may require remedial measthat may be costly and/or time
consuming for us or a third party to implement #mat may include the issuance of a warning leteanporary or permanent suspension of a
clinical trial or commercial sales, recalls, mankdthdrawals, seizures, or the temporary or permaoksure of a facility. Any such remedial
measures would be imposed upon us or third pastigsswhom we contract until satisfactory cGMP corapte is achieved. The FDA could
also impose civil penalties. We must also complghwimilar regulatory requirements of foreign regaty agencies.

We obtain the necessary raw materials angponents for the manufacture of Qsymia and STENRRAvell as certain services, such as
analytical testing packaging and labeling, fromndtparties. In particular, we rely on Catalentwp@y Qsymia capsules and Packaging
Coordinators, Inc., or PCI, for Qsymia packaginy®es. We and these suppliers and service providier required to follow cGMP
requirements and are subject to routine and unarmsalinspections by the FDA and by state and fareggulatory agencies for compliance
with cGMP requirements and other applicable regahat Upon inspection of these facilities, the FBforeign regulatory agencies may find
the manufacturing process or facilities are natampliance with cGMP requirements and other reganat Because manufacturing processes
are highly complex and are subject to a lengthulaggry approval process, alternative qualified@ymay not be available on a timely basis
or at all.

Difficulties, problems or delays in our gliprs and service providers' manufacturing anglupf raw materials, components and serv
could delay our clinical trials, increase our cpdsmage our reputation and cause us to lose revammarket share if we are unable to timely
meet market demands.

If we fail to comply with our reporting and paymeuabligations under the Medicaid Drug Rebate programother governmental pricing
programs, we could be subject to additional reimbement requirements, penalties, sanctions and finekich could have a material advet
effect on our business, financial condition, ressalbf operations and growth prospects.

We participate in the Medicaid Drug Rehategram, established by the Omnibus Budget Redatioih Act of 1990 and amended by the
Veterans Health Care Act of 1992 as well as suls@degislation. Under the Medicaid Drug Rebateggpaim, we are required to pay a rebate
to each state Medicaid program for our coveredatigpt drugs that are dispensed to Medicaid beaeiis and paid for by a state Medicaid
program as a condition of having federal funds derade available to the states for our drugs uhtglicaid and Medicare Part B. Those
rebates are based on pricing data reported by asnoonthly and quarterly basis to CMS, the fedagaincy that administers the Medicaid D
Rebate program. These data include the averagefataumer price and, in the case of innovator pregiute best price for each drug.
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The Affordable Care Act made significanaobes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate program. Effegtiarch 2010, rebate liability
expanded from fee-for-service Medicaid utilizatiorinclude the utilization of Medicaid managed carganizations as well. With regard to the
amount of the rebates owed, the Affordable Careidaeased the minimum Medicaid rebate from 15.6%3.1% of the average manufactt
price for most innovator products and from 11% 3&clfor non-innovator products; changed the calauiadf the rebate for certain innovator
products that qualify as line extensions of exgtinugs; and capped the total rebate amount favior drugs at 100% of the average
manufacturer price. In addition, the Affordable €&t and subsequent legislation changed the defindof average manufacturer price.
Finally, the Affordable Care Act requires pharmaaml manufacturers of branded prescription dragsay a branded prescription drug fee to
the federal government beginning in 2011. Eachviddal pharmaceutical manufacturer pays a prorshede of the branded prescription drug
fee of $3.0 billion in 2015, based on the dollaluesof its branded prescription drug sales to @efederal programs identified in the law.

In 2012, CMS issued proposed regulatiorimfdement the changes to the Medicaid Drug Repadgram under the Affordable Care Act
but has not yet issued final regulations. CMS isently expected to release the final regulation®0d15. Moreover, in the future, Congress
could enact legislation that further increases Maidi drug rebates or other costs and charges agsdevith participating in the Medicaid Dr
Rebate program. The issuance of regulations anerage expansion by various governmental agendetingto the Medicaid Drug Rebate
program has and will continue to increase our caststhe complexity of compliance, has been anbbgitime consuming, and could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operation

Federal law requires that any company phaticipates in the Medicaid Drug Rebate prograso ahrticipate in the Public Health Servic
340B drug pricing discount program in order fordeal funds to be available for the manufacturetgsl under Medicaid and Medicare Part B.
The 340B pricing program requires participating ofanturers to agree to charge statutorily definmeeeed entities no more than the 340B
"ceiling price" for the manufacturer's covered atigpnt drugs. These 340B covered entities includariety of community health clinics and
other entities that receive health services grirats the Public Health Service, as well as hospithht serve a disproportionate share of low-
income patients. The 340B ceiling price is caladatsing a statutory formula, which is based oratr@age manufacturer price and rebate
amount for the covered outpatient drug as calcdlateler the Medicaid Drug Rebate program. Chang#setdefinition of average
manufacturer price and the Medicaid rebate amondéuthe Affordable Care Act and CMS's issuandénaf regulations implementing those
changes also could affect our 340B ceiling pridewations and negatively impact our results ofragiens.

The Affordable Care Act expanded the 34@®ypam to include additional entity types: certige-standing cancer hospitals, critical
access hospitals, rural referral centers and swi@inity hospitals, each as defined by the Affolel@kare Act. The Affordable Care Act also
obligates the Secretary of the U.S. Departmente#lth and Human Services, or HHS, to create reiguatnd processes to improve the
integrity of the 340B program and to update thesagrent that manufacturers must sign to particijpetiee 340B program to obligate a
manufacturer to offer the 340B price to coveredtiestif the manufacturer makes the drug availableny other purchaser at any price and to
report to the government the ceiling prices foditsgs. The Health Resources and Services Admatiistr, the agency that administers the
340B program, is expected to issue proposed régotaand guidance in 2015 that will address mapgets of the 340B program. When such
regulations and guidance are finalized, they catffieict our obligations under the 340B program irysvae cannot anticipate. In addition,
legislation may be introduced that, if passed, wdulther expand the 340B program to additionalered entities or would require
participating manufacturers to agree to provideB3didcounted pricing on drugs used in the inpatsertting.
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Pricing and rebate calculations vary ampmglucts and programs. The calculations are conmiedare often subject to interpretation by
us, governmental or regulatory agencies and thesolhe Medicaid rebate amount is computed eaealntgubased on our submission to CMS
of our current average manufacturer prices andgrésts for the quarter. If we become aware thatreporting for a prior quarter was
incorrect, or has changed as a result of recaioulaif the pricing data, we are obligated to resititihe corrected data for a period not to exc
12 quarters from the quarter in which the dataioaily were due. Such restatements and recalculgiitcrease our costs for complying with
the laws and regulations governing the MedicaidgCReébate program. Any corrections to our rebateutations could result in an overage or
underage in our rebate liability for past quartdeppending on the nature of the correction. Pecalculations also may affect the ceiling price
at which we are required to offer our productsedain covered entities, such as safety-net progjdader the 340B drug discount program.

We are liable for errors associated withgubmission of pricing data. In addition to retrtdee rebates and the potential for 340B prog
refunds, if we are found to have knowingly subndittalse average manufacturer price or best priermation to the government, we may be
liable for civil monetary penalties in the amouh®®00,000 per item of false information. Our fadio submit monthly/quarterly average
manufacturer price and best price data on a tifna$js could result in a civil monetary penalty #0800 per day for each day the information
is late beyond the due date. Such failure alsodcbelgrounds for CMS to terminate our Medicaid dmlgate agreement, pursuant to which we
participate in the Medicaid program. In the evéuatt {CMS terminates our rebate agreement, no fedayathents would be available under
Medicaid or Medicare Part B for our covered ougattidrugs.

In September 2010, CMS and the Office efltispector General indicated that they intendutsye more aggressively companies that fa
to report these data to the government in a timeyner. Governmental agencies may also make changesgram interpretations,
requirements or conditions of participation, sorhevlbich may have implications for amounts previgusstimated or paid. We cannot assure
you that our submissions will not be found by CM®€ incomplete or incorrec

Federal law requires that, for a companlyaeligible to have its products paid for withdeal funds under the Medicaid and Medicare
Part B programs as well as to be purchased byicdetderal agencies and certain federal granteatsa must participate in the Department of
Veterans Affairs, or VA, Federal Supply Schedulel-8S, pricing program. To participate, we are meglto enter into an FSS contract with
the VA, under which we must make our innovator '&m@d drugs" available to the "Big Four" federalragies—the VA, the Department of
Defense, or DoD, the Public Health Service, anddbast Guard—at pricing that is capped pursuaatdiatutory federal ceiling price, or FCP,
formula set forth in Section 603 of the VeteransaltteCare Act of 1992, or VHCA. The FCP is basedareighted average wholesaler price
known as the "non-federal average manufactureeprar Non-FAMP, which manufacturers are requi@deiport on a quarterly and annual
basis to the VA. If a company misstates Non-FAMPE®Ps it must restate these figures. Pursuahet&¢’ HCA, knowingly providing false
information in connection with a Non-FAMP filing m&ubject a manufacturer to penalties of $100,00@#ch item of false information.

FSS contracts are federal procurement actstithat include standard government terms anditbmms, separate pricing for each product,
and extensive disclosure and certification requasts. All items on FSS contracts are subject tadard FSS contract clause that requires
FSS contract price reductions under certain cir¢cant®s where pricing is reduced to an agreed 'ttrgadustomer.” Further, in addition to the
"Big Four" agencies, all other federal agencies somde non-federal entities are authorized to adé®Sscontracts. FSS contractors are
permitted to charge FSS purchasers other tharBigeFour" agencies "negotiated pricing" for covededgs that is not capped by the FCP;
instead, such pricing is negotiated based on a atanddisclosure of the
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contractor's commercial "most favored customertipg. We offer one single FCP-based FSS contrace po all FSS purchasers for all
products.

In addition, pursuant to regulations issbgdhe DoD TRICARE Management Activity, or TMA, wdDefense Health Agency, or DHA,
implement Section 703 of the National Defense Ar#ation Act for Fiscal Year 2008, each of our cadedrugs is listed on a Section 703
Agreement with TMA under which we have agreed tp igdbates on covered drug prescriptions dispers@®RICARE beneficiaries.
Companies are required to list their innovator picid on Section 703 Agreements in order for thaedyxts to be eligible for DoD formulary
inclusion. The formula for determining the rebaestablished in the regulations and our Secti@Affeement and is based on the differenc
between the Annual Non-FAMP and the FCP (as destr@pove, these price points are required to mailedd by us under the VHCA).

If we overcharge the government in conmectivith our FSS contract or Section 703 Agreemehgther due to a misstated FCP or
otherwise, we are required to refund the differeioche government. Failure to make necessaryatisobs and/or to identify contract
overcharges can result in allegations against denthe False Claims Act and other laws and reiguist Unexpected refunds to the
government, and responding to a government invagsibig or enforcement action, would be expensivetand consuming, and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargabition, results of operations and growth protpec

Changes in reimbursement procedures by governmamt ather third-party payors, including changes irealthcare law and implementing
regulations, may limit our ability to market and Beur approved drugs, or any future drugs, if appved, may limit our product revenues
and delay profitability, and may impact our busires ways that we cannot currently predict. Thedenges could have a material adverse
effect on our business and financial condition.

In the U.S. and abroad, sales of pharma=durugs are dependent, in part, on the avaitglaf reimbursement to the consumer from
third-party payors, such as government and privesierance plans. Third-party payors are increagiogéllenging the prices charged for
medical products and services. Some third-partppbhgnefit packages restrict reimbursement, cheogeays to patients, or do not provide
coverage for specific drugs or drug classes.

In addition, certain healthcare provides moving towards a managed care system in which groviders contract to provide
comprehensive healthcare services, including pipggan drugs, for a fixed cost per person. We aralle to predict the reimbursement polic
employed by third-party healthcare payors.

Payors also are increasingly considering metrics as the basis for reimbursement rate$, as@verage sales price, average
manufacturer price and Actual Acquisition Cost. Biésting data for reimbursement based on thesdasés relatively limited, although
certain states have begun to survey acquisitiondada for the purpose of setting Medicaid reimborent rates. CMS, the federal agency that
administers Medicare and the Medicaid Drug Rebetgram, has made draft National Average Drug Adtjais Cost, or NADAC, data, whic
reflect retail community pharmacy invoice costg] dnaft National Average Retail Price, or NARP,alathich reflect retail community
pharmacy prices to plans and consumers, publicijlae on at least a monthly basis. In July 2@1!8S suspended the publication of draft
NARP data, pending funding decisions. In Noveml#32 CMS moved to publishing final rather than tNADAC data and has since meg
updated NADAC data publicly available on a weeldgis. Therefore, it may be difficult to project fhgpact of these evolving reimbursement
mechanics on the willingness of payors to coverpraducts.

The healthcare industry in the U.S. aneathis undergoing fundamental changes that areethdt of political, economic and regulatory
influences. The levels of revenue and profitabitifypharmaceutical companies may be affected bgohn¢inuing efforts of governmental and
third-party
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payors to contain or reduce healthcare costs threagous means. Reforms that have been and megrisédered include mandated basic
healthcare benefits, controls on healthcare spgrttiimugh limitations on the increase in privataltfeinsurance premiums and the types of
drugs eligible for reimbursement and Medicare aredlidaid spending, the creation of large insurancehasing groups, and fundamental
changes to the healthcare delivery system. Thegmpals include measures that would limit or pribfayments for some medical treatments
or subject the pricing of drugs to government aarand regulations changing the rebates we ardrehjto provide. Further, federal budgetary
concerns could result in the implementation of Sigant federal spending cuts, including cuts indibare and other health related spending ir
the near-term. For example, recent legislative enewits have resulted in Medicare payments beingsuto a two percent reduction, referred
to as sequestration, until 2024. These changesl aoyglact our ability to maximize revenues in thédial marketplace.

In March 2010, the President signed théRbaProtection and Affordable Care Act, as ameraethe Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010, collectively referredlih this report as the Affordable Care Act. ThdéoAdable Care Act substantially changed the
way healthcare is financed by both governmentalpidite insurers, and could have a material adveffect on our future business, cash
flows, financial condition and results of operatipincluding by operation of the following proviem

. Effective in March 2010, rebate liability expandeain fee-forservice Medicaid utilization to include the utiliman of Medicaid
managed care organizations as well. This expanlégitiikty affects rebate liability for that utiliation.

. With regard to the amount of the rebates oweel Affordable Care Act increased the minimum Meidicabate from 15.1% to
23.1% of the average manufacturer price for mastvator products and from 11% to 13% for non-inrioraroducts; changed
the calculation of the rebate for certain innovgarducts that qualify as line extensions of erigtirugs; and capped the total
rebate amount for innovator drugs at 100% of theraye manufacturer price.

. Effective in January 2011, pharmaceutical congmmust provide a 50% discount on branded prasmmigrugs dispensed to
beneficiaries within the Medicare Part D coveragp gr "donut hole," which is a coverage gap thaterily exists in the
Medicare Part D prescription drug program. We autyedo not anticipate coverage under Medicare Bddr our drugs, but
this could change in the future.

. Effective in January 2011, the Affordable Care ferjuires pharmaceutical manufacturers of brandescpiption drugs to pay a
branded prescription drug fee to the federal gawemt. Each individual pharmaceutical manufactuestspa prorated share of
the branded prescription drug fee of $3.0 billior2D15 based on the dollar value of its branded presoriptdirug sales to certe
federal programs identified in the law.

. Some states have elected to expand their Medicagt@ams by raising the income limit to 133% of tederal poverty level. For
each state that does not choose to expand its Kiddicogram, there may be fewer insured patiengsadly which could impact
our sales, business and financial condition. Weeekany Medicaid expansion to impact the numbexdoiits in Medicaid more
than children because many states have alreadyesetligibility criteria for children at or abovthe level designated in the
Affordable Care Act. An increase in the proportadrpatients who receive our drugs and who are @by Medicaid could
adversely affect our net sales.

Some of the Affordable Care Act's reformsnidt take effect until 2015, and others are sl&edmplementation in 2015. In 2012, CMS
issued proposed regulations to implement the clsatggtihe Medicaid Drug Rebate program under therdtible Care Act but has not yet
issued final regulations.
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CMS is currently expected to release the final lstiuns in 2015. At this time, we cannot predia thll impact of the Affordable Care Act, or
the timing and impact of any future rules or retjolas promulgated to implement the Affordable Cace.

The Affordable Care Act also expanded thblie Health Service's 340B drug pricing discourtdgram. The 340B pricing program
requires participating manufacturers to agree togd statutorily defined covered entities no mbemntthe 340B "ceiling price" for the
manufacturer's covered outpatient drugs. The A#iblel Care Act expanded the 340B program to incadtbtional types of covered entities:
certain free-standing cancer hospitals, criticakas hospitals, rural referral centers and solenuamity hospitals, each as defined by the
Affordable Care Act. The Affordable Care Act alduligates the Secretary of the Department of Healith Human Services to create
regulations and processes to improve the integfithe 340B program and to ensure the agreemenirthaufacturers must sign to participate
in the 340B program obligates a manufacturer terdfie 340B price to covered entities if the maotufieer makes the drug available to any
other purchaser at any price and to report to tveigment the ceiling prices for its drugs. The I[HeResources and Services Administration,
the agency that administers the 340B program,pgebed to issue proposed regulations and guidan2@1i5 that will address many aspects of
the 340B program. When such regulations and guelane finalized, they could affect our obligatiemsler the 340B program in ways we
cannot anticipate. In addition, legislation mayitteoduced that, if passed, would further expared340B program to additional covered
entities or would require participating manufactar® agree to provide 340B discounted pricing mrgs used in the inpatient setting.

There can be no assurance that futuretiosa#t legislation or other changes in the admatisin or interpretation of government
healthcare or third-party reimbursement prograniisnet have a material adverse effect on us. Heatthreform is also under consideration in
other countries where we intend to market Qsymia.

We expect to experience pricing and reiraboment pressures in connection with the sale oM@sy\STENDRA and our investigational
drug candidates, if approved, due to the trend tdwzanaged healthcare, the increasing influend¢ealkh maintenance organizations and
additional legislative proposals. In addition, wayntonfront limitations in insurance coverage fay@ia, STENDRA and our investigational
drug candidates. For example, the Medicare progyamerally does not provide coverage for drugs tséebat erectile dysfunction or drugs
used to treat obesity. Similarly, other insurerymetermine that such products are not coveredruhdé programs. If we fail to successfully
secure and maintain reimbursement coverage foapmomoved drugs and investigational drug candidatese significantly delayed in doing
we will have difficulty achieving market acceptarafeour approved drugs and investigational drugda#ates and our business will be harmed
Congress has enacted healthcare reform and mayfarther reform, which could adversely affect fftearmaceutical industry as a whole, and
therefore could have a material adverse effectusrbasiness.

Both of the active pharmaceutical ingretién Qsymia, phentermine and topiramate, are abigilas generics and do not have a REMS
requirement. The exact doses of the active ingnegli@ Qsymia are different than those currentlgilable for the generic components. State
pharmacy laws prohibit pharmacists from substitutinugs with differing doses and formulations. Baéety and efficacy of Qsymia is
dependent on the titration, dosing and formulatwimich we believe could not be easily duplicatéat iall, with the use of generic substitutes.
However, there can be no assurance that we wableto provide for optimal reimbursement of Qsyasaa treatment for obesity or, if
approved, for any other indication, from third-yapyors or the U.S. government. Furthermore, tbarebe no assurance that healthcare
providers would not actively seek to provide pasenith generic versions of the active ingrediént@symia in order to treat obesity at a
potential lower cost and outside of the REMS rezjaients.
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An increasing number of EU Member Stateb @ther foreign countries use prices for medicprakducts established in other countries as
"reference prices" to help determine the pricenefgroduct in their own territory. Consequentlgloavnward trend in prices of medicinal
products in some countries could contribute to lsimdownward trends elsewhere. In addition, theoomg budgetary difficulties faced by a
number of EU Member States, including Greece arminSpave led and may continue to lead to substiesitiays in payment and payment
partially with government bonds rather than casimiedicinal products, which could negatively impaot revenues and profitability.
Moreover, in order to obtain reimbursement of owdininal products in some countries, including sdhkeMember States, we may be
required to conduct clinical trials that compare tlost effectiveness of our products to other ab#gltherapies. There can be no assurance th
our medicinal products will obtain favorable reim&ement status in any country.

Setbacks and consolidation in the pharmaceuticaldaiotechnology industries, and our, or our collataiors', inability to obtain thirc-party
coverage and adequate reimbursement, could makeéngamg more difficult and diminish our revenues.

Setbhacks in the pharmaceutical and biotelclgy industries, such as those caused by safetyecos relating to high-profile drugs like
Avandia®, Vioxx® and Celebrex®, or investigatiomilig candidates, as well as competition from geranigs, litigation, and industry
consolidation, may have an adverse effect on usefample, pharmaceutical companies may be lesisgvtb enter into new collaborations or
continue existing collaborations if they are int#@rg a new operation as a result of a merger quiaition or if their therapeutic areas of focus
change following a merger. Moreover, our and oulaborators' ability to commercialize any of oupapved drugs or future investigational
drug candidates will depend in part on governmegtilation and the availability of coverage and adég reimbursement from third-party
payors, including private health insurers and gorent payors, such as the Medicaid and Medicargranes, increases in government-run,
single-payor health insurance plans and compulsmepses of drugs. Government and third-party psugoe increasingly attempting to contain
healthcare costs by limiting coverage and reimbuesd levels for new drugs. Given the continuingdssion regarding the cost of healthcare
managed care, universal healthcare coverage ardithlthcare issues, we cannot predict with caytavhat additional healthcare initiatives,
if any, will be implemented or the effect any fiduegislation or regulation will have on our busiseThese efforts may limit our commercial
opportunities by reducing the amount a potentiibborator is willing to pay to license our progrsur investigational drug candidates in the
future due to a reduction in the potential reverfum® drug sales. Adoption of legislation and regiaoins could limit pricing approvals for, and
reimbursement of, drugs. A government or thirdypagyor decision not to approve pricing for, oryide adequate coverage and
reimbursements of, our drugs could limit marketegtance of these drugs.

Our business and operations would suffer in the avef system failures.

Despite the implementation of security nueas, our internal computer systems and those rof@ntract sales organization, or CSO,
CROs, safety monitoring company and other contraaad consultants are vulnerable to damage franpater viruses, unauthorized access,
natural disasters, accidents, terrorism, war aledeenmunication and electrical failures. While vaé not experienced any such system
failure, accident or security breach to date, dtsan event were to occur and cause interruptioosii operations, it could result in a material
disruption of our investigational drug candidateelepment programs and drug manufacturing opersitibar example, the loss of clinical trial
data from completed or ongoing clinical trials éar investigational drug candidates could resuttetays in our regulatory approval efforts
with the FDA, the EC, or the competent authoritéthe EU Member States, and significantly increasecosts to recover or reproduce the
data. To the extent that any disruption or secumigach was to result in a loss of or damage talata or applications, or inappropriate
disclosure of confidential or proprietary infornmatj we could incur liability and the
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further development of our investigational drugdidates, or commercialization of our approved dregsild be delayed. If we are unable to
restore our information systems in the event ofstesns failure, our communications, daily operatiand the ability to develop our
investigational drug candidates and approved domgneercialization efforts would be severely affected

Natural disasters or resource shortages could disrour investigational drug candidate developmemtdbapproved drug commercializatic
efforts and adversely affect results.

Our ongoing or planned clinical trials aagproved drug commercialization efforts could bkayked or disrupted indefinitely upon the
occurrence of a natural disaster. For example,ieame Sandy in October 2012, hindered our Qsymés forts. In 2005, our clinical trials in
the New Orleans area were interrupted by Hurridéateina. In addition, our offices are located ie than Francisco Bay Area near known
earthquake fault zones and are therefore vulnetalilamage from earthquakes. In October 1989, ameajthquake in our area caused
significant property damage and a number of fagalitOur current supplier of STENDRA is locatedapan near known earthquake fault z«
and is vulnerable to damage from earthquakes amasis. We are also vulnerable to damage from alisasters, such as power loss, fire,
floods and similar events. If a significant disastecurs, our ability to continue our operationsldde seriously impaired and we may not h
adequate insurance to cover any resulting losseg sfgnificant unrecoverable losses could serioimlyair our operations and financial
condition.

Risks Relating to our Intellectual Property
Obtaining intellectual property rights is a complex¢ocess, and we may be unable to adequately ptatecproprietary technologies.

We hold various patents and patent apjdinatin the U.S. and abroad targeting obesity aatbidities related to obesity, including sleep
apnea and diabetes, and sexual health, amongiotheations. The procedures for obtaining a paitetthie U.S. and in most foreign countries
are complex. These procedures require an analf/tie scientific technology related to the inventend many sophisticated legal issues.
Consequently, the process for having our pendingnpapplications issue as patents will be difficcdmplex and time consuming. We do not
know when, or if, we will obtain additional paterits our technologies, or if the scope of the pet@fmtained will be sufficient to protect our
investigational drug candidates or products, ocdiesidered sufficient by parties reviewing our pagositions pursuant to a potential licensing
or financing transaction.

In addition, we cannot make assurances hew much protection, if any, will be provided twyr issued patents. Our existing patents anc
any future patents we obtain may not be sufficiebtbad to prevent others from practicing our texdbgies or from developing competing
products. Others may independently develop sinitalternative technologies or design around otemiad technologies or products. These
companies would then be able to develop, manufacetnd sell products that compete directly withpnaducts. In that case, our revenues and
operating results could decline.

Other entities may also challenge the glior enforceability of our patents and patentleggpions in litigation or administrative
proceedings. The sponsor of a generic applicatekiag to rely on one of our approved drug prodastthe reference listed drug must make
one of several certifications regarding each ligtatbnt. A "Paragraph 11" certification is the sigor's statement that it will wait for the patent
to expire before obtaining approval for its product'Paragraph IV" certification is a challengethe patent; it is an assertion that the patent
does not block approval of the later product, eitfecause the patent is invalid or unenforceableeoause the patent, even if valid, is not
infringed by the new product. Once the FDA accémtdiling a generic application containing a Paeggh IV certification, the applicant must
within 20 days provide notice to the referenceetistirug, or RLD, NDA holder and patent owner that application with patent
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challenge has been submitted, and provide thedhand legal basis for the applicant's assertiahttie patent is invalid or not infringed. If the
NDA holder or patent owner file suit against thegéc applicant for patent infringement within 4&yd of receiving the Paragraph IV noti

the FDA is prohibited from approving the generiplagation for a period of 30 months from the dateexeipt of the notice. If the RLD has
new chemical entity exclusivity and the notice iigeg and suit filed during the fifth year of exdlkisy, the 30-month stay does not begin until
five years after the RLD approval. The FDA may awerthe proposed product before the expiratiomef30-month stay if a court finds the
patent invalid or not infringed or if the court stems the period because the parties have faileddperate in expediting the litigation. If a
competitor or a generic pharmaceutical providecessfully challenges our patents, the protectioviged by these patents could be reduced
or eliminated and our ability to commercialize approved drugs would be at risk. In addition, doenpetitor or generic manufacturer were to
receive approval to sell a generic or follow-onsien of one of our products, our approved produmiild become subject to increased
competition and our revenues for that product wandddversely affected.

On September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith Agadnvents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was sigimgd law. The Leahy-Smith Act
includes a number of significant changes to U.&mdaw. These changes include provisions thacathe way patent applications will be
prosecuted and may also affect patent litigatidre U.S. Patent Office has developed regulationgancedures to govern administration of
Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantive chariggatent law associated with the Leahy-Smithhsste only recently become effective.
Accordingly, it is too early to tell what, if anympact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operatof our business. However, the Leahy-
Smith Act and its implementation could increaseutheertainties and costs surrounding the prosetuofi@ur patent applications and the
enforcement or defense of our issued patentsf alhich could have a material adverse effect onbsginess and financial condition.

We also may rely on trade secrets and athpatented confidential information to protect mehnology, especially where we do not
believe patent protection is appropriate or obtaimaHowever, trade secrets are difficult to protéée seek to protect our trade secrets and
other confidential information by entering into fidentiality agreements with employees, collaborgteendors (including CROs and our
CSO0), consultants and, at times, with potentiagégtors. Nevertheless, employees, collaboratorglorenconsultants or potential investors r
still disclose or misuse our trade secrets andratbefidential information, and we may not be ableneaningfully protect our trade secrets. In
addition, others may independently develop subisiénequivalent information or techniques or otluese gain access to our trade secrets.
Disclosure or misuse of our confidential informatiwould harm our competitive position and couldssaour revenues and operating results t
decline.

If we believe that others have infringedrsappropriated our proprietary rights, we maychieinstitute legal action to protect our
intellectual property rights. Such legal action nb@yexpensive, and we may not be able to affor@¢dlsés of enforcing or defending our
intellectual property rights against others.

We have received notice of an ANDA filing for Qsyarsubmitted by a generic drug company. This ANDA asserts that a generic form
of Qsymia would not infringe on our issued patentss a result of this filing, we have commencedddition to defend our patent rights,
which is expected to be costly and time-consumingl,adepending on the outcome of the litigation, wry face competition from lower cost
generic or follov-on products in the near term.

Qsymia is approved under the provisionthefFederal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or FDCHhiclv renders it susceptible to potential
competition from generic manufacturers via the Hatdaxman Act and ANDA process. Generic manufactupeirsuing ANDA approval are
not required to conduct costly and time-consumingaal trials to establish the safety and efficadytheir products; rather,

64




Table of Contents

they are permitted to rely on the FDA's findingtttiee innovator's product is safe and effectivedifidnally, generic drug companies generally
do not expend significant sums on sales and magetttivities, instead relying on physicians orgrayto substitute the generic form of a drug
for the branded form. Thus, generic manufacturarssell their products at prices much lower thars¢hcharged by the innovative
pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies who lamérred substantial expenses associated withetfearch and development of the drug
product and who must spend significant sums marfetinew drug.

The ANDA procedure includes provisions @ailog generic manufacturers to challenge the innmapatent protection by submitting
"Paragraph IV" certifications to the FDA in whidhetgeneric manufacturer claims that the innovapatent is invalid, unenforceable and/or
will not be infringed by the manufacture, use, alesof the generic product. A patent owner whoikexsea Paragraph IV certification may
choose to sue the generic applicant for patennigément.

We have received a Paragraph IV certifigatiotice from Actavis Laboratories FL, Inc., orté&ws, contending that our patents listed in
the Orange Book for Qsymia (U.S. Patents 7,056,8%53,818, 7,659,256, 7,674,776, 8,580,298, ap80299) are invalid, unenforceable
and/or will not be infringed by the manufacturegusr sale of a generic form of Qsymia. In respdogais notice, we have filed suit to defend
our patent rights. We have received a second RagrhadW certification notice from Actavis contendititat two additional patents listed in the
Orange Book for Qsymia (U.S. Patents 8,895,05788@5,058) are invalid, unenforceable and/or will be infringed by the manufacture, t
or sale of a generic form of Qsymia. We are inghexess of evaluating this second notice.

In accordance with the Hatch-Waxman Acta assult of having filed a timely lawsuit agaiAsttavis, FDA approval of Actavis' ANDA
will be stayed until the earlier of (i) up to 30 nibs from our May 7, 2014 receipt of Actavis' Pasad IV certification notice (i.e. November
7, 2016) or (ii) a District Court decision finditigat the identified patents are invalid, unenfobdear not infringed.

Although we intend to vigorously enforce mtellectual property rights relating to Qsyniilagre can be no assurance that we will prevai
in our defense of our patent rights. Our existiatepts could be invalidated, found unenforceabfewnd not to cover a generic form of
Qsymia. If an ANDA filer were to receive approvalgell a generic version of Qsymia and/or prevadny patent litigation, Qsymia would
become subject to increased competition and owne would be adversely affected.

We may be sued for infringing the intellectual prepty rights of others, which could be costly andstdt in delays or termination of our
future research, development, manufacturing and sglactivities

Our commercial success also depends, inygaon our ability to develop future investiga@buarug candidates, market and sell approvec
drugs and conduct our other research, developnmeht@mmercialization activities without infringireg misappropriating the patents and ot
proprietary rights of others. There are many patant patent applications owned by others thatdo@lrelevant to our business. For example
there are numerous U.S. and foreign issued pagentpending patent applications owned by othettsattearelated to the therapeutic areas in
which we have approved drugs or future investigetiairug candidates as well as the therapeutietsitg which these drugs and candidates
are directed. There are also numerous issued paadtpatent applications covering chemical comgswn synthetic processes that may be
necessary or useful to use in our research, dewmnf manufacturing or commercialization activitiBecause patent applications can take
many years to issue, there may be currently perapgjcations, unknown to us, which may later resuissued patents that our approved
drugs, future investigational drug candidates ohi@logies may infringe. There also may be exispiatgnts, of which we are not aware, that
our approved drugs, investigational drug candidatgschnologies may infringe. Further, it is nlvtays clear to industry participants,
including us, which patents cover various typeproflucts or methods.
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The coverage of patents is subject to interprataiiothe courts, and the interpretation is not gbuaniform. We cannot assure you that others
holding any of these patents or patent applicatiisiot assert infringement claims against usdamages or seek to enjoin our activities. If
we are sued for patent infringement, we would rteedkmonstrate that our products or methods dinfriige the patent claims of the relevi
patent and/or that the patent claims are invalidnenforceable, and we may not be able to do this.

There can be no assurance that approves énfuture investigational drug candidates doanatill not infringe on the patents or
proprietary rights of others. In addition, thirdrfd@s may already own or may obtain patents irftiiere and claim that use of our technologies
infringes these patents.

If a person or entity files a legal actmmadministrative action against us, or our coltabars, claiming that our drug discovery,
development, manufacturing or commercializationvé@@s infringe a patent owned by the person ditgnwe could incur substantial costs ¢
diversion of the time and attention of managemadttachnical personnel in defending ourselves agaimy such claims. Furthermore, parties
making claims against us may be able to obtaimutjue or other equitable relief that could effeety block our ability to further develop,
commercialize and sell any current or future appcbeirugs, and such claims could result in the awhsiibstantial damages against us. In the
event of a successful claim of infringement agairsstwe may be required to pay damages and ohtaimiomore licenses from third parties.
We may not be able to obtain these licenses asorable cost, if at all. In that case, we coulwbanter delays in product introductions while
we attempt to develop alternative investigatiorralgdcandidates or be required to cease commeiioglany affected current or future
approved drugs and our operating results wouldaoméd.

Furthermore, because of the substantiabatnaf pre-trial document and witness discoveryunegl in connection with intellectual
property litigation, there is a risk that some af confidential information could be compromiseddisclosure during this type of litigation. In
addition, during the course of this kind of litigat, there could be public announcements of theltesf hearings, motions or other interim
proceedings or developments. If securities anatysisvestors perceive these results to be negatigeuld have a substantial adverse effec
the trading price of our common stock.

We may face additional competition outside of theéSUas a result of a lack of patent coverage in sotarritories and differences in patent
prosecution and enforcement laws in foreign courgsi.

Filing, prosecuting, defending and enfoggiatents on all of our drug discovery technologied all of our approved drugs and potential
investigational drug candidates throughout the dvarbuld be prohibitively expensive. While we haited patent applications in many
countries outside the U.S., and have obtained smatent coverage for approved drugs in certain §oreountries, we do not currently have
widespread patent protection for these drugs caitéid U.S. and have no protection in many foreigisdictions. Competitors may use our
technologies to develop their own drugs in juriidits where we have not obtained patent proteclibese drugs may compete with our
approved drugs or future investigational drug cdatdis and may not be covered by any of our pateim or other intellectual property rigk

Even if international patent applicatiofisnuately issue or receive approval, it is likehat the scope of protection provided by such
patents will be different from, and possibly lelsart, the scope provided by our corresponding Lants. The success of our international
market opportunity is dependent upon the enforceémmigpatent rights in various other countries. Antaer of countries in which we have filed
or intend to file patent applications have a higmmirweak enforcement and/or compulsory licensihigpillectual property rights. Moreover,
the legal systems of certain countries, particyledrtain developing countries, do not favor thgragsive enforcement of patents and other
intellectual property protection, particularly tleo®lating to biotechnology and/or pharmaceuticals,
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which make it difficult for us to stop the infringeent of our patents. Even if we have patents isgu#tese jurisdictions, there can be no
assurance that our patent rights will be sufficterpirevent generic competition or unauthorized use

Attempting to enforce our patent right$areign jurisdictions could result in substantiastand divert our efforts and attention from o
aspects of our business.

Risks Relating to our Financial Position and Needdr Financing

We may require additional capital for our future @pating plans, and we may not be able to secureréguisite additional funding on
acceptable terms, or at all, which would force wsdelay, reduce or eliminate commercialization agvélopment efforts.

We expect that our existing capital researcombined with future anticipated cash flows Wdlsufficient to support our operating
activities at least through the next twelve monHhswever, we anticipate that we will be requiresbdain additional financing to fund our
commercialization efforts, additional clinical stesl for approved products and the development pfesearch and development pipeline in
future periods. Our future capital requirements déipend upon numerous factors, including:

. our ability to expand the use of Qsymia througlyeted patient and physician education;

. our ability to find the right partner for expand®dymia commercial promotion to a broader primame ganysician audience ol
timely basis;

. our ability to obtain marketing authorization by tBC for Qsiva in the EU through the centralizedkeating authorization
procedure;

. our ability to manage costs;

. the substantial cost to expand into certifigditgpharmacy locations and the cost required tmtaan the REMS program for
Qsymia;

. the cost, timing and outcome of the post-approlmical studies the FDA has required us to perfasmpart of the approval for

STENDRA and Qsymia;

. our ability, along with our collaboration partegto successfully commercialize STENDRA in th&l)JCanada, the EU,
Australia, New Zealand, Africa, the Middle EastrRey, and the CIS, including Russia;

. our ability to successfully commercialize STEN®R our other territories in which we do not curtly have a commercial
collaboration;

. the progress and costs of our research and develdpnograms;

. the scope, timing, costs and results of pre-clinaanical and retrospective observational studied trials;

. the cost of access to electronic records and dsgatthat allow for retrospective observationalistsid

. patient recruitment and enrollment in future clalitrials;

. the costs involved in seeking regulatory appi®fer future drug candidates;

. the costs involved in filing and pursuing patepplications, defending and enforcing patent cdaim

. the establishment of collaborations, sublicermsebsstrategic alliances and the related costiidimg milestone payments;

67




Table of Contents

. the cost of manufacturing and commercializationvéis and arrangements;

. the level of resources devoted to our future satesmarketing capabilities;

. the cost, timing and outcome of litigation, if any;

. the impact of healthcare reform, if any, imposedhsy/federal government; and
. the activities of competitors.

Future capital requirements will also depen the extent to which we acquire or invest iditohal complementary businesses, products
and technologies. We currently have no commitmentgreements relating to any of these types ob#retions.

To obtain additional capital when needed will evaluate alternative financing sources, iidahg, but not limited to, the issuance of
equity or debt securities, corporate alliancesitjgentures and licensing agreements. Howevere tteem be no assurance that funding will be
available on favorable terms, if at all. We aretaarally evaluating our existing portfolio and weaynchoose to divest, sell or spin-off one or
more of our drugs and/or investigational drug cdatlis at any time. We cannot assure you that aigsdwill generate revenues sufficient to
enable us to earn a profit. If we are unable taiobadditional capital, management may be requwezkplore alternatives to reduce cash used
by operating activities, including the terminatimfvresearch and development efforts that may appda& promising to us, the sale of certain
assets and the reduction in overall operating itiesv If adequate funds are not available, we bmayequired to delay, reduce the scope of or
eliminate one or more of our development programsuo commercialization efforts.

Raising additional funds by issuing securities wilause dilution to existing stockholders and raigifunds through lending and licensin
arrangements may restrict our operations or requius to relinquish proprietary rights.

To the extent that we raise additional iy issuing equity securities, our existing &twalders' ownership will be diluted. We have
financed our operations, and we expect to contindimance our operations, primarily by issuing iyjand debt securities. Moreover, any
issuances by us of equity securities may be aelowbthe prevailing market price of our common ktand in any event may have a dilutive
impact on your ownership interest, which could estl®e market price of our common stock to declifeeraise additional capital, we may
choose to issue additional securities at any tintea any price.

In May 2013, we closed an offering of $Z2fillion in 4.5% Convertible Senior Notes due Migy2020, which we refer to as the
Convertible Notes. In May 2013, we closed on antamthl $30.0 million of Convertible Notes upon egise of an option by the initial
purchasers of the Convertible Notes. Total netgeds from the Convertible Notes were approximé#24/1.8 million. The Convertible Notes
are convertible into approximately 16,826,000 shafeour common stock under certain circumstancies {p maturity at a conversion rate of
67.3038 shares per $1,000 principal amount of Caiie Notes, which represents a conversion pricapproximately $14.858 per share,
subject to adjustment under certain conditions. Chevertible Notes are convertible at the optiothefholders at any time prior to the clos:
business on the business day immediately precédingmber 1, 2019, only under certain conditiongegtors in our common stock will be
diluted to the extent the Convertible Notes areveoted into shares of our common stock, rather tieang settled in cash.

We may also raise additional capital thiotlte incurrence of debt, and the holders of amy de may issue would have rights superior tc
our stockholders' rights in the event we are notessful and are forced to seek the protectioranktuptcy laws.
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In addition, debt financing typically coimts covenants that restrict operating activities. @&ample, on March 25, 2013, we entered into
the Purchase and Sale Agreement with BioPharmahwdrovides for the purchase of a debt-like insenmUnder the BioPharma Agreement,
we may not (i) incur indebtedness greater thareaiipd amount, (ii) pay a dividend or other cagtribution on our capital stock, unless we
have cash and cash equivalents in excess of dispeminount, (iii) amend or restate our certificaténcorporation or bylaws unless such
amendments or restatements do not affect BioPhsiintarests under the BioPharma Agreement, (iviieher the collateral, or (v) abandon
certain patent rights, in each case without thesenhof BioPharma. Any future debt financing weeeirito may involve similar or more
onerous covenants that restrict our operations.

If we raise additional capital through adlbration, licensing or other similar arrangementsay be necessary to relinquish potentially
valuable rights to our drugs or future investigasibdrug candidates, potential products or proarnetechnologies, or grant licenses on terms
that are not favorable to us. If adequate fundsiatavailable, our ability to achieve profitahylior to respond to competitive pressures would
be significantly limited and we may be requiredltday, significantly curtail or eliminate the commmiealization of one or more of our approved
drugs or the development of one or more of ourrtutnvestigational drug candidates.

The investment of our cash balance and our availedfbr-sale securities are subject to risks that n@use losses and affect the liquidity of
these investments.

At December 31, 2014, we had $83.2 milliooash and cash equivalents and $216.4 millicavailable-for-sale securities. While at
December 31, 2014, our excess cash balances weseéd in money market and U.S. Treasury secyriigsinvestment policy as approvec
our Board of Directors, also provides for investisan debt securities of U.S. government agenciegorate debt securities and asset-backe
securities. Our investment policy has the primamestment objectives of preservation of principidwever, there may be times when certain
of the securities in our portfolio will fall belothe credit ratings required in the policy. Althoutje U.S. Congress was able to resolve the del
ceiling issue in time to avoid default, the majoedit rating agencies have expressed their ongmngern about the high levels of debt that th
U.S. government has taken on. Standard & Poor'suaraed that it had revised its outlook on the Iterga credit rating of the U.S. to negative,
which could affect the trading market for U.S. gowaent securities. These factors could impactithedity or valuation of our available-for-
sale securities, all of which were invested in U.&asury securities as of December 31, 2014 oKdtsecurities are downgraded or impaired
we would experience losses in the value of ourfplastwhich would have an adverse effect on ounltssof operations, liquidity and financial
condition. An investment in money market mutualdsiis not insured or guaranteed by the Federal Siefpsurance Corporation or any other
government agency. Although money market mutuadl$useek to preserve the value of the investme$it ger share, it is possible to lose
money by investing in money market mutual funds.

Our involvement in securities-related class actiand shareholder litigation could divert our resougs and management's attention and
harm our business.

The stock markets have from time to timpegienced significant price and volume fluctuatitimst have affected the market prices for the
common stock of pharmaceutical companies. Thesadomtarket fluctuations may cause the market pri@ocommon stock to decline. In-
past, securities-related class action litigatios dften been brought against a company followidgdaine in the market price of its securities.
This risk is especially relevant for us becausédgionology and biopharmaceutical companies oft@emance significant stock price volatility
in connection with their investigational drug cadatie development programs, the review of marketjpglications by regulatory authorities
and the commercial launch of newly approved drigs.are a defendant in federal and consolidated stetreholder derivative lawsuits. Th
securities-related class action
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lawsuits generally allege that we and our offigaisled the investing public regarding the safetg afficacy of Qsymia and the prospects for
the FDA's approval of the Qsymia NDA as a treatnfi@nbbesity. Securities-related class actionditign often is expensive and diverts
management's attention and our financial resourdeish could adversely affect our business. Fongla, despite the granting of the prior
motions to dismiss by the U.S. District Court floe tNorthern District of California in a putativeask action lawsuit captionébvtun v.

Vivus, Inc., et al, Case No. 4:10-CV-04957-PJH, on October 26, 2pEMtiff filed a Notice of Appeal to the U.S. Cawf Appeals for the
Ninth Circuit. Following briefing of the appeal glCourt of Appeals held oral argument on Januan2@65. On January 29, 2015, the Cout
Appeals issued a Memorandum decision affirmingQfstrict Court's ruling. On February 12, 2015, ptif asked the Court of Appeals' panel
to rehear the case or the Court to rehear theazabanc. We cannot predict the outcome of that petition.

Additionally, certain of our former officeand directors and a current director are defédsdara shareholder derivative lawsuit captionec
Turberg v. Logan, et al.Case No. CV-10-05271-PJH, pending in the samer&dourt. In the plaintiff's Verified Amended $&holder
Derivative Complaint filed June 3, 2011, the pl#idargely restated the allegations of tkevtunaction. The same individuals are also named
defendants in consolidated shareholder derivatiits pending in the California Superior Court, $a@tara County under the captibmre
VIVUS, Inc. Derivative Litigationylaster File No. 11 0 CV188439. The allegationshim $tate court derivative suits are substantiaifylar to
the other lawsuits. We are named as a nominal dafenn these actions, neither of which seeks aogwery from the Company. The parties
have agreed to stay the derivative lawsuits pentiagputcome of the appeal of the securities daten.

Furthermore, on March 27, 2014, Mary Jam Bhomas Jasin, who purport to be purchasers\dt/%l common stock, filed an Amended
Complaint in Santa Clara County Superior Courtgifig securities fraud against the Company and tbfés former officers and directors. In
that complaint, captioneghsin v. VIVUS, IncCase No. 114-cv-261427, plaintiffs asserted claimder California's securities and consumer
protection securities statutes. Plaintiffs allegederally that defendants misrepresented the petsfm the Company's success, including witt
respect to the launch of Qsymia, while purportesiifing VIVUS stock for personal profit. Plaintifédleged losses of "at least" $2.8 million,
and sought damages and other relief. On June 3, 204 Company and the other defendants filed audemto the Amended Complaint
seeking its dismissal. With the demurrer pendimgJualy 18, 2014, the same plaintiffs filed a conmilen the United States District Court for
the Northern District of California, captionddsin v. VIVUS, IncCase No. 5:14-cv-03263. The Jasins' federal compdédlieges violations of
Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exch@wgef 1934, based on facts substantially simitethose alleged in their state court action.
On September 15, 2014, pursuant to an agreememédethe parties, plaintiffs moved to voluntarilgrdiss, with prejudice, the state court
action. In the federal action, defendants filedaiom to dismiss on November 12, 2014. On Decer8bh2014, plaintiffs filed a First Amended
Complaint in the federal action. On January 21 2@Efendants filed a motion to dismiss the Finstehded Complaint. Pursuant to a
stipulated briefing and hearing schedule, the nmagacurrently scheduled for hearing on April 2813. The Company maintains directors' anc
officers' liability insurance that it believes affis coverage for much of the anticipated cost efrdmaininglasinaction, subject to payment of
our self-insured retention and the policies' teamd conditions.

The Company and the defendant officersdarettors cannot predict the outcome of the vargheeholder lawsuits, but they believe the
various shareholder lawsuits are without merit gweind to continue vigorously defending them.
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We have an accumulated deficit of $743.2 million @sDecember 31, 2014, and we may continue to insubstantial operating losses for t
future.

We have generated a cumulative net lo§548.2 million for the period from our inceptiomdlnigh December 31, 2014, and we antici|
losses in future years due to continued investimentir research and development programs. Therbeam assurance that we will be able to
achieve or maintain profitability or that we wikklsuccessful in the future.

Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carigrwards and other tax attributes to offset fututaxable income may be limited.

As of December 31, 2014, we had approxim#&@22.4 million and $284.4 million of net operajiloss, or NOL, carryforwards with
which to offset our future taxable income for fealeand state income tax reporting purposes, reispdctWe used $121.2 million federal and
$32.2 million state NOLSs to offset our year endet&@mber 31, 2007 federal and state taxable incotmieh included the $150.0 million in
gain recognized from our sale of Evamist®. Utiliaatof our net operating loss and tax credit camyfrds, or tax attributes, may be subject t
substantial annual limitations provided by the in& Revenue Code and similar state provisionkécektent certain ownership changes are
deemed to occur. Such an annual limitation couddltén the expiration of the tax attributes befatiéization. The tax attributes reflected ab
have not been reduced by any limitations. To therext is determined upon completion of the analysat such limitations do apply, we will
adjust the tax attributes accordingly. We facertblethat our ability to use our tax attributeshvaé substantially restricted if we undergo an
"ownership change" as defined in Section 382 olit® Internal Revenue Code, or Section 382. Aneralmp change under Section 382
would occur if "5percent shareholders," within the meaning of Sa@®2, collectively increased their ownership ia @ompany by more th
50 percentage points over a rolling three-yeamgene have not completed a recent study to as#esther any change of control has
occurred or whether there have been multiple cren§eontrol since the Company's formation, duth#osignificant complexity and cost
associated with the study. We have completed stubiireugh October 31, 2014 and concluded no adprasrwere required. If we have
experienced a change of control at any time sincdaymation, our NOL carryforwards and tax credaitay not be available, or their utilization
could be subject to an annual limitation under 8ac382. A full valuation allowance has been preddgainst our NOL carryforwards, and if
an adjustment is required, this adjustment wouldffset by an adjustment to the valuation allowaaeordingly, there would be no impact
on the consolidated balance sheet or statememeshtions.

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilitigeat could negatively impact our income tax provasi, net income, and cash flow.

We are subject to income taxes and oth@stin both the U.S. and the foreign jurisdictiong/hich we currently operate or have
historically operated. The determination of our Matide provision for income taxes and current aateded tax assets and liabilities requires
judgment and estimation. In the ordinary coursewfbusiness, there are many transactions andlaadms where the ultimate t:
determination is uncertain. We are subject to mguview and audit by U.S. tax authorities as waslsubject to the prospective and
retrospective effects of changing tax regulatiomd legislation. Although we believe our tax estiesadre reasonable, the ultimate tax outcom
may materially differ from the tax amounts recordedur consolidated financial statements and magenally affect our income tax provisit
net income, or cash flows in the period or perifmisvhich such determination and settlement is made

71




Table of Contents
Risks Relating to an Investment in our Common Stock
Our stock price has been and may continue to beatitd.

The market price of our common stock hanbelatile and is likely to continue to be so. Tharket price of our common stock may
fluctuate due to factors including, but not limited

. our ability to meet the expectations of invest@lated to the commercialization of Qsymia and STERXD
. our ability to find the right partner for expand@dymia commercial promotion to a broader primamg gaysician audience;
. our ability to obtain marketing authorization farrgoroducts in foreign jurisdictions, including hatization from the EC for

Qsiva in the EU through the centralized marketintharization procedure;

. the costs, timing and outcome of post-approimalaal studies which the FDA has required us tdfqen as part of the approval
for Qsymia and STENDRA,

. the substantial cost to expand into certifigditpharmacy locations and the cost required tintaan the REMS program for
Qsymia;
. results within the clinical trial programs for Qsignand STENDRA or other results or decisions aiifigcthe development of o

investigational drug candidates;

. announcements of technological innovations @ peducts by us or our competitors;

. approval of, or announcements of, other antisdipe&eompounds in development;

. publication of generic drug combination weighéd data by outside individuals or companies;

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our finethcesults;

. our ability to obtain needed financing;

. sales by insiders or major stockholders;

. economic conditions in the U.S. and abroad;

. the volatility and liquidity of the financial martse

. comments by or changes in assessments of us ocfal@stimates by security analysts;

. negative reports by the media or industry analystsarious aspects of our products, our performamckour future operations;
. adverse regulatory actions or decisions;

. any loss of key management;

. deviations in our operating results from théneates of securities analysts or other analyst cenis)

. discussions about us or our stock price by ittential and scientific press and in online invesmmmunities;
. investment activities employed by short selt#reur common stock;

. developments or disputes concerning patentsher @roprietary rights;

. reports of prescription data by us or from inetegient third parties for our products;

. licensing, product, patent or securities litigatiand
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. public concern as to the safety and efficacy ofdrugs or future investigational drug candidatesetigped by us.

These factors and fluctuations, as wefl@gical and other market conditions, may adverséfect the market price of our common stc
Additionally, volatility or a lack of positive pasfmance in our stock price may adversely affectatnility to retain or recruit key employees,
of whom have been or will be granted stock optiassin important part of their compensation packages

Our operating results are unpredictable and maydtuate. If our operating results are below the expations of securities analysts or
investors, the trading price of our stock could diee.

Our operating results will likely fluctuafiem fiscal quarter to fiscal quarter, and fronagéo year, and are difficult to predict. Although
we have commenced sales of Qsymia, we may neverase these sales or become profitable. In addaltmough we have entered into lice
and commercialization agreements with Sanofi, Auxiland Menarini, to commercialize avanafil for theatment of ED on an exclusive be
in Africa, the Middle East, Turkey, and the CIliuding Russia, to commercialize and promote STERDét the treatment of ED in the U.S.
and Canada, and to commercialize and promote SPEDRAe treatment of ED in over 40 European cdesftincluding the EU, plus
Australia and New Zealand, respectively, we maylbmosuccessful in commercializing avanafil in thiesdtories. Our operating expenses are
largely independent of sales in any particularqukerivVe believe that our quarterly and annual resafloperations may be negatively affected
by a variety of factors. These factors include,dmetnot limited to, the level of patient demand@symia and STENDRA, the ability of our
distribution partners to process and ship prodac timely basis, the success of our third-parasufacturing efforts to meet customer
demand, fluctuations in foreign exchange ratessstments in sales and marketing efforts to sughersales of Qsymia and STENDRA,
investments in the research and development effamt expenditures we may incur to acquire additipnoducts.

Future sales of our common stock may depress oocktprice.

Sales of our stock by our executive officend directors, or the perception that such sagsoccur, could adversely affect the market
price of our stock. We have also registered all mam stock that we may issue under our employeefit@péans. As a result, these shares car
be freely sold in the public market upon issuasobject to restrictions under the securities I&®mne of our executive officers have adopted
trading plans under SEC Rule 10b5-1 to disposepafrion of their stock. Any of our executive ofis or directors may adopt such trading
plans in the future. If any of these events causege number of our shares to be sold in the pubérket, the sales could reduce the trading
price of our common stock and impede our abilityaigse future capital.

Our charter documents and Delaware law could makeacquisition of our company difficult, even if aacquisition may benefit our
stockholders

Our Board of Directors has adopted a PrefeEhares Rights Plan. The Preferred Shares Riggntshas the effect of causing substantial
dilution to a person or group that attempts to aequs on terms not approved by our Board of DoextThe existence of the Preferred Shares
Rights Plan could limit the price that certain ista@s might be willing to pay in the future for sbsof our common stock and could
discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisttiat a stockholder may consider favorable.
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Some provisions of our Amended and Rest@ttificate of Incorporation and Amended and Rest&8ylaws could delay or prevent a
change in control of our Company. Some of thesgigims:

. authorize the issuance of preferred stock by ther@without prior stockholder approval, commonlferesd to as "blank checl
preferred stock, with rights senior to those of cmon stock;

. prohibit stockholder actions by written consent;

. specify procedures for director nominations tockholders and submission of other proposals dosieration at stockholder
meetings; and

. eliminate cumulative voting in the election of dirers.

In addition, we are governed by the prarisiof Section 203 of Delaware General Corpordten. These provisions may prohibit large
stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or enairour outstanding voting stock, from mergingombining with us. These and other
provisions in our charter documents could reduegptiice that investors might be willing to pay &trares of our common stock in the future
and result in the market price being lower thamdtld be without these provisions.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

In November 2006, we entered into a 30-mdedse for our former corporate headquarterséalcat 1172 Castro Street in Mountain
View, California, or the Castro Lease. On Februsty2012, we terminated the lease for our formepa@te headquarters effective July 31,
2013. In addition, we have a lease on 4,914 sdeetef office space located at 1174 Castro StMetntain View, California, or the
Expansion Space, which is adjacent to our formguamate headquarters. The lease for the Expangianeshas a term of 60 months
commencing March 15, 2012, with an option to extdredterm for one year from the expiration of tleevriease. This Expansion Space has
been subleased commencing on September 1, 20a4pfmiod of 31 months.

We entered into a lease effective as ofdbdyer 11, 2012, for our current principal executffeces, consisting of an approximately
45,240 square foot building, located at 351 EagiffvAvenue, Mountain View, California, or the EyelLease. The Evelyn Lease has an
initial term of approximately 84 months, commencamgMay 11, 2013. We have one option to renew trelyia Lease for a term of three ye
at the prevailing market rate. As part of a coduntion plan, the first floor of the Evelyn Leasssibeen subleased commencing on May 1,
for a period of 36 months.

In general, our existing facilities aregimod condition and adequate for all present and-teem uses.

For additional information regarding obligas under operating leases, see Note 16: "Comanitsii to our Consolidated Financial
Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Repoform 10-K.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Securities Related Class Action and Shareholdenagve Lawsuits

The Company, a current officer and a foroféicer were defendants in a putative class aatmptionedovtun v. VIVUS, Inc., et al.
Case No. 4:10-CV-0495RJH, in the U.S. District Court, Northern DistraftCalifornia. The action, filed in November 20Hlleged violation:
of Section 10(b) and 20(a) of the federal Secwiigchange Act of 1934 based on allegedly falsmisieading
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statements made by the defendants in connectidntiaét Company's clinical trials and New Drug Apation, or NDA, for Qsymia as a
treatment for obesity. The Court granted defendambsions to dismiss both plaintiff's Amended Classion Complaint and Second Amended
Class Action Complaint; by order dated SeptembefR72, the latter dismissal was with prejudice final judgment was entered for
defendants the same day. On October 26, 2012 tifidiled a Notice of Appeal to the U.S. Court Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. Following
briefing of the appeal, the Court of Appeals helal argument on January 16, 2015. On January 2%,208e Court of Appeals issued a
Memorandum decision affirming the District Courtiing. On February 12, 2015, plaintiff asked theu@ of Appeals' panel to rehear the case
or for the Court to rehear the casebanc We cannot predict the outcome of that petition.

Additionally, certain of the Company's fa@nofficers and directors and a current directerdafendants in a shareholder derivative la
captionedTurberg v. Logan, et aJ.Case No. CV-10-05271-PJH, pending in the samer&dourt. In the plaintiff's Verified Amended
Shareholder Derivative Complaint filed June 3, 20h& plaintiff largely restated the allegationgted Kovtunaction and alleged that the
directors breached fiduciary duties to the Comganpurportedly permitting the Company to violate federal securities laws as alleged in
Kovtunaction. The same individuals are also named defendia consolidated shareholder derivative suitedpey in the California Superior
Court, Santa Clara County, under the capbiore VIVUS, Inc. Derivative LitigatioriMlaster File No. 11 0 CV188439. The allegationshi& t
state court derivative suits are substantially lsintd the other lawsuits. The Company is namea msminal defendant in these actions, neithe
of which seeks any recovery from the Company. Tdréigs have agreed to stay the derivative lawggitaling the outcome of the appeal of
securities class action.

On July 12, 2013, various current and faroféicers and directors of the Company were naaedefendants in a separate shareholder
derivative lawsuit filed in the California SuperiGourt, Santa Clara County, and captiolrad). Gaines IRA, et al. v. Leland F. Wilson, kf a
Case N0.1-13-CV-249436. The lawsuit generally altelgreaches of the fiduciary duty of care in cotinaavith the launch of Qsymia,
breaches of the duty of loyalty and insider tradiggsome defendants for selling Company stock whilgortedly being aware that the Qsy
launch would be less successful than predicteccarbrate waste. On March 14, 2014, the Court suwestaa demurrer and dismissed the
complaint with leave to amend. An order memorialigthe Court's ruling was entered March 21, 2014 A@ril 21, 2014, derivative plaintiffs
filed an Amended Shareholder Derivative Complalletging substantially similar breaches of duty. Kday 21, 2014, the Company filed a
demurrer to the Amended Complaint. With that deempending, derivative plaintiffs asked the Coarfuly 2014 to dismiss the action with
prejudice as to the named plaintiffs and otherwighout prejudice. The Court did so by order endefely 17, 2014, and the matter is now
concluded.

On March 27, 2014, Mary Jane and Thomas,Jato purport to be purchasers of VIVUS commatkt filed an Amended Complaint in
Santa Clara County Superior Court alleging seasritiaud against the Company and three of its foofiieers and directors. In that compla
captionedlasin v. VIVUS, IncCase No. 114-cv-261427, plaintiffs asserted claimder California's securities and consumer praiacti
securities statutes. Plaintiffs alleged gener#lft tefendants misrepresented the prospects f@dhgany's success, including with respect tc
the launch of Qsymia, while purportedly selling U8 stock for personal profit. Plaintiffs allegedses of "at least" $2.8 million, and sought
damages and other relief. On June 5, 2014, the @oynand the other defendants filed a demurreréd®thended Complaint seeking its
dismissal. With the demurrer pending, on July T8,2 the same plaintiffs filed a complaint in theitdd States District Court for the Northern
District of California, captionedasin v. VIVUS, IncCase No. 5:14-c83263. The Jasins' federal complaint alleges vaiatof Sections 10(k
and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1924el on facts substantially similar to those atlegeheir state court action. On
September 15, 2014, pursuant to an agreement betvegarties, plaintiffs moved to voluntarily dissy with prejudice, the state court action.
In the federal
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action, defendants filed a motion to dismiss on &kier 12, 2014. On December 3, 2014, plaintifésifih First Amended Complaint in the
federal action. On January 21, 2015, defendargtd &ilmotion to dismiss the First Amended Compld&ntsuant to a stipulated briefing and
hearing schedule, the motion is currently schedfdetiearing on April 23, 2015. The Company maimsadirectors' and officers' liability
insurance that it believes affords coverage formfcthe anticipated cost of the remainifasinaction, subject to payment of our self-insured
retention and the policies' terms and conditions.

The Company and the defendant officersdarettors cannot predict the outcome of the varghereholder lawsuits, but they believe the
various shareholder lawsuits are without merit gweind to continue vigorously defending them.

Qsymia ANDA Litigation

On May 7, 2014, the Company received adraph IV certification notice from Actavis Laborats FL indicating that it filed an
abbreviated new drug application, or ANDA, with HHeS. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, requegtpproval to market a generic
version of Qsymia and contending that all six pestdisted for Qsymia in the FDA Orange Book (U.&tdnts 7,056,890, 7,553,818, 7,659,256
7,674,776, 8,580,298, and 8,580,299 (collectivplténts-in-suit")) are invalid, unenforceable anadl not be infringed by the manufacture,
use, sale or offer for sale of a generic form ofiQis as described in their ANDA. On June 12, 2Qthd,Company filed a lawsuit in the U.S.
District Court for the District of New Jersey agstid\ctavis Laboratories FL, Inc., Actavis, Inc.dafctavis PLC, collectively referred to as
Actavis. The lawsuit (Case No. 14-3786 (FSH)(MAKBs filed on the basis that Actavis' submissiothefr ANDA to obtain approval to
manufacture, use, sell, or offer for sale genegisions of Qsymia prior to the expiration of thégods-insuit constitutes infringement of one
more claims of those patents.

In accordance with the Hatch-Waxman Acta assult of having filed a timely lawsuit agaiAgtavis, FDA approval of Actavis' ANDA
will be stayed until the earlier of (i) up to 30 mbs from the Company's May 7, 2014 receipt of fistédParagraph IV certification notice (i.e.
November 7, 2016) or (ii) a District Court decisiimding that the identified patents are invalideaforceable or not infringed. The Comp:
intends to vigorously enforce its intellectual peay rights relating to Qsymia, but the Companynmarpredict the outcome of this matter.

The Company received a second Paragrameification notice from Actavis contending thatadditional patents listed in the Orange
Book for Qsymia (U.S. Patents 8,895,057 and 8,85,8re invalid, unenforceable and/or will not b&inged by the manufacture, use, sale
offer for sale of a generic form of Qsymia. The Qamy is in the process of evaluating this secont&o

Janssen Litigation

On August 22, 2014, the Company was namseddefendant in a complaint filed by Janssen Paeeunticals, Inc., or Janssen, in the
United States District Court of Delaware. In thenpdaint, the plaintiff alleged that the Company wasinging U.S. Patent No. 6,071,537, or
the'537 patent, by selling Qsymia. The plaintiffigbt a permanent injunction enjoining the Compaoynffurther infringement and unspecif
monetary damages. On August 24, 2014, the Compateyesl into a Patent Assignment Agreement withskamghat included assignment of
the '537 patent to the Company. As a result, Janssdentarily dismissed the lawsuit on August 2@12.

The Company is not aware of any other ésdar unasserted claims against it where it betigkiat an unfavorable resolution would have
an adverse material impact on the operations anfifal position of the Company.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
None.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skbolder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities.

VIVUS's common stock trades publicly on M&SDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol "VV.UShe following table sets forth
for the periods indicated the quarterly high and sales prices of our common stock as reporteth@NASDAQ Global Select Market.

Three Months Ended
March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31

2014
High $ 98 $ 628 $ 54t $ 3.8¢
Low 5.5C 4.5¢ 3.32 2.72
2013
High $ 155¢ $ 1562 $ 15.4C $ 11.6¢
Low 9.9¢ 10.2¢ 9.1¢ 8.0C

Stockholders
As of February 17, 2015, there were 103@®82 shares of outstanding common stock that weleklhy 3,121 stockholders of record and

no outstanding shares of preferred stock. On Fepiig 2015, the last reported sales price of ommrmaon stock on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market was $2.90 per share.

Dividends

We have not paid any dividends since ocetion and we do not intend to declare or paydivigends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. Declaration or payment of fitlividends, if any, will be at the discretion afrdBoard of Directors after taking into acco
various factors, including VIVUS's financial coridit, operating results and current and anticipatesh needs.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph shows a comparisonotdltstockholder return for holders of our commtotk from December 31, 2009 through
December 31, 2014 compared with the NASDAQ Compdaidex and the RDG SmallCap Pharmaceutical Infletal stockholder return
assumes $100 invested at the beginning of theg@riour common stock, the stock represented ilNtAREDAQ Composite Index and the
stock represented by the RDG SmallCap Pharmacetnibex, respectively. This graph is presented pamsto SEC rules. We believe that
while total stockholder return can be an importadicator of corporate performance, the stock gricesmall cap pharmaceutical stocks like
VIVUS are subject to a number of market-relateddescother than company performance, such as campetnnouncements, mergers and
acquisitions in the industry, the general statthefeconomy, and the performance of other medicalriology stocks.

COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among VIVUS, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index, ahé RDG SmallCap
Pharmaceutical Index

5250
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350 4
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—F— VIVUS, Inc. — 24— - NASDAQ Composite ==42x=-=-- RDG SmallCap Pharmaceutical

* $100 invested on 12/31/2009 in stock or index,udirig reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year enddegember 31
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data h&een derived from our audited financial statemertie. information set forth below is not
necessarily indicative of the results of futurergpiens and should be read in conjunction with "Eigement's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" thedfinancial statements and notes thereto incledieelvhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The selected data is not intended ttaoepthe financial statements.

Selected Financial Data
(In thousands, except per share data)

Selected Annual Financial Data

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Income Statement Dat
Total revenue $ 114,18 $ 81,08 $ 2,01z $ — $ —
Total operating expens: $ 164,89. $ 23569t $ 14191° $ 47,07¢ $ 65,62
Loss from operation $ (50,71) $ (154,614 $ (139,90H $ (47,07¢) $ (65,627
Loss from continuing operation $ (82,647 $ (174,946 $ (139,73) $ (47,02¢) $ (75,43
Net loss $ (82,647 $ (174,450 $ (139,88) $ (46,140 $ (66,06
Basic and diluted net loss pe
share—Continuing
operations $ (©08)S% @A79% (14)% (056 % (0.99
Balance Sheet Data (at year en
Working capital $ 301,06¢ $ 371,93: $ 220,67: $ 140,76: $ 131,78:
Total asset $ 366,93¢ $ 431,79t $ 264,11- $ 152,05( $ 144,28
Long-term debi $ 227,78 $ 213,10t $ — $ — $ —
Accumulated defici $ (743,249 $ (660,607 $ (486,14() $ (346,26!) $ (300,12))
Stockholders' equit $ 8251¢ $ 153,36¢ $ 222,90¢ $ 141,08¢ $ 132,00:

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations
Forward-Looking Statements

This Management's Discussion and Analysimancial Condition and Results of Operations atiter parts of this Form 10-K contain
"forward-looking" statements that involve risks anttertainties. These statements typically maydbatified by the use of forward-looking
words or phrases such as "may," "believe," "expéfrecast,” "intend," "anticipate,” "predict,"Heuld," "planned," "likely," "opportunity,”
"estimated," and "potential," the negative usehest words or other similar words. All forward-louk statements included in this document
are based on our current expectations, and we @ssarabligation to update any such forward-loolstatements. The Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a "safe har'bfor such forward-looking statements. In ordecomply with the terms of the safe
harbor, we note that a variety of factors couldseaactual results and experiences to differ malefiam the anticipated results or other
expectations expressed in such forward-lookingestants. The risks and uncertainties that may atffeecoperations, performance,
development, and results of our business includeteunot limited to: (1) our limited commercialpexience with Qsymia® in the United
States, or U.S.; (2) the timing of initiation anzhepletion of the post-approval clinical studiesuieed as part of the approval of Qsymia by the
U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA; (3) tlesponse from the FDA to the data that we will sitilbetating to post-approval clinical
studies; (4) the impact of the indicated uses amdraindications contained in the Qsymia label tredRisk Evaluation and Mitigation Strate
requirements; (5) our ability to continue to cegréiind add to the Qsymia retail pharmacy networkseidQsymia through this network;

(6) whether the Qsymia retail pharmacy network wiithplify and reduce the prescribing burden forgbians, improve access and reduce
waiting times for patients seeking to initiate gy with Qsymia; (7) that we may be required tovjate further analysis of previously
submitted clinical
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trial data; (8) our ongoing dialog with the Europddedicines Agency, or EMA, relating to our cardiseular outcomes trial, or CVOT, and
resubmission of an application for the grant ofarketing authorization to the EMA, the timing othuesubmission, if any, the results of the
CVOT, assessment by the EMA of the applicatiomfiarketing authorization, and their agreement withdata from the CVOT,; (9) our ability
to successfully seek approval for Qsymia in otkeritbries outside the U.S. and European Uniork dy (10) whether healthcare providers,
payors and public policy makers will recognize significance of the American Medical Associatiofi@élly recognizing obesity as a disease.
or the new American Association of Clinical Endootbgists guidelines; (11) our ability to succeigfaommercialize Qsymia including risks
and uncertainties related to expansion to retattithution, the broadening of payor reimbursemtr,expansion of Qsymia's primary care
presence, and the outcomes of our discussionsplvdimaceutical companies and our strategic andHis@-specific pathways for Qsymia;
(12) our ability to focus our promotional efforts bealth-care providers and on patient educatiat) #ilong with increased access to Qsymia
and ongoing improvements in reimbursement, willleis the accelerated adoption of Qsymia; (13) ahitity to eliminate expenses that are
not essential to expanding the use of Qsymia alhdriealize the anticipated benefits from a costuetion plan, including the timing thereof;
(14) the impact of lower annual net cost saving® tburrently expected; (15) the impact of a codticéion plan on our business and
unanticipated charges not currently contemplatatirtiay occur as a result of a cost reduction {lB); our ability to ensure that the entire
supply chain for Qsymia efficiently and consistgrtélivers Qsymia to our customers; (17) risks ancertainties related to the timing,
strategy, tactics and success of the launches@nchercialization of STENDRA® (avanafil) or SPEDRA(&Vvanafil) by our sublicensees in
the United States, Canada, the EU, Australia, Nealahd, Africa, the Middle East, Turkey, and themBwnwealth of Independent States,
including Russia; (18) our ability to successfudymplete on acceptable terms, and on a timely basiafil partnering discussions for other
territories under our license with Mitsubishi Taad®harma Corporation in which we do not have a ceroial collaboration; (19) the timing
the qualification and subsequent approval by regolaauthorities of Sanofi Chimie and Sanofi Wirthrdndustrie as a qualified supplier of
STENDRA/SPEDRA, Sanofi Chimie's ability to undegakorldwide manufacturing of the avanafil activephaceutical ingredient and Sar
Winthrop Industrie's ability to undertake worldwidgnufacturing of the tablets for avanafil; (209 tibility of our partners to maintain
regulatory approvals to manufacture and adequatgply our products to meet demand; (21) our glititaccurately forecast Qsymia deme
(22) our ability to increase Qsymia sales in 20iBugh growth in certified retail pharmacies, exgan of reimbursement coverage and the
of a more focused selling message; (23) the num®symia prescriptions dispensed through the ordiér system and through certified re
pharmacies; (24) the impact of promotional progrémn€symia on our net product revenue and netimedoss) in future periods; (25) our
history of losses and variable quarterly resull6) ubstantial competition; (27) risks relatedhs failure to protect our intellectual property
and litigation in which we are involved or may bewinvolved; (28) uncertainties of government ardiparty payor reimbursement; (29) our
reliance on sole-source suppliers; (30) our rebamu third parties and our collaborative partn€$) our failure to continue to develop
innovative investigational drug candidates and 8r82) risks related to the failure to obtain FBforeign authority clearances or approvals
and noncompliance with FDA or foreign authority ukgions; (33) our ability to demonstrate throudjhical testing the quality, safety and
efficacy of our investigational drug candidatet)(8he timing of initiation and completion of claal trials and submissions to foreign
authorities; (35) the results of post-marketingl&ts that are not favorable; (36) compliance wiibtpmarketing regulatory standards, post-
marketing obligations or pharmacovigilance rulesas maintained; (37) the volatility and liquididf the financial markets; (38) our liquidity
and capital resources; (39) our expected futuremess, operations and expenditures; (40) potesttaige in our business strategy to enhance
long-term stockholder value; (41) the impact, ifaof changes to our Board of Directors, the re@gmointment of a new Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the resignatiof our former President, the decision of
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our former Chief Financial Officer to exercise hight to terminate his employment for Good Reasmdefined in his Amended and Restated
Change of Control and Severance Agreement witiCtirapany, effective as of July 1, 2013) and therag$ion of the Chief Commercial
Officer's duties and responsibilities by our Chtegkcutive Officer; and (42) other factors that described from time to time in our periodic
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commissarthe SEC, or the Commission, including thogdah in this filing as "Item 1A. Risk
Factors."

All percentage amounts and ratios wereutated using the underlying data in thousands. &jpey results for the year ended
December 31, 2014, are not necessarily indicativkeoresults that may be expected for future figears. The following discussion and
analysis should be read in conjunction with outdrisal financial statements and the notes to thiosacial statements that are included in
Item 8 of Part Il of this Form 10-K.

Overview

VIVUS is a biopharmaceutical company witlottherapies approved by the FDA: Qsymia for cteamgight management and STENDI
for erectile dysfunction. STENDRA is also approwsdthe European Commission, or EC, under the tnatee, SPEDRA, for the treatment of
erectile dysfunction in the EU.

Qsymia (phentermine and topiramate extemdkxzhse) was approved by the FDA in July 2012raadjunct to a reduced-calorie diet and
increased physical activity for chronic weight mge@ent in adult patients with an initial body maskex (BMI) of 30 or greater (obese), or
or greater (overweight) in the presence of at leastweight-related comorbidity, such as hypertamdype 2 diabetes mellitus or high
cholesterol (dyslipidemia). Qsymia incorporates@ppetary formulation combining low doses of aetimgredients from two previously
approved drugs, phentermine and topiramate. Althdhg exact mechanism of action is unknown, Qsysigelieved to suppress appetite and
increase satiety, or the feeling of being full, tve main mechanisms that impact eating behavingdptember 2012, Qsymia became avai
in the U.S. market through a limited number of iied home delivery networks. In July 2013, Qsyrb&came available in retail pharmacies
through approximately 8,000 Walgreens, Costco anane Reade pharmacies nationwide. As of the datésofeport, Qsymia is available in
over 42,000 certified retail pharmacies nationwideluding all of the major pharmacy chains in toeintry. We intend to continue to certify
and add new pharmacies to the Qsymia retail pharmeiwvork, including national and regional chaiasagell as independent pharmacies.

We commercialize Qsymia in the U.S. pridyatirough a dedicated contract sales force, supddyy an internal commercial team
consisting of sales management, marketing and neaineaye professionals. Our efforts to expand tipecgpiate use of Qsymia include
scientific publications, participation and pres¢iotas at medical conferences and development apteimentation of patient-directed support
programs.

In October 2012, we received a negativaiopifrom the European Medicines Agency, or EMAn@uittee for Medicinal Products for
Human Use, or CHMP, recommending refusal of theketarg authorization for the medicinal product @si in the EU (the approved trade
name for Qsymia in the EU) due to concerns oveptitential cardiovascular and central nervous sysfects associated with long-term use,
teratogenic potential and use by patients for wiksiva would not have been indicated. We requesiaithis opinion be re-examined by the
CHMP. After re-examination of the CHMP opinion, Bebruary 21, 2013, the CHMP adopted a final opiniat reaffirmed the Committee's
earlier negative opinion to refuse the marketintpaxization for Qsivd™ in the EU. On May 15, 2013, the European Commisisisned a
decision refusing the grant of marketing authortmafor Qsiva in the EU. On September 20, 2013sulemitted a request to the EMA for
Scientific Advice, a procedure similar to the USpecial Protocol Assessment process, regardingfuse
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a pre-specified interim analysis from the studpgsess the long-term treatment effect of Qsymithemncidence of major adverse
cardiovascular events in overweight and obese stsojeth confirmed cardiovascular disease, or AQ@UAto support the resubmission of an
application for a marketing authorization for Qsfeatreatment of obesity in accordance with thedg&dtralized marketing authorization
procedure. We received feedback earlier this yean the EMA and the various competent authoritidghe® EU Member States associated \
review of the AQCLAIM CVOT protocol, and we haveeatly received feedback from the FDA regardingaimended protocol. As a part of
addressing the FDA comments, we are working torenthat the planned interim analysis will not jeaze the overall integrity of the study
and will support other objectives in both the ElWd &hS. We intend to seek regulatory approval foyr@ia in other territories outside the
United States and EU and, if approved, to commikzei# through collaboration agreements with thiatties.

Our drug STENDRA, or avanafil, is an orebpphodiesterase type 5, or PDES5, inhibitor thahaxee licensed from MTPC. STENDRA
was approved by the FDA in April 2012 for the traant of ED in the United States. In June 2013 BBeadopted a decision granting
marketing authorization for SPEDRA (the approvedi¢r name for avanafil in the EU) for the treatmedriED in the EU. In July 2013, we
entered into an agreement with the Menarini Grolugh its subsidiary Berlin-Chemie AG, or Mengrimder which Menarini received an
exclusive license to commercialize and promote SREfbr the treatment of ED in over 40 European ¢aas, including the EU, as well as
Australia and New Zealand. Menarini commencedatamercialization launch of the product in the Elearly 2014, and as of the date of this
filing, SPEDRA is commercially available in 23 carties within the territory granted to Menarini puasit to the license and commercializatior
agreement.

In October 2013, we entered into an agreemvéh Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Auxiliymander which Auxilium received an
exclusive license to commercialize and promote SDRN in the United States and Canada. On the satee wa also entered into a supply
agreement with Auxilium, whereby VIVUS will suppAuxilium with STENDRA drug product for commerciadiion. Auxilium began
commercializing STENDRA in the U.S. market in Det®mn2013. In January 2015, Auxilium was purchaseftfido International, plc, or
Endo.

In December 2013, we entered into an ageeémith Sanofi under which Sanofi received an esitle license to commercialize and
promote avanafil for therapeutic use in humansfiica, the Middle East, Turkey, and the Commonweaftindependent States, or CIS,
including Russia. Sanofi will be responsible fotahing regulatory approval in its territories. $éinntends to market avanafil under the trade
name SPEDRA or STENDRA. Effective as of December2D1.3, we also entered into a supply agreemeileoBanofi Supply Agreement,
with Sanofi Winthrop Industrie, a wholly owned sidiary of Sanofi.

Under the license agreements with Mena#fiokilium and Sanofi, avanafil is expected to benooercialized in over 100 countries
worldwide. For all three license agreements cadllety, if all of the milestone payments are achiwee could earn up to approximately
$461.0 million in addition to royalty revenue. Thgh December 31, 2014, we have received approxigtdi®©5.9 million in license, royalty
and milestone payments. In addition, we are cugrémidiscussions with potential collaboration pes to market and sell STENDRA for our
other territories in which we do not currently haeommercial collaboration.

On September 18, 2014, the FDA approvagpbplemental new drug application (SNDA) for STEND®RASTENDRA is now the only
FDA-approved ED medication indicated to be takenaty as approximately 15 minutes before sexualigc On January 23, 2015, the
European Commission (EC) adopted the commissiotfeiignting decision amending the marketing authtiamgor SPEDRA (avanafil).
SPEDRA is now the first and only erectile dysfuaot{ED) medication approved in the EU that is iatkd to be taken as needed
approximately 15 to 30 minutes before sexual agtivi
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Foreign regulatory approvals, including E@rketing authorization to market Qsiva in the Bldy not be obtained on a timely basis, or a
all, and the failure to receive regulatory apprevala foreign country would prevent us from mairkggbur products in that market, which
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrigmncial condition and results of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our findnmadition and results of operations are basedh o consolidated financial statements, whicl
have been prepared in accordance with accountingiples generally accepted in the U.S. The prajmaraf these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and judgments tfeat dfie reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenues, expenses and related disclosure
an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, imgutiose related to available-for-sale securitiesearch and development expenses, incon
taxes, inventories, revenues, including revenums fmultiple-element arrangements, contingencieditigdtion and share-based
compensation. We base our estimates on histoxgargence, information received from third part®l on various market specific and other
relevant assumptions that are believed to be reddeninder the circumstances, the results of whoigh the basis for making judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities Hratnot readily apparent from other sources. Aaesllts may differ significantly from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions

We believe the following critical accourgipolicies affect our more significant judgmentsl @stimates used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements:

Revenue Recognitic
Product Revenue

We recognize product revenue from the safl€gsymia when: (i) persuasive evidence that aangiement exists, (ii) delivery has occur
and title has passed, (iii) the price is fixed etedminable, and (iv) collectability is reasonagbsured. Revenue from sales transactions wher
the customer has the right to return the produtdsgnized at the time of sale only if: (i) ouicprto the customer is substantially fixed or
determinable at the date of sale, (ii) the customasrpaid us, or the customer is obligated to gagnal the obligation is not contingent on re
of the product, (iii) the customer's obligatioru®would not be changed in the event of theft gisplal destruction or damage of the product,
(iv) the customer acquiring the product for redads economic substance apart from that providedsbgv) we do not have significant
obligations for future performance to directly lgriabout resale of the product by the customer,(ajdhe amount of future returns can be
reasonably estimated.

Product Revenue Allowances

Product revenue is recognized net of casisideration paid to our customers, wholesalersceniified pharmacies, for services rendered
by the wholesalers and pharmacies in accordantethétwholesalers and certified pharmacy serviedésark agreements, and include a fixed
rate per prescription shipped and monthly prograanagement and data fees. These services are m¢daafficiently separable from the
customers' purchase of the product; therefore, dineyecorded as a reduction of revenue at thedfmevenue recognition.

Other product revenue allowances inclugtageprompt pay discounts and allowances offeceoutr customers, program rebates and
chargebacks. These product revenue allowancegemgnized as a reduction of revenue or as a salkpgnse at the later of the date at which
the related revenue is recognized or the date &twthe allowance is offered. We also offer disdquograms to patients. Calculating certain
of these items involves estimates and judgmentsdbas sales or invoice data, contractual termbzatiion rates, new information regarding
changes in these programs' regulations
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and guidelines that would impact the amount ofatteial rebates or chargebacks. We review the adgauigroduct revenue allowances on a
quarterly basis. Amounts accrued for product reealowances are adjusted when trends or signifieagnts indicate that adjustment is
appropriate and to reflect actual experience.

The following table summarizes the activitthe accounts related to Qsymia product revetiogvances (in thousands):

Wholesaler/
Discount Pharmacy Cash Rebates/
programs fees discounts Chargebacks Total
Balance at January 1, 20 $ — $ — $ — 3 — 3 —
Current provision related to sales
made during current perioc — (577) (57 — (639
Payment: — 434 — — 434
Balance at December 31, 2C — (143 (57 — (200
Current provision related to sales
made during current perioc (8,80)) (5,070 (2,050 (28C) (15,209
Payment: 8,09¢ 3,78¢ 973 201 13,06:
Balance at December 31, 2C (702 (1,429 (139 (79 (2,339
Current provision related to sales
made during current perioc (17,579 (6,979 (1,712 (2,110 (28,379
Payment: 17,41¢ 7,39¢ 1,69¢ 1,752 28,25¢
Balance at December 31, 2C $ (863 $ (1,009 $ (150 $ (4370 $ (2,459
* Current provision related to sales made duringerurperiod includes $24.6 million, $14.2 millionda$630,000 for

product revenue allowances related to revenue rézed during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2012,
respectively. The remaining amounts for the respegears were recorded on the consolidated balsineets as deferred
revenue at the end of each peri

Qsymia was approved by the FDA in July 204/2 sell Qsymia product in the U.S. to wholesadard select certified pharmacies through
their home delivery pharmacy services networksgctviaire collectively, our customers. Under thisageanent, title and risk of loss transfer to
our customers upon delivery of the product to thetribution facilities. Wholesalers, in turn, Isgloduct to certified retail pharmacies. Both
mail order and retail certified pharmacies in tugel] and dispense directly to patients, eitheheir retail pharmacies or through their mail
order home delivery service.

We shipped initial orders of Qsymia to oustomers in September 2012, and in July 2013 xwareled our distribution network to
include certified retail pharmacies in accordand the FDA-approved amendment to our NDA for Qsgn@symia has a 36-month shelf life
and we grant rights to our customers to return ldhgmduct three months prior to and up to 12 memttter product expiration and issue cre
that may be applied against existing or future iogs. Given our limited history of selling Qsymiadathe lengthy return period, we have not
been able to reliably estimate expected returridsyimia at the time of shipment, and therefore wegaize revenue when units are dispensec
to patients through prescriptions, at which pdim, product is not subject to return. We obtainghescription shipment data from the
pharmacies to determine the amount of revenuectugréze.

We will continue to recognize revenue fay@ia based upon prescription sell-through untilhaee sufficient historical information to
reliably estimate returns. As of December 31, 20dglhave recorded deferred revenue of $16.4 miligtaited to shipments of Qsymia, which
represents product shipped to our customers, hutetaispensed to patients through prescriptiénsorresponding
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accounts receivable is also recorded for this am@sthe payments from customers are not conttngson the sale of product to patients.
Supply Revenue

We recognize supply revenue from the safléSTENDRA or SPEDRA when the four basic revenwmgaition criteria described above
are met. We produce STENDRA or SPEDRA through drachmanufacturing partner and then sell it thfoogr commercialization partners.
As the primary responsible party in the commersigdply arrangements, we bear significant risk efthfillment of the obligations, including
risks associated with manufacturing, regulatory plimmce and quality assurance, as well as invenforgncial, and credit loss. As such, we
recognize supply revenue on a gross basis as jpaingarty in the arrangements. Our commercialipgpiartners for STENDRA or SPEDRA
sell the product through their distribution chasrtel patients. Under our product supply agreemeasting as product meets specified produc
dating criteria at the time of shipment to the part our commercialization partners do not havigla of return or credit for expired product.
As such, we are able to recognize revenue for mtsdhat meet this criteria at the time of shipmettwever, for certain initial product supply
orders under our agreements, we supplied produathvdid not meet the commercialization partneaigega. Given STENDRA or SPEDRA's
long 48-month shelf life and lack of selling histowe have not been able to reliably estimate ebgoeeturns of product at the time of
shipment for these initial orders. Therefore, foese orders, revenue was initially deferred andegegnize revenue when units are dispensed
to patients through prescriptions, at which pdit product is not subject to return. We obtainpfescription shipment data from our
commercialization partners to determine the amofintvenue to recognize. We had $1.5 million iretlefd revenue related to STENDRA or
SPEDRA product supply as of December 31, 2014.

Revenue from Multiple-Element Arrangements

We account for multiple-element arrangersesiich as license and commercialization agreenrentsich a customer may purchase
several deliverables, in accordance with ASC Tépis-25,Revenue Recognition—Multiple-Element ArrangememtsASC 605-25. We
evaluate if the deliverables in the arrangementesmt separate units of accounting. In determittieginits of accounting, we evaluate certait
criteria, including whether the deliverables haaéue to our customers on a stand-alone basis. ISambasidered in this determination include
whether the deliverable is proprietary to us, whethe customer can use the license or other dabies for their intended purpose without the
receipt of the remaining elements, whether theevafithe deliverable is dependent on the undeld/éeans, and whether there are other
vendors that can provide the undelivered itemsivieedbles that meet these criteria are considesaparate unit of accounting. Deliverables
that do not meet these criteria are combined aoduated for as a single unit of accounting.

When deliverables are separable, we akogah-contingent consideration to each separatefiaccounting based upon the relative
selling price of each element. When applying thatiee selling price method, we determine the sgllprice for each deliverable using vendor-
specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of sellingeer if it exists, or third-party evidence, or TRE selling price, if it exists. If neither VSOE
nor TPE of selling price exists for a deliverabie use best estimated selling price, or BESP hatr deliverable. Significant management
judgment may be required to determine the relateling price of each element. Revenue allocatezhtdh element is then recognized base
when the following four basic revenue recognitioitecia are met for each element: (i) persuasivdance of an arrangement exists;

(ii) delivery has occurred or services have beedeeed; (iii) the price is fixed or determinablaggiv) collectability is reasonably assured.

Determining whether and when some of thieiseria have been satisfied often involves assionptand judgments that can have a
significant impact on the timing and amount of rewe we
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report. Changes in assumptions or judgments, argdsto the elements in an arrangement, could @ans®erial increase or decrease in the
amount of revenue that we report in a particulaioge

ASC Topic 605-2&Revenue Recognition—Milestone Method ASC 605-28, established the milestone metisoaheacceptable method
of revenue recognition for certain contingent, evmsed payments under research and developmangaments. Under the milestone
method, a payment that is contingent upon the aehient of a substantive milestone is recognizetsientirety in the period in which the
milestone is achieved. A milestone is an eventh@} can be achieved based in whole or in padither our performance or on the occurrence
of a specific outcome resulting from our performgn@) for which there is substantive uncertaiatythe date the arrangement is entered into
that the event will be achieved, and (iii) that webresult in additional payments being due to us @etermination that a milestone is
substantive requires judgment and is made at tteption of the arrangement. Milestones are consilsubstantive when the consideration
earned from the achievement of the milestone)igofinmensurate with either our performance to aehike milestone or the enhancement of
value of the item delivered as a result of a speoifitcome resulting from our performance to achithe milestone, (ii) relates solely to past
performance, and (iii) is reasonable relative taeliverables and payment terms in the arrangement

Other contingent, event-based paymentsweddor which payment is either contingent solaghon the passage of time or the results of ¢
collaborative partner's performance are not consitlenilestones under ASC 605-28. In accordance A8 605-25, such payments will be
recognized as revenue when all of the four basiemee recognition criteria are met.

Revenues recognized for royalty paymerggecognized as earned in accordance with the tefithe license and commercialization
agreements.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of arsharket. Cost is determined using the firstinst-out method for all inventories, which are
valued using a weighted average cost method caéclifar each production batch. Inventory includesdost of active pharmaceutical
ingredients, or APIs, raw materials and third-paxytract manufacturing and packaging servicesréntloverhead costs associated with
production and distribution are allocated to thprapriate cost pool and then absorbed into invegritassed on the units produced or distribt
assuming normal capacity, in the applicable period.

Inventory costs of product shipped to comos, but not yet recognized as revenue, are redas deferred costs within inventories on the
consolidated balance sheets and are subsequettlynieed to cost of goods sold when revenue retiogririteria have been met.

Our policy is to write down inventory tHads become obsolete, inventory that has a cos imaskcess of its expected net realizable valu
and inventory in excess of expected requiremertts.eStimate of excess quantities is subjectivepaintarily dependent on our estimates of
future demand for a particular product. If therastie of future demand is inaccurate based on asalie$, we may increase the write down for
excess inventory for that product and record agdhéw inventory impairment and commitment fee i ¢bonsolidated statements of operations
We periodically evaluate the carrying value of intay on hand for potential excess amount over aehusing the same lower of cost or
market approach as that used to value the inventory

Research and Development Exper

Research and development, or R&D, expeinshgde license fees, related compensation, caarssltfees, facilities costs, accrued
milestones, administrative expenses related to R&tvities and clinical trial costs incurred bynitial research organizations, or CROs, and
research institutions
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under agreements that are generally cancelablenguotber related R&D costs. We also record acctisalestimated ongoing clinical trial
costs. Clinical trial costs represent costs inalibng CROs and clinical sites and include advemigor clinical trials and patient recruitment
costs. These costs are recorded as a compone&idERpenses and are expensed as incurred. Undemgoeements, progress payments are
typically made to investigators, clinical sites &0lOs. We analyze the progress of the clinicalstriacluding levels of patient enrollment,
invoices received and contracted costs when evagutie adequacy of accrued liabilities. Significatigments and estimates must be made
and used in determining the accrued balance iraaogunting period. Actual results could differ fréimose estimates under different
assumptions. Revisions are charged to expense ipetiod in which the facts that give rise to tbeision become known.

In addition, we have obtained rights tcepééd intellectual properties under several liaagpsigreements for use in research and
development activities. Non-refundable licensingmants made for intellectual properties that havalternative future use are expensed to
research and development as incurred.

Share-Based Payments

We follow the fair value method of accougtfor share-based compensation arrangements anderee with in the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, or FASB, Accounting Standards fi@ation, or ASC, topic 718Compensation—Stock Compensat@mASC 718. Under
ASC 718, the estimated fair value of shhesed compensation, including stock options andicte] stock units granted under our stock op
plans and purchases of common stock by employessdiatount to market price under our EmployeelSRigchase Plan, or the ESPP, is
recognized as compensation expense. Compensafpensxfor purchases under the ESPP is recognized loa the estimated fair value of
common stock purchase rights during each offeremipd and the percentage of the purchase discount.

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing eldd estimate the fair value of the share-baseat@svas of the grant date. The Black-Schole
model, by its design, is highly complex, and degamdipon key data inputs estimated by manageméaetpiimary data inputs with the
greatest degree of judgment are the estimated divhee share-based awards and the estimatedlitglafiour stock price. The Black-Scholes
model is highly sensitive to changes in these tata dhputs. The expected term of the options remteshe period of time that options grantec
are expected to be outstanding and is derived blyzing the historical experience of similar awagising consideration to the contractual
terms of the share-based awards, vesting scheaintbsxpectations of future employee behavior. Werdene expected volatility using the
historical method, which is based on the dailydristl trading data of our common stock over thpeeted term of the option. Management
selected the historical method primarily becausénaxee not identified a more reliable or appropriatthod to predict future volatility. For
more information about our share-based paymengsiNeée 15: "Stock Option and Purchase Plans" tadCaunsolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK10

Shardsased compensation expense is allocated amongfogsbds sold, research and development and sefaneral and administrati
expenses, or included in the inventory carryingigand absorbed into inventory, based on the fomcif the related employee.

Fair Value Measuremen

The authoritative literature for fair valomeasurements established a three-tier fair vakrarchy, which prioritizes the inputs in
measuring fair value. These tiers are as follovesdl 1, defined as observable inputs such as quuéeklet prices in active markets; Level 2,
defined as inputs other than the quoted pricestiveamarkets that are either directly or indingabservable; and
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Level 3, defined as significant unobservable ingatdity developed assumptions) in which littlenormarket data exists.

Financial instruments include cash equiv@leavailable-for-sale securities, accounts red#®; accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
Available-for-sale securities are carried at estgddair value. The carrying value of cash equintgaccounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximate their estimated fair value due to Hatively short nature of these instruments. ABe€ember 31, 2014, our cash and cash
equivalents and available-for-sale securities meaisat fair value on a recurring basis totaled $2illion.

All of our cash and cash equivalents arallable-for-sale securities are in cash, money etarstruments and U.S. Treasury securities &
December 31, 2014, and these are classified ad LeWée valuation techniques used to measuredinedlues of these financial instruments
were derived from quoted market prices, as suliathnall of these instruments have maturity dateany, within one year from the date of
purchase and active markets for these instrumeids e

In May 2013, we closed on an offering toig$250.0 million in Convertible Notes. The faalue of the liability component of the
Convertible Notes, excluding the conversion fegtwas derived using a binomial lattice model, ovéle inputs. To arrive at the appropriate
risk adjusted rate, or market yield, for the Cotitség Notes, we performed (i) a synthetic crediing analysis estimating the issuer level credi
rating of the Company using a regression modélr€gearch on appropriate market yields using ojusted spread indications for similar
credit ratings, and (iii) considered the marketd/ienplied for the Convertible Notes from a binoir&ttice model. Using these inputs, the
initial fair value of the liability component of¢hConvertible Notes was estimated at $154.7 millidre Convertible Notes are described
further below and in Note 13: "Long-Term Debt" tar €onsolidated Financial Statements included éieegvin this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Debt instruments are initially recordedat value, with coupon interest and amortizatidmebt issuance discounts recognized in the
statements of operations as interest expense latpegiod end while such instruments are outstandivge issue shares to discharge the
liability, the debt obligation is derecognized arminmon stock and additional paid-in capital ar@geized on the issuance of those shares.

Our Convertible Notes contain a convergiption that is classified as equity. The fair vatdehe liability component of the debt
instrument was deducted from the initial proce@ddatermine the proceeds to be allocated to theersion option. The excess of the proceed
received from the Convertible Notes over the ihdimount allocated to the liability component, lis@ated to the equity component. This
excess is reported as a debt discount and subgsbgasrortized as non-cash interest expense, ubmgnterest method, over the expected life
of the Convertible Notes.

Issuance costs related to the equity compioof the Convertible Notes were charged to agiutti paid-in capital. The remaining portion
related to the debt component has been capitadigeddeferred charge and included in nonent assets in the consolidated balance sta®
is being amortized and recorded as additional éstezxpense over the expected life of the Converilotes. In connection with the issuanc
the Convertible Notes, we entered into cappedtisactions with certain counterparties affiliawgth the underwriters. The fair value of the
purchased capped calls was recorded to stockhbétpriy.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjus to concentrations of credit risk consistnarrily of cash, cash equivalents, available-for-
sale-securities, and accounts receivable. We hstebleshed guidelines to limit our exposure to iéragk by placing investments with a
number of high credit
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quality institutions, in U.S. Treasury securitiesdoversifying our investment portfolio and placimyestments with maturities that maintain
safety and liquidity within our liquidity needs.

Accounts Receivable, Allowances for Doubtful Act®and Cash Discoun

We extend credit to our customers for pabddales resulting in accounts receivable. Cust@oeounts are monitored for past due
amounts. Past due accounts receivable, deternmingel aincollectible, are written off against thewathnce for doubtful accounts. Allowances
for doubtful accounts are estimated based upondeessamounts, historical losses and existing ecantantors, and are adjusted periodically.
We offer cash discounts to our customers, gene28fiyof the sales price, as an incentive for propaytment. The estimate of cash discounts i
recorded at the time of sale. We account for tish cliscounts by reducing revenue and accountsviadleiby the amount of the discounts we
expect our customers to take. The accounts redeiaab reported in the consolidated balance sheetsf the allowances for doubtful
accounts and cash discounts. There is no allowfana®ubtful accounts at December 31, 2014 or 2013.

Nor-Recurring Charges

Our non-recurring charges consist of proagtest expenses and charges from cost reductms pghcluding employee severance, one-
time termination benefits and ongoing benefitstezldo the reduction of our workforce, facilitiasdaother exit costs. Liabilities for costs
associated with a cost reduction activity are recoeg when the liability is incurred, as opposewvt®n management commits to a cost
reduction plan. In addition, liabilities associateith cost reduction activities are measured atvalue. One-time termination benefits are
expensed at the date we notify the employee, uthessmployee must provide future service, in witiake the benefits are expensed ratably
over the future service period. Ongoing benefitssexpensed when cost reduction activities are jleland the benefit amounts are estimable
Other costs primarily consist of legal, consultingd other costs related to employee terminatiodsaae expensed when incurred. Expenses
related to termination benefits are calculatedctoadance with the VIVUS, Inc. Amended and Rest&@kdnge in Control and Severance
Agreement or the termination benefits plan, asiagble.

Income Taxe

We make certain estimates and judgmerdgtarmining income tax expense for financial staenpurposes. These estimates and
judgments occur in the calculation of certain tageds and liabilities, which arise from differengethe timing of recognition of revenue a
expense for tax and financial statement purposes.

As part of the process of preparing oursctidated financial statements, we are requirezstomate our income taxes in each of the
jurisdictions in which we operate. This processimes us estimating our current tax exposure utidemost recent tax laws and asses
temporary differences resulting from differing tmaant of items for tax and accounting purposesseéltifferences result in deferred tax asset
and liabilities, which are included in our consalied balance sheets.

We assess the likelihood that we will biedb recover our deferred tax assets. We considlevailable evidence, both positive and
negative, including historical levels of incomepegtations and risks associated with estimatestofd taxable income and ongoing prudent
and feasible tax planning strategies in asseshmgéeed for a valuation allowance. If it is not ebikely than not that we will recover our
deferred tax assets, we will increase our provisioriaxes by recording a valuation allowance agfdine deferred tax assets that we estimate
will not ultimately be recoverable. As a resultoofr analysis of all available evidence, both pesiind negative, as of December 31, 2014, it
was considered more likely than not that our defétax assets would not be realized. However, shibeire be a change in our ability to
recover our deferred tax assets, we would recognlznefit to our
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tax provision in the period in which we determihattit is more likely than not that we will recowvaur deferred tax assets.
Contingencies and Litigation

We are periodically involved in disputesiditigation related to a variety of matters. Wheis probable that we will experience a loss,
that loss is quantifiable, we record appropriaserees. We record legal fees and costs as an expdms incurred.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2014 psetwas $82.6 million, or $0.80 net loss per shammpared to net loss of $174.5 million, or
$1.72 net loss per share for the year ended Deae3ih@013, and a net loss of $139.9 million, oA®Inet loss per share for the year ended
December 31, 2012. The decrease in net loss in, 281¢ompared to 2013, is primarily attributable tbecrease in total operating expenses
increases in product, royalty and supply revenagjglly offset by decreases in license and milestevenue. The increase in net loss in 2012
as compared to 2012, is primarily attributablentoréased selling and marketing expenses relategntonercialization activities for Qsymia &
$32.7 million in non-recurring charges in connectwith our 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders aeldted severance charges, including
$14.1 million of non-cash share-based compensatipense. The net loss for the year ended Decemb@033, also included higher interest
expense related to the debt financings as deschibledv under Contractual Obligations, entered int&pril and May of 2013, and a total
charge of $10.2 million for Qsymia inventories ant in excess of demand, plus a purchase commiti@efdr Qsymia. These increases wer
partially offset by license revenue of $55.8 milliand increased product and supply revenue of $28lian.

We may have continued losses in futureguistidepending on our success in commercializingrizsand the timing of our research and
development expenditures, and our continued investim the clinical development of our research fatdre investigational drug candidates,
primarily related to the post-marketing study regmients for our approved drugs.

Continuing operations
Net Qsymia product revenue

We began distributing Qsymia to the caxtifhome delivery pharmacies in our network in Seper 2012, and Qsymia became available
in certified retail pharmacies in July 2013. Asault, for the year ended December 31, 2012, melyst revenue from sales of Qsymia was
minimal. We recognize net product revenue for Qsybased on prescription sell-through by the cedifietail pharmacies and home delivery
pharmacy services networks to patients as we dbang sufficient historical information to reliat#gtimate returns.

Net Qsymia product revenue was $45.3 miilfar the year ended December 31, 2014, $23.7aniftor the year ended December 31,
2013, and $2.0 million for the year ended Decendier2012. Currently, Qsymia is only approved fde sa the U.S.; therefore, all net product
revenue for Qsymia to date has been earned in tBe U

90




Table of Contents

The following table reconciles gross Qsymiiaduct revenue to net Qsymia product revenuéhfoyears ended December 31, 2014, 201
and 2012 (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012

Gross Qsymia product reven $ 69,87( $ 37,897 $ 2,64:
Discount program (16,140 (8,80)) —
Wholesaler/Pharmacy fe (4,970 (4,349 (577)
Cash discount (1,379 (750 (53
Rebates/Chargebac (2,110 (280) —
Net product revenu $ 4527 $ 23,71¢ $ 2,01Z

For the year ended December 31, 2014, appadely 534,000 Qsymia prescriptions were dispgnae compared to approximately
373,000 in 2013 and approximately 31,000 in 20l@raximately 60% of our total prescriptions for fhear ended December 31, 2014,
included either a free good or discount offer, veigproximately 109,000 of those prescriptions dispd as free goods. In comparison, for the
year ended December 31, 2013, approximately 526tiofotal prescriptions included either a free goodiscount offer, with approximate
102,000 of those prescriptions dispensed as fredgy@nd for the year ended December 31, 2012¢oxippaitely 7,000, or 24%, of our total
prescriptions were dispensed as free goods.

At December 31, 2014, we had Qsymia dederegenue of $16.4 million, which represents Qsypn@luct shipped to wholesalers,
certified retail pharmacies and certified homewkly pharmacy services networks, but not yet dispério patients through prescriptions, net
of prompt-payment discounts.

License and milestone revenue

During 2013, we entered into license antroercialization agreements and commercial supplgeagents with the Menarini Group,
through its subsidiary Berlin-Chemie AG, or Mengriwuxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Auxilium, as@dnofi and its affiliate, or Sanofi, to
commercialize and promote STENDRA or SPEDRA inthespective territories. Menarini's territory meprised of over 40 European
countries, including the EU, as well as Australial &lew Zealand. Auxilium's territory is compriseftioe United States and Canada and their
respective territories. In January 2015, Auxiliurasppurchased by Endo International, plc. Sandfilitory is comprised of Africa, the Middle
East, Turkey and Eurasia.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, eagrézed $38.6 million in license and milestoneerave primarily attributable to milestone
payments related to product launches in certairc&lhtries, the approval of the Time-@mset Claim in the U.S. and the delivery of therise
rights and related know-how under our agreemerit &énofi. For the year ended December 31, 2013ewvagnized $55.8 million in license
and milestone revenue, primarily due to the deji@tlicense rights and related know-how underlitense agreements with Auxilium and
Menarini, and the achievement of a regulatory rules in Europe. We had no license and milestonemea for the year ended December 31,
2012. As of December 31, 2014, $10.4 million ingangments for future royalties on sales of SPEDRA deferred.

For further discussion on the revenue foamabove-mentioned license and commercializatgpereanents, refer to Note 12: "License,
Commercialization and Supply Agreements" to our €btidated Financial Statements included elsewhetki$ Annual Report on Form 10-K.

For geographic information with respeclitense and milestone revenue, see Note 18: "Segmenmation and Concentration of
Customers and Suppliers—Geographic InformatiorduoConsolidated Financial Statements includediadisee in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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Net STENDRA/SPEDRA supply revenue

We began distributing STENDRA or SPEDRA¢tbhto our commercialization partners in Decen#f3. Auxilium launched the
commercialization of STENDRA in the U.S. and CanadBecember 2013. Menarini launched the commaeéreiabn of SPEDRA in the EU-5
(France, Germany, Italy, Spain and the United Kamgllin the first half of 2014, and the productvsiéable in retail in about 23 countries in
the Menarini territory. In addition, we began saliavanafil APl to Sanofi in December 2013, to saurpgheir technology transfer to qualify a
second supplier for avanafil APl and tablets.

Net STENDRA or SPEDRA supply revenue recogph for the years ended December 31, 2014 and, 2643%$26.5 million and
$1.5 million, respectively. We had no STENDRA orfEERRA supply revenue for the year ended Decembe2@12. As of December 31, 20
$1.5 million of STENDRA or SPEDRA supply revenualtizeen deferred until the product has met all reguspecifications and the related
titte and risk of loss and damages have been &emesf to our commercialization partners.

For geographic information with respecSItEENDRA/SPEDRA supply revenue, see Note 18: "Segiméormation and Concentration of
Customers and Suppliers—Geographic InformatiorduoConsolidated Financial Statements includediadisee in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Royalty revenue

Royalty revenue was $3.8 million for theayended December 31, 2014, primarily attributédbleommercialization agreements with
Menarini and Auxilium that we entered into duritg tsecond half of 2013, for which we earn royaltiased upon a certain percentage of net
sales reported by commercialization partners. Vendi record royalty revenue in 2013 or 2012 asetinre no net sales reported by our
commercialization partners.

Cost of goods sold

Total cost of goods sold was $33.4 milli§d,9 million and $187,000 for the years ended brégsr 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respecti
Cost of goods sold related to Qsymia was $7.2 oniJl62.8 million and $0.2 million for the years eddDecember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, and costs related to STENDRA or SPEDRS $26.2 million and $2.1 million for the yeasded December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. Cost of goods sold for Qsymia dispdrte patients includes the inventory costs of ABlisd-party contract manufacturing and
packaging and distribution costs, royalties, cangorance, freight, shipping, handling and storaggts, and overhead costs of the employees
involved with production. Cost of goods sold forEBNDRA or SPEDRA shipped to our commercializationtpers includes the inventory co
of purchased tablets, freight, shipping and hagdiiosts. The cost of goods sold associated withrof revenue on Qsymia and STENDR/
SPEDRA product shipments is recorded as deferrsts cahich are included in inventories in the cdidstwed balance sheets, until such tim
the deferred revenue is recognized.

Selling, general and administrative

% Change
Increase/(Decrease)
Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs 201 2013 vs 201:
(In thousands, except percentage:

Selling and marketin $ 72,330 $ 94,84. $ 66,58¢ (24)% 42%
General and administrati\ 39,20¢ 63,39¢ 43,07¢ (38)% 47%
Total selling, general and

administrative expenst  $ 111,53¢ $ 158,23! $ 109,66! (30)% 44%
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Selling and marketing expenses decreas&2®y million, or 24% for the year ended Decen8ier2014, as compared to the year endec
December 31, 2013. The decrease was primarilyaimver selling and marketing activities for Qsyiraa a result of our more targeted and
focused spending on marketing and promotional iietivin 2014. The increase in selling and marlkgetrpenses in 2013, as compared to
2012, was due primarily to increased Qsymia comiakzation expenses, including higher marketingemnges of $11.6 million and higher
selling expenses of $16.7 million. The commercalon of Qsymia launched in late September 2018 fisoal year 2013 was the first full y«
of commercial promotional activities.

General and administrative expenses deeddag $24.2 million, or 38% for the year ended Daloer 31, 2014, compared to the year
ended December 31, 2013, primarily due to facttirdatable to our cost-cutting initiatives, inciad reduction in headcount and other
employee costs, including share-based compensatjpense, and lower spending on professional feg®tmer corporate activities. The
increase in general and administrative spendingii®year ended December 31, 2013, as comparéd yetr ended December 31, 2012, was
primarily due to incremental increases in corpoeadeenses of $10.7 million, medical affairs-relategenses of $6.1 million, and increased
non-cash share-based compensation expense of $B0H.m

Research and development

% Change
Increase/(Decrease)

Years Ended December 31

Drug Indication/Description 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs 201 2013 vs 201.
(In thousands, except percentage:

Qsymia for obesit $ 4,457 $ 10,52( $ 10,72¢ (58)% (2%
STENDRA for ED 2,35¢ 8,391 8,601 (72)% (2%
Other project: 30 314 1,66: (90)% (81)%
Shar+based compensatic 1,175 2,361 3,48 (500% (32)%
Overhead costs 5,77: 8,091 7,58¢ (29)% 7%
Total research and development

expense: $ 13,790 $ 29,670 $ 32,06 (54)% (1%
* Overhead costs include compensation and relategherg, consulting, legal and other professionalces fees relating

to research and development activities, which waatallocate to specific projec

The decrease in total research and devalnpexpenses in 2014, as compared to 2013, wagratarily to the completion of various
product studies, including the STENDRA 15-minute apermatogenesis studies. Other factors thatd@lwpimpacted research and
development expenses include (i) a decrease dihe timing of Qsymia study activities, known as &@CLAIM study, and (ii) decreases in
employee costs (including share-based compensatipense), external staffing and consulting fedwrgproject costs and overhead costs,
most of which were attributable to a cost reductitan.

The decrease in total research and devealnpexpenses for the year ended December 31, 28X®mpared to the year ended
December 31, 2012, was primarily due to decreasslare-based compensation expense and othertprofts.

We estimate the AQCLAIM study will cost iveten $180.0 and $220.0 million and the study ctakté as long as five to six years to
complete. We submitted a request for Scientific idevo the EMA regarding use of a ppecified interim analysis from AQCLAIM to supp
the resubmission of an application for a marke#iothorization for Qsiva for obesity in accordandgthhe EU centralized marketing
authorization procedure. We received feedbackezatis year from the EMA and various competenharities of the EU Member States
associated with review of the AQCLAIM CVOT
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protocol, and we have recently received feedbamk fihe FDA regarding the amended protocol. As agfaaddressing the FDA comments,
are working to ensure that the planned interimyaigwill not jeopardize the overall integrity dfet study and will support other objectives in
both the EU and U.S.

There will be additional research and depeient expenses for post-approval studies relat€bymia. Our research and development
expenses may fluctuate from period to period dubediming and scope of our development activiied the results of clinical and pecnical
studies.

Inventory impairment and other non-recurring chasge

Inventory impairment and other non-recigrifarges for the years ended December 31, 2012GBconsist of (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,

2014 2013

Inventory impairmen $ 2,17C $ 10,22t
Patent settlemel 1,94¢ —
Share-based compensatic 348 14,07:
Proxy contest expens — 8,86:
Employee severance and related c 1,711 8,54¢
Operating lease termination co — 1,21(

Total inventory impairment and other non-recurring

expenst $ 6,170 $ 42,91¢

Inventories are stated at the lower of cosharket. Cost is determined using the firsfinst-out method for all inventories, which are
valued using a weighted average cost method caééclifar each production batch. We periodically aaéé the carrying value of inventory on
hand for potential excess amount over demand ukagame lower of cost or market approach as #ett to value the inventory. As a resul
this evaluation, for the year ended December 3142@e recorded a charge of $2.2 million for firidlgoods and certain non-API raw
materials on hand in excess of demand, and, foyaheended December 31, 2013, we recognized lectaege of $10.2 million for Qsymia
inventories on hand in excess of demand, plus ehase commitment fee. No charge was required and was taken for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

In September 2014, we paid $5.0 milliomamnection with the transfer and assignment ofgepatents from Janssen
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Of the $5.0 million, approiety $1.9 million was recognized as a non-recgrerpense for the year ended
December 31, 2014, as it related to a legal se¢thenThe remaining balance of approximately $3.Higniis recorded as an intangible asset
and being amortized as cost of goods sold ovepéhnied in which we expect to benefit from the p#gahrough their expiration dates. Of the
$3.1 million, $0.3 million was recorded in costgufods sold in 2014, and the remaining $2.8 mili®imcluded in non-current assets on the
consolidated balance sheet and will be amortized am estimated remaining life of approximatelys5y2ars.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, we announa@wst reduction plan, which resulted in a 17%ucédn in our workforce and incurred certain
expenses associated with facilities lease costst bfathe costs associated with these events weeognized in the fourth quarter of 2013. For
the year ended December 31, 2014, non-recurringgebancluded $0.3 million in share-based compémsaind $1.7 million in employee
termination costs. At December 31, 2014, we hacdaneimg liabilities of $3.8 million related to theost reduction plan, which we expect to pay
through 2020.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, acurring charges included $14.1 million in sharsduecompensation related to the automati
acceleration of vesting of unvested stock opticeld by
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certain of our employees, as a result of the sa#lg agreement we entered into with First Manhaltampany in connection with a proxy
contest related to our 2013 Annual Meeting of Shadtters and the reduction in force announced ineXadber 2013, $8.5 million in employee
termination costs related to the proxy contestraddction in force, $8.9 million in proxy contespenses, including approximately

$2.9 million of out-of-pocket expenses that welienfrursed to First Manhattan Company, and $1.2 onilln facilities and other lease exit
costs.

There were no inventory impairment and pti@n-recurring charges for the year ended Dece@be2012.
Interest and other expense (income)

Interest and other expense (income) canpidnarily of interest expense and the amortizatibissuance costs from our Convertible
Notes and Senior Secured Notes and the amortizatithre debt discount on the Convertible Notesrigst expense (income) was $32.5 mil
for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared$&@kb million for the year ended December 31, 20h® increase in interest expense
(income) for the year ended December 31, 2014, epadpwith the same period in 2013, was primarily tluthe timing of the issuance of our
Convertible Senior Notes of $250.0 million, whidbsed in May 2013, and the issuance of our Serecuf®d Notes of $50.0 million, which
closed in April 2013, which consequently impact@d 2 for a full year but for only a partial yeard813. Interest expense was negligible for
the year ended December 31, 2012. Other expensaeorde were not significant.

(Benefit from) Provision for income taxes

We recorded a net benefit from income tdzeghe year ended December 31, 2014, of $629898pmpared to a provision for income
taxes of $97,000 and $27,000 for the years endeérleer 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The resluati tax expense in 2014 as comparec
to 2013 primarily relates to favorable settlememith state tax authorities, as discussed belowigligroffset by tax liabilities in some states.
The increase in tax expense in 2013 as compar2@ld relates to increased tax liabilities in certates in which we operate.

The tax benefits for the year ended Decer@bhe2014 primarily relates to tax liabilitieséertain states, offset by a tax refund received
from the State of New Jersey as a result of aegedtht of an audit and acceptance of a refund diatinine tax year ended December 31, 2007
amounting to $462,000 (including interest) andduation of the Company's unrecognized tax benaita result of the California Franchise
Tax Board audit that was favorably settled amougntmapproximately $208,000. The tax provisiontfae year ended December 31, 2013
relates to state tax liabilities.

Discontinued operation:

On November 5, 2010, we completed the afllee MUSE product to Meda AB. For the years endedember 31, 2013 and 2012, we
recorded some minor adjustments related to the MiiSosition, primarily adjustments to our saleserges for accrued product returns. No
adjustments related to the MUSE disposition werdarfar the year ended December 31, 2014.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Continuing Operations

Cash. Cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sadargties totaled $299.6 million at December 311£0s compared to
$343.3 million at December 31, 2013. The decre&$d®.7 million is primarily due to cash used ie flunding of our operations. In 2014, we
received payments for license and milestone reven®85.3 million. In April 2013, we received a raghount
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of $48.4 million through the sale of a debt-likstiument to BioPharma Secured Investments Il HggiCayman LP, or the Senior Secured
Notes. On May 21, 2013, we closed an offering &@Q million in 4.5% Convertible Senior Notes duayML, 2020, or the Convertible Not:
On May 29, 2013, we closed on an additional $30IBom of Convertible Notes upon the exercise ofation by the initial purchasers of the
Convertible Notes. Total net proceeds from the @otible Notes were approximately $241.8 millionalidition, in 2013, we received upfront
payments totaling $26.6 million, net of withholditaxes, under the license agreement with Men&86,0 million under the license agreemen
with Auxilium and $5.0 million under the licenseragment with Sanofi.

Since inception, we have financed operatjgmmarily from the issuance of equity, debt arbteike securities. Through December 31,
2014, we have raised approximately $931.1 millimmf financing activities, received $150 million findhe sale of Evamist, received a total of
$105.9 million in license, royalty and milestoneypeents related to the STENDRA or SPEDRA license@mdmercialization agreements, and
had an accumulated deficit of $743.2 million at 8mber 31, 2014.

At December 31, 2014, we had $83.2 milliooash and cash equivalents and $216.4 millicavailable-for-sale securities. We invest oul
excess cash balances in money market and U.S.rgoeet securities, in accordance with our investrpefity. At December 31, 2014, all of
our cash equivalents and available-for-sale seesintere invested in either U.S. government saeard@r money market funds. Our investment
policy has the primary investment objectives ofspreation of principal; however, there may be timven certain of the securities in our
portfolio will fall below the credit ratings reqeid in the policy. If those securities are downgdadeimpaired, we would experience realize:
unrealized losses in the value of our portfoliojekhwould have an adverse effect on our resultgpefations, liquidity and financial condition.

Investment securities are exposed to varitks, such as interest rate, market and cigdi.to the level of risk associated with certain
investment securities and the level of uncertaialgted to changes in the value of investment #&esirit is possible that changes in these risk
factors in the near term could have an adverseriabit@pact on our results of operations or stod#brs' equity.

Accounts Receivable.We extend credit to our customers for prodatgsresulting in accounts receivable. Customeswaus are
monitored for past due amounts. Past due accoecdé$viable, determined to be uncollectible, aretemibff against the allowance for doubtful
accounts. Allowances for doubtful accounts arevestitd based upon past due amounts, historicald@sgkexisting economic factors, and are
adjusted periodically. We offer cash discountsupaustomers, generally 2% of the sales price as@amtive for prompt payment.

Accounts receivable (net of allowance fastk discounts) at December 31, 2014, was $11.®mitkks compared to $12.2 million at
December 31, 2013. Currently, we do not have agryifiéant concerns related to accounts receivabbobections. As of February 6, 2015,
had collected 96% of the accounts receivable audgtg at December 31, 2014.

Liabilities. Total liabilities were $284.4 million at Deceett81, 2014, compared to $278.4 million at Decen3de2013. The increase
in total liabilities was primarily due to timingféerences in our various liability accounts.
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Summary Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Cash provided by (used fo

Operating activitie: $ (38,109 $ (135,32) $ (131,919
Investing activities 15,89: (90,127 (54,597
Financing activitie: 2,12¢ 270,10: 205,56¢

Operating Activities. Our operating activities used $38.1 million3$13 million and $131.9 million of cash during §ars ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The decrease in cash used from operatitingtaes in 2014, compared to 2013, was primariliedo higher net product revenue from sales
of Qsymia, royalty and supply revenue from saleSDENDRA, partially offset by lower license and esilone revenue from the license and
commercialization agreements for STENDRA or SPEDRA lower operating expenses, primarily attribletab a cost reduction plan initia
in the fourth quarter of 2013, conclusion of vadalinical studies, and more targeted and focupedding on marketing and promotional
activities. These factors were partially offsetdinanges in assets and liabilities for the year éfi@kEcember 31, 2014, compared with the sam
period in 2013.

During the year ended December 31, 2014netioperating loss from continuing operation$&2.6 million was offset by $15.9 million
in amortization of debt issuance costs and dis®®.8 million in non-cash share-based compensatipense and $2.2 million due to an
inventory impairment charge for Qsymia. Additiocakh used in operating activities was due to deeeeim deferred revenue due to
recognition of revenue for Qsymia and STENDRA, ipdlyt offset by decreases in inventories due taéased shipments of Qsymia and
STENDRA and prepaid expenses and other assets dinéyrto a withholding tax receivable in the prigrar which was collected in 2014.

During the year ended December 31, 2018netoperating loss from continuing operation$b74.9 million was offset by $32.4 million
in non-cash share-based compensation expense thadased headcount and the automatic accelemitieesting of unvested stock options
held by certain employees as a result of the settht agreement we entered into with First Manhaltampany and the termination benefits
plan, $8.4 million in amortization of debt issuamoests and discounts, and $7.5 million due to a&antory impairment charge for Qsymia.
Additional cash used in operating activities remiffrom changes in assets and liabilities durirgptbriod, including a net $30.2 million
increase in inventories, primarily for Qsymia antESIDRA, an increase of $26.5 million in deferrederue mainly due to the license and
commercialization agreements with Menarini and 800 SPEDRA, as well as Qsymia deferred prodesenue, and a decrease in accounts
payable of $14.8 million during the year ended Deloer 31, 2013, due to the timing of activities arddor payments.

During the year ended December 31, 2012netioperating loss of $139.7 million was offsgt#15.9 million in share-based
compensation expense due to increased headcouat®2®12 million net increase in accounts payaiiejarily due to an increase in
marketing and sales activities and startup costtheopost-approval STENDRA and Qsymia clinicadlgi The increase in accounts payable
was offset by a $17.4 million net increase in prégxpenses and other assets, which primarily waspcised of prepayments related to
Qsymia product liability insurance, manufacturirgramitment fees, medical affairs activities for Qsgnand prepaid product
commercialization costs for sales and marketiniyiéies in support of the commercial launch of Qsgrim the U.S. In addition, there was a ne
$22.1 million increase in inventories, primarily f@symia and pre-launch inventory for STENDRA.
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Investing Activities. Our investing activities provided $15.9 millior the year ended December 31, 2014 and used $8i0ion and
$54.6 million in cash during the years ended Decamii, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The fluctuativam period to period are due prima
to the timing of purchases, sales and maturitiéewastment securities.

Financing Activities. Financing activities provided cash of $2.1 ioill $270.1 million and $205.6 million during thears ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivelyh @awvided by financing activities for the year edddecember 31, 2014 consisted of casl
received for the exercise of stock options and mases of stock under the employee stock purchase lpbr the year ended December 31,
2013, net cash provided by financing activitieduded $290.2 million in net proceeds from debt &swmes, partially offset by $34.7 million in
payments for capped call transactions. For the geded December 31, 2012, cash provided by fingrasitivities included $192.0 million in
net proceeds from an underwritten public offerifigar common stock.

On May 21, 2013, we closed an offering 22&.0 million in 4.5% Convertible Senior Notes dday 1, 2020. On May 29, 2013, we
closed an additional $30.0 million of Convertiblets upon the exercise of an option by the ingiachasers of the Convertible Notes. Total
net proceeds from the Convertible Notes were apprabely $241.8 million. For a further discussiortioé Convertible Notes, see "Contractual
Obligations—Notes Payable and Interest Payablaviel

On March 25, 2013, we entered into the Fase and Sale Agreement with BioPharma providinghi® purchase of a delite instrument
or the Senior Secured Notes. Under the BioPharmeeatent, we received a net amount of approxim&édy4 million, at the closing on
April 9, 2013. For a further discussion of the Ser8ecured Notes, see "Contractual Obligations—$\Btyable and Interest Payable" below.

On March 6, 2012, we closed the underwrifteblic offering and sale of 9,000,000 sharehef@Gompany's common stock. Gross
proceeds to us from this sale totaled approxim&i2f2.5 million before deduction of approximately0$ million in underwriting discounts
and commissions and offering expenses. All of tiegas of common stock were offered pursuant t€Cthrapany's effective shelf registration
statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-161948Juding the prospectus dated September 16, gd8mended on February 28, 2012)
contained therein, as the same has been supplaimente

The funding necessary to execute our basisrategies is subject to numerous uncertaintigish may adversely affect our liquidity and
capital resources. Commercialization of Qsymia tm@ynore costly than we planned. In addition, cotieof clinical trials and approval by
the FDA of investigational drug candidates may tedeeral years or more, but the length of time galyevaries substantially according to the
type, complexity, novelty and intended use of arestigational drug candidate. It is also importarmote that if an investigational drug
candidate is identified, the further developmenthaft candidate can be halted or abandoned afrarydue to a number of factors. These
factors include, but are not limited to, fundinqstraints, lack of efficacy or safety or changeniarket demand.

We anticipate that our existing capitabieses combined with anticipated future cash flakbe sufficient to support our operating
needs at least for the next twelve months. Howeveranticipate that we may require additional fugdio expand the use of Qsymia through
targeted patient and physician education, findritdet partner for expanded Qsymia commercial préomoto a broader primary care physician
audience, create a pathway for centralized appiille marketing authorization application for ¢sin the EU, continue the expansion of
distribution of Qsymia through certified retail pheacy locations, conduct post-approval clinicatigts for both Qsymia and STENDRA,
conduct non-clinical and clinical research and ttgu@ent work to support regulatory submissions apglications for our future
investigational drug candidates, finance the ciostslved in filing and prosecuting patent applicas and enforcing or defending our patent
claims, if any, to
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fund operating expenses, establish additional armanufacturing and marketing capabilities, and ufiacture quantities of our drugs and
investigational drug candidates and to make paysna@mder our existing license and supply agreenfenSTENDRA.

If we require additional capital, we magls@ny required additional funding through collaimns, public and private equity or debt
financings, capital lease transactions or otheila@e financing sources. Additional financing ntagt be available on acceptable terms, or at
all. If additional funds are raised by issuing égsiecurities, substantial dilution to existingcitbolders may result. If adequate funds are not
available, we may be required to delay, reducestiope of or eliminate one or more of our commeiasibn or development programs or
obtain funds through collaborations with otherg tr@ on unfavorable terms or that may requireusglinquish rights to certain of our
technologies, product candidates or products tleatvauld otherwise seek to develop on our own.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contnatbbligations at December 31, 2014, excluding amtealready recorded on our consolid.
balance sheet as accounts payable or accruedtieshibnd the effect such obligations are expetdddhve on our liquidity and cash flow in
future fiscal years. This table includes our endatale, non-cancelable, and legally binding obl@eiand future commitments as of
December 31, 2014. The amounts below do not inatodéingent milestone payments or royalties, asdmae the agreements and
commitments will run through the end of terms, ashsno early termination fees or penalties areuthet] herein:

Payments Due by Perioc

Contractual obligations Total 2015 2016- 2018 2019- 2020 Thereafter
(in thousands)
Operating lease $ 11,028 $ 2,15 $ 6,144 $ 2,72F $ —
Purchase obligation
Manufacturing agreemen 74,09: 37,31° 36,774 — —
Other agreemen 29,96¢ 29,96¢ — — —
Notes payabli 300,00 10,45¢ 39,54 250,00t —
Interest payabl 76,57t 18,79: 40,90¢ 16,87¢ —
Total contractual obligatior $ 491,65¢ $ 98,69: $ 123,36( $ 269,60( $ =

Operating Leases

In November 2006, we entered into a 30-mdedse for our former corporate headquarterséalcat 1172 Castro Street in Mountain
View, California, or the Castro Lease. On Februsty2012, we terminated the lease for our formepaate headquarters effective July 31,
2013. In addition, we have a lease on 4,914 sdeetef office space located at 1174 Castro StMetntain View, California, or the
Expansion Space, which is adjacent to our formgramate headquarters. The average base rent f@xjbension Space is approximately $z
per square foot or $13,513 per month. The leasthéExpansion Space has a term of 60 months coningellarch 15, 2012, with an option
to extend the term for one year from the expiratibthe new lease. Commencing on September 1, 204 4ubleased the expansion space
term of 31 months at a starting annual rental 0&%®53 per square feet (subject to agreed increaBle sublessee is entitled to abatement of
the first monthly installment.

We entered into a lease effective as ofelbder 11, 2012, for new principal executive offiaamsisting of an approximately 45,240
square foot building, located at 351 East Evelyeriwe, Mountain View, California, or the Evelyn Leashe Evelyn Lease has an initial term
of approximately 84 months, commencing on May T2 at a starting annual rental rate of $31.20@mtable square
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foot (subject to agreed increases). We are entitieth abatement of the monthly installments of fenmonths seven through 12 of the initial
term subject to the conditions detailed in the fEnédlease. We have one option to renew the Evelysédor a term of three years at the
prevailing market rate as detailed in the Evelyadee In addition, we have a one-time right to aedé the termination date of the Evelyn
Lease from the expiration of the 84th full calendmmth of the term to the expiration of the 60tt ¢alendar month of the term, subject to the
conditions detailed in the Evelyn Lease. If thisederation of the termination date is exercised fitlowing will be payable to the landlord:

(i) six months of the monthly installments of remid our proportionate share of expenses and tagscs to the fifth lease year; and (ii) the
unamortized portion of all of the leasing commissiand legal fees, the initial alterations, anddhnellord's allowance towards the cost of
performing the initial alterations. Commencing oayML, 2014, we subleased a portion of our Evelyaskeeconsisting of approximately 14,105
square feet of space for a term of 36 months tartirey annual rental rate of $42 per square faghjéct to agreed increases). The sublessee |
entitled to abatement of monthly installments aftsfor months one through four. Upon the completbthe sublease for this space, the
Company expects to either find usage or to locatgitable sublessee for the duration of the Compdewelyn Lease.

For additional information regarding obligas under operating leases, see Note 16: "Comenitsii to our Consolidated Financial
Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Repoform 10-K.

Purchase Obligations

Purchase obligations consist of agreemersirchase goods or services that are enforcaalbléegally binding on us and that specify all
significant terms, including fixed or minimum quaiets to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variahie provisions; and the approximate
timing of the transaction. These include obligasiéor product manufacturing, sales and marketimgicgs, including for our contract sales
organization, and research and development.

Manufacturing agreements

We have no purchase commitments for raveratsupplies for Qsymia at December 31, 2014ully 2012, we entered into a
manufacturing agreement with Catalent Pharma SwisfiLLC, or Catalent, to supply commercial inventior Qsymia beginning in 2012 and
ending in 2016. Our remaining commitment under #gigeeement is to complete open purchase ordersGaitalent for the production of
Qsymia and for process improvement projects, wiotdled approximately $1.9 million at December 2114.

The API and the tablets for STENDRA/SPEDR#anafil) are currently manufactured by MTPC. Ehare no minimum purchase
obligations for STENDRA/SPEDRA under our agreemavita MTPC. We have placed orders with MTPC for@afé product testing and
finished goods, and our remaining commitment urldese purchase obligations at December 31, 20tdetb$21.1 million.

On July 31, 2013, we entered into a Comimak8upply Agreement with Sanofi Chimie pursuanivuch they will manufacture and
supply the API for our drug avanafil. On Novemb8r 2013, we entered into a Manufacturing and Supgliieement with Sanofi Winthrop
Industrie pursuant to which they will manufacturel dupply the avanafil tablets. We have minimuntpase commitments under these
agreements to purchase APl materials from 20141ir@018, and to purchase tablets from 2015 thr@®3!®. Our minimum purchase
commitments under these agreements in additiopéo purchase orders totaled approximately $48.komihs of December 31, 2014.

We also have open purchase orders witr tiiivel parties to perform manufacturing-related/gees on our behalf and, at December 31,
2014, our remaining commitment under these purcbbkgations totaled $2.6 million.
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Other agreements

On May 22, 2012, we entered into a Dedit&ales Team Agreement, or the Sales Team AgreemiémtPDlI, Inc., or PDI, to provide us
with promotional and commercialization support g&s for Qsymia. The Sales Team Agreement wastiféebeginning on July 30, 2012,
and, on December 4, 2014, we extended the terlrecdgreement through December 31, 2015. Undeethestof the Sales Team Agreement,
PDI provides us with full-time sales representatj\tbree full-time field liaison managers, and @k time account manager. In addition, un
the Sales Team Agreement, PDI provides us withraragpersonnel to collect and capture physiciarrinégion, including physician target ¢
plan reach and frequency, deactivation informatelated to physician accounts and physician's beta\or attitudinal response. As of
December 31, 2014, our total obligation under taleSTeam Agreement is $27.1 million, includingmarily compensation costs and
administrative service fees.

We have entered into various agreements alitical consultants, investigators, clinical pliprs and clinical research organizations to
perform clinical trial management and clinical sasdon our behalf and, at December 31, 2014, ouai@ng commitment under these
agreements totaled $2.9 million. We make paymentsdse providers based upon the number of pagemtdled and the length of their
participation in the trials. These obligations, lewer, are contingent on future events, e.g., tteeafpatient accrual in our clinical trials.
Although all of these contracts could be cancdliedss, this amount represents the remaining camthamounts that would be due in case of
cancellation as of December 31, 2014, which arenubided in our consolidated balance sheet atdhts.

Notes Payable and Interest Payable
Convertible Senior Notes Due 2020

On May 21, 2013, we closed an offering 22&.0 million in 4.5% Convertible Senior Notes dday 1, 2020, or the Convertible Notes.
The Convertible Notes are governed by an indentlated as of May 21, 2013, between the Companyandsche Bank National Trust
Company, as trustee. On May 29, 2013, we closezhaadditional $30.0 million of Convertible Notesompexercise of an option by the initial
purchasers of the Convertible Notes. Total netgeds from the Convertible Notes were approxim&igh1.8 million. The Convertible Notes
are convertible at the option of the holders attémg prior to the close of business on the businlay immediately preceding November 1,
2019, only under certain conditions. On or aftew®&uber 1, 2019, holders may convert all or anyipormf their Convertible Notes at any til
at their option at the conversion rate then inaffeegardless of these conditions. Subject taoelimitations, we will settle conversions of the
Convertible Notes by paying or delivering, as taseemay be, cash, shares of our common stockamhination of cash and shares of our
common stock, at our election. For the years efmlmbmber 31, 2014 and 2013, total interest expesiated to the Convertible Notes was
$25.0 million and $14.3 million, respectively, inding amortization of $14.7 million and $8.2 mitliof the debt discount and $784,000 and
$444,000 of deferred financing costs, respectively.

Senior Secured Notes Due 2018

On March 25, 2013, we entered into a Pgetzand Sale Agreement with BioPharma Secured imesds 111 Holdings Cayman LP, a
Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership, piogidor the purchase of a debt-like instrumentthar Senior Secured Notes. Under the
agreement, we received $50 million, less $500,800nding and facility payments, at the initial gilog on April 9, 2013. We had the option,
but elected not to exercise it, to receive an aftil $60 million, less $600,000 in a funding paymet a secondary closing no later than
January 15, 2014. For the years ended Decemb@034,and 2013, the interest expense related t8d¢her Secured Notes was $7.5 million
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and $5.2 million, respectively, including amortipat of deferred financing costs amounting to $468,and $329,000, respectively.
Additional Contingent Payments

We have entered into development, licemsksaipply agreements that contain provisions fgnpents upon completion of certain
development, regulatory and sales milestones. Btiget uncertainty concerning when and if thesegstolees may be completed or other
payments are due, we have not included these pat&rttire obligations in the above table.

Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation

In January 2001, we entered into an exetudevelopment, license and clinical trial and carial supply agreement with Tanabe
Seiyaku Co., Ltd., now MTPC, for the developmerd aommercialization of avanafil, a PDES5 inhibitemepound for the oral and local
treatment of male and female sexual dysfunctiordedithe terms of the agreement, MTPC agreed td graexclusive license to us for
products containing avanafil outside of Japan, N&idrea, South Korea, China, Taiwan, Singaporeptedia, Malaysia, Thailand, Vietham
and the Philippines. We agreed to grant MTPC atusie, royalty-free license within those countriesoral products that we develop
containing avanafil. In addition, we agreed to gt PC an exclusive option to obtain an exclusiegalty-bearing license within those
countries for non-oral products that we develop@ioimg avanafil. MTPC agreed to manufacture ampguus with avanafil for use in clinical
trials, which were our primary responsibility. TREPC agreement contains a number of milestone patsiie be made by us based on val
triggering events.

We have made and expect to make substamitiedtone payments to MTPC in accordance withdlgisement as we continue to develop
avanafil in our territories outside of the Uniteti®s and, if approved for sale, commercialize afibfor the oral treatment of male sexual
dysfunction in those territories. Potential futongestone payments include $6.0 million upon ackiment of $250.0 million or more in
worldwide net sales during any calendar year.

The term of the MTPC agreement is based country-by-country and on a product-by-produdisarhe term shall continue until the
later of (i) 10 years after the date of the filslesfor a particular product, or (ii) the expiratiof the last-to-expire patents within the MTPC
patents covering such product in such countryhéndvent that our product is deemed to be (i) fisently effective or insufficiently safe
relative to other PDES inhibitor compounds basegualplished information, or (ii) not economicallyaféble to develop due to unforeseen
regulatory hurdles or costs as measured by stasdardmon in the pharmaceutical industry for thjgetef product, we have the right to
terminate the agreement with MTPC with respecutthgroduct.

In August 2012, we entered into an amendnteaur agreement with MTPC that permits us to afiacture the API and tablets for
STENDRA ourselves or through third parties. Accngdio the amendment, the transition of manufactuiiom MTPC must occur on or beft
June 30, 2015. As mentioned above, on July 31, ,20&2ntered into a Commercial Supply Agreemernt 8a&nofi Chimie to manufacture and
supply the API for avanafil on an exclusive bagishie United States and other territories and senai-exclusive basis in Europe, including the
EU, Latin America and other territories. Further naentioned above, on November 18, 2013, we entete@ Manufacturing and Supply
Agreement with Sanofi Winthrop Industrie to mantfae and supply the avanafil tablets on an exctubasis in the United States and other
territories and on a semi-exclusive basis in Eurapguding the EU, Latin America and other temiés. We intend to submit an amendment tc
the NDA for avanafil to the FDA, and a variationthe marketing authorization, or MA, for avanafilthe EMA, to include Sanofi Chimie as a
qualified supplier of the avanafil APl and Sanofinttirop Industrie as a qualified supplier of theuaafil tablets.
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On February 21, 2013, we entered into hivel amendment to our agreement with MTPC whichgrgnother things, expands our rights,
or those of our sublicensees, to enforce the pateensed under the MTPC agreement against alliegéogement, and clarifies the rights and
duties of the parties and our sublicensees upamirtation of the MTPC agreement. In addition, weewvebligated to use our best commercial
efforts to market STENDRA in the U.S. by Decembér 013, which was achieved by our commercialiragiartner, Auxilium. On July 23,
2013, we entered into the fourth amendment to gteeanent with MTPC which, among other things, cleartfie definition of net sales used tc
calculate royalties owed by us to MTPC.

Other

In October 2001, we entered into an assegrtragreement, or the Assignment Agreement, withnTds Najarian, M.D., for a combination
of pharmaceutical agents for the treatment of apesid other disorders, or the Combination Ther#émt has since been the focus of our
investigational drug candidate development progi@n@symia for the treatment of obesity, obstruetsleep apnea and diabetes. The
Combination Therapy and all related patent appbtoat or the Patents, were transferred to us waHdwide rights to develop and
commercialize the Combination Therapy and explatPatents. The Assignment Agreement requires paytooyalties on worldwide net sa
of a product for the treatment of obesity thatdasdd upon the Combination Therapy and Patentsthatihst-to-expire of the assigned Patents
To the extent that we decide not to commerciallyl@ix the Patents, the Assignment Agreement wilhieate and the Combination Therapy
and Patents will be assigned back to Dr. Najarian.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any off-balanaeskinancing arrangements and have not establasgdpecial purpose entities. We have not
guaranteed any debt or commitments of other estitieentered into any options on non-financial ssse

Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, we pmwudemnifications of varying scope to certain oustrs against claims of intellectual property
infringement made by third parties arising from tise of its products and to its clinical reseandanizations and investigator sites against
liabilities incurred in connection with any thiradypy claim arising from the work performed on béludlthe Company, among others.
Historically, costs related to these indemnificatprovisions have not been significant and we agble to estimate the maximum potential
impact of these indemnification provisions on autufe results of operations.

Pursuant to the terms of the Asset Purchgseement with Meda to sell certain of the asealested to the MUSE business to Meda, the
Company agreed to indemnify Meda in connection Withrepresentations and warranties that it madeearaing its rights, liabilities and ass
related to the MUSE business and its authorityntereinto and consummate the MUSE Transaction.Jdrapany also made certain covenant
in the Asset Purchase Agreement which survive litging of the MUSE Transaction, including a threarycovenant not to develop,
manufacture, promote or commercialize a trans-uak#rectile dysfunction drug.

On May 15, 2007, we closed a transactidh WiV Pharmaceutical Company, or K-V, for the saféts investigational drug candidate,
Evamist. At the time of the sale, Evamist was aredtigational drug candidate and was not yet aggatdoy the FDA for marketing. Pursuant to
the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement foraleeod Evamist, we made certain representationsaarthnties concerning our rights and
assets related to Evamist and our authority torémte and consummate the transaction. We also radain covenants that survived the
closing date of the transaction,
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including a covenant not to operate a businesscthrapetes, in the U.S. and its territories andgmtorates, with the Evamist product.

To the extent permitted under Delaware lae have agreements whereby we indemnify our offiead directors for certain events or
occurrences while the officer or director is, orswserving at our request in such capacity. Thermdfication period covers all pertinent eve
and occurrences during the officer's or directdééme. The maximum potential amount of futureypeents we could be required to make
under these indemnification agreements is unlimieavever, we maintain director and officer inswmoverage that reduces our exposure
and enables us to recover a portion of any futoreumts paid. We believe the estimated fair valuthe$e indemnification agreements in
excess of applicable insurance coverage is minimal.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Starts Board issued Accounting Standard Update 20@1R&venue from Contracts with
Customers or ASU 2014-09. ASU 2014-09 provides a single poehensive model for entities to use in accourfilmgevenue arising from
contracts with customers and supersedes most tuenemue recognition guidance, including indusipgcific guidance. ASU 2014-09 will
require an entity to recognize revenue when itdfens promised goods or services to customers amasunt that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchaiogehose goods or services. This update creafies-atep model for entities to use when
considering the terms of its revenue contract Hevis:

0) identifying the contract(s) with the customer,

(i) identifying the separate performance obligationthacontract,

(i)  determining the transaction price,

(iv)  allocating the transaction price to the separat®paance obligations, and

(v) recognizing revenue when each performance obligaisatisfied.

ASU 2014-09 will be effective for our fidgaear beginning January 1, 2017 and subsequeastirmperiods. We have the option to apply
the provisions of ASU 2014-09 either retrospectivtel each prior reporting period presented or sgteatively with the cumulative effect of
applying this ASU recognized at the date of initipplication. Early adoption is not permitted. We eurrently evaluating the method by wh
we will implement ASU 2014-09 and the impact thetébn of this ASU will have on our consolidateddicial statements.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any dividends since oceftion and do not intend to declare or pay aniddivds on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. Declaration or payment of fitlividends, if any, will be at the discretion afrdBoard of Directors after taking into acco
various factors, including our financial conditi@perating results and current and anticipated nasls.

Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

Our business is subject to significantsjgkcluding but not limited to, the risks inherémbur research and development activities,
including the successful completion of clinicaatsi; the lengthy, expensive and uncertain processeking regulatory approvals; uncertainties
associated both with the potential infringemenpatients and other intellectual property rightshirick parties, and with obtaining and enforcing
our own patents and patent rights; and uncertaingigarding government reforms and of product pgieind reimbursement levels,
technological change, competition, manufacturingeutainties and dependence on third parties. Bvaur iinvestigational drug
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candidates appear promising at an early-stagevaflolement, they may not reach the market for nuoereasons. Such reasons include the
possibilities that the drug will be ineffective umsafe during clinical trials, will fail to receiveecessary regulatory approvals, will be difficol
manufacture on a large-scale, will be uneconomaatarket or will be precluded from commercialipatby proprietary rights of third parties.
For more information about the risks we face, $emi' 1.A. Risk Factors" included in this report.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

The Securities and Exchange Commissiotesralated to market risk disclosure requires Waiescribe and quantify our potential losse
from market risk sensitive instruments attributaoleeasonably possible market changes. Markesgskitive instruments include all financial
or commodity instruments and other financial instemts that are sensitive to future changes indstaates, currency exchange rates,
commodity prices or other market factors.

Market and Interest Rate Risk

Our cash, cash equivalents and availablsdte securities as of December 31, 2014, comssimarily of money market funds and U.S.
Treasury securities. Our cash is invested in agotre with an investment policy approved by our BazrDirectors that specifies the
categories (money market funds, U.S. Treasury g&siand debt securities of U.S. government agenciorporate bonds, asset-backed
securities, and other securities), allocations, ratidgs of securities we may consider for investm€urrently, we have focused on investin
U.S. Treasuries until market conditions improve.

Our primary exposure to market risk is iagt income sensitivity, which is affected by chesiaqh the general level of U.S. interest rates,
particularly because the majority of our investrseare in short-term marketable debt securities.prlmeary objective of our investment
activities is to preserve principal. Some of theusities that we invest in may be subject to marigit This means that a change in prevailing
interest rates may cause the value of the investtodhuctuate. For example, if we purchase a sgcthrat was issued with a fixed interest rate
and the prevailing interest rate later rises, @lee of our investment may decline. A hypothetid@0 basis point increase in interest rates w
reduce the fair value of our available-for-saleusities at December 31, 2014, by approximately $ilion. In general, money market funds
are not subject to market risk because the intpagton such funds fluctuates with the prevailimgrest rate.
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Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

VIVUS, INC.

1. Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following financial statements arediles part of this Report:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfing

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&01201:

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeraded December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loshéoyé¢ars ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 201

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equitytferyears ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 201

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yealed December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

Financial Statement Schedule
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
VIVUS, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conselitialance sheets of VIVUS, Inc. as of DecembeP314 and 2013, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehefs$s, stockholders' equity and cash flows foheddhe three years in the period ended
December 31, 2014. In connection with our audittheffinancial statements, we have also auditedithacial statement schedule in Item 15
(a)(2). These financial statements and schedulthareesponsibility of the Company's management.r@ponsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements and schedule basedraudits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Slgat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &andbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digs in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well agatirg the overall presentation of the
financial statements and schedule. We believedimafudits provide a reasonable basis for our opini

In our opinion, the consolidated finan@ttements audited by us present fairly, in allemak respects, the consolidated financial positiol
of VIVUS, Inc. at December 31, 2014 and 2013, dreddonsolidated results of its operations andaghdlows for each of the three years in
period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity wit8. generally accepted accounting principles.

Also, in our opinion, the financial statamhechedule, when considered in relation to théchmmsolidated financial statements taken as ¢
whole, presents fairly, in all material respedtg, information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogbatdoard (United States), VIVUS, Inc.'s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2014, based on criteria establishedtémrial Control—Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgiuns of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and epont dated February 25, 2015
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl OUM & Co. LLP

San Francisco, California
February 25, 2015
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
VIVUS, Inc.

We have audited VIVUS, Inc.'s internal ¢ohbver financial reporting as of December 31,£20ased on criteria establishednternal
Control—Integrated Framework (20183sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifriee Treadway Commission (the COSO
criteria). VIVUS, Inc.'s management is responsiblemaintaining effective internal control over dimcial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over finahcgporting included in the accompanying Item 8#gnagement's Annual Report on Internal
Control Over Financial ReportingOur responsibility is to express an opinion o& ¢bmpany's internal control over financial repaytbased
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance withdtandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogiet8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness eaististesting and evaluating the design and operafiiectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk. Our audit also included perfagreuch other procedures as we considered necesghg/circumstances. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opini

A company's internal control over finanaigborting is a process designed to provide redderassurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures that€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not prevendetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, VIVUS, Inc. maintained, afl material respects, effective internal contre¢iofinancial reporting as of December 31, 2!
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogatdoard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of VIVUS, Inc. as afdbeber 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consadiddatements of operations,
comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity and daslsffor each of the three years in the period dridlecember 31, 2014 and our report datec
February 25, 2015 expressed an unqualified opitfiereon.

/s/ OUM & Co. LLP

San Francisco, California
February 25, 2015
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VIVUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value)

December 31

2014 2013
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 83,17¢ $ 103,26:
Available-for-sale securitie 216,39 240,02
Accounts receivable, n 11,59 12,21«
Inventories 34,44 48,50:
Prepaid expenses and other as 12,82« 19,93¢
Total current asse 358,43 423,94:
Property and equipment, r 1,34¢ 1,95¢
Non-current assel 7,158 5,901
Total asset $ 366,93t $ 431,79¢
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 10,43( $ 10,75¢
Accrued and other liabilitie 17,03 23,99:
Deferred revenu 19,44¢ 17,25¢
Current portion of lon-term debt 10,45¢
Total current liabilities 57,371 52,001
Long-term debt, net of current portic 217,32 213,10t
Deferred revenue, net of current port 8,87¢ 10,36(
Non-current accrued and other liabiliti 84¢ 2,95¢
Total liabilities 284,42( 278,42
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock; $1.00 par value; 5,000 sharewdatd; no shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 angl — —
Common stock; $.001 par value; 200,000 shares en#tbat
December 31, 2014 and 2013; 103,729 and 103,16ésissued
and outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013 ctgply 104 10z
Additional paic-in capital 825,69: 813,80:
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) inct (28) 66
Accumulated defici (743,249 (660,60
Total stockholders' equit 82,51¢ 153,36¢
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 366,93t $ 431,79

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.
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VIVUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Revenue
Net product revenu $ 45277 $ 23,71t $ 2,012
License and milestone reven 38,61« 55,83¢ —
Supply revenur 26,51¢ 1,52¢ —
Royalty revenut 3,771 —
Total revenu 114,18: 81,08 2,012
Operating expense
Cost of goods sol 33,38 4,86¢ 187
Selling, general and administrati 111,53¢ 158,23! 109,66!
Research and developm 13,79: 29,675 32,06
Inventory impairment and other r-recurring charge 6,17: 42,91¢
Total operating expens 164,89. 235,69¢ 141,91°
Loss from operation (50,71)  (154,619) (139,909
Interest and other expense (incon
Interest expense (income), | 32,53¢ 19,53: (199
Other expens 3C 703 —
Total interest and other expense (incol 32,56¢ 20,23t (199
Loss from continuing operations before income t: (83,27¢) (174,849  (139,70¢)
(Benefit from) provision for income taxi (62€) 97 27
Loss from continuing operatiol (82,647) (174,94  (139,73)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, néag — 49C (148)
Net loss $ (82,647) $ (174,450 $ (139,88)
Basic and diluted net loss per shz
Continuing operation $ (080 $ 1.72) $ (1.42)
Discontinued operatior 0.0C 0.0C 0.0C
Net loss per shai $ (080 $ (1.72) $ (1.42)
Shares used in per share computat
Basic and dilutes 103,45t 101,17- 98,28¢
VIVUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
Net loss $ (82,647 $ (174,45 $ (139,88)
Other comprehensive (loss) income—unrealized (loss
gain on securities, net of tax (94) 33 8
Comprehensive los $ (82,74) $ (174,42) $ (139,87))

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.
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VIVUS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balances,
December 31, 201
Sale of common

stock through
employee stock
purchase pla
Exercise of
common stock
options for casl
Share-based
compensation
expense
Proceeds from
registered direct
public offering of
common stocl
Issue costs for
registered direct
public offering of
common stocl
Net unrealized gail
on securities
Net loss
Balances,
December 31, 201
Sale of common
stock through
employee stock
purchase pla

Exercise of
common stock
options for casl

Vesting of restricte
stock units

Share-based
compensation
expense

Equity component
of convertible
debt

Offering cost
allocated to
equity

Purchase of cappe
call transactior

Net unrealized gail
on securitie:

Net loss

Balances,
December 31, 201

Sale of common
stock through
employee stock
purchase pla

Exercise of

(In thousands)

Accumulated

Additional Oth
Common Stock Palitlj?lma Comprer?(rensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Total
88,97t $ 89 $ 487,23 $ 25 $ (346,26) $ 141,08
35 — 314 — — 314
2,64¢ 3 13,24¢ — — 13,25
— — 16,13: — — 16,13:
9,00( 9 202,49: — — 202,50(
— — (10,500 — — (10,500
— — — 8 — 8
— — — — (139,88)  (139,88)
100,65¢ 101 708,92: 33 (486,14¢) 222,90¢
10z — 86( — — 86(
2,36¢ 2 13,70 — — 13,70¢
33 — — — — —
— — 32,87: — — 32,87:
— — 95,26: — — 95,26:
— — (3,119 — — (3,119
— — (34,709 — — (34,709
— — — 33 — 33
— — — — (174,45 (174,450
103,16: 102 813,80: 66 (660,605 153,36
118 — 40t — — 40t



common stock
options for casl

Vesting of restricte
stock units

Share-based
compensation
expense

Net unrealized los:
on securitie:

Net loss

Balances,
December 31, 201

38t 1 171 — — 1,71¢
70 — — — — —
— —  976¢ — — 9,76¢
— — — (94) (94)

_ _ _ _ (82,64)  (82.64)

103,72¢ $ 104 $ 825,69: $ (28) $ (743,249 $ 82,51¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.
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VIVUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss from continuing operatio

Adjustments to reconcile net loss from continuipgm@tions to net cash used for operating

activities from continuing operation
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of debt issuance costs and disco
Amortization of discount or premium on availe-for-sale securitie
Shar-based compensation expel
Unrealized foreign currency remeasurement
Loss on disposal and impairment of property andpgent
Inventory impairmen
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued and other liabilitie
Deferred revenu
Net cash used for operating activities from coritiguoperation:
Net cash used for operating activities from distard operation
Net cash used for operating activit
Cash flows from investing activities:
Property and equipment purcha
Purchases of availal-for-sale securitie
Proceeds from maturity of availa-for-sale securitie
Proceeds from sale of availa-for-sale securitie
Non-current assel
Net cash provided by (used for) investing actigi
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from debt issuan
Payments for capped call transacti
Net proceeds from exercise of common stock opt
Sale of common stock through employee stock puech
Net proceeds from issuance of common s
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivake
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of yea
End of yeal

Supplemental cash flow disclosure:
Interest paic

Income taxes pai

Non-cash investing activities:
Unrealized (loss) gain on securit

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsdistents.
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Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
$ (82,64) $ (174,940 $ (139,73)
1,112 972 271
15,92: 8,36¢ —
4,01¢ 2,63¢ 3,95(
9,76¢ 32,39 15,93¢
— (238) —
— 89¢ —
2,17( 7,528 —
61¢ (9,436) (2,779
11,88¢ (30,199  (22,05()
7,73¢ 2,08¢ (17,366
(329  (14,82) 22,20:
(9,061 13,17( 7,38¢
70¢€ 26,46 1,15(
(38,10) ~ (135,11)  (131,03)
— (20¢) (88E)
(38,10) _ (135,32) _ (131,91()
(262) (1,795 (1,669
(240,98)  (329,14)  (226,65)
260,50(  242,50(  133,25(
— 40,76
(3,362) (1,681) (287)
15,89: (90,12) __ (54,59)
— 290,24 —
— (34,709 —
1,71¢ 13,70¢ 13,25(
40F 85¢ 314
— — 192,00
2,12 _ 270,10. __ 205 56
(20,08%) 44.65; 19,05:
103,26: 58,60" 39,55¢
$ 83,17 $ 103,26. $ 58,60¢
$ 2025. $ 5000 $ —
$ 9 $ 32 % 7
$ (94) $ 33 $ 8
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VIVUS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Business and Significant Accounting Police
Business

VIVUS, Inc. is a biopharmaceutical compavith two therapies approved by the U.S. Food anegDxdministration, or FDA: Qsymia®
for chronic weight management and STENDRA® for gledysfunction. STENDRA is also approved by thedpean Commission, or EC,
under the trade name, SPEDRA, for the treatmeatagdtile dysfunction in the EU.

Qsymia (phentermine and topiramate extemdkghse) was approved by the FDA in July 2012raadjunct to a reduced-calorie diet and
increased physical activity for chronic weight mga@ent in adult patients with an initial body mastex (BMI) of 30 or greater (obese), or
or greater (overweight) in the presence of at leastweight-related comorbidity, such as hypertamdype 2 diabetes mellitus or high
cholesterol (dyslipidemia). Qsymia incorporates@ppetary formulation combining low doses of aetimgredients from two previously
approved drugs, phentermine and topiramate. Althdhg exact mechanism of action is unknown, Qsysnlieelieved to suppress appetite and
increase satiety, or the feeling of being full, e main mechanisms that impact eating behavin&dptember 2012, Qsymia became avai
in the U.S. market through a limited number of ified home delivery networks. In July 2013, Qsyrmécame available in retail pharmacies
through approximately 8,000 Walgreens, Costco anane Reade pharmacies nationwide. As of the datésofeport, Qsymia is available in
over 42,000 certified retail pharmacies nationwideluding all of the major pharmacy chains in tdoaintry. The Company intends to continue
to certify and add new pharmacies to the Qsymailrgharmacy network, including national and regilochains as well as independent
pharmacies.

The Company commercializes Qsymia in th®. rimarily through a dedicated contract saleséfpsupported by an internal commercial
team consisting of sales management, marketingreamged care professionals. The Company's effoeggand the appropriate use of
Qsymia include scientific publications, participatiand presentations at medical conferences arelafgaent and implementation of patient-
directed support programs.

In October 2012, the Company received atieg opinion from the European Medicines AgenayE®A, Committee for Medicinal
Products for Human Use, or CHMP, recommending e¢fothe marketing authorization for the medicipedduct Qsivd™ in the EU, (the
approved trade name for Qsymia in the EU) due t@ems over the potential cardiovascular and ceméraous system effects associated witt
long-term use, teratogenic potential and use bigpistfor whom Qsiva would not have been indicaléte Company requested that this
opinion be re-examined by the CHMP. After re-exaation of the CHMP opinion, on February 21, 2018, @HMP adopted a final opinion
that reaffirmed the Committee's earlier negativimiop to refuse the marketing authorization forv@sin the EU. On May 15, 2013, the
European Commission issued a decision refusingrdwet of marketing authorization for Qsiva in thg.Eon September 20, 2013, the
Company submitted a request to the EMA for Scienfiflvice, a procedure similar to the U.S. FDA SpEProtocol Assessment process,
regarding use of a pre-specified interim analysisfthe study to assess the long-term treatmeettedf Qsymia on the incidence of major
adverse cardiovascular events in overweight andebebjects with confirmed cardiovascular diseaisBQCLAIM, to support the
resubmission of an application for a marketing atigation for Qsiva for treatment of obesity in amtance with the EU centralized market
authorization procedure. The Company received fagklfrom the EMA and various competent authoritiethe EU Member States associatec
with review of the AQCLAIM CVOT protocol, and theoBipany has received feedback from the FDA regartiiaggmended protocol. As
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VIVUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
Note 1. Business and Significant Accounting Policgg Continued)

part of addressing the FDA comments, the Compampiging to ensure that the planned interim analysll not jeopardize the overall
integrity of the study and will support other olijees in both the EU and U.S. The Company alsmitiégo seek approval for Qsymia in other
territories outside the United States and EU dralproved, to commercialize it through collabaratagreements with third parties.

The Company's drug STENDRA, or avanafirisoral phosphodiesterase type 5, or PDES5, irdniliitat the Company has licensed from
Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation, or MTPC. SDRX was approved by the FDA in April 2012, for ttneatment of erectile
dysfunction, or ED, in the United States. In Juf&2 the European Commission, or EC, adopted asidp&cgranting marketing authorization
for SPEDRA™ (the approved trade name for avanafihe EU) for the treatment of ED in the EU. InyJA013, the Company entered into an
agreement with the Menarini Group, through its &libsy Berlin-Chemie AG, or Menarini, under which Menarini re@han exclusive licen:
to commercialize and promote SPEDRA for the treatroé ED in over 40 European countries, including EU, as well as Australia and New
Zealand. Menarini commenced its commercializateamth of the product in the EU in early 2014, andfahe date of this filing, SPEDRA is
commercially available in 23 countries within tleeritory granted to Menarini pursuant to the liceasd commercialization agreement.

In October 2013, the Company entered intagreement with Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc.Aakilium, under which Auxilium
received an exclusive license to commercialize@odote STENDRA in the United States and Canadah@isame date, we also entered ints
a supply agreement with Auxilium, whereby VIVUS hglpply Auxilium with STENDRA drug product for camercialization. Auxilium
began commercializing STENDRA in the U.S. markdbatember 2013. In January 2015, Auxilium was pasekl by Endo International, plc.

In December 2013, the Company enteredadntagreement with Sanofi under which Sanofi reckare exclusive license to commercialize
and promote avanafil for therapeutic use in hunmiarsrica, the Middle East, Turkey, and the Commealth of Independent States, or CIS,
including Russia. Sanofi will be responsible fotaibing regulatory approval in its territories. $&rintends to market avanafil under the trade
name SPEDRA or STENDRA. Effective as of Decembdr326he Company also entered into a supply agreemethe Sanofi Supply
Agreement, with Sanofi Winthrop Industrie, a whediywned subsidiary of Sanofi.

Under the license agreements with Menafiokilium and Sanofi, avanafil is expected to benooercialized in over 100 countries
worldwide. For all three license agreements cdllety, if all of the milestone payments are achivthe Company could earn up to
approximately $461.0 million, in addition to royatevenue. Through December 31, 2014, the Compasyédteived approximately
$105.9 million in license, royalty and milestoneypeents. In addition, the Company is currently iscdissions with potential collaboration
partners to market and sell STENDRA for other terigés in which it does not currently have a comeiedrcollaboration.

On September 18, 2014, the FDA approvagpalemental new drug application, or sSNDA, for STERA. STENDRA is now the only
FDA-approved ED medication indicated to be takeraaty as approximately 15 minutes before sexualigc On January 23, 2015, the EC
adopted the commission implementing decision anmgnttie marketing authorization for SPEDRA (avana8PEDRA is now the first and
only ED medication approved in the EU that is iadid to be taken as needed approximately 15 toiB0tes before sexual activity.
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VIVUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
Note 1. Business and Significant Accounting Policgg Continued)

At December 31, 2014, the Company's accatedldeficit was approximately $743.2 million. Bdsa current plans, management exg
to incur further losses for the foreseeable futMtanagement believes that the Company's existipgataesources combined with anticipated
future cash flows will be sufficient to support @perating needs at least for the next twelve nwrtlowever, the Company anticipates that it
may require additional funding to expand the us®®fmia through targeted patient and physician &titut, find the right partner for expanc
Qsymia commercial promotion to a broader primamg ghysician audience, create a pathway for cémtichbpproval of the marketing
authorization application for Qsiva in the EU, done the expansion of our distribution of Qsymieotigh certified retail pharmacy locations,
conduct post-approval clinical studies for Qsynasaduct non-clinical and clinical research and dtgu@ent work to support regulatory
submissions and applications for our future ingggtonal drug candidates, finance the costs inbladiling and prosecuting patent
applications and enforcing or defending our patéaims, if any, to fund operating expenses, esthtddditional or new manufacturing and
marketing capabilities, and manufacture quantitfdss drugs and investigational drug candidates tammake payments under its existing
license and supply agreements for STENDRA.

If the Company requires additional capitatay seek any required additional funding thitoggllaborations, public and private equity or
debt financings, capital lease transactions orratliailable financing sources. Additional financim@y not be available on acceptable term
at all. If additional funds are raised by issuimgiiéy securities, substantial dilution to existstgckholders may result. If adequate funds are n
available, the Company may be required to delajyae the scope of or eliminate one or more ofdtarmercialization or development
programs or obtain funds through collaboration$iwihers that are on unfavorable terms or that magyire the Company to relinquish rights
to certain of its technologies, product candidategroducts that it would otherwise seek to develpgts own.

Management has evaluated all events andactions that occurred after December 31, 20tdug the date these consolidated financia
statements were filed. There were no events osai@ions occurring during this period that requéeognition or disclosure in these
consolidated financial statements, except as diedidn Note 21. The Company operates in a singimsst, the development and
commercialization of novel therapeutic products.

When we refer to "we," "our," "us," the "@pany" or "VIVUS" in this document, we mean therent Delaware corporation, or
VIVUS, Inc., and its California predecessor, aslhaslall of our consolidated subsidiaries.

Significant Accounting Policies
Reclassification:

Certain prior year amounts in the conseéiddinancial statements have been reclassifiedindorm to the current year's presentation.
Principles of Consolidatio

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of VIVUS, Inc., and its wholly owrsibsidiaries: VIVUS International, LP,
VIVUS Real Estate LLC, VIVUS Limited, VIVUS U.K. Imited and VIVUS B.V. All significant intercompanyansactions and balances have
been eliminated
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VIVUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
Note 1. Business and Significant Accounting Policgg Continued)

in consolidation. On December 31, 2005, VIVUS ULknited became a dormant company. On July 22, 20INUS Real Estate LLC was
cancelled.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with U.S. generally accepted accounfnigciples requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities and disclosufesmtingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported ansoofitevenues and expenses during the reportingdo&n an ongoing basis, the Company
evaluates its estimates, including critical accmgnpolicies or estimates related to availablesale securities, debt instruments, research anc
development expenses, income taxes, inventoriesingencies and litigation and share-based compiensdZhe Company bases its estimates
on historical experience, information received frinind parties and on various market specific atiborelevant assumptions that it believe
be reasonable under the circumstances, the regwitisich form the basis for making judgments altbetcarrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from atheurces. Actual results could differ significgrflom those estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid investts with maturities from the date of purchaséhofé months or less to be cash equivalents
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, all cash equivatemtsnvested in money market funds and U.S. Tryasacurities. These investments are
recorded at fair value.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the teargainrealized gains (losses) on cash equivaerdsavailable-fosale securities, net of te
were included in accumulated other comprehensigente (loss) in the accompanying consolidated belsheets.

Available-for-Sale Securities

The Company focuses on liquidity and cagitaservation in its investments in available-$ate securities. The Company's investment
policy, as approved by the Audit Committee of ttaaRl of Directors, allows it to invest its exceastt balances in money market and
marketable securities, primarily U.S. Treasury sées and debt securities of U.S. government aigsncorporate debt securities and asset-
backed securities in accordance with its investrpefity. The Company periodically evaluates itsastyents to determine if impairment
charges are required.

The Company determines the appropriatesifieation of marketable securities at the timgofchase and reevaluates such designation
each balance sheet date. Marketable securitieshiemreclassified and accounted for as availablsdte. The Company may or may not hold
securities with stated maturities greater than datims until maturity. In response to changes inetvelability of and the yield on alternative
investments as well as liquidity requirements,@oenpany may sell these securities prior to theitest maturities. As these securities are
viewed by the Company as available to support atiwperations, securities with maturities beyondrighths are classified as current assets.

Securities are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of taxesrtagpas a component of stockholders' equity, ul
the decline in value is deemed to be other-tharpteary
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VIVUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
Note 1. Business and Significant Accounting Policgg Continued)

and the Company intends to sell such securitiesrbeécovering their costs, in which case suchr@iare written down to fair value and 1
loss is charged to other-than-temporary loss oraired securities. The Company evaluates its investreecurities for other-than-temporary
declines based on quantitative and qualitativeofactAny realized gains or losses on the sale aketable securities are determined on a
specific identification method, and such gains lsdes are reflected as a component of interestriac

Fair Value Measuremen

Financial instruments include cash equiv@lgavailable-for-sale securities, accounts red#e; accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
Available-for-sale securities are carried at estéddair value. The carrying value of cash equirtdgaccounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximate their estimated fair value due to Hiatively short-term nature of these instruments.

Debt instruments are initially recordedat value, with coupon interest and amortizatidmebt issuance discounts recognized in the
statements of operations as interest expense lapegiod end while such instruments are outstandirige Company issues shares to disch
the liability, the debt obligation is derecognizzt common stock and additional paid-in capitalracegnized on the issuance of those share

The Company's Convertible Notes containraversion option that is classified as equity. Tmenpany determined the fair value of the
liability component of the debt instrument and &dited the excess amount from the initial proceedise conversion option. The fair value of
the debt component was determined by estimatimgkadjusted interest rate, or market yield, attitme of issuance for similar notes that do
not include the conversion feature, or equity congmt. This excess is reported as a debt discouhisaamortized as nocash interest expen:
using the effective-interest method, over the etgubtife of the Convertible Notes.

Issuance costs related to the equity compioof the Convertible Notes were charged to agiutti paid-in capital. The remaining portion
related to the debt component is being amortizedracorded as additional interest expense ovesthected life of the Convertible Notes. In
connection with the issuance of the Convertiblegdpthe Company entered into capped call transectigth certain counterparties affiliated
with the underwriters. The fair value of the pursde capped calls was recorded to stockholdergyequi

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjthe Company to concentrations of credit riskségt primarily of cash, cash equivalents,
available-for-sale-securities, and accounts retdéva he Company has established guidelines ta limexposure to credit risk by placing
investments with a number of high credit qualitgtitutions, in U.S. Treasury securities or divefisif its investment portfolio and placing
investments with maturities that maintain safetg Bguidity within the Company's liquidity needs.

Accounts Receivable, Allowances for Doubtful Act®and Cash Discoun

The Company extends credit to its custorf@rproduct sales resulting in accounts receivablestomer accounts are monitored for past
due amounts. Past due accounts receivable, detirton
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Note 1. Business and Significant Accounting Policgg Continued)

be uncollectible, are written off against the akkmee for doubtful accounts. Allowances for doubtfotounts are estimated based upon pa:
amounts, historical losses and existing econonuitofa, and are adjusted periodically. The Compdfer®cash discounts to its customers,

generally 2% of the sales price, as an incentivgpfompt payment. The estimate of cash discountscigrded at the time of sale. The Comp
accounts for the cash discounts by reducing revandeaccounts receivable by the amount of the digsdt expects the customers to take.
accounts receivable are reported in the consotidadd¢ance sheets, net of the allowances for doudtftounts and cash discounts.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of arsharket. Cost is determined using the firstinst-out method for all inventories, which are
valued using a weighted average cost method caéclifar each production batch. Inventory includesdost of the active pharmaceutical
ingredients, or APIs, raw materials and third-paxytract manufacturing and packaging servicesréntloverhead costs associated with
production and distribution are allocated to thprapriate cost pool and then absorbed into invgritassed on the units produced or distribt
assuming normal capacity, in the applicable period.

Inventory costs of product shipped to comos, but not yet recognized as revenue, are redaxithin inventories on the consolidated
balance sheets and are subsequently recognizedttofogoods sold when revenue recognition criteaiae been met.

The Company's policy is to write down intey that has become obsolete, inventory that fasstbasis in excess of its expected net
realizable value and inventory in excess of exgentgquirements. The estimate of excess quanttisghbjective and primarily dependent on
Company's estimates of future demand for a paaiquioduct. If the estimate of future demand i€@uaate based on actual sales, the Corr
may increase the write down for excess inventoryHat product and record a charge to inventoryaiimpent in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The Comparigdically evaluates the carrying value of inwepton hand for potential excess amount
over demand using the same lower of cost or manetoach as that used to value the inventory. ¥esalt of this evaluation, for the year
ended December 31, 2014, the Company recognizatdlacharge of $2.2 million for Qsymia inventori@s hand in excess of projected
demand. For the year ended December 31, 2013,dimp&ny recognized a total charge of $10.2 mill@n@symia inventories on hand in
excess of demand, plus a purchase commitment fee.

Property and Equipmel

Property and equipment is stated at cagireiudes leasehold improvements, computers aftea@ and furniture and fixtures. For
financial reporting, depreciation is computed udimg straight-line method over estimated usefiddiof two to seven years for computers,
software, furniture and fixtures. Leasehold impmoeats are amortized using the straitjie- method over the shorter of the expected lézarse
or the estimated useful lives. Expenditures foamepand maintenance, which do not extend the Lbiff the property and equipment, are
expensed as incurred. Upon retirement, the assetaod related accumulated depreciation are reliéneen the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. Gains and losses associated gfithsitions are reflected as a component of otleenie, net in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.
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Long-lived assets, such as property andbetgent, are reviewed for impairment whenever eventshanges in circumstances indicate tha
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recblearRecoverability of assets to be held and usedeasured by a comparison of the carr
amount of an asset to an estimate of undiscountedef cash flows expected to be generated by #et.d6the carrying amount of the asset
exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impaitroharge is recognized for the amount by whiehctirrying amount of the asset exceeds
the fair value of the asset.

Debt Issuance Cos

Debt issuance costs, which are includeathier assets, are amortized as interest expens¢haveontractual terms of the related credit
facilities.

Revenue Recognitic
Product Revenue:

The Company recognizes product revenue frensales of Qsymia when: (i) persuasive evidémaean arrangement exists, (ii) delivery
has occurred and title has passed, (iii) the psi¢exed or determinable, and (iv) collectabilis/rieasonably assured. Revenue from sales
transactions where the customer has the righttorréhe product is recognized at the time of saly if: (i) the Company's price to the
customer is substantially fixed or determinabléhatdate of sale, (ii) the customer has paid thmgamy, or the customer is obligated to pay
Company and the obligation is not contingent oaleesf the product, (iii) the customer's obligattorthe Company would not be changed in
the event of theft or physical destruction or daenafithe product, (iv) the customer acquiring thedpict for resale has economic substance
apart from that provided by the Company, (v) thenpany does not have significant obligations foufatperformance to directly bring about
resale of the product by the customer, and (vigiiheunt of future returns can be reasonably estighat

Product Revenue Allowances:

Product revenue is recognized net of casisideration paid to the Company's customers, vghatdes and certified pharmacies, for
services rendered by the wholesalers and pharmiacéezordance with the wholesalers and certifiearmacy services network agreements,
and include a fixed rate per prescription shippadi monthly program management and data fees. Heggizes are not deemed sufficiently
separable from the customers' purchase of the ptpttherefore, they are recorded as a reductiar\vanue at the time of revenue recognition.

Other product revenue allowances includgtgeprompt pay discounts and allowances offeceithé Company's customers, program
rebates and chargebacks. These product revenueaaltes are recognized as a reduction of revernihe ¢ater of the date at which the related
revenue is recognized or the date at which thevalhee is offered. The Company also offers discpomgrams to patients. Calculating certain
of these items involves estimates and judgmentsdas sales or invoice data, contractual termization rates, new information regarding
changes in these programs' regulations and guétetmt would impact the amount of the actual e=hat chargebacks. The Company review
the adequacy of product revenue allowances on deglyabasis. Amounts accrued for product
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revenue allowances are adjusted when trends oifisagrt events indicate that adjustment is appitprand to reflect actual experience.

Qsymia was approved by the FDA in July 200t Company sells Qsymia product in the U.S. iolesalers and select certified
pharmacies through their home delivery pharmacyiees networks, which are collectively its custosaésnder this arrangement, title and risk
of loss transfer to the Company's customers uptivedy of the product to their distribution faciés. Wholesalers, in turn, sell product to
certified retail pharmacies. Both mail order anitecertified pharmacies in turn, sell and dispedsectly to patients either at their retail
pharmacies or through their mail order home dejiwarvice.

The Company shipped initial orders of Qsyhoi its customers in September 2012, and in Judy8 2he Company expanded its distribu
network to include certified retail pharmacies atardance with the FDA-approved amendment to thag2my's NDA for Qsymia. Qsymia
has a 3Gnonth shelf life and the Company grants rightgg@ustomers to return unsold product three magmtios to and up to 12 months af
product expiration and issue credits that may hiegh against existing or future invoices. Givea tiompany's limited history of selling
Qsymia and the lengthy return period, the Compasgyriot been able to reliably estimate expectedngif Qsymia at the time of shipment,
and therefore it recognizes revenue when unitsliagensed to patients through prescriptions, athvpoint, the product is not subject to ret
or when the right of return expires. The Compantainis the prescription shipment data from the plaaies to determine the amount of
revenue to recognize.

The Company will continue to recognize rave for Qsymia based upon prescription sell-throwgffi it has sufficient historical
information to reliably estimate returns. As of Bether 31, 2014, the Company had recorded defesxehue of $16.4 million related to
shipments of Qsymia, which represents product gufp its customers, but not yet dispensed to matirough prescriptions. A
corresponding accounts receivable is also recdiatethis amount, as the payments from customersatreontingent upon the sale of product
to patients.

Supply Revenue:

The Company recognizes supply revenue tiansales of STENDRA or SPEDRA when the four besienue recognition criteria
described above are met. The Company produces SRANID SPEDRA through a contract manufacturing parand then sells it through its
commercialization partners. The Company is the anjmmesponsible party in the commercial supplyrageanents and bears significant risk in
the fulfillment of the obligations, including riskssociated with manufacturing, regulatory comgiéaand quality assurance, as well as
inventory, financial and credit loss. As such, @@mpany recognizes supply revenue on a gross asig@sncipal party in the arrangements.
The Company's commercialization partners for STER@R SPEDRA sell the product through their disttibn channels to patients. Under
the Company's product supply agreements, as lotigegzroduct meets specified product dating cetatithe time of shipment to the partner,
the Company's commercialization partners do noetzaxight of return or credit for expired produts. such, the Company is able to recognize
revenue for products that meet this criteria attithe of shipment. However, for certain initial grect supply orders under our agreements, we
supplied product which did not meet the commerzadion partners' criteria. Given STENDRA or SPEDRIAhg 48-month shelf life and lack
of selling history, the Company has not been ableliably estimate expected

120




Table of Contents

VIVUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
Note 1. Business and Significant Accounting Policgg Continued)

returns of product at the time of shipment for ¢higstial orders. Therefore, for these orders, nexewas initially deferred and the Company
recognizes revenue when units are dispensed tengsthrough prescriptions, at which point, thedpigi is not subject to return. The Company
obtains the prescription shipment data from its wmrtialization partners to determine the amoumeweénue to recognize. The Company had
$1.5 million in deferred revenue related to STEND&ASPEDRA product supply as of December 31, 2014.

Revenue from Multiple-Element Arrangements:

The Company accounts for multiple-elemerdgragements, such as license and commercializagogements in which a customer may
purchase several deliverables, in accordance wi#@ Aopic 605-25Revenue Recognition—Multiple-Element ArrangememtASC 605-25.
The Company evaluates if the deliverables in thengement represent separate units of accountirdetermining the units of accounting,
management evaluates certain criteria, includingthér the deliverables have value to its customers stand-alone basis. Factors considere
in this determination include whether the delivéedb proprietary to the Company, whether the ausiocan use the license or other
deliverables for their intended purpose withoutrieeipt of the remaining elements, whether thaeevaf the deliverable is dependent on the
undelivered items, and whether there are otheramntiat can provide the undelivered items. Detibbrs that meet these criteria are
considered a separate unit of accounting. Delivesathat do not meet these criteria are combineldaanounted for as a single unit of
accounting.

When deliverables are separable, the Coynallmcates non-contingent consideration to eaplausge unit of accounting based upon the
relative selling price of each element. When appythe relative selling price method, the Compagigdnines the selling price for each
deliverable using vendor-specific objective evidgmar VSOE, of selling price, if it exists, or ttkiparty evidence, or TPE, of selling price, if it
exists. If neither VSOE nor TPE of selling pricasts for a deliverable, the Company uses best agtinselling price, or BESP, for that
deliverable. Significant management judgment mayel@ired to determine the relative selling pri€each element. Revenue allocated to
element is then recognized based on when the follpfour basic revenue recognition criteria are foetach element: (i) persuasive evidenc
of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery has ocalimeservices have been rendered; (iii) the psdexed or determinable; and (iv) collectability
is reasonably assured.

Determining whether and when some of tleegeria have been satisfied often involves assionptand judgments that can have a
significant impact on the timing and amount of rewe the Company reports. Changes in assumptigusigments, or changes to the elements
in an arrangement, could cause a material increadecrease in the amount of revenue reportecarticular period.

ASC Topic 605-2&Revenue Recognition—Milestone Method ASC 605-28, established the milestone metlscghaacceptable method
of revenue recognition for certain contingent, éxMeased payments under research and developmangaments. Under the milestone
method, a payment that is contingent upon the g&ehient of a substantive milestone is recognizets iantirety in the period in which the
milestone is achieved. A milestone is an eventh@} can be achieved based in whole or in padithrer the Company's performance or on the
occurrence of a specific outcome resulting fromGoenpany's performance, (ii) for which there isstabtive uncertainty at the date the
arrangement
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is entered into that the event will be achieved @if) that would result in additional paymentdrimgdue to the Company. The determination
that a milestone is substantive requires judgmedti@made at the inception of the arrangementdibines are considered substantive when
the consideration earned from the achievementeofititestone is: (i) commensurate with either thenpany's performance to achieve the
milestone or the enhancement of value of the iteliveked as a result of a specific outcome reayitiom the Company's performance to
achieve the milestone, (ii) relates solely to pastormance, and (iii) is reasonable relative taeliverables and payment terms in the
arrangement.

Other contingent, event-based paymentsweddor which payment is either contingent solghon the passage of time or the results of
collaborative partner's performance are not comsitlenilestones under ASC 605-28. In accordance A8 605-25, such payments will be
recognized as revenue when all of the four basiemee recognition criteria are met.

Revenues recognized for royalty paymergs@acognized as earned in accordance with the tefithe license and commercialization
agreements.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold for units dispensedatibepts through prescriptions, or shipped to custsmwithout a right of return or credit, includes
the inventory costs of APIs, third-party contra@nmufacturing costs, packaging and distributiong;astyalties, cargo insurance, freight,
shipping, handling and storage costs, and overbests of the employees involved with productiore@fically, cost of goods sold for Qsymia
dispensed to patients includes the inventory aafstise APIs, third-party contract manufacturing guagkaging and distribution costs, royalties
cargo insurance, freight, shipping, handling amdagfe costs, and overhead costs of the employeely@u with production; while cost of
goods sold for STENDRA shipped to partners inclutiesinventory costs of purchased tablets, freigiitpping and handling costs. The cost o
goods sold associated with deferred revenue on @synd STENDRA product shipments is recorded asrdsd costs, which are included in
inventories in the consolidated balance sheetd,suth time as the deferred revenue is recognized.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development, or R&D, expeins@gde license fees, related compensation, caarstsltfees, facilities costs, administrative
expenses related to R&D activities and clinicalltdosts incurred by clinical research organizaionCROs, and research institutions under
agreements that are generally cancelable, amormyg lated R&D costs. The Company also recorduatsfor estimated ongoing clinical
trial costs. Clinical trial costs represent coaturred by CRO and clinical sites and include atilsiag for clinical trials and patient recruitment
costs. These costs are recorded as a compone&ideRpenses and are expensed as incurred. Und€rdimpany's agreements, progress
payments are typically made to investigators, céihsites and CROs. The Company analyzes the m®gfdhe clinical trials, including levels
of patient enrollment, invoices received and castéd costs when evaluating the adequacy of acdialgtities. Significant judgments and
estimates must be made and used in determiningcttreed balance in any accounting period. Actuallte could differ from those estimates
under different assumptions. Revisions are chatgeapense in the period in which the facts theg gise to the revision become known.
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In addition, the Company has obtained gdbtpatented intellectual properties under sevieeising agreements for use in research and
development activities. Non-refundable licensingmants made for intellectual properties that havalternative future uses are expensed to
research and development as incurred.

Advertising Expense

Advertising expenses are expensed as iedufihe Company incurred advertising and sales gtiomcosts related to its marketing of
Qsymia of $10.1 million and $26.1 million in 2014d2013, respectively.

Share-Based Payments

The Company follows the fair value methé@acounting for share-based compensation arranggsnreaccordance with FASB ASC
topic 718,Compensation—Stock CompensatmmASC 718. Compensation expense is recognizendg asfairvalue based method, for all cc
related to share-based payments including stodkropand restricted stock units and stock issuel@iuthe employee stock purchase plan. Th
Company estimates the fair value of share-basech@atyawards on the date of the grant using thekBiaholes optiomricing model. The fa
value of each option award is estimated on thetgtate using a Black-Scholes option-pricing modiee expected term, which represents the
period of time that options granted are expectdaktoutstanding, is derived by analyzing the histdexperience of similar awards, giving
consideration to the contractual terms of the shased awards, vesting schedules and expectatidutice employee behavior. Expected
volatilities are estimated using the historicalreharice performance over the expected term obitmn. The Company also considers other
factors such as its planned clinical trials andeottompany activities that may affect the volatitf VIVUS's stock in the future but determir
that, at this time, the historical volatility wam indicative of expected future stock price \ibitst The risk-free interest rate for the period
matching the expected term of the option is basethe U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at timeetiof the grant. The Black-Scholes Model
also requires a single expected dividend yieldnaimput. The Company does not anticipate payingdivigends in the near future. The
Company develops pre-vesting forfeiture assumpti@sed on an analysis of historical data.

Nor-Recurring Charges

The Company's non-recurring charges con$istoxy contest expenses and charges relatitiiet@€ompany's cost reduction plan,
including employee severance, one-time terminatiemefits and ongoing benefits related to the rednctf its workforce, facilities and other
exit costs. Liabilities for costs associated with tost reduction plan are recognized when thditials incurred, as opposed to when
management commits to a cost reduction plan. litiaddliabilities associated with cost reducticetigities are measured at fair value. One-
time termination benefits are expensed at the thi@tentity notifies the employee, unless the emgeayust provide future service, in which
case the benefits are expensed ratably over theefaervice period. Ongoing benefits are expendezhwost reduction activities are probable
and the benefit amounts are estimable. Other postarily consist of legal, consulting, and othests related to employee terminations ant
expensed when incurred. Termination benefits dimilzed in accordance with the VIVUS, Inc. Amendedl Restated Change in Control anc
Severance Agreement or the termination benefits, ala applicable.
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Income Taxe

The Company makes certain estimates arghjedts in determining income tax expense for fir@rstatement purposes. These estimate
and judgments occur in the calculation of certaimndssets and liabilities, which arise from differes in the timing of recognition of revenue
and expense for tax and financial statement pugose

As part of the process of preparing the gany's consolidated financial statements, the Comfsarequired to estimate its income taxes
in each of the jurisdictions in which the Compapg@ates. This process involves the Company estigné current tax exposure under the
most recent tax laws and assessing temporary eliféers resulting from differing treatment of iterasthx and accounting purposes. These
differences result in deferred tax assets andliliglsi which are included in the Company's cordatifed balance sheets.

The Company assesses the likelihood thaitlibe able to recover its deferred tax assete Tompany considers all available evidence,
both positive and negative, including historicaldks of income, expectations and risks associatddestimates of future taxable income and
ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategi@ssessing the need for a valuation allowdhids not more likely than not that the
Company will recover its deferred tax assets, themg@any will increase its provision for taxes byaeting a valuation allowance against the
deferred tax assets that the Company estimatesatillltimately be recoverable. As a result of @mmpany's analysis of all available
evidence, both positive and negative, as of Dece®bge2014, it was considered more likely thanthat the Company's deferred tax assets
would not be realized. However, should there bhange in the Company's ability to recover its defittax assets, the Company would
recognize a benefit to its tax provision in theigeiin which the Company determines that it is mikely than not that it will recover its
deferred tax assets.

The Company recognizes interest and pesaditcrued on any unrecognized tax benefits ampament of its provision for income taxes.

FASB ASC topic 740ncome Taxesor ASC 740, prescribes a recognition threshotfiraerasurement attribute for the financial statemet
recognition and measurement of uncertain tax mvsttaken or expected to be taken in a compangteria tax return, and also provides
guidance on derecognition, classification, inteeest penalties, accounting in interim periods, ldsare, and transition. ASC 740-10 utilizes a
two-step approach for evaluating uncertain taxtjwss. Step one, Recognition, requires a comparletermine if the weight of available
evidence indicates that a tax position is mordyikiean not to be sustained upon audit, includiegptution of related appeals or litigation
processes, if any. Step two, Measurement, is basélde largest amount of benefit, which is moreliikhan not to be realized on ultimate
settlement. The Company also recognizes interespanalties accrued on any unrecognized tax berefih component of its provision for
income taxes. As of December 31, 2014, the Compaeg not have any unrecognized tax positions.

Discontinued operation

On November 5, 2010, the Company compltétecgale of the MUSE product to Meda AB. For thargeended December 31, 2013 and
2012, the Company recorded some minor adjustmetlated to the MUSE disposition, primarily adjustitssto its sales reserves for accrued
product returns.
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Foreign Currency Transactior

Transactions in foreign currencies araahyt recorded at the rates of exchange prevaitinghe dates of the transactions. Monetary asse
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies @translated into the Company's functional awyeat the rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date.

Non-monetary items carried at fair valuatthre denominated in foreign currencies are refated at the rates prevailing on the initial
transaction dates.

Exchange differences arising on the settlemf monetary items, and on the retranslatiomofetary items, are included in the profit and
loss account for the period. Exchange differencistng on the retranslation of non-monetary iterasied at fair value are included in other
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateroéotserations for the period.

Contingencies and Litigation

The Company is periodically involved inplises and litigation related to a variety of matt&When it is probable that the Company will
experience a loss, and that loss is quantifiabkeGompany records appropriate reserves. The Compaards legal fees and costs as an
expense when incurred.

Intangible Asset

The Company records acquired intangibletasst cost and amortizes them over the estimatefdidife of the asset. When events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carmyahge of intangible assets may not be recoverdieCompany evaluates such impairme
the net book value of such assets exceeds theefuhdiscounted cash flows attributable to suchtesSeould an impairment exist, the
impairment loss would be measured based on thesexagrying value of the asset over the asset'sdhie or discounted estimates of future
cash flows attributable to the assets.

Net Loss Per Shai

The Company computes basic net loss pee stpplicable to common stockholders based on #ighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted os$ per share is based on the weighted averageenwihtommon and common equivalent
shares, which represent shares that may be issukd future upon the exercise of outstanding stqatlons or upon a net share settlement of
the Company's Convertible Notes. Common share atgrits are excluded from the computation in perindshich they have an anti-dilutive
effect. Stock options for which the price exceddsdverage market price over the period have ardéutive effect on net income per share
and, accordingly, are excluded from the calculatf®ndiscussed in Note 13, the triggering conversionditions that allow holders of the
Convertible Notes to convert have not been meduth conditions are met and the note holders opdiwert, the Company may choose to pay
in cash, common stock, or a combination thereofvéler, if this occurs, the Company has the intadtability to net share settle this debt
security; thus the Company uses the treasury stmtkod for earnings per share purposes. Due teftbet of the capped call instrument
purchased in relation to the Convertible Notesiglveould be no net shares issued until the markieievof the Company's stock exceeds
$20 per share, and thus no impact on diluted et per share. Further, when there is a netddissr potentially dilutive common equivals
shares are not included in the calculation of og$ per share since their inclusion would be ahitide.
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The computation of basic and diluted neslper share for the years ended December 31, 2013,and 2012, is as follows:

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands, except per share date
Net loss $ (82,647) $ (174,450 $ (139,88)
Net loss per sha—basic and dilute: $ (0.80 $ (1.72) $ (1.42)
Shares used in the computation of net |
per shar—basic and dilute: 103,45t 101,17: 98,28¢

As the Company recognized a net loss frontiouing operations for the years ended Decembg?@14, 2013 and 2012, 8,096,000,

7,027,000 and 4,172,000 potentially dilutive opsi@mutstanding were not included in the computatiodiluted net loss, respectively, because
the effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Recent Accounting Requireme

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014R8yenue from Contracts with Customens ASU 2014-09. ASU 2014-09 provides a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accognftor revenue arising from contracts with custeraerd supersedes most current revenue
recognition guidance, including industry-specifiagdance. ASU 2014-09 will require an entity to rgeize revenue when it transfers promised
goods or services to customers in an amount tflatte the consideration to which the entity expaotbe entitled in exchange for those good:
or services. This update creates a five-step nfodentities to use when considering the termssofevenue contract as follows:

0) identifying the contract(s) with the customer,

(i) identifying the separate performance obligationthacontract,

(i)  determining the transaction price,

(iv)  allocating the transaction price to the sepaperformance obligations, and

(v) recognizing revenue when each performanceyatitin is satisfied.

ASU 2014-09 will be effective for the Company'séityear beginning January 1, 2017 and subsequiemimn periods. The Company has the
option to apply the provisions of ASU 2014-09 eithetrospectively to each prior reporting periodgemted or retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of applying this ASU recognizedree date of initial application. Early adoptiariot permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the method by which it will implement B2014-09 and the impact the adoption of this ASlUlvave on the Company's
consolidated financial statements.
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The fair value and the amortized cost shc&ash equivalents, and available-for-sale siesiby major security type consist of the
following (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2014:

Gross Gross
Cash and cash equivalents and availat-for-sale Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
securities Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash and money market fun $ 83,17 $ — $ — $ 83,17«
U.S. Treasury securitie 216,42! 35 (63) 216,39
Total 299,59¢ 85 (63) 299,57:
Less amounts classified as cash equival (83,174 — — (83,174
Total availabl-for-sale securitie $ 216,42! $ 3k $ (63) $ 216,39’
As of December 31, 2013:
Gross Gross
Cash and cash equivalents and availat-for-sale Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
securities Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash and money market fun $ 103,26: $ — $ — $ 103,26:
U.S. Treasury securitie 239,95¢ 69 (4) 240,02:
Total 343,22: 69 4) 343,28t
Less amounts classified as cash equival (103,267 — — (103,267)
Total availabl-for-sale securitie $ 239,95¢ $ 68 $ (4) $ 240,02

As of December 31, 2014, the Company'slavi@-for-sale securities have original contractaaturities up to 24 months. However, the
Company may or may not hold securities with statedurities greater than 12 months until maturityrdsponse to changes in the availability
of and the yield on alternative investments as agliquidity requirements, the Company may selsthsecurities prior to their stated
maturities. As these securities are viewed by the@any as available to support current operatisssyrities with maturities beyond
12 months are classified as current assets. Dtieetoshort-term maturities, the Company believes the fair value of its bank deposits,
accounts payable and accrued expenses approxinestearrying value.

Fair Value Measuremen

The authoritative literature for fair valomeasurements established a three-tier fair vakrarechy, which prioritizes the inputs in
measuring fair value. These tiers are as follovexdl 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoéeket prices in active markets; Level 2,
defined as inputs other than the quoted pricestiteamarkets that are either directly or indingabservable; and Level 3, defined as
significant unobservable inputs (entity developssuaptions) in which little or no market data exist

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, all ef@@mpany's cash and cash equivalents and avaitabdale securities were measured at fair
value on a recurring basis, and classified as Lewelthe fair value hierarchy. There were no aseetiabilities measured on a recurring basis
where Level 2 or Level 3 valuation techniques wesed.
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Accounts receivable as of December 31, 20112013, respectively, consist of the followimgthousands):

Balance as o
December 31 December 31
2014 2013

Qsymia $ 6,87/ $ 6,77
STENDRA/SPEDRA 4,871 5,571
11,74¢ 12,34¢

Qsymia allowance for cash discou (150) (134)
Net $ 11,59 $ 12,21

There was no allowance for doubtful accew@aitDecember 31, 2014 or 2013.
Note 4. Inventories

Inventories as of December 31, 2014 an@2f¥spectively, consist of the following (in thausls):

Balance as o
December 31 December 31
2014 2013

Raw materials $ 29,76 $ 28,54¢
Work-in-process 88¢ 12
Finished good 1,54¢ 14,79:
Deferred cost 2,24¢ 5,15:
Inventories $ 34,447 $ 48,50:

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the ratenals inventories consist primarily of the aetpharmaceutical ingredients, or API, for the
commercialization of Qsymia and finished goods.dbefd costs inventories consist of both QsymiaSRENDRA. The Qsymia deferred co
represents Qsymia product shipped to the Comparmgtesalers, certified retail pharmacies and dedihome delivery pharmacy services
networks, but not yet dispensed to patients thrqargkcriptions, net of prompt payment discountd, fan which recognition of revenue has
been deferred. The STENDRA deferred costs represetatin initial orders of STENDRA or SPEDRA protlugth the right of return or cred
which have not met the required specificationsraf of the Company's partners, and for which redmgmof revenue has been deferred.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cogharket. Cost is determined using the firsfinst-out method for all inventories, which are
valued using a weighted-average cost method cadzlifar each production batch. The Company peralyievaluates the carrying value of
inventory on hand for potential excess amount oesnand using the same lower of cost or market @gpras that used to value the inventory
As a result of this evaluation, for the year enBedember 31, 2014, the Company recognized a totabe of $2.2 million for finished goods
and certain non-API raw materials on hand in exoésiemand. For the year ended December 31, 2b&;dmpany recognized a total charge
of $10.2 million for Qsymia inventories on handeixcess of demand, plus a purchase commitment fee.
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These charges are included in inventory impairnaedtother non-recurring charges on the consolidstegéments of operations.
Note 5. Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets cohsig fwllowing (in thousands):

Balance as o
December 31 December 31
2014 2013

Prepaid sales and marketing exper $ 4,12: $ 5,18
Prepaid insuranc 1,61z 3,617
Debt issuance cos 1,24¢ 1,247
Withholding tax receivabl — 5,56(
Other prepaid expenses and as 5,84: 4,32
Total $ 12,82¢ $ 19,93¢

The amounts included in other prepaid esperand assets consist primarily of prepaymentifore services and interest income
receivable. These and other prepayment amountssepir probable future economic benefits obtainembotrolled by the Company as a result
of past transactions or events, which meet thanifiein of an asset under FASB Concept StatemeAs&uch, these costs have been deferr
prepaid expenses and other assets on the consdlidatance sheets and will be either (i) chargekpense accordingly when the related
prepaid services are rendered to the Companyi) @mofiverted to cash when the receivables areatelieby the Company.

Note 6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the foiilhg (in thousands):

Balance as o
December 31 December 31
2014 2013
Computers and softwa $ 2,40¢ $ 2,301
Furniture and fixture 937 93¢
Manufacturing equipmer 213 213
Leasehold improvemen 87€ 75€
4,43( 4,20¢
Accumulated depreciatic (3,089 (2,259
Property and equipment, r $ 1,34¢ $ 1,95/
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Non-current assets consist of the followimghousands):

Balance as o
December 31 December 31
2014 2013
Debt issuance cos $ 3,37t % 4.,62(
Other nor-current assel 3,78( 1,281
Total $ 7,15 $ 5,901

The amounts included in other non-curresess primarily consist of patent acquisition assignment costs (see Note 10).
Note 8. Accrued and Other Liabilities

Accrued and other liabilities consist of flellowing (in thousands):

Balance as o
December 31 December 31
2014 2013

Accrued employee compensation and ben $ 423C $ 3,40¢
Accrued no-recurring charges (see Note : 3,28¢ 4,57
Accrued interest on debt (see Note 2,921 5,541
Accrued manufacturing cos 40C 4,071
Other accrued liabilitie 6,20z 6,39¢
Total $ 17,037 $ 23,99!

The amounts included in other accrued liiéds consist of obligations primarily relateddales, marketing, research, clinical developn
corporate activities and royalties.

Note 9. Non-Current Accrued and Other Liabilities

Noneurrent accrued and other liabilities were $0.8iamlat December 31, 2014 and were primarily cosgatiof costs associated with
exit of certain operating leases and security déposlating to the sub-lease agreements (see MY)teNon-current accrued and other liabilities
at December 31, 2013 of $3.0 million, consistedraployee termination costs related to a cost réaluglan and exit of certain operating
leases (see Note 10).
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Note 10. Inventory Impairment and Other Non-Recurring Charges

Inventory impairment and other non-recigrémarges for the years ended December 31, 2012& 8] consist of (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31

2014 2013
Inventory impairment (see Note $ 2,17C $ 10,22
Patent settlemel 1,94¢ —
Shar~based compensation (see Note 343 14,07:
Proxy contest expens — 8,86:
Employee severance and related c 1,711 8,54¢
Operating lease termination co — 1,21(
Total inventory impairment and other non-recurring
expense $ 6,17¢ $ 42,91¢

As discussed in Note 4, for the year eridedember 31, 2014, the Company recorded a charge.®fmillion for finished goods and
certain non-API raw materials on hand in excessemiand. During the year ended December 31, 20&3;dmpany recorded a charge of
$10.2 million for inventories on hand in excesslemand, plus a purchase commitment fee.

In September 2014, the Company paid $5l@min connection with the transfer and assignt@rcertain patents from Janssen
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Of the $5.0 million, approiety $1.9 million was recognized as a non-recgrerpense for the year ended
December 31, 2014, as it related to a legal se¢thénThe remaining balance of approximately $3.Hianiis recorded as an intangible asset
and is being amortized as cost of goods sold dwepériod in which the Company expects to benefinfthe patents through their expiration
dates. Of the $3.1 million, $0.3 million was receddn cost of goods sold in 2014, and the remaifiihg million is included in non-current
assets on the consolidated balance sheet andenalitortized over an estimated remaining life ofrapimately 5.25 years

On July 18, 2013, the Company enteredangettlement agreement with First Manhattan in eotion with a proxy contest related to the
Company's 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Aditg to the terms of the settlement agreementertttan a majority of the members of
the Company's Board of Directors resigned and newbers were appointed. The change in the majdfriiyeomembers of the Company's
Board of Directors, effective July 19, 2013, trigeg certain "change of control" benefits in accomawith the Amended Change of Control
and Severance Agreements, or the Amended Agreenvattiscertain of the Company's employees. UnderAimended Agreements, all
unvested stock options held by these employeesratitally vested in full and became immediatelyreisable. In addition, the resignations
both the Company's Chief Executive Officer and ielerd resulted in severance charges under the AeteAdreements. As part of the
settlement agreement with First Manhattan, the Gompaid the reasonable and documented expensgssiddby First Manhattan in
connection with its proxy contest, which totaleghagximately $2.9 million.

As part of the Company's ongoing effortsaiduce costs by eliminating expenses that aressantial to expanding the use of Qsymia, th
Company implemented a cost reduction plan thataedithe Company's workforce by approximately 20leyges, or 17%, excluding the
sales force,
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for the year ended December 31, 2013. As of DeceBihe2013, this cost reduction plan was substiyntamplete.

The following table sets forth activity fttre proxy contest and cost reduction plan foryéers ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the
balance of which is primarily comprised of emplogeserance costs (in thousands):

Proxy Employee Facilities- Total
contest severance related Cash
costs costs costs(1) Expense
Balance of accrued costs at December 31, : $ — $ — % — $ —
Charges 8,86: 8,54¢ 1,21( 18,61¢
Payment: (8,86%) (2,037) (18¢€) (11,08¢)
Balance of accrued costs at December 31, ; $ — $ 650¢ $ 1,022 $ 7,531
Charges(2 1,711 — 1,711
Payment: — (4,940 (450 (5,390
Balance of accrued costs at December 31, : $ — $ 328 $ 572 $ 3,852

(1)  The accrued facilities-related costs at DecembeP314 represent estimated losses, net of expsatddases, on space
vacated as part of the Company's cost reductian plae noncancelable operating leases and schepajedents against
the amounts accrued extend through May 2020, uthesSompany is able to negotiate earlier termomesti

(2) In addition to the above non-recurring chargies Company incurred non-cash share-based comtpamexpense of
$0.3 million and $14.1 million for the years end@ecember 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively (see Nt

Commencing on May 1, 2014, the Companyeasg#d a portion of its Evelyn Lease consistingopfeximately 14,105 square feet of
space for a term of 36 months at a starting anreumhl rate of $42 per square feet (subject toeabiecreases). The sublessee is entitled to
abatement of monthly installments of rents for rherine through four. Minimum rents expected todaeived under this sublease as of
December 31, 2014 are $601,000, $626,000 and $2X1 h(iscal years 2015, 2016 and 2017, respegtivéhon the completion of the

sublease for this space, the Company expectshterdihd usage or to locate a suitable sublessethéoremaining duration of the Company's
Evelyn Lease.

Commencing on September 1, 2014, the Comnpalnleased the expansion space relating to theddaesase. The sublease consists of
approximately 4,914 square feet of space for a tdfrB1 months at a starting annual rental rate5f er square feet (subject to agreed
increases). The sublessee is entitled to abatenfigime first monthly installment. Minimum rents exqted to be received under this sublease a
of December 31, 2014 are $268,000, $274,000 an@®®69n fiscal years 2015, 2016 and 2017, respelgtiv

Of the total accrued employee severanceanilities-related costs as of December 31, 28843 million is included under current
liabilities in "Accrued and other liabilities" arD.5 million is included in "Non-current accrueddasther liabilities."
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The balance of the accrued employee seweramnd facilities-related costs at December 31429 anticipated to be paid out as follows (in
thousands):

2015 $ 3,28¢
2016 20C
2017 341
2018 11
Thereaftel 16

$ 3,85C

Note 11. Deferred Revenue
Qsymia Deferred Revenue

At December 31, 2014, the Company had $a6llibn in current deferred revenue, which represe)symia product shipped to the
Company's wholesalers, certified retail pharmaaies certified home delivery pharmacy services ngkgjdout not yet dispensed to patients
through prescriptions, net of prompt payment distsu

STENDRA® or SPEDRA™ Deferred Revenue

At December 31, 2014, the Company had 88lidon and $8.9 million in current and non-curretgferred revenue, respectively, primarily
related to a prepayment for future royalties oesaf SPEDRA. Additionally, the Company suppliedae initial orders of STENDRA or
SPEDRA product with a right of return or credit,isthhave not met the required specifications of oithie Company's commercialization
partners and, for which, the Company has deferte8 fillion in the current deferred revenue balaamcBecember 31, 2014.

Note 12. License, Commercialization and Supply Agements

During 2013, the Company entered into l&geand commercialization agreements and commeigiglly agreements with the Menarini
Group, through its subsidiary Berlin-Chemie AGMenarini, Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Auxith, and Sanofi and its affiliate, or
Sanofi, to commercialize and promote STENDRA or BRE in their respective territories. Menarini'sritary is comprised of over
40 European countries, including the EU, plus Aaligtrand New Zealand. Auxilium's territory is conged of the United States and Canada
and their respective territories. In January 2@4ilium was purchased by Endo International, @anofi's territory is comprised of Africa,
the Middle East, Turkey and Eurasia.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, tmepany recognized $38.6 million in license and stdee revenue primarily attributable to
milestone revenue related to product launchesriaiceEU countries, the approval of the Time-to-&trSlaim in the U.S., and the delivery of
the license rights and related know-how under gueement with Sanofi. For the year ended Decembe?(B13, the Company recognized
$55.8 million in license and milestone revenuemarily due to the delivery of license rights anthtred know-how under our agreement with
Auxilium, the upfront license fee with Menarini atite achievement of a regulatory milestone. Dutirggyears ended December 31, 2014 anc
2013, the Company recognized $26.5 million and $dilbon, respectively, in supply revenue
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relating to STENDRA or SPEDRA delivered under theious commercial supply agreements with Mena#iokilium and Sanofi.
Additionally in 2014, the Company recognized $3i8iom in royalty revenue based on net sales reggblly Menarini and Auxilium.

Note 13. Long-Term Debt
Convertible Senior Notes Due 2020

On May 21, 2013, the Company closed arriofeof $220.0 million in 4.5% Convertible Senioofés due May 1, 2020, or the
Convertible Notes. The Convertible Notes are goseroy an indenture, dated as of May 21, 2013 betwee Company and Deutsche Bank
National Trust Company, as trustee. On May 29, 2€18Company closed on an additional $30.0 milbbonvertible Notes upon exerci
of an option by the initial purchasers of the Catitsée Notes. Total net proceeds from the Convétiotes were approximately
$241.8 million. The Convertible Notes are convéetisait the option of the holders at any time prittte close of business on the business day
immediately preceding November 1, 2019, only urgtain conditions. On or after November 1, 208dérs may convert all or any portion
of their Convertible Notes at any time at theirioptat the conversion rate then in effect, regaslief these conditions. Subject to certain
limitations, the Company will settle conversiongiué Convertible Notes by paying or deliveringttes case may be, cash, shares of its
common stock or a combination of cash and sharesréommon stock, at the Company's election. RFeytars ended December 31, 2014
and 2013, total interest expense related to thev€rtible Notes was $25.0 million and $14.3 millioespectively, including amortization of
$14.7 million and $8.2 million of the debt discoamtd $784,000 and $444,000 of deferred financirsgs¢oespectively.

Senior Secured Notes Due 2018

On March 25, 2013, the Company enteredtimtdPurchase and Sale Agreement between the CgrapdrBioPharma Secured
Investments Il Holdings Cayman LP, a Cayman Iskaexkmpted limited partnership, providing for theghase of a debt-like instrument, or
the Senior Secured Notes. Under the agreemen€dhgany received $50 million, less $500,000 in fngdand facility payments, at the initial
closing on April 9, 2013. The Company had the aptlwut elected not to exercise it, to receive aftaohal $60 million, less $600,000 in a
funding payment, at a secondary closing no laten thanuary 15, 2014. For the years ended Decerib2034 and 2013, the interest expense
related to the Senior Secured Notes was $7.5 miflied $5.2 million, respectively, including amaatibn of deferred financing costs
amounting to $468,000 and $329,000, respectively.
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The following table summarizes informatmmthe debt (in thousands) as of December 31, 2014:

Convertible Senior Notes due 202(

Fair value of the liability compone $ 154,73

Accumulated accretion of discot 23,04¢
Net carrying value $ 177,78
Senior Secured Notes due 201
Carrying value $ 50,00(
Total Notes:

Fair value of the liability compone $ 204,73

Accumulated accretion of discou 23,04¢
Net carrying amount (Lor-term debt) 227,78:
Less: Current portio (10,459
Long-term debt, net of current portic $ 217,32

Note 14. Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 200ignilshares of common stock. As of December 31, 20142013, there were 103,729,000 and
103,161,000 shares, respectively, issued and odista

Preferred Stocl

The Company is authorized to issue fivdiamishares of undesignated preferred stock withravalue of $1.00 per share. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no prefshaks issued or outstanding. The Company mag &sares of preferred stock in the
future, without stockholder approval, upon sucimeas the Company's management and Board of Disetiay determine.

Stockholder Rights Plan

On March 26, 2007, the Board of Directdrthe Company adopted a Stockholder Rights PlatheRights Plan, and amended its byl:
Under the Rights Plan, the Company will issue adéind of one right for each share of its commoulstmeld by stockholders of record as of
the close of business on April 13, 2007.

The Rights Plan is designed to guard atjgiadial tender offers and other coercive tadiicgain control of the Company without offering
a fair and adequate price and terms to all of thengany's stockholders. The Rights Plan is interidgumtovide the Board of Directors with
sufficient time to consider any and all alternasgive such an action and is similar to plans adopyechany other publicly traded companies.
The Rights Plan was not adopted in response t@tasts to acquire the Company and the Compangtigware of any such efforts.

Each right will initially entitle stockhotuls to purchase a fractional share of the Compangferred stock for $26.00. However, the rights
are not immediately exercisable and will become@sable only upon the occurrence of certain evéhésperson or group acquires, or
announces a
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tender or exchange offer that would result in tbguésition of 15% or more of the Company's commtmels while the Stockholder Rights Plan
remains in place, then, unless the rights are reddeby the Company for $.001 per right, the righitsbecome exercisable by all rights
holders except the acquiring person or group ferGompany's shares or shares of the third-partyimrcaving a value of twice the right's
then-current exercise price. The Rights will exginethe earliest of (i) April 13, 2017 (the finadpration date), or (ii) redemption or exchange
of the Rights.

Note 15. Stock Option and Purchase Plans
Stock Option Plan

On March 29, 2010, the Company's Boardiodd@ors terminated the 2001 Stock Option Plaraddition, the Board of Directors adopted
and approved a new 2010 Equity Incentive Planh@r2010 Plan, with 32,000 shares remaining reseamddinissued under the 2001 Plan,
subject to the approval of the Company's stockhieldehe 2001 Plan, however, continues to govermr@syareviously granted under it. On
June 25, 2010, the Company's stockholders appitne?010 Plan at the Company's 2010 Annual Meetir®fockholders. The 2010 Plan
provides for the grant of stock options, stock apfation rights, restricted stock, restricted stooks, performance shares and performance
units to employees, directors and consultantsetgranted from time to time as determined by tharBaof Directors, the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors, or its desigmerhe term of the option is determined by ther8@ Directors on the date of grant but
shall not be longer than 10 years. Options undsmitlan generally vest over four years. The 20EhBIshare reserve, which the stockholders
approved, is 8,400,000 shares, plus any shareweeskut not issued pursuant to awards under tbé& P0an as of the date of stockholder
approval, or 99,975 shares, plus any shares subjeciistanding awards under the 2001 Plan thaterp otherwise terminate without having
been exercised in full, or are forfeited to or neased by the Company, up to a maximum of 8,1 Blshares (which was the number of
shares subject to outstanding options under th& P0n as of March 11, 2010). In September 20®B4Citimpany's stockholders approved an
increase to the total number of shares reservedrihd 2010 Plan by 5,950,000 for a total of 14,860 shares.
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Restricted Stock Uni

Beginning in 2012, the Company began igsuéstricted units under the 2010 Plan on a limitasis. A summary of restricted stock unit
award activity under the 2010 Plan is as follows:

Weighted
Number of Average
Restricted Grant Date
Stock Units Fair Value

Restricted stock units outstanding December 311; — —
Granted 35,000 $ 24.8¢

Vested — —
Forfeited — —
Restricted stock units outstanding, December 312 35,00( 24.8¢
Granted 144,501 12.6:
Vested (33,29¢) 14.1¢
Forfeited (146,20) 13.8:
Restricted stock units outstanding December 313: — —
Granted 521,90( 8.2(
Vested (70,500 8.37
Forfeited (117,900 8.17
Restricted stock units outstanding December 314 333,500 $ 8.17

Stock Options
A summary of stock option award activityden these plans is as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Balance at beginnir
of year 8,906,45 $ 12.0¢ 8,51091 $ 10.3¢ 8,57543 $ 6.17
Options:
Granted 935,80( $ 6.8¢ 4,166,29. $ 12.8¢ 2,850,111 $ 17.8(
Exercisec (37453) $ 4.4& (2,375,68) $ 57¢ (2,648,88) $ 5.0C
Cancellec (3,511,26) $ 11.4t (1,395,07) $ 14.5¢ (265,75) $ 9.2¢
Balance at end of
year 5956,45 $ 12.0¢ 8,906,45 $ 12.0¢ 8,510,991 $ 10.3:
Exercisable at end
year 4,053,322 $ 12.3¢ 6,616,55 $ 11.0C 4,781,300 $ 6.32
Weighted average
grant-date fair
value of options
granted during th
year $ 434 $ 8.3¢ $ 11.91
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At December 31, 2014, stock options wertstanding and exercisable as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Number Average Weighted- Number Weighted-
Outstanding at Remaining Average Exercisable Average
December 31, Contractual Exercise December 31, Exercise
Range of Exercise Price 2014 Life Price 2014 Price
$3.13- $8.91 2,075,02 4. 7year $ 6.9¢ 1,277,26. $ 7.1C
$9.50- $12.84 1,995,07. 4.6year $ 11.9°  1,714,02 $ 11.8
$12.90- $25.74 1,886,36. 6.3year $ 17.8¢ 1,062,04 $ 19.4:
$3.13- $25.74 5,956,45 5.2year $ 12.0¢ 4,053,320 $ 12.3¢

The aggregate intrinsic value of outstagdiptions as of December 31, 2014 was zero, ad #ie outstanding stock options had an
exercise price greater than the share price of comstock as of that date.

At December 31, 2014, 10,009,405 optionsaieed available for grant.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

Under the 1994 Employee Stock Purchase, Btathe ESPP, the Company reserved 800,000 sbhoesnmon stock for issuance to
employees pursuant to the ESPP, under which &igibiployees may authorize payroll deductions abul% of their base compensation (as
defined) to purchase common stock at a price equgb% of the lower of the fair market value ashaf beginning or the end of the offering
period.

At the annual meeting held on June 4, 2@@8stockholders approved amendments to the ES#Peixtend the original term of the ESPP
by an additional 10 years such that the ESPP will expire in April 2014 (subject to earlier terntiioa as described in the ESPP) and
(i) increase the number of shares of common steskrved for issuance under the ESPP by 600,008ssteaa new total of 1,400,000.

On June 17, 2011, the Company's stockhelggproved amendments to the Company's ESPP @asethe number of shares reserve
issuance under the ESPP by 600,000 shares to totawf 2,000,000, to remove the Plan's 20-yeamn tand to include certain changes
consistent with Treasury Regulations relating t@layee stock purchase plans under Section 423editiernal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and other applicable law.

As of December 31, 2014, 1,614,827 shaags been issued to employees and there are 388hAr&s available for issuance under the
ESPP. The weighted average fair value of sharasdssnder the ESPP in 2014, 2013 and 2012 was 813083 and $3.72 per share,
respectively.
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Share-Based Compensation Expense

Total estimated share-based compensatipense, related to all of the Company's share-basadds, recognized for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was comprisealla®$ (in thousands, except per share data):

2014 2013 2012
Cost of goods sol $ 11¢ $ — 3 —
Research and developme 1,177 $ 2,361 $ 3,48
Selling, general and administrati 8,12¢ 15,96¢ 12,45:
Non-recurring charge 343 14,07: —

Total shar-based compensation expel $ 9,76¢ $ 32,397 $ 15,93¢

On July 18, 2013, the Company enteredangettlement agreement with First Manhattan Compamnlyirst Manhattan, in connection with
a proxy contest related to the Company's 2013 Aneating of Stockholders. According to the ternishe settlement agreement, more th
majority of the members of the Company's Board ioé8ors resigned and new members were appointeglcfiange in the majority of the
members of the Company's Board of Directors, dffeciuly 19, 2013, triggered certain "change oftagh benefits in accordance with the
Amended Agreements with certain of the Company'sleyees; specifically, all unvested stock optiopfdhy these employees automatically
vested in full and became immediately exercisdblaccordance with ASC 718, all unamortized expdaseptions that were expected to vest
on the date of grant and the modified fair valu¢hefoptions that were not expected to vest omléte of grant (due to expected forfeitures)
were immediately expensed. As a result, for the gaded December 31, 2013, the Company recognigaa@mately $12.9 million in
additional share-based compensation expense retaths event.

As part of the Company's ongoing effortsgduce costs by eliminating expenses that aresss®ntial to expanding the use of Qsymia, th
Company implemented a cost reduction plan thataedithe Company's workforce by approximately 20leyges, or 17% of its workforce,
excluding the sales force, for the year ended Déeerdl, 2013. As a result, the Company incurred #iillion in additional share-based
compensation expense for the year ended Decemb2033, related to the automatic acceleration efimg of unvested stock options held by
the terminated employees.

No share-based compensation cost was tapiddor the year ended December 31, 2014. Totatesbased compensation cost capitalize
as part of the cost of inventory was $480,000 ar#6%00 for the years ended December 31, 2013 @h#, 2espectively.

The following table summarizes share-basedpensation, net of estimated forfeitures assediatth each type of award (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012
Restricted stock uni $ 133 $ 471 $ 292
Stock options 8,30¢ 31,61( 15,53:
Employee stock purchase pl 127 31€ 11t

$ 9,76¢ $ 32,39° $ 15,93¢
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As of December 31, 2014, unrecognized egéchcompensation expense totaled $6.9 milliorieél non-vested stock options and
$43,000 related to the ESPP. The weighted averagaining requisite service period for the non-vésteck options was 5.3 years and for the
ESPP was less than 6 months.

Valuation Assumptions

The fair value of each option is estimatedhe date of grant using the Black-Scholes optitcing model, assuming no expected
dividends and the following weighted average asgiong:

2014 2013 2012
Expected life (in years 4.84 4.8¢ 5.54

Volatility 79.1% 83.3t% 82.4%
Risk-free interest rat 178 1.12% 1.0(%

Dividend yield — — —
Note 16. Commitments
Lease Commitmen

In November 2006, the Company enteredar®@month lease for its former corporate headquarteratéd in Mountain View, Californi
or Castro Lease. On February 14, 2012, the Comeatgred into the most current, fourth amendmettigdCastro Lease. Under the fourth
amendment to the Castro Lease, the lease terrhddrdadquarters' premises terminated July 31, 20#3fourth amendment also included a
new lease on an additional 4,914 square feet afeofipace located at 1174 Castro Street, Mountew \California, or the Expansion Space,
which is adjacent to the Company's former corpdnadquarters. The average base rent for the BxpaBpace is approximately $2.75 per
square foot or $13,513 per month. The new leasth®Expansion Space has a term of 60 months cogingeMarch 15, 2012, with an option
to extend the term for one year from the expiratibthe new lease. Commencing on September 1, 2084;ompany subleased the expansiol
space for a term of 31 months at a starting anreumhl rate of $53 per square feet (subject toeabiecreases). The sublessee is entitled to
abatement of the first monthly installment. Minimuemts expected to be received under this sublas$268,000, $274,000 and $69,000 for
the years ending December 31, 2015, 2016 and 284gectively.

The Company entered into a lease effeetdvef December 11, 2012, with SFERS Real Estatp.Chror the Landlord, for new principal
executive offices, consisting of an approximatedy24:0 square foot building, located at 351 EastyiEvAvenue, Mountain View, California,
or the Evelyn Lease. The Evelyn Lease has anlit&ien of approximately 84 months, commencing oryM&, 2013, and at a starting annual
rental rate of $31.20 per rentable square footjéstibo agreed increases). The Company is entitlesh abatement of the monthly installments
of rent for months seven through 12 of the inité subject to the conditions detailed in the Enédlease. The Company has one option to
renew the Evelyn Lease for a term of three yeatiseaprevailing market rate as detailed in the favélease. In addition, the Company has a
one-time right to accelerate the termination dathe® Evelyn Lease from the expiration of the 8dihcalendar month of the term to the
expiration of the 60th full calendar month of tkent subject to the conditions detailed in the Endlgase. If this acceleration of the
termination date is exercised, the following wil payable to
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the Landlord: (i) six months of the monthly instadints of rent and the Company's proportionate shfaegpenses and taxes subject to the fiftt
lease year and (ii) the unamortized portion obéthe following: (a) any leasing commissions aegadl fees, (b) the initial alterations as
detailed in the Evelyn Lease, and (c) Landlord®sance towards the cost of performing the inigidérations, which is $7.00 per rentable
square foot; provided that the amount payablead t#ndlord will be increased by the unamortizediporof any leasing commissions, tenant
improvements and allowances, or other concessiangried by the Landlord in connection with any #&ddal space other than the premises
leased by the Company and that is subject to aatile under the Evelyn Lease.

Commencing on May 1, 2014, the Companyeasg#d a portion of its Evelyn Lease consistingopfeximately 14,105 square feet of
space for a term of 36 months at a starting anmundhl rate of $42 per square feet (subject toeafiecreases). The sublessee is entitled to
abatement of monthly installments of rents for rherine through four. Minimum rents expected todaeived under this sublease are
$601,000, $626,000 and $212,000 for the years grid@cember 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017, respectivegdgnhe completion of the sublease
for this space, the Company expects to eitherdgabe or to locate a suitable sublessee for thaingmy duration of the Company's Evelyn
Lease.

Future minimum lease payments under opeyadtiases at December 31, 2014, were as follows¢umsands):

2015 $ 2,15¢
2016 2,16¢
2017 1,98¢
2018 1,991
2019 2,04(
Thereaftel 68t

$ 11,02¢

Included in the operating lease commitmabtsve are obligations under leases for which thmg@any has vacated the underlying
facilities as part of a cost reduction plan. Thieseses expire at various dates through 2020 amdsept an aggregate obligation of $3.6 million
through 2020. The Company has cost reduction atscofi&0.6 million at December 31, 2014, which egants the difference between this
aggregate future obligation and expected futuréesisle income under estimated potential subleaseimgnts, as well as other facilitiedatec
obligations (see Note 10). Rent expense under tpghaases was $1.6 million, $2.9 million and $M#8lion for the years ended December
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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Deferred income taxes result from diffelena the recognition of expenses for tax and firdmeporting purposes, as well as operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards. Significant comgnts of the Company's deferred income tax aasat$ December 31, 2014 and 2013, are
as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carry forwar $ 219,78t $ 202,28
Research and development credit carry forw. 16,46/ 16,65¢
Stocl-based compensatic 10,29¢ 15,47¢
Accruals and othe 9,50z 18,92:
Depreciatior 12¢ 21¢
Deferred revenu 4,14¢ 4,00¢
260,32 257,57t
Valuation allowanct (260,329 (257,579
Total $ — 3 —

The net increase in the valuation allowdiocehe years ended December 31, 2014 and 2018$&:& million and $74.0 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2014, the Comped/no significant deferred tax liabilities.

As of December 31, 2014, we had approxim#&e22.4 million and $284.4 million of net operailoss carryforwards with which to
offset our future taxable income for federal aratestncome tax reporting purposes, respectivelwtoth $17.9 million (tax effected) would |
recorded against additional paid-in capital whealized through a reduction of income taxes payalifese net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards, except for the California reseansti development credit, expire on various datesuthind2034. The California research and
development credits do not expire. Utilization of aet operating loss and tax credit carryforwaodgax attributes, may be subject to
substantial annual limitations provided by the in& Revenue Code and similar state provisionbécektent certain ownership changes are
deemed to occur. We face the risk that our atitityse our tax attributes will be substantiallytrieted if we undergo an "ownership change
defined in Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Reve@oéde, or Section 382. An ownership change undetid®e382 would occur if "5-percent
shareholders," within the meaning of Section 388ectively increased their ownership in the Comphay more than 50 percentage points
a rolling three-year period.

The Company has performed an analysisterisiine whether an "ownership change" has occdrosd inception through October 31,
2014. Based on this analysis, management deterrtia¢the Company did experience a historical ogtprchange of greater than 50%
during this period. Therefore, the utilization gbartion of the Company's net operating lossescaedit carryforwards is currently limited.
However, these Section 382 limitations should maise the Company's net operating losses and tditscte expire unutilized. As such, a
reduction to the Company's gross deferred tax &sisés net operating loss and tax credit carryd@rds is not necessary prior to considering
the valuation allowance. In the event the Compaqpedences any subsequent changes in ownershipnibant of net operating losses and
research and development credit carryovers us@ahley taxable year could be limited and may expiratilized.
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On December 19, 2014, the Tax Increasedptemn Act of 2014 was signed into law, extendifd 2 federal research and development
credit. As such, the provision for income taxestfa year ended December 31, 2014 reflects the f&@ibtal research and development tax
credit.

The (benefit)/provision for income taxed@sed upon (loss)/income from continuing operatioefore (benefit)/provision for income
taxes as follows, for the years ended Decembe?®14, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Continuing Operations:

2014 2013 2012

Loss before income taxe

Domestic $ (83,15) $ (174,08) $ (138,599

International (125) (76€) (1,10%)
Loss before taxe $ (83,276 $ (174,849 $ (139,706

The (benefit)/provision for income taxessists of the following components for the yeardeshDecember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 (in
thousands):

Continuing Operations:

2014 2013 2012

Current
Federal $ — $ — $ —
State (62 97 27
Foreign —
Total current (benefit)/provision for income ta $ (629) $ 97 $ 27

Deferred
Federa $ — % — % —
State — — —
Foreign — — —
Total deferred benefit for income tax $ — 3% — % —

Total (benefit)/provision for income taxes from
continuing operation $ (629 $ 97 $ 27

143




Table of Contents

VIVUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
Note 17. Income Taxes (Continued)

Reconciliation between the U.S. federaiustaly tax rate and the Company's effective tag fedm continuing operations is as follows, for
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

2014 2013 2012
Tax at U.S. federal statutory re B5)% (39% (35)%
Change in valuation allowan: 29 35 34
Permanent item 7 2 1
Tax credits — (@D} —
Other (2) (1) —
Effective tax rate (1)% 0% 0%

In 2014, the Company received notice fram€alifornia Franchise Tax Board on its propos#jdsament to the Company's R&D credit
and recorded a reduction to its gross unrecogriezetenefit of $1.2 million and reduced its taxagable located in accrued and other
liabilities by $208,000. Additionally, the Compargceived notice from the New Jersey tax authoht the Company's refund request has
been approved and the associated refund receivkbamreduced its gross unrecognized tax bengfi#62,000. As of December 31, 2014
Company no longer has any unrecognized tax position

A reconciliation of the beginning and erglaamount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follGwshousands):

2014 2013 2012
Unrecognized tax benefits as of Janua $ 1,662 $ 1,21F $ 1,21t
Gross increase/(decrease) for tax positions of

years — 447 —

Gross increase/(decrease) for tax positions of
current yea —
Settlement: (1,662 — —
Lapse of statute of limitatior —
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at
December 3: $ — $ 1662 $ 1,21¢F

The remaining balance recorded on the Coip&onsolidated balance sheets as of Decemb@034,and 2013, is as follows (in
thousands):

2014 2013
Total unrecognized tax benef $ — $ 1,662
Amounts netted against deferred tax as (=) (1,507)
Unrecognized tax benefits recorded on consolidasdance

sheets $ — $ 1aC

Although the Company files U.S. federakioas state, and foreign tax returns, the Compamyl{s major tax jurisdictions are the U.S.,
California and New Jersey. As a result of the abmestioned audit adjustments, the Company has rexagnized tax benefits recorded on its
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014
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During 2014, the Company completed its eration by the State of New Jersey, for which adfiénvas recorded, as discussed above.
Tax years 1998 to 2014 remain subject to examindtjothe appropriate governmental agencies dusxtss carryovers from those years.

The Company is in various stages of thergéwation process in connection with all of its tudits and it is difficult to determine when
these examinations will be settled. It is reasonabksible that over the next 12-month period tbex@any may experience an increase or
decrease in its unrecognized tax benefits. It tpogsible to determine either the magnitude ogeasf any increase or decrease at this time.

Note 18. Segment Information and Concentration of Gstomers and Suppliers

The Company operates in one business sdgntiea development and commercialization of novetdipeutic products. Therefore, results
of operations are reported on a consolidated liasigurposes of segment reporting, consistent imitrnal management reporting. Disclosure:
about product revenues by geographic area; reveangeaccounts receivable from major customersnaajdr suppliers are presented below.

Geographic Information

Outside the United States, the Company getiducts principally in the EU. The geographassification of product sales was based on
the location of the customer. The geographic diassion of all other revenues was based on theici@@of the entity from which the revenues
were earned.

Product revenue by geographic region ikews for the years ended December 31 (in thodspan

2014 2013
U.S. ROW Total U.S. ROW Total

Qsymia—Net product

revenue $ 4527 $ — $ 45277 $ 23,71¢ $ — $ 28,71¢
STENDRA/SPEDRA—

License and milestone

revenue 15,40¢ 23,20¢ 38,61« 30,39 25,44t 55,83¢
STENDRA/SPEDRA—

Supply revenu: 9,05¢ 17,46( 26,51¢ 1,08( 44¢€ 1,52¢
STENDRA/SPEDRA—

Royalty revenut 2,17¢ 1,59¢ 3,771 — — —

Total revenue $ 71,91¢ $ 42,26%(1)$ 114,18: $ 55,19. $ 25,89/(2)$ 81,08:
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Note 18. Segment Information and Concentration of Gstomers and Suppliers (Continued)

2012
U.S. ROW Total

Qsymia—Net product

revenue $ 201 $ — $ 2,01
STENDRA/SPEDRA—

License and milestone

revenue — — —
STENDRA/SPEDRA—

Supply revenur — — —
STENDRA/SPEDRA—

Royalty revenut — — —

Total revenue $ 201 $ — $ 2,01

(1)  $37.2 million of which is attributable to Germany.

(2)  $21.0 million of which is attributable to Germai
Major customer:

Revenues from significant customers asregmtage of total revenues for the years endedleee31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, is as
follows:

2014 2013 2012

Auxilium 23% 3% —%
Menarini 32% 26% —%
Amerisource Berge 1% —9% —%
McKesson 13% 2% —%
Cardinal Health, Inc 11% 1% —%
Express Scripts, Inc 1% 3% 1%
CVS —% 9%  50%
Walgreens —% 6% 3%

Accounts receivable at December 31, 201424113 by significant customer as a percentagbheofdtal gross accounts receivable balance
are as follows:

2014 2013
Menarini 25% 41%
Cardinal Health, Inc 2% 12%
Amerisource Berge 1%  26%
McKesson 18% 13%
Auxilium 16% 3%

Major suppliers

The Company relies on third-party sole-seunanufacturers to produce its clinical trial miate, raw materials and finished goods.
Catalent Pharma Solutions, LLC, or Catalent, wisighplied the product for the Phase 3b/4 progran@&ymia, is the Company's sole source
of clinical and commercial supplies for Qsymia. MIB currently the Company's sole-source supptiettfe API and the tablets for
STENDRA (avanafil). In August 2012, the Companyeeed! into an amendment to its agreement with MTHRE germits the Company to
manufacture the APl and STENDRA tablets
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for avanafil itself or through thirgarty suppliers at any time. The transition awayfMTPC supply will need to occur on or before JAA&5
The Company does not have any manufacturing figsiland intends to continue to rely on third parfa the supply of the starting materials,
API and tablets. Third-party manufacturers mayb®able to meet the Company's needs with respdéiatittg, quantity or quality. In July
2013, the Company entered into a Commercial Suppgheement with Sanofi Chimie to manufacture andosughe API for our drug avanafil
on an exclusive basis in the United States and ¢¢hetories and on a semi-exclusive basis in parancluding the EU, Latin America and
other territories. In November 2013, the Comparntg into a Manufacturing and Supply Agreemenh\gianofi Winthrop Industrie to
manufacture and supply the avanafil tablets onxatusive basis in the United States and otherttereis and on a semi-exclusive basis in
Europe, including the EU, Latin America and otlesritories.

The Company has entered into an agreemiémPmI, Inc., or PDI, a third-party contract sat#ganization, to assist with the hiring of
sales representatives and the promotion of Qsymrphysicians. Although alternative third-party caet sales organizations exist, the
Company would be adversely affected if PDI doespeotorm its obligations under the agreement.

During the years ended December 31, 20043 2nd 2012, the Company incurred expenses fdt penformed by a third-party clinical
research organization, or CRO, for Qsymia and STRNIPost-approval studies that accounted for 27%% 28d 13%, respectively, of total
research and development expenses.

Note 19. 401(k) Plan

All of the Company's full-time employeeg &ligible to participate in the VIVUS 401(k) Pl&mployer-matching contributions for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 wée0P0, $565,000 and $329,000, respecti

Note 20. Legal Matters
Securities Related Class Action and Shareholden@gve Lawsuits

The Company, a current officer and a foroféicer were defendants in a putative class aataptionedKovtun v. VIVUS, Inc., et al.
Case No. 4:10-CV-0495PJH, in the U.S. District Court, Northern DistraftCalifornia. The action, filed in November 20Hllgged violation:
of Section 10(b) and 20(a) of the federal Secwiigchange Act of 1934 based on allegedly falsmisieading statements made by the
defendants in connection with the Company's clirtiéals and New Drug Application, or NDA, for Qsyanas a treatment for obesity. The
Court granted defendants' motions to dismiss blatimiiff's Amended Class Action Complaint and Setémended Class Action Complaint;
by order dated September 27, 2012, the latter disahivas with prejudice and final judgment was reatdéor defendants the same day. On
October 26, 2012, plaintiff filed a Notice of Appéathe U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circiiollowing briefing of the appeal, the
Court of Appeals held oral argument on Januan20&5. On January 29, 2015, the Court of Appealseids® Memorandum decision affirming
the District Court's ruling. On February 12, 20akintiff asked the Court of Appeals' panel to rmhile case or for the Court to rehear the ca:
en banc We cannot predict the outcome of that petition.

Additionally, certain of the Company's famofficers and directors and a current directerdafendants in a shareholder derivative la
captionedTurberg v. Logan, et aJ.Case No. CV-10-05271-PJH,
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pending in the same federal court. In the plaistifferified Amended Shareholder Derivative Comgléilad June 3, 2011, the plaintiff largely
restated the allegations of tKevtunaction and alleged that the directors breachecigoly duties to the Company by purportedly permggti
the Company to violate the federal securities lawslleged in thKovtunaction. The same individuals are also named deféada
consolidated shareholder derivative suits pendirthe California Superior Court, Santa Clara Counhder the captiom re VIVUS, Inc.
Derivative Litigation,Master File No. 11 0 CV188439. The allegationshim $tate court derivative suits are substantiaitylar to the other
lawsuits. The Company is named as a nominal defgndahese actions, neither of which seeks angwery from the Company. The parties
have agreed to stay the derivative lawsuits pentfiagoutcome of the appeal of the securities catien.

On July 12, 2013, various current and faroféicers and directors of the Company were naadefendants in a separate shareholder
derivative lawsuit filed in the California SuperiGourt, Santa Clara County, and captiolrad). Gaines IRA, et al. v. Leland F. Wilson, kf a
Case N0.1-13-CV-249436. The lawsuit generally altelgreaches of the fiduciary duty of care in cotinaavith the launch of Qsymia,
breaches of the duty of loyalty and insider tradiggsome defendants for selling Company stock whilgortedly being aware that the Qsy
launch would be less successful than predicteccarmbrate waste. On March 14, 2014, the Court suestaa demurrer and dismissed the
complaint with leave to amend. An order memorialigthe Court's ruling was entered March 21, 201 A@ril 21, 2014, derivative plaintiffs
filed an Amended Shareholder Derivative Complalietging substantially similar breaches of duty. Kday 21, 2014, the Company filed a
demurrer to the Amended Complaint. With that deempending, derivative plaintiffs asked the Coarfuly 2014 to dismiss the action with
prejudice as to the named plaintiffs and otherwighout prejudice. The Court did so by order endefely 17, 2014, and the matter is now
concluded.

On March 27, 2014, Mary Jane and Thomas,Jabo purport to be purchasers of VIVUS commarckt filed an Amended Complaint in
Santa Clara County Superior Court alleging seasritiaud against the Company and three of its foofieers and directors. In that compla
captionedlasin v. VIVUS, IncCase No. 114-cv-261427, plaintiffs asserted claimder California's securities and consumer praiacti
securities statutes. Plaintiffs alleged gener#lft efendants misrepresented the prospects f@dhgany's success, including with respect tc
the launch of Qsymia, while purportedly selling WS stock for personal profit. Plaintiffs allegeds$es of "at least” $2.8 million, and sought
damages and other relief. On June 5, 2014, the @oynand the other defendants filed a demurreréd®thended Complaint seeking its
dismissal. With the demurrer pending, on July T8,2 the same plaintiffs filed a complaint in theitdd States District Court for the Northern
District of California, captionedasin v. VIVUS, IncCase No. 5:14-c83263. The Jasins' federal complaint alleges vaiatof Sections 10(k
and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934el on facts substantially similar to those atldgeheir state court action. On
September 15, 2014, pursuant to an agreement betvegarties, plaintiffs moved to voluntarily dissy with prejudice, the state court action.
In the federal action, defendants filed a motiodigmiss on November 12, 2014. On December 3, 2flahtiffs filed a First Amended
Complaint in the federal action. On January 21 2@Etfendants filed a motion to dismiss the Finstehded Complaint. Pursuant to a
stipulated briefing and hearing schedule, the nmagacurrently scheduled for hearing on April 2813. The Company maintains directors' anc
officers' liability insurance that it believes affis coverage for much of the anticipated cost efrdmaininglasinaction, subject to payment of
our self-insured retention and the policies' teamd conditions.
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The Company and the defendant officersdarettors cannot predict the outcome of the vargheeholder lawsuits, but they believe the
various shareholder lawsuits are without merit immend to continue vigorously defending them.

Qsymia ANDA Litigation

On May 7, 2014, the Company received adrapd IV certification notice from Actavis Laborats FL indicating that it filed an
abbreviated new drug application, or ANDA, with HHeS. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, requggtapproval to market a generic
version of Qsymia and contending that all six pesdisted for Qsymia in the FDA Orange Book (U.&ténts 7,056,890, 7,553,818, 7,659,256
7,674,776, 8,580,298, and 8,580,299 (collectivplténts-in-suit")) are invalid, unenforceable andVdl not be infringed by the manufacture,
use, sale or offer for sale of a generic form ofiQis as described in their ANDA. On June 12, 2Qthé,Company filed a lawsuit in the U.S.
District Court for the District of New Jersey aggtid\ctavis Laboratories FL, Inc., Actavis, Inc.dafsctavis PLC, collectively referred to as
Actavis. The lawsuit (Case No. 14-3786 (FSH)(MARKgs filed on the basis that Actavis' submissiothefr ANDA to obtain approval to
manufacture, use, sell, or offer for sale genegisions of Qsymia prior to the expiration of thégpds-insuit constitutes infringement of one
more claims of those patents.

In accordance with the Hatch-Waxman Acta assult of having filed a timely lawsuit agaiAsttavis, FDA approval of Actavis' ANDA
will be stayed until the earlier of (i) up to 30 nibs from the Company's May 7, 2014 receipt of RistdParagraph IV certification notice (i.e.
November 7, 2016) or (ii) a District Court decisiimding that the identified patents are invalideaforceable or not infringed. The Comp:
intends to vigorously enforce its intellectual peay rights relating to Qsymia, but the Companynzdrpredict the outcome of this matter.

The Company received a second Paragramefication notice from Actavis contending thattadditional patents listed in the Orange
Book for Qsymia (U.S. Patents 8,895,057 and 8,88 ,8re invalid, unenforceable and/or will not b&inged by the manufacture, use, sale
offer for sale of a generic form of Qsymia. The Qamy is in the process of evaluating this seconit&o

Janssen Litigation

On August 22, 2014, the Company was narsaddefendant in a complaint filed by Janssen Pheenticals, Inc., or Janssen, in the
United States District Court of Delaware. In thengdaint, the plaintiff alleged that the Company wasinging U.S. Patent No. 6,071,537, or
the'537 patent, by selling Qsymia. The plaintiffigbt a permanent injunction enjoining the Compaoynffurther infringement and unspecif
monetary damages. On August 24, 2014, the Compateyeel into a Patent Assignment Agreement withskmghat included assignment of
the '537 patent to the Company. As a result, Jansslentarily dismissed the lawsuit on August 2@12.

The Company is not aware of any other ésdar unasserted claims against it where it befigtaat an unfavorable resolution would have
an adverse material impact on the operations anfiial position of the Company.

149




Table of Contents

VIVUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
Note 21. Subsequent Events (Unaudited)

On January 23, 2015, the EC adopted thevdssion implementing decision amending the markeginthorization for SPEDRA
(avanafil). SPEDRA is now the first and only ED riwadion approved in the EU that is indicated tdddeen as needed approximately 15 to 30
minutes before sexual activity. As a result, thenPany is entitled to receive a contingent paymétle.0 million from Menarini, its

commercialization partner for the EU territory.

Note 22. Selected Financial Data (Unaudited)

Selected Quarterly Financial Data (in thousands exapt per share data)

Quarter Ended,

March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31
2014
Total revenus $ 36,69, $ 2188’ $ 33877 $ 21,73.
Total gross profi 27,15¢ 14,86¢ 26,60¢ 12,16:
Operating expenst 44,61¢ 39,367 41,78¢ 39,11°
Net loss (15,550 (25,82 (15,825 (25,44°)
Basic and Diluted net (loss) per sh $ (015 $ (0.2 % (0.15 $ (0.25)
2013
Total revenus $ 4112 $ 553¢ §$ 27,37¢ $ 44,05
Total gross profit (loss (2,055 514 26,63¢ 40,89:
Operating expenst 57,90¢ 56,97¢ 68,05¢ 52,75:
Net loss from continuing operatio (53,76¢) (55,635 (48,379 (17,169
Net loss (53,57¢ (55,51 (48,209 (17,169
Basic and Diluted net (loss) per sh $ (059 $ (055 $ (0.4¢) $ (0.17%)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

The financial statement Schedule [I—VALUAMN AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS is filed as part of theorm 10-K.

VIVUS, Inc.
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(in thousands)

Each of the following valuation and quailify accounts are reported as assets and liabidifiesntinuing and discontinued operations in
the consolidated balance sheets for all periodsemted.

Balance at Charged

Balance at
Beginning of to Charges End of
Period Operations* Utilized Period
Allowance for Cash Discoun
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 $ — $ 57 $ — $ 57
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2! $ 57 $ 1,05C $ (979 $ 134

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2 $ 134 $ 1,712 $ (1,69) $ 15C

Amount charged to operations during fiscal yeamded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, incluti&3$,000,
$750,000 and $53,000, respectively, for cash discallowances related to revenue recognized dweauh fiscal year

The remaining amounts were recorded on the coraelidbalance sheets as deferred revenue at tredf endh period,
respectively
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a.) Evaluation of disclosure controls @ndcedures. We maintain disclosure controls andguiures that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our ExcheaAgt reports is recorded, processed, summarizeédegorted within the timelines specified
in the Securities and Exchange Commission's ruld§@ms, and that such information is accumulated communicated to our management
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief kirtial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely téans regarding required disclosure. In
designing and evaluating the disclosure controts@ncedures, management recognized that any ¢eatmd procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can only provide reasomablgance of achieving the desired control objestigand in reaching a reasonable level of
assurance, management necessarily was requir@plypits judgment in evaluating the cost-benefiatienship of possible controls and
procedures.

As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), the Camypcarried out an evaluation, under the supenviaitd with the participation of the
Company's management, including the Company's Ehxiefutive Officer and the Company's Chief Finain©ifficer, of the effectiveness of
the design and operation of the Company's disatosantrols and procedures as of the end of thegmared by this report. Based on the
foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chieh&ncial Officer concluded that our disclosure coistand procedures were effective at the
reasonable assurance level.

(b.) Changes in internal controls. None.
Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Internal control over financial reportirgfers to the process designed by, or under thenggjmn of, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, and effected by our BoafdDirectors, management and other personnel,deige reasonable assurance regarding tt
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purpogeadcordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and includes those polieieg procedures that:

(1) Pertain to the maintenance of records tha¢@&sonable detail accurately and fairly reflecttthesactions and dispositions of our
assets;

(2 Provide reasonable assurance that transactiome@reled as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfes; and that our receipts and expenditures @irggbmade only in
accordance with authorization of our managementdinedtors; and

3) Provide reasonable assurance regarding prievenit timely detection of unauthorized acquisispase or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on tlanéial statements.

Internal control over financial reportingnmot provide absolute assurance of achieving iaaneporting objectives because of its
inherent limitations. Internal control over finaakieporting is a process that involves human elilige and compliance and is subject to lapses
in judgment and breakdowns resulting from humaluifes. Internal control over financial reportinga@lcan be circumvented by collusion or
improper management override. Because of suchaliinits, there is a risk that material misstatemaratg not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis by internal control over financial ogfing. However, these inherent limitations arewndeatures of the financial reporting
process. Therefore, it is possible to design ihtoprocess safeguards to reduce, though not
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eliminate, this risk. Management is responsibleeftablishing and maintaining adequate internarobaver financial reporting for the
company.

Management has used the framework set fiotte report entitled Internal Controkategrated Framework published by the Committe
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis§&6i3), known as COSO Framework, to evaluate tleeteveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting. Basedthis assessment, management has concluded thiateumal control over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2014. OUM & CoPl.the independent registered public accountimg firat audited the consolidated
financial statements included in the Annual ReparForm 10-K, has issued an attestation reporheretfectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20MsTeport, which expresses an unqualified opiminrihe effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting as of DecemberZ114, is included herein.

There has been no change in our intern@tals over financial reporting during our mostestfiscal quarter that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, oatarnal controls over financial reporting.

ltem 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goveree

The information required by this item igddey incorporated by reference from the informatioder the captions "Election of Directors,"
"Board of Directors Meetings and Committees—Boaain@ittees" and "Executive Officers" contained ia @ompany's definitive Proxy
Statement, to be filed with the Securities and BExge Commission no later than 120 days from theoétite Company's last fiscal year in
connection with the solicitation of proxies for #8815 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The inforratiequired by Section 16(a) is
incorporated by reference from the information urtie caption "Security Ownership of Certain BediefiOwners and Management—
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coanptie” in the Proxy Statement.

The Company has adopted a code of ethadsafhplies to its Chief Executive Officer, Chieh&ncial Officer, and to all of its other
officers, directors, employees and agents. The obéthics is available at the Corporate Governamation of the Investor Relations page on
the Company's website wivw.vivus.com The Company intends to disclose future amendrients waivers from, certain provisions of its
code of ethics on the above website within fiveifess days following the date of such amendmentaiver.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item isdmporated by reference from the information urtbercaption "Board of Directors Meetings
Committees—Compensation Committee Interlocks asitién Participation,” "Executive Compensation" dBgecutive Compensation—
Compensation Committee Report" in the Company'syP&tatement referred to in Iltem 10 above.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners alianagement and Related Stockholder Matters
Equity Compensation Plan Information

Information about our equity compensatitanp at December 31, 2014, that were approved bgtoukholders was as follows:

Number of Shares Weighted Average Number of Shares
to be issued Upon Exercise Price of Remaining
Exercise of Outstanding Outstanding Available for
Plan Category Options and Rights Options Future Issuance(c)
Equity compensation plans approve
by stockholders (e 5,964,95 $ 11.52 10,394,57.
Equity compensation plans not
approved by stockholders( 325,000 $ 10.1¢ —
Total 6,289,95! $ 11.4¢ 10,394,57.

(a) Consists of two plans: our 2001 Stock OptitanRand our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan.

(b) On April 30, 2010, the Company's Board of Biogs granted an option to purchase 400,000 sloAthe Company's
common stock, or the Inducement Grant, to Michadllifer, the Company's Senior Vice President amie€
Commercial Officer. The Inducement Grant was grduotatside of the Company's 2010 Equity IncentivanRInd withot
stockholder approval pursuant to NASDAQ Listing ®6635(c)(4) and is subject to the terms and cmditof the
Stand-Alone Stock Option Agreement between the Gom@and Michael P. Miller.

(c) Includes 10,009,405 shares for the 2010 Equityritiee Plan and 385,173 shares for the 1994 Empl&yeek Purchase
Plan.

The information required by this item isdnporated by reference from the information urtlercaption "Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management" in the CompaProsy Statement referred to in Item 10 above.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, addector Independence

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from the information urttlercaption "Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions" and "Board of Directors Magtiand Committees—Board Independence" in the Copgp&roxy Statement referred to
in Item 10 above.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item isdmporated by reference from the information urtbercaption "Ratification of Appointment of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm'hi@ €ompany's Proxy Statement referred to in Iteratidye.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(&) Documents filed as part of this report.
1. Financial Statements

The following Financial Statements of VIVUSc. and Reports of Independent Registered P@mloounting Firm have been filed as part
of this Form 10-K. See index to Financial Stateraemtder Item 8, above:

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfing 107
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&01201: 10¢
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeragded December 31, 20

2013 and 201 11C
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loshiéyé¢ars ended

December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2( 11C
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equitytferyears ended

December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2( 111
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeadted December 31,

2014, 2013 and 201 11z
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 11z

2. Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedod&/IVUS, Inc. as set forth on page 121 is filedpast of this Form 10-K and should be read in
conjunction with the Financial Statements of VIVUI;. incorporated by reference herein:

Schedule [I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted becausg &ne not applicable or the required informatioshswn in the Financial Statements or the r
thereto.

3. Exhibits Refer to Item 15(b) immediately below.

(b)  The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation %4k listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preicedthe exhibits and are
incorporated herein.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Registrant has duly caused this report to b
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized:

VIVUS, INC.,
a Delaware Corporatic

By: /s/ SETH H. Z. FISCHER

Seth H. Z. Fischer
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: February 25, 2015
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, thatleaerson whose signature appears below constanttappoints each of Seth
Z. Fischer and Svai S. Sanford as his attornewatfior him, in any and all capacities, to signheamendment to this Report on Form 10-K,
and to file the same, with exhibits thereto andeottocuments in connection therewith, with the Sites and Exchange Commission, hereby
ratifying and confirming all that said attorney{aet or his substitute or substitutes may lawfdldyor cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this Report has beeresi¢pelow by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated:

Signature Title Date
/sl SETH H. Z. FISCHER Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)  February 25, 201
Seth H. Z. Fische and Directol

/s/ DAVID Y. NORTON Chairman of the Board of

Directors and Director

February 25, 201
David Y. Norton

Chief Financial Officer and
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

/sl SVAI'S. SANFORD

February 25, 201
Svai S. Sanford

/s/ ALEXANDER J. DENNER, PH.D.

Director February 25, 201
Alexander J. Denner, Ph.|
/sl JOHANNES J.P. KASTELEIN
Director February 25, 201
Johannes J.P. Kastele
/sl JORGE PLUTZKY, M.D.
Director February 25, 201
Jorge Plutzky, M.D
/sl HERMAN ROSENMAN
Director February 25, 201

Herman Rosenme
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VIVUS, INC.
REPORT ON FORM 10-K FOR
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number Description
2.1(1)t Asset Purchase Agreement between the RedistnanK-V Pharmaceutical Company
dated as of March 30, 20l
2.2(2)t Asset Purchase Agreement dated October 1, 2@t@een the Registrant, MEDA AB
and Vivus Real Estate, LL
3.1(3) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatitihe Registran
3.2(4) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regist
3.35) Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Bytdwse Registran
3.46) Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restated Bytdwse Registran
3.5(7) Amendment No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Bytdwse Registran
3.€(8) Amendment No. 4 to the Amended and Restated Bytdwse Registran
3.719) Amended and Restated Certificate of DesignatioRights, Preferences and Privileges
of Series A Participating Preferred Stock of thgiReant
4.1(10) Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the Regist
4.2(11) Preferred Stock Rights Agreement dated asacth27, 2007, between the Registrant
and Computershare Investor Services, L
4.3(12) Indenture dated as of May 21, 2013, by andéen the Registrant and Deutsche Bank
Trust Company Americas, as trus
4.4(13) Form of 4.50% Convertible Senior Note due May 2@
10.1(14)* Form of Indemnification Agreement by and amongRegistrant and the Officers of 1
Registran
10.2(15)* Form of Indemnification Agreement by and argdhe Registrant and the Directors of
the Registran
10.5(16)* 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as ameifaenh of Subscription Agreement and
Form of Notice of Withdrawe
10.417)* 2001 Stock Option Plan and Form of Agreement theatec
10.5(18)* 2001 Stock Option Plan, as amended on July 12,
10.€(19)* Form of Notice of Grant and Restricted Sthikit Agreement under the VIVUS, Inc.
2001 Stock Option Pla
10.7(20)* 2010 Equity Incentive Plan and Form of Agreemeatéhnde
10.¢(21)* 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended on Septefrthet014
10.¢(22)* Stanc-Alone Stock Option Agreement with Michael P. Millgated as of April 30, 201
10.1((23)* Employment Agreement dated December 20, 2B8&yeen the Registrant and

Leland F. Wilsor
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Exhibit
Number Description
10.11(24)* First Amendment dated January 23, 2009, éoBmployment Agreement dated

10.14(25)*

10.15(26)*

10.1427)*

10.15(28)t

10.16(29)

10.17(30)

10.1§(31)t

10.14(32)t

10.2((33)t

10.21(34)t

10.24(35)t

10.25(36)t

10.24(37)t

10.25(38)t

10.26(39)

10.27(40)

December 20, 2007, by and between the Registrahteland F. Wilsor

Second Amendment dated January 21, 201 het&mployment Agreement dated
December 20, 2007, by and between the Registrantaland F. Wilsor

Third Amendment dated January 27, 2012, soEmployment Agreement dated
December 20, 2007, by and between the Registrahteland F. Wilsor

Fourth Amendment dated January 25, 2013 écEmployment Agreement dated
December 20, 2007, by and between the Registrantaland F. Wilsor

Agreement effective as of December 28, 26@0yeen the Registrant and Tanabe
Seiyaku Co., Ltd

Amendment No. 1 effective as of January 94200 the Agreement effective as of
December 28, 2000, between the Registrant and €a®elyaku Co., Ltc

Termination and Release executed by Tanabe Holddingrica, Inc. dated May 1, 20(

Second Amendment effective as of August 122@ the Agreement dated as of
December 28, 2000, between the Registrant and MésuTanabe Pharma Corporation
(formerly Tanabe Seiyaku Co., Lt

Third Amendment effective as of February 2113, to the Agreement dated as of
December 28, 2000, between the Registrant and MsuTanabe Pharma Corporation
(formerly Tanabe Seiyaku Co., Lt

Settlement and Modification Agreement datdg 12, 2001, between ASIVI, LLC,
AndroSolutions, Inc., Gary W. Neal and the Regrst

Assignment Agreement between Thomas NajakiaD, and the Registrant dated
October 16, 200

Master Services Agreement dated as of Semefrth 2007, between the Registrant and
Medpace, Inc

Exhibit A: Medpace Task OrdRlumber: 06 dated as of December 15, 2008, pursa
that certain Master Services Agreement, betweeR#ggstrant and Medpace, Inc.,
dated as of September 12, 2(

Transition Services Agreement dated Noverbb@010, between the Registrant and
MEDA AB

Commercial Manufacturing and Packaging Agresinby and between the Registrant
and Catalent Pharma Solutions, LLC dated as of I0y012

Lease Agreement effective November 1, 2006, bylestdeen the Registrant and Ca
Mountain View, LLC, Thomas A. Lynch, Trudy Molinddfes, Trustee of the Jolen
Flores and Trudy Molina Flores Joint Living Trustteld April 3, 2001, E William and
Charlotte Duerkson, The Duerkson Family Trust d&ebruary 16, 1999, The Dutton
Family Trust dated September 16, 1993, The No&lcBuurman Trust, The Duarte
Family Partners, L.P., The Marie Antoinette ClolRgwvocable Living Trust dated
January 11, 1989, Blue Oak Properties, Inc., an@iGIR LLC

First Amendment to Lease dated November 188 20etween Castro Mountain
View, LLC, CP6CC, LLC and the Registre
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Exhibit
Number Description
10.2¢(41) Second Amendment to Lease effective NovemBeRQ09, between Castro Mountain
View, LLC, CP6CC, LLC and the Registre
10.2¢(42) Third Amendment to Lease effective Decemb&03,0, between Castro Mountain
View, LLC, CP6CC, LLC and the Registre
10.3((43) Fourth Amendment to Lease effective Februdry2012, between Castro Mountain
View, LLC, CP6CC, LLC and the Registre
10.31(44) Lease Agreement effective December 11, 20¢ 2l between the Registrant and

10.345)t

10.35(46)

10.34(47)*

10.35(48)t

10.36(49)t

10.37(50)

10.3¢(51)*

10.34(52)

10.4((53)t

10.41(54)*

10.44(55)t

10.45(56)t

10.44(57)*

10.45(58)

10.4€(59)t

10.47(60)

SFERS Real Estate Corp.

Purchase and Sale Agreement effective asam€ivi25, 2013, between the Registrant
and BioPharma Secured Investments Il Holdings GayiP

Capped Call Confirmation dated May 15, 2033abd between the Registrant and
Deutsche Bank AG, London Bran

Form of Amended and Restated Change of ControSawveérance Agreeme

License and Commercialization Agreement datay 5, 2013, between the Registrant
and Berlir-Chemie AG

Commercial Supply Agreement dated as of B3uB013, between the Registrant and
Berlin-Chemie AG

Agreement dated July 18, 2013, by and between #gisRant and First Manhattan ¢

Letter Agreement dated July 18, 2013, by amibng the Registrant, First
Manhattan Co. and Peter Y. T¢

Fourth Amendment to the Agreement dated &eckEmber 28, 2000, between the
Registrant and Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporgfamerly Tanabe
Seiyaku Co., Ltd.), effective as of July 1, 2(

Commercial Supply Agreement dated July 31320y and between the Registrant and
Sanofi Chimie

Employment Agreement dated September 3, 268 2nd between the Registrant and
Seth H. Z. Fische

License and Commercialization Agreement datedf October 10, 2013, by and
between the Registrant and Auxilium Pharmaceutidats

Commercial Supply Agreement dated as of Gatdb, 2013, by and between the
Registrant and Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, |

Letter Agreement dated November 4, 2013, fxy letween the Registrant and
Timothy E. Morris

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement dated Ndwer 18, 2013, by and between the
Registrant and Sanofi Winthrop Indust

License and Commercialization Agreement d&edember 11, 2013, by and between
the Registrant and Sant

Supply Agreement effective as of December2D13, by and between the Registrant
and Sanofi Winthrop Industr
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Exhibit
Number Description
10.4¢61)T Patent Assignment Agreement, dated Augus2@¥4, by and between the Registrant
and Janssen Pharmaceuticals,

21.1 List of Subsidiarie!

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking

24.1 Power of Attorney (See signature pa

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRules 13a-14 and 15d-14
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act 8418s amende

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRules 13a-14 and 15d-14
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act 8418s amende

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chlginancial Officer pursuant to
Section 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant taoBead6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

101 The following materials from the Registrant's AahReport on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31, 2014, formatted in Extensibkri®ss Reporting Language
(XBRL), include: (i) the Consolidated Balance Slseéi) the Consolidated Statements
of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statement€ofmprehensive Loss, (iv) the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (Vielaotes

t Confidential treatment granted.

* Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangement.

Q) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 filed wiitie Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K fer fiscal year ended

December 31, 2012, filed with the Commission onrkety 26, 2013.

(2) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 fileith the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-KdAthe fiscal year

ended December 31, 2012, filed with the Commissimdune 12, 2013.

3) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 filed witie Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K ferfiscal year ended

December 31, 1996, filed with the Commission on di&28, 1997.

4) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 filed wiitle Registrant's Current Report on Fortd 8led with the Commissio

on April 20, 2012.

(5) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 fileith the Registrant's Quarterly Report on FormQ@.@r the fiscal quarter

ended March 31, 2013, filed with the CommissiorMay 8, 2013.

(6) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 filed wiitle Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-QHerfiscal quarter

ended March 31, 2013, filed with the Commissioriay 8, 2013.

@) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 filed wiitle Registrant's Current Report on Fortd 8led with the Commissio

on May 13, 2013.

(8) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 fileith the Registrant's Current Report on Fortd 8led with the Commissio

on July 24, 2013.

9) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 filed witle Registrant's Registration Statement on Fofigd with the

Commission on March 28, 20C

161




Table of Contents

(10) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 filed wiitle Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K/Atfar fiscal year
ended December 31, 1996, filed with the Commissiopril 16, 1997.

(11) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 filed witle Registrant's Registration Statement on FoTi&d with the
Commission on March 28, 2007.

(12) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1dilgith the Registrant's Current Report on Fori Bled with the Commissio
on May 21, 2013.

(13) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 filed wiitle Registrant's Current Report on Forrd 8led with the Commissio
on May 21, 2013.

(14) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 filedhathe Registrant's Form 8-B filed with the Comnuason June 25,
1996.

(15) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2dilwith the Registrant's Current Report on Form fledl with the
Commission on August 12, 2014.

(16) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filedhwtihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K fileth the
Commission on July 29, 2011.

(17) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 filedhithe Registrant's Registration Statement on Fa@filed with the
Commission on November 15, 2001.

(18) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2dilwith the Registrant's Current Report on Form fed with the
Commission on July 13, 2006.

(19) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filediwtihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K fileth the
Commission on July 13, 2006.

(20) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 filedwiihe Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K I fiscal year ended
December 31, 2010, filed with the Commission on dfiak, 2011.

(21) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1dilgith the Registrant's Registration Statement @m¥S-8 filed with the
Commission on November 5, 2014.

(22) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filediwiihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K fileth the
Commission on May 6, 2010.

(23) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 filedhithe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-Kdfikath the
Commission on December 24, 2007.

(24) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2dilwith the Registrant's Current Report on Form fledl with the
Commission on January 29, 2009.

(25) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filediwiihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K fileth the
Commission on January 26, 2011.

(26) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filedwtihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K fileth the
Commission on January 27, 2012.

(27) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2dilwith the Registrant's Current Report on Form fledl with the
Commission on January 30, 2013.

(28) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 filedhwthe Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-Kifer fiscal year
ended December 31, 2012, filed with the Commissioifrebruary 26, 201
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(29) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42A filedhnthe Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 1fb(the fiscal
quarter ended March 31, 2004, filed with the Consinis on May 7, 2004.

(30) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 filedhathe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-Kdfikath the
Commission on May 4, 2007.

(31) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2dilwith the Registrant's Current Report on Form fledl with the
Commission on August 10, 2012.

(32) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filedhwtihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K fileth the
Commission on February 25, 2013.

(33) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 filedhathe Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-Ktlar fiscal year
ended December 31, 2012, filed with the Commissiofrebruary 26, 2013.

(34) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.78diwith the Registrant's Annual Report on FormKLdr the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2009, filed with the CommissioiMarch 10, 2010.

(35) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filediwtihe Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qtfe fiscal quarter
ended March 31, 2013, filed with the CommissiorMay 8, 2013.

(36) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filedwiihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K/Adilvith the
Commission on July 15, 2009.

(37) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2&diwith the Registrant's Annual Report on FormKlor the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2012, filed with the Commissiofrebruary 26, 2013.

(38) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filedhwtihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K fileth the
Commission on July 23, 2012.

(39) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 filedhathe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-Kdfikath the
Commission on November 7, 2006.

(40) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2dilwith the Registrant's Current Report on Form fledl with the
Commission on December 18, 2008.

(41) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.78 filedhithe Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-Kifer fiscal year
ended December 31, 2009, filed with the CommissioiMarch 10, 2010.

(42) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 filedhathe Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-Ktiar fiscal year
ended December 31, 2010, filed with the CommissioMarch 1, 2011.

(43) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2dilwith the Registrant's Current Report on Form fled with the
Commission on February 16, 2012.

(44) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 filedhithe Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-Kifer fiscal year
ended December 31, 2012, filed with the Commissivirebruary 26, 2013.

(45) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filedwitite Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 104QHe fiscal quarter
ended March 31, 2013, filed with the CommissiorMay 8, 2013
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(46)

(47)

(48)

(49)

(50)

(51)

(52)

(53)

(54)

(55)

(56)

(57)

(58)

(59)

(60)

(61)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filediwihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filéth the
Commission on May 16, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filedhwihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K fieth the
Commission on July 5, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8dilwith the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Fo@¥Qifor the fiscal quarter
ended June 30, 2013, filed with the Commission agust 8, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filediwiihe Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-QHe fiscal quarter
ended June 30, 2013, filed with the Commission agust 8, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filedhwtihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K fith the
Commission on July 19, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.&diwith the Registrant's Current Report on Form fdd with the
Commission on July 24, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filediwihe Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filéth the
Commission on July 29, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 filediwiihe Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 104QHe fiscal quarter
ended June 30, 2013, filed with the Commission agust 8, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.&diwith the Registrant's Current Report on Form fdd with the
Commission on September 4, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 filediwiihe Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10+QHe fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2013, filed with the CommissioiNovember 7, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 filedhathe Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 1®tHe fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2013, filed with the CommissioNovember 7, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.&diwith the Registrant's Current Report on Form fdd with the
Commission on November 5, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 filedhwthe Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-Ktler fiscal year
ended December 31, 2013, filed with the Commissivirebruary 28, 2014.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 filedhathe Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-Ktlar fiscal year
ended December 31, 2013, filed with the Commissiofrebruary 28, 2014.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4&diwith the Registrant's Annual Report on FormKlar the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2013, filed with the Commissiofrebruary 28, 2014.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filediwiihe Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10+QHe fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2014, filed with the CommissioiNovember 5, 201.
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Exhibit 21.1
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of subsidiaries\@VUS, Inc.

1. VIVUS UK Limited (United Kingdom), a wholly ovad subsidiary of VIVUS, Inc.
2. VIVUS BV (Netherlands), a wholly owned subsigiaf VIVUS, Inc.

3. Vivus Limited (Bermuda), a wholly owned subsidiafyVIVUS, Inc.

4. Vivus International, L.P. (Bermuda), General Pariizus Limited

5. Vivus International Limited (Ireland), a wholly owd subsidiary of VIVUS, Inc.
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeecimcthe Registration Statements on Forms S-8 888:142354, No. 333-150647, No. 333-
157787, No. 333-164921, No. 333-168106, No. 3330285and No. 333-199881) and Form S-3 (No. 333-48)L8f our reports dated
February 25, 2015, relating to the consolidatedrfoial statements, and the effectiveness of VIVId&;s internal control over financial
reporting, which appear in this Annual Report onnrd.0-K.

/s/ OUM & CO. LLP

San Francisco, California
February 25, 2015
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I, Seth

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT
TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

H. Z. Fischer, Chief Executive Officer, tdfgrthat:

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/BfUS, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@eponsible for establishing and maintaining disgfe controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedoige designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b. Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registralidglosure controls and procedures and presentiisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regigisanternal control over financial reporting tloatturred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggan

The registrant's other certifying officer anglalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknes#gethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apobrt financial information; ar

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2015

By:

Name:
Title:

/sl SETH H. Z. FISCHER

Seth H. Z. Fische
Chief Executive Office
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT
TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

S. Sanford, Chief Financial Officer and €hAccounting Officer, certify that:

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/BfUS, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitéde a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@eponsible for establishing and maintaining disgfe controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedoige designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b. Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registralidglosure controls and procedures and presentiisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regigisanternal control over financial reporting tloatturred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggan

The registrant's other certifying officer anglalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknes#gethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apobrt financial information; ar

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2015

By:

Name:
Title:

/sl SVAI' S. SANFORD

Svai S. Sanfor
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting
Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Seth H. Z. Fischer, Chief Executive ©fi of VIVUS, Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S 8ection 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thatAnnual Report of VIVUS, Inc. on Form 10-K filve period ending December 31, 2014
fully complies with the requirements of Sectiond)3¢r 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 188d that information contained in such
Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in aliterial respects the financial condition and rasoltoperations of VIVUS, Inc. This written
statement is being furnished to the Securitieseatmhange Commission as an exhibit to such AnnupbRen Form 10-K. A signed original
of this statement has been provided to VIVUS, &md will be retained by VIVUS, Inc. and furnishedhe Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.

Date: February 25, 2015 By: /s/ SETH H. Z. FISCHER

Seth H. Z. Fischer
Chief Executive Office

[, Svai S. Sanford, Chief Financial Offieard Chief Accounting Officer, certify, pursuantl® U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuan
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002t the Annual Report of VIVUS, Inc. on Form 10t the period ending December 31,
2014 fully complies with the requirements of Seetid(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act@84 and that information contained in
such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presentalirmaterial respects the financial condition aesutts of operations of VIVUS, Inc. This
written statement is being furnished to the Selesriind Exchange Commission as an exhibit to suctual Report on Form 10-K. A signed
original of this statement has been provided to W8/ Inc. and will be retained by VIVUS, Inc. andrfished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.

Date: February 25, 2015 By: /sl SVAI S. SANFORD

Svai S. Sanford
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting
Officer
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